Larvicidal Efficacy of *Croton bonplandianus* Baill. Extract and its Synergistic Effects with Different Conventional Insecticides against *Aedes aegypti* (Linnaeus, 1762), a Dengue Fever Vector

Thesis submitted in partial fulfilment of the requirements for the Degree of **DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY IN ZOOLOGY** 

Under the Faculty of Science University of Calicut

by

LAKSHMI K.V.



Under the supervision of

Dr. ANEESH E.M. (Guide) &

Dr. SUDHIKUMAR A.V. (Co-Guide)



CHRIST COLLEGE (AUTONOMOUS) IRINJALAKUDA - 680125, KERALA DECEMBER 2023

## DECLARATION

I, LAKSHMI K.V., hereby declare that the work embodied in the thesis "Larvicidal Efficacy of *Croton bonplandianus* Baill. Extract and its Synergistic Effects with Different Conventional Insecticides against *Aedes aegypti* (Linnaeus, 1762), a Dengue Fever Vector", submitted to the University of Calicut in partial fulfilment of the requirements for the Degree of Doctor of Philosophy in Zoology is a bonafide record of the research work carried out by me under the supervision of Dr. Aneesh E.M., (Guide), Assistant Professor, Department of Zoology, University of Calicut, and Dr. Sudhikumar A.V., (Co-Guide), Assistant Professor, Head of the Department of Zoology, Christ College (Autonomous), Irinjalakuda. No part of the thesis has formed the basis for the award of any degree, diploma or other similar titles of any university.

Irinjalakuda December 2023 LAKSHMI K.V.

## UNIVERSITY OF CALICUT DEPARTMENT OF ZOOLOGY

Dr. E. M. Aneesh Assistant Professor



Calicut University P. O. Kerala, India 673 635 Phone : 0494 240 7420 Cell : +91 9400741861 Email : aneeshem@uoc.ac.in

December 2023

## CERTIFICATE

This is to certify that the thesis entitled "Larvicidal Efficacy of *Croton bonplandianus* Baill. Extract and its Synergistic Effects with Different Conventional Insecticides against *Aedes aegypti* (Linnaeus, 1762), a Dengue Fever Vector", submitted to the University of Calicut for the award of the degree of Doctor of Philosophy in Zoology, is an authentic record of the work done by Ms. LAKSHMI K.V., under my supervision and guidance and no part of the thesis has formed the basis for the award of any degree/diploma or other similar titles of any University.

Dr. ANEESH E.M.

(Guide)



Centre for Animal Taxonomy & Ecology Department of Zoology Christ College (Autonomous) Irinjalakuda, Kerala, INDIA - 680125 Mob: 0091-8547553174 Email: avsudhi@christcollegeijk.edu.in https://sites.google.com/view/arachnology http://www.christcollegeijk.edu.in

Dr. SUDHIKUMAR A.V. Assistant Professor & Head

December 2023

## CERTIFICATE

This is to certify that the thesis entitled "Larvicidal Efficacy of *Croton bonplandianus* Baill. Extract and its Synergistic Effects with Different Conventional Insecticides against *Aedes aegypti* (Linnaeus, 1762), a Dengue Fever Vector", submitted to the University of Calicut in partial fulfilment of the requirements for the Degree of Doctor of Philosophy in Zoology is an authentic record of the work carried out by Ms. LAKSHMI K.V., under my supervision in the Department of Zoology, Christ College (Autonomous), Irinjalakuda, affiliated to the University of Calicut and no part of the thesis has formed the basis for the award of any degree, diploma or other similar titles of any University.

Dr. SUDHIKUMAR A.V. (Co-Guide)



CHRIST COLLEGE, IRINJALAKUDA, THRISSUR, KERALA, INDIA 680125

December 2023

## CERTIFICATE

This is to certify that **Ms. LAKSHMI K.V.**, has completed the research work for the full period prescribed under the Ph.D. ordinance of the University of Calicut. This thesis **"Larvicidal Efficacy of** *Croton bonplandianus* **Baill. Extract and its Synergistic Effects with Different Conventional Insecticides against** *Aedes aegypti* (**Linnaeus, 1762**), **a Dengue Fever Vector**", embodies the results of her investigations conducted during the period at which she worked as a research scholar. I recommend the thesis to be submitted for the evaluation for the award of the degree of Doctor of Philosophy in Zoology of the University of Calicut.

PRINCIPAL

### UNIVERSITY OF CALICUT CERTIFICATE ON PLAGIARISM CHECK

	1.	Name of the research scholar	Lakshmi K.V.			
	2.	Title of thesis/dissertation	Larvicidal Efficacy of <i>Croton bonplandianus</i> Baill. Extract and its Synergistic Effects with Different Conventional Insecticides against <i>Aedes aegypti</i> (Linnaeus, 1762), a Dengue Fever Vector			
	3.	Name of the supervisor	Dr. ANEESH E.M. (Guide) Dr. SUDHIKUMAR A.V. (Co-guide)			
	4.	Department/Institution	Department of Zoology Christ College, Irinjalakuda			
			Introduction/ Review of literature	Materials and Methods	Result/ Discussion/Summary/ Conclusion	
	5.	Similar content (%)identified	2%	0%	0%	
S.		Acceptable maximum limit (%)	10	10	10	
	6.	Software used		iThenticate		
TSITO I	7.	Date of verification		19/12/2023		
F CALICUT	*Report on plagiarism check, specifying included/excluded items with % of similarity to be attached. Checked by (with name, designation & Signature)					
	Name and signature of the Researcher Adabdum LAKSHMI.K.V					
	Name & Signature of the Supervisor Dr. Aneesh E.M. Assistant Professor Christ College (Autonomous)					
	The Doctoral Committee* has <u>Calculated and appropriate the sources</u> that the contents of the thesis, as summarized above and appropriate these these been taken to ensure originality of the Mob. *91 9400741861					
	Provessor Provessor					
	Name & Signature of the HoD/HoI (Chairperson of the Doctoral Committee)					
	* In ca plagiari addition	ase of languages like Malayalam, ism check, a manual check shall b nal certificate has to be attached	Tamil, etc. on the made by the	which no softw Doctoral Comi	are is available for mittee, for which an	

## ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

At the outset of my acknowledgements, I wish to express my irresistible gratitude to the Almighty, whose constant direction and guardianship have illuminated my path throughout the journey of completing this research.

I would like to express my sincere gratitude to the many individuals and institutions who have supported me throughout my research journey and the completion of this thesis. This research would not have been possible without their guidance, reassurance, and constant belief in my abilities.

I owe a profound debt of gratitude to my thesis advisor, Dr. Aneesh E. M., for his constant support, expert guidance, and mentorship. His patience, the valuable feedback he offered, and his willingness to dedicate his time to discussing ideas and research directions were truly exceptional. Through his mentorship, I have gained invaluable insights into the field of research. I am truly fortunate to have had the opportunity to work under his guidance, and I am intensely grateful for his contributions to my academic development.

I extend my heartfelt appreciation to my co-guide, Dr. Sudhikumar A.V., as his expertise, supervision, and willingness to collaborate has played a crucial part in enhancing the quality of my research. I am genuinely grateful for his contributions, which have enriched my academic journey and facilitated my growth as a researcher.

I would like to thank Christ College, Irinjalakuda and St. Josephs college, Irinjalakuda, for providing me with the resources, academic environment, and opportunities necessary for conducting this research. The precious knowledge and skills I have gained during my time here have been instrumental in shaping this thesis.

I wish to convey my gratitude to Dr. Mathew Paul, the retired Principal, and Rev. Dr. Jolly Andrews, the current Principal-in-Charge, of Christ College, Irinjalakuda, for their generous provision of the necessary facilities that greatly aided the successful completion of my work. Additionally, I express my sincere appreciation to the late Fr. Dr. Jose Thekkan CMI, the former Principal, for his timely support and blessings.

I am greatly thankful to Dr. Sr. Asha Therese, the Principal of St. Joseph's College in Irinjalakuda, for her exceptional provision of facilities that greatly aided in my research.

I would like to extend my gratitude and recognize the Research Coordinators of our college, specifically Dr. Balu T. Kuzhivelil., former Associate Professor of the Department of Zoology, Dr. Joseph V.P., former Associate Professor of the Department of Physics, and Dr. Joy V.T., a faculty member of Department of Chemistry. I am thankful for their timely guidance and support, which significantly contributed to completing my research and thesis work.

I want to thank Dr. Joshi C.O., the former Head of the Department of Zoology at Christ College, Irinjalakuda, for granting me access to research facilities.

Furthermore, I sincerely acknowledge the support and encouragement from the teaching and non-teaching staff at Christ College, Irinjalakuda, and St. Joseph's College, Irinjalakuda, throughout my research work.

I express my gratitude for the financial assistance provided by E-Grantz, Government of Kerala.

I am immensely thankful to Dr. Pushpalatha E., the Head of the Department of Zoology at the University of Calicut, and the teaching and non-teaching staff at the University for their co-operation throughout my research period.

In my academic pursuits, the Communicable Disease Research Laboratory (CDRL) team members, particularly Dr. Anoopkumar A.N. and Dr. Lekshmi Jayakrishnan, have made significant contributions. I would like to use this opportunity to express my gratitude to them.

The successful completion of my research was made possible through the collaborative efforts of my colleagues. I also want to thank all the research scholars at the Department of Zoology, Christ College, Irinjalakuda, especially Dr. Sudhin P.P. and Dr. Drisya Mohan, for their continuous encouragement and support during the research process.

I want to express my genuine gratefulness to my best friend, Ms. Thasia Chandran, for her reliable and robust support and faith throughout the completion of my research. I extend special gratitude to my comrade Dr. Asha A.V. and her family for being a constant source of support, offering valuable advice, and providing assistance throughout my research work. I am obliged to Dr. Nafin K. S., my platonic soul mate, for the countless discussions and boundless patience provided to support my research during the entire period. I also appreciate the efforts made by my cherished pals, Ms. Princy Jose, Ms. Rinu Jose, and Ms. Divya Mohan, and all the support and cheer they have shown. I immensely thank Mr. Ratheesh M. K, my dear friend, for his support and encouragement.

I sincerely thank my close friends, Mr. Ranjil Krishna C. K., Mr. Anoop A.V, Mr. Misvar Ali K., Mr. Sreedev Puthur, Dr. Madhuri Menon and Ms. Nima Lalitha, for their precious involvement and encouragement throughout my study. Their friendship has been a source of inspiration, motivation, and invaluable assistance, making this journey delightful.

I am grateful to my brother, Dr. Ajith K. S, Assistant Professor in the Department of Animal Nutrition at the College of Veterinary and Animal Sciences, Mannuthy, for his guidance and support in completing my research. I also thank Ms. Meerabai P. K. for her valuable assistance in my phytochemical analyses. I want to offer my heartfelt thanks to Mr. Thyaganandan K. for providing valuable insights about the research field.

I want to express my special appreciation and recognition to Mr. Sreejan Sreevalsam for his artistic design of my thesis cover page. I also cherish the technical support

given by Ms. Reshma Asokan, Mr. Sreedharan and Late Mr. Karunakaran, throughout my research.

I am thankful to Dr. Prathibha K. P., and Dr. Mohan Kumar T. K., for their selfless support which helped me greatly to improve my thesis.

My deepest gratitude goes out to my teachers, Ms. Padmini, Ms. Anjelica, Ms. Reetha, Ms. Sarada, and Dr. Kezia Kuruvila, for their support and conviction, which enabled me to advance my academic abilities.

I extend my cordial thanks to Dr. Akhilesh V.P., and Mr. Vijesh Varghese of Amplicon Biolabs, Kinfra, Kakkanchery, for their unpretentious assistance in every aspect of my research.

I am deeply grateful to my maternal grandparents, Late Ms. Savithri M.K. and Late Mr. Gopalapanicker C.R., whose enduring belief in me, even beyond their physical presence, has been a guiding light throughout my research journey.

I sincerely thank my sister, Ms. Sreeja K, brother, Mr. Sreekanth K, aunt, Ms. Shylaja Krishnan, and uncle, Mr. R. Kutty Krishnan, for their constant emotional support throughout my research.

My most profound appreciation goes to my extended family, especially my parentsin-law, Mr. Govindan P. K., and Ms. Indira Govindan, sister-in-law, Ms. Gopika P. G., brother-in-law Mr. Praseeth K.M., my nieces Meenakshi K Praseeth and Parvathi K Praseeth for their stable support during my research journey. Their affection, motivation and understanding have been treasured.

I am delighted to convey my deep appreciation to my father, Adv. Venugopalan K.S., for his guidance and unparalleled insights that have played an essential role in shaping my academic pursuits. I would like to thank my mother, Ms. Jayasree C.G., whose constant support and inspiration drive my academic endeavours. Her unconditional devotion and compassion have been fundamental to accomplishing this research, and I admire her advice and unceasing presence.

My spouse, Mr. Vishnu P.G., has my sincere gratitude for his steadfast backing. His encouragement, advise and financial assistance have been indispensable, and I am profoundly indebted for his enduring love and commitment.

I owe sincere gratitude with a tinge of apology to my little daughter, Vaishnavi P Vishnu., for having sacrificed a lot of her time to complete my work. The successful completion of this journey stands as a testament to your love and sacrifices.

Apologies and gratitude to all those who offered their help and support but whose names are not specifically mentioned here.

### LAKSHMI K.V.

Dedication

This thesis is dedicated to my mother. Your altruism has become the catalyst for every single triumph of my life, and I sense satisfaction in achieving my dreams, realizing that they are an extension of yours. Thank you for being the cornerstone of my accomplishments.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	VII
LIST OF TABLES	XV
LIST OF FIGURES	XVII
ABBREVIATIONS	XX
ABSTRACT	. XXIII
GENERAL INTRODUCTION	1
Biology	1
Life Cycle	2
Breeding Habitats	4
Vector Status	4
Aedes aegypti	6
Dengue Fever	8
Barcoding	9
Diversity	10
Vector Control	11
Chemical Insecticides	11
Botanicals	15
Synergy	17
Objectives	19
Organization of the Thesis	19
REVIEW OF LITERATURE	20
Mosquito Diversity	21
Mosquito Vectors	21
Molecular Barcoding	25
Chemical Control	30
Organophosphates	31
Pyrethroids	33
Plant Extract	35
Synergy	41
GENERAL METHODOLOGY	46
Study Sites for Vector Collection	47
Mosquito Sampling	47
Sampling Methods	47
GIS Data Preparation	47
DNA Barcoding	48
Collection and Preservation	48
Extraction of Genomic DNA and PCR Amplification	48
Agarose Gel Electrophoresis	48
PCR Product Purification	48
DNA Sequencing and Phylogenetic Analysis	49
Mosquito Colony Maintenance	49
Screening of Plants	49
Plant Extraction for Bioassay	50
Isolation and Identification of Bioactive Compound	50
Plant Larval Bioassay	51
Insecticide Larval Bioassay	51
Synergistic and Co-toxicity Coefficient Assay of Bioactive Plant Isolate and Insectici	ides 52
Selection Experiment	52
Quantitative Enzymatic Assay	52
Antimicrobial Assay of Plant-Isolated Compound	53
CHAPTER I	54
Molecular Identification of Important Vector Mosquito Species from Selected Sites of	
Thrissur District, Kerala, India	54

# **Table of Contents**

1.1 Introduction	
1.2 Methodology	
1.2.1 Vector Mosquito Diversity	
1.2.1.1 Study Site	
1.2.1.2 Sample Collection	
1.2.1.3 Statistical Analysis	60
1.2.1.4 GIS Preparation	61
1.2.2 DNA Barcoding	61
1.2.2.1 Collection and Preservation	
1.2.2.2 Genomic DNA Extraction and PCR Amplification	61
1.2.2.3 Agarose Gel Electrophoresis	
1.2.2.4 PCR Product Purification	
1.2.2.5 DNA Sequencing and Phylogenetic Analysis	62
1.3 Result	
1.3.1 Vector Mosquito Diversity and Diversity Analysis	62
1 3 2 Vector Mosquito Barcoding	68
1 3 2 1 Species Name: Anopheles stephensi	
1 3 2 2 Species Name: Anopheles subpictus	79
1 3 2 3 Species Name: Anopheles vagus	83
1 3 2 4 Species Name: Andes acounti	
1 3 2 5 Species Name: Aedes albonictus	
1 3 2 6 Species Name: Aedas vittatus	
1 3 2 7 Species Name: Armigeres subalbatus	
1 3 2 8 Species Name: Cular galidus	103
1.3.2.0 Species Name: Culey tritagniorhynchus	
1.3.2.9 Species Name: Culex internoting fields	
1.3.2.10 Species Name: Culex animalefasciatus	
1.5.2.11 Species Marie. Cutex quinque juscituius	
1.4 Discussion	
1.4.1 Vector Mosquito Barcoding	
1.4.2 Vector Mosquito Darcoung	
Screening of Locally Available Plants for Their Larvicidal Effect on Fourth Ins	124 tar I arvag of
Agagynti and Bioactive Compound Isolation from the Selected Plant	124 Lai vae 01
2.1 Introduction	124
2.1 Introduction	
2.2 Methodology	120
2.2.1 Collection of Flams	120
2.2.2 Mosquito Colony Maintenance	129
2.2.2.2 a Aedes degypti L.	
2.2.5 Screeting of Flants	
2.2.5a Croion bonplanalanus Dalli.	
2.2.4 Extraction of Selected Flant for Larvar Dibassay	
2.2.5 Susceptionity of Phyto- extract	134 124
2.2.0 Statistical Analysis	
2.2.7 Isolation and Identification of Bloactive Compound	134 126
2.2.8 Anumicropial Activity Study	
2.2.8.1 Pure culture	
2.2.8.2 Anumicropial Test	
2.5 Results	
2.4 Discussion	
2.5 Conclusion	
Susceptibility Assessment of Four Different Conventional Insecticides and Isola	ated Plant
Bioactive Compound on Fourth Instar Larvae of Ae. aegypti	
3.1 Introduction	

3.2 Methodology	155
3.2.1 Mosquito Colony Maintenance	155
3.2.2 Plant Isolate Bioassay	155
3.2.3 Insecticide Bioassay	156
3.2.4 Statistical Analysis	156
3.3 Result	156
3.4 Discussion	163
3.5 Conclusion	171
CHAPTER IV	173
The Effect of Synergistic Interaction between Plant Isolate and Four Conventional	
Insecticides on Fourth Instar Larvae of Ae. aegypti	173
4.1 Introduction	174
4.2 Methodology	177
4.2.1 Mosquito Colony Maintenance	177
4.2.2 Plant Isolate Bioassay and Insecticide Bioassay	177
4.2.3 Synergistic Assay of Phyto-Extracts and Insecticides	177
4.2.3.1 Co-toxicity Coefficient (CTC)	178
4.2.3.2 Synergistic Factor (SF)	178
4.2.3.3 Statistical Analysis	178
4.2.4 Quantitative Enzymatic Assay	179
4.2.4.1 Selection Experiment	179
4.2.4.2 Resistance Ratio (RR)	180
4.2.4.3 Preparation of Sample Solution	180
4.2.4.4 Total Protein Quantification	180
4.2.4.5 Acetylcholinesterase Assay	181
4.2.4.6 Glutathione-S-Transferase Assay	181
4.2.4.7 Esterase Assay	182
4.2.4.8 Monooxygenase (Cytochrome P450) Assay	182
4.2.4.9 Statistical Analysis	183
4.3 Result	183
4.3.1 Co-toxicity Coefficient Evaluation	183
4.3.2 Synergistic Effect Evaluation	184
4.3.3 Quantitative Enzyme Assays	184
4.3.3.1 Quantitative Enzyme Assay at Different Time Period	185
4.3.3.1.1a Specific Activity of GST in SC4 Treated Test Groups	185
4.3.3.1.1b Specific Activity of GST in CB1 Treated Test Groups	185
4.3.3.1.1c Statistical Analysis of Specific Activity of GST in SC4 and CB1 Trea	ted
Test Groups	185
4.3.3.1.2a Specific Activity of AChE in SC4 Treated Test Groups	186
4.3.3.1.2b Specific Activity of AChE in CB1 Treated Test Groups	186
4.3.3.1.2c Statistical Analysis of Specific Activity of AChE in SC4 and CB1	
Treated Test Groups	186
4.3.3.1.3a Specific Activity of $\alpha$ -esterase and $\beta$ -esterase in SC4 Treated Test	
Groups	187
4.3.3.1.3b Specific Activity of $\alpha$ -esterase and $\beta$ -esterase in CB1 Treated Test	
Groups	187
4.3.3.1.3c Statistical Analysis of Specific Activity of $\alpha$ -esterase and $\beta$ -esterase in	n
SC4 and CB1 Treated Test Groups	187
4.3.3.1.4a Specific Activity of Monooxygenase (Cytochrome p450) in SC4 Trea	ted
Test Groups	188
4.3.3.1.4b Specific Activity of Monooxygenase in CB1 Treated Test Groups	188
4.3.3.1.4c Statistical Analysis of Specific Activity of Monooxygenase in SC4 an	ıd
CB1 Treated Test Groups	188
4.3.3.1.5a Total protein concentration in SC4 Treated Test Groups	189
4.3.3.1.5b Total protein concentration in CB1 Treated Test Groups	189
-	

4.3.3.1.5c Statistical Analysis of Total protein concentration in SC4 and CB1	
Treated Test Groups1	.89
4.3.3.2 Quantitative Enzyme Assay of Susceptible F0 and SC4 selected F5 strain 1	.90
4.4 Discussion	207
4.5 Conclusion	211
SUMMARY2	212
RECOMMENDATIONS	215
REFERENCES	219
PUBLICATIONS & PARTICIPATIONS	261
PLATES	263

# LIST OF TABLES

Table 1.1: Confirmed cases of mosquito- vector borne diseases in Kerala 2010-2022
(dhs.kerala.gov.in, https://dhs.kerala.gov.in/data-on-communicable-diseases/)58
Table 1.2: Total number of vector mosquito species collected during the study period65
Table 1.3: Different diversity indices of collected vector mosquito species during the study
period
Table 1.4: Accession number of collected vector mosquito species provided by NCBI
GenBank
Table 1.5a: Percentage of evolutionary divergence of An. stephensi with its closely related
species accessible from NCBI GenBank 77
Table 1 5b: The nucleotide frequency comparison of An stephensi COI gene sequence with
its kin species 78
Table 1 6a: Percentage of evolutionary divergence of An subnictus with its closely related
species accessible from NCBI GenBank
Table 1 6h: The nucleotide frequency comparison of $An$ subnictus COI gene sequence with
its kin species
Table 1.7a: Dercentage of evolutionary divergence of An argue with its closely related
spacios accossible from NCBI ConBank
Table 1.7b; The pueleotide frequency comparison of An ungrue COI gape sequence with its
Table 1.70. The nucleonde frequency comparison of An. Vagus COT gene sequence with its
KIII species
Table 1.8a: Percentage of evolutionary divergence of <i>Ae. degypti</i> with its closely related
species accessible from NCBI GenBank
Table 1.8b: The nucleotide frequency comparison of Ae. aegypti COI gene sequence with its
Kin species
Table 1.9a: Percentage of evolutionary divergence of <i>Ae. albopictus</i> with its closely related
species accessible from NCBI GenBank
Table 1.9b: The nucleotide frequency comparison of <i>Ae. albopictus</i> COI gene sequence with
its kin species
Table 1.10a: Percentage of evolutionary divergence of <i>Ae. vittatus</i> with its closely related
species accessible from NCBI GenBank
Table 1.10b: The nucleotide frequency comparison of Ae. vittatus COI gene sequence with its
kin species
Table 1.11a: Percentage of evolutionary divergence of Ar. subalbatus with its closely related
species accessible from NCBI GenBank
Table 1.11b: The nucleotide frequency comparison of Ar. subalbatus COI gene sequence with
its kin species
Table 1.12a: Percentage of evolutionary divergence of <i>Cx. gelidus</i> with its closely related
species accessible from NCBI GenBank
Table 1.12b: The nucleotide frequency comparison of <i>Cx. gelidus</i> COI gene sequence with its
kin species
Table 1.13a: Percentage of evolutionary divergence of <i>Cx. tritaeniorhynchus</i> with its closely
related species accessible from NCBI GenBank
Table 1 13b: The nucleotide frequency comparison of <i>Cx_tritaeniorhynchus</i> COI gene
sequence with its kin species
Table 1 14a: Percentage of evolutionary divergence of $C_{r}$ <i>ninions</i> with its closely related
species accessible from NCBI GenBank
Table 1 1/h: The nucleotide frequency comparison of <i>Cr. ninians</i> COI gene sequence with its
tin species 114
Table 1 150: Demonstrate of avalutionary divergence of Cr. guinguefaceigtue with its closely
rate 1.13a. retectinge of evolutionally divergence of <i>Cx. quinquejascialus</i> with its closely
Telacti species accessible from the fragman opportion of Cu. suin succession of Co.
rable 1.150. The nucleonde frequency comparison of <i>Cx. quinquefasciatus</i> COI gene
sequence with its kin species

Table 2.1: List of plant specimens collected and screened for activity against fourth instar Ae.
aegypti larvae142
Table 2.2: Evaluation of <i>C. bonplandianus</i> extracts in three different solvents with varying
polarity against fourth instar Ae. aegypti larvae
Table 2.3: Percentage and probit mortality of hexane extract of <i>C. bonplandianus</i> against
fourth instar Ae. aegypti larvae
Table 2.4: Lethal concentrations of hexane extract of <i>C. bonplandianus</i> against fourth instar
Ae. aegynti larvae
Table 2.5: Zone of inhibition of antimicrobial activity of CB1
Table 3.1: Percentage and probit mortality of Malathion against fourth instar Ae. aegynti
larvae
Table 3.2: Percentage and probit mortality of Temephos against fourth instar Ae according
larvae
Table 3.3: Percentage and probit mortality of Cypermethrin against fourth instar Ae approximities
larvae
Table 3.4. Percentage and probit mortality of Lambda-cyhalothrin against fourth instar Ae
<i>apovnti</i> larvae
Table 3.5: Percentage and probit mortality CB1 against fourth instar Ae <i>geovnti</i> larvae 160
Table 3.6: Mosquito larvicidal effect of CB1 Malathion Temenhos Cypermethrin and
Lambda- cyhalothrin against fourth instar <i>Ae aegynti</i> larvae
Table 4.1: Co-toxicity coefficient of synergistic combinations SC1. SC2. SC3 and SC4
against Ae acounti larvae
Table 4.2: Synergistic effect of synergistic combinations SC1 SC2 SC3 and SC4 against $A_{\rho}$
<i>apovnti</i> larvae
Table 4.3: Synergistic factor of tested synergistic combinations SC1 SC2 SC3 and SC4
against Ae acounti larvae
Table 4.4: Results of selection trials using SC4 on Ae accountilaryae
Table 4.5: Differential activity of detoxifying enzymes in susceptible and SC4 treated $A_{\alpha}$
<i>againti</i> larvae (10 times dilution of I C <sub>2</sub> , value)
Table 4.6: Differential activity of detoxifying enzymes in susceptible and CB1 treated strains
Table 4.0. Differential activity of detoxifying enzymes in susceptible and CDT freated strains of $A_{e}$ account i large (10 times dilution of LC value)
Table 4.7: Desults of Mixed Design analysis (ANOVA) of Total protein GST AChE a
actorese B esterese and Manaeyuganese (Cutochrome n450)
Table 4.8: Dogt has tost of simple main affect of compounds at each time period
Table 4.0. Post hoc test of simple main effect of compounds at each time period
Table 4.9 Post hoc rest of simple pairwise comparisons of compounds at each time refloct 197
Table 4.10. Fost hoc test of simple main effect of time periods with different compounds. 198
rable 4.11. Fost not test of simple pairwise comparisons of time periods for each
Table 4.12. Differential estivity of deterriting enzymes in E0 and SC4 colored E5 studies of
Table 4.12: Differential activity of deloxitying enzymes in FU and SC4 selected F5 strains of
<i>Ae. uegypti</i> farvæ

# LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1.1 Location map of study sites	59
Figure 1.2 GIS map of sampling sites	66
Figure 1.3 Site wise abundance graphs of collected vector mosquitoes	67
Figure 1.4b The DNA sequence of An. stephensi COI gene	75
Figure 1.4c The protein sequence of An. stephensi COI gene	75
Figure 1.4d Phylogenetic tree of An. stephensi	76
Figure 1.4e Electropherogram showing the nucleotide sequence of mitochondrial COI gen	e of
An. stephensi	76
Figure 1.4f Molecular barcode of An. stephensi	76
Figure 1.5b The DNA sequence of An. subpictus COI gene	79
Figure 1.5c The protein sequence of An. subpictus COI gene	79
Figure 1.5d Phylogenetic tree of An. subpictus	80
Figure 1.5e Electropherogram showing the nucleotide sequence of mitochondrial COI gen	e of
An. subpictus	80
Figure 1.5f Molecular barcode of An. subpictus	80
Figure 1.6b The DNA sequence of An. vagus COI gene	83
Figure 1.6c The protein sequence of An. vagus COI gene	83
Figure 1.6d Phylogenetic tree of An. vagus	84
Figure 1.6e Electropherogram showing the nucleotide sequence of mitochondrial COI gen	e of
An. vagus	84
Figure 1.6f Molecular barcode of An. vagus	84
Figure 1.7b The DNA sequence of Ae. aegypti COI gene	87
Figure 1.7c The protein sequence of Ae. aegypti COI gene	87
Figure 1.7d Phylogenetic tree of Ae. aegypti	88
Figure 1.7e Electropherogram showing the nucleotide sequence of mitochondrial COI gen	e of
Ae. aegypti	88
Figure 1.7f Molecular barcode of Ae. aegypti	88
Figure 1.8b The DNA sequence of Ae. albopictus COI gene	91
Figure 1.8c The protein sequence of Ae. albopictus COI gene	91
Figure 1.8d Phylogenetic tree of Ae. albopictus	92
Figure 1.8e Electropherogram showing the nucleotide sequence of mitochondrial COI gen	e of
Ae. albopictus	92
Figure 1.8f Molecular barcode of Ae. albopictus	92
Figure 1.9b The DNA sequence of Ae. vittatus COI gene	95
Figure 1.9c The protein sequence of Ae. vittatus COI gene	95
Figure 1.9d Phylogenetic tree of Ae. vittatus	96
Figure 1.9e Electropherogram showing the nucleotide sequence of mitochondrial COI gen	e of
Ae. vittatus	96
Figure 1.9f Molecular barcode of Ae. vittatus	96
Figure 1.10b The DNA sequence of Ar. subalbatus COI gene	99
Figure 1.10c The protein sequence of Ar. subalbatus COI gene	99
Figure 1.10d Phylogenetic tree of Ar. subalbatus	100
Figure 1.10e Electropherogram showing the nucleotide sequence of mitochondrial COI ge	ne
of Ar. subalbatus	.100
Figure 1.10f Molecular barcode of Ar. subalbatus	100

Figure 1.11b The DNA sequence of Cx. gelidus COI gene
Figure 1.11c The protein sequence of Cx. gelidus COI gene
Figure 1.11d Phylogenetic tree of Cx. gelidus
Figure 1.11e Electropherogram showing the nucleotide sequence of mitochondrial COI gene
of <i>Cx. gelidus</i>
Figure 1.11f Molecular barcode of <i>Cx. gelidus</i>
Figure 1.12b The DNA sequence of Cx. tritaeniorhynchus COI gene
Figure 1.12c The protein sequence of Cx. tritaeniorhynchus COI gene
Figure 1.12d Phylogenetic tree of Cx. tritaeniorhynchus
Figure 1.12e Electropherogram showing the nucleotide sequence of mitochondrial COI gene
of Cx. tritaeniorhynchus
Figure 1.12f Molecular barcode of <i>Cx. tritaeniorhynchus</i>
Figure 1.13b The DNA sequence of Cx. pipiens COI gene
Figure 1.13c The protein sequence of <i>Cx. pipiens</i> COI gene
Figure 1.13d Phylogenetic tree of <i>Cx. pipiens</i>
Figure 1.13e Electropherogram showing the nucleotide sequence of mitochondrial COI gene
of <i>Cx. pipiens</i>
Figure 1.13f Molecular barcode of <i>Cx. pipiens</i>
Figure 1.14b The DNA sequence of <i>Cx. quinquefasciatus</i> COI gene
Figure 1.14c The protein sequence of <i>Cx. quinquefasciatus</i> COI gene
Figure 1.14d Phylogenetic tree of <i>Cx. quinquefasciatus</i>
Figure 1.14e Electropherogram showing the nucleotide sequence of mitochondrial COI gene
of <i>Cx. auinauefasciatus</i>
Figure 1.14f Molecular barcode of <i>Cx.quinquefasciatus</i>
Figure 2.2.1 GCMS chromatogram of Whole plant extract of <i>C. bonplandianus</i>
Figure 2.2.2 GCMS chromatogram of isolated compound CB1 of <i>C. bonplandianus</i>
Figure 2.5.1- 2.5.4 NMR spectra of the isolated bioactive compound CB1
Figure 2.6 Structure of bioactive plant isolate (CB1) (Eicosane, C <sub>20</sub> H <sub>42</sub> )
Figure 3.1 Concentration vs probit mortality percentage of CB1 against <i>Ae. aegypti</i> larvae 161
Figure 3.2 Concentration vs probit mortality percentage of Malathion against <i>Ae. aegypti</i>
larvae
Figure 3.3 Concentration vs probit mortality percentage of Temephos against <i>Ae. aegypti</i>
larvae
Figure 3.4 Concentration vs probit mortality percentage of Cypermethrin against <i>Ae. aegypti</i>
larvae
Figure 3.5 Concentration vs probit mortality percentage of Lambda- cyhalothrin against Ae.
aegynti larvae.
Figure 4.1 Comparison of larvicidal synergistic effect of SC1 and the larvicidal activity of
Malathion alone against <i>Ae acounti</i> larvae 192
Figure 4.2 Comparison of larvicidal synergistic effect of SC2 and the larvicidal activity of
Temenhos alone against <i>Ae aegynti</i> larvae
Figure 4.3 Comparison of larvicidal synergistic effect of SC3 and the larvicidal activity of
Cynermethrin alone against <i>Ae aegynti</i> larvae
Figure 4.4 Comparison of larvicidal synergistic effect of SC4 and the larvicidal activity of
Lambda- cyhalothrin alone against <i>Ae gegynti</i> larvae
Figure 4.5 Comparison of the effect of CB1 and SC4 individually on the total protein
concentration of suscentible (F0) Ap appoint strain at different time intervals T0 T24
T48 and T72 hours 200
$1 \pm 0$ und $1/2$ HOuts

Figure 4.6 Comparison of the effect of CB1 and SC4 individually on specific enzymatic
activity of GST of susceptible (F0) Ae. aegypti strain at different time intervals T0, T24,
T48 and T72 hours
Figure 4.7 Comparison of the effect of CB1 and SC4 individually on specific enzymatic
activity of AChE of susceptible (F0) Ae. aegypti strain at different time intervals T0,
T24, T48 and T72 hours
Figure 4.8 Comparison of the effect of CB1 and SC4 individually on specific enzymatic
activity of α- esterase of susceptible (F0) Ae. aegypti strain at different time intervals T0,
T24, T48 and T72 hours
Figure 4.9 Comparison of the effect of CB1 and SC4 individually on specific enzymatic
activity of $\beta$ - esterase of susceptible (F0) Ae. aegypti strain at different time intervals T0,
T24, T48 and T72 hours
Figure 4.10 Comparison of the effect of CB1 and SC4 individually on specific enzymatic
activity of monooxygenase of susceptible (F0) Ae. aegypti strain at different time
intervals T0, T24, T48 and T72 hours
Figure 4.11 Comparison of total protein concentration in susceptible F0 and SC4 selected F5
Ae. aegypti strain
Figure 4.12 Comparison of Specific activity of GST in susceptible F0 and SC4 selected F5
Ae. aegypti strain
Figure 4.13 Comparison of Specific activity of AChE in susceptible F0 and SC4 selected F5
Ae. aegypti strain
Figure 4.14 Comparison of Specific activity of $\alpha$ - esterase in susceptible F0 and SC4 selected
F5 Ae. aegypti strain
Figure 4.15 Comparison of Specific activity of $\beta$ - esterase in susceptible F0 and SC4 selected
F5 Ae. aegypti strain
Figure 4.16 Comparison of Specific activity of monooxygenase in susceptible F0 and SC4
selected F5 Ae. aegypti strain
Figure 1.4a Anopheles stephensi
Figure 1.5a Anopheles subpictus
Figure 1.6a Anopheles vagus
Figure 1.7a Aedes aegypti
Figure 1.8a Aedes albopictus
Figure 1.9a Aedes vittatus
Figure 1.10a Armigeres subalbatus
Figure 1.11a Culex gelidus
Figure 1.12a <i>Culex tritaeniorhynchus</i>
Figure 1.13a <i>Culex pipiens</i>
Figure 1.14a <i>Culex quinquefasciatus</i>

## ABBREVIATIONS

Ae. - Aedes

An.- Anopheles

Ar.- Armigeres

Cx.- Culex

Lt.- Lutzia

Ma. – Mansonia

E. coli- Escherichia coli

S. aureus- Staphylococcus aureus

K. pneumoniae-Klebsiella pneumoniae

P. vulgaris-Proteus vulgaris

°E- Degree East Longitude

°N- Degree North Latitude

AChE- Acetylcholine Esterase

ANOVA- Analysis of Variance

ArcGIS- Aeronautical Reconnaissance Coverage Geographic Information System

BLAST- Basic Local Alignment Search Tool

BOLD- Barcode of Life Data System

bp- Base pair

BSA- Bovine Serum Albumin

CB1- Plant isolated Eicosane

CDNB-GSH -1-chloro-2,4-dinitrobenzene

CDRL- Communicable Disease Research Laboratory

CO1- Cytochrome Oxidase Subunit1

CTC- Co-toxicity Coefficient

DDT- Dichlorodiphenyltrichloroethane

DHF- Dengue hemorrhagic fever

dhs.kerala.gov- Directorate of Health Services Kerala Government

Dionex ASE 150- Dionex Accelerated Solvent Extractor

DMSO- Dimethyl sulfoxide

DNA- Deoxyribonucleic Acid

dNTP- Deoxynucleoside triphosphate

DSS- Dengue Shock Syndrome

DTNB- 5,5'-Dithiobis (2-nitrobenzoic acid)

DTT- Dithiothreitol

DV- Dengue Virus

EDTA- Ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid

EtBr- Ethidium Bromide

GABA- Gamma- Aminobutyric Acid

GCMS- Gas Chromatography-Mass Spectrometry

**GIS-** Geographical Information System

GPS- Global Positioning System

GST- Glutahione -s- transferase

HTML- Hypertext Markup language

IGR- Insect Growth Regulator

JE- Japanese Encephalitis

JEV- Japanese Encephalitis Virus

KH<sub>2</sub>PO<sub>4</sub>- Potassium phosphate

L/D- Light/Dark

LC- Lethal Concentration

MEGA- Molecular Evolutionary Genetics Analysis

MFO- Mixed- function oxidases

MgCl<sub>2</sub>- Magnesium Chloride

mtDNA- Mitochondrial DNA

NADPH- Nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate

NaOH- Sodium hydroxide

NCBI- National Center for Biotechnology Information

NJ- Neighbor joining

NMR- Nuclear Magnetic Resonance

OC- Organo Chlorine

**OD-** Optical Density

OP-Organophosphate

p.adj- p adjusted value

PAST- Paleontological Statistics Software Package for Education and Data Analysis

PBO- Piperonyl butoxide

PCR- Polymerase Chain Reaction

pH- Potential of Hydrogen

PMSF- Phenylmethylsulfonyl fluoride

**Py-Pyrrethroids** 

RNA- Ribonucleic Acid

rpm- Revolutions per minute

**RR-** Resistance Ratio

SC1- Synergistic Compound of Malathion and Eicosane

SC2- Synergistic Compound of Temephos and Eicosane

SC3- Synergistic Compound of Cypermethrin and Eicosane

SC4- Synergistic Compound of Lambda-cyhalothrin and Eicosane

SDS- Sodium dodecyl sulphate

SF- Synergistic Factor

SPSS- Statistical Package for the Social Sciences

TAE- Tris-acetate EDTA

TCA- Trichloroacetic acid

TLC- Thin Layer Chromatography

USA- United States of America

UV- Ultraviolet

WHO- World Health Organization

WNV- West Nile Virus

YF- Yellow fever

Ppm-Parts per million

mg- Milligram

min- Minute

ml - Millilitre

 $\mu l-Microliter$ 

## ABSTRACT

Mosquitoes, found ubiquitously across various regions of the world, play a pivotal role in transmitting many devastating diseases. Their significance as vectors has stimulated the alarming rise in mosquito-borne diseases as they are responsible for carrying and transmitting pathogens to humans and animals. The most significant health risks associated with mosquito vectors include dengue, malaria, chikungunya, yellow fever, zika virus infection, filariasis, and West Nile virus infection. These diseases collectively contribute to extensive global disease and mortality rates, with millions of cases reported annually. Accurate identification of mosquito vectors in specific regions is crucial for strategizing effective disease management and resource allocation as it enables early detection and targeted response measures, reducing disease impact.

For decades, Kerala has faced persistent intimidation of mosquito-borne diseases. Therefore, it becomes imperative to precisely identify, map, and document the vector mosquito population and the factors that drive their proliferation. The first objective of this study was to identify the important vector mosquito species within selected areas that represented urban and semi-urban regions of the Thrissur district in Kerala, India, using molecular identification techniques. According to the molecular data, a phylogenetic tree was constructed, comparing the genetic relations between the collected vector species with the other NCBI-deposited species from various regions around the globe. This objective presented detailed information on local vector populations, facilitating more focused and effective vector control strategies. This research combined traditional and molecular techniques to recognize mosquito species and utilised GIS technology for species mapping according to their habitat geographic region.

The study also evaluated different diversity indices, including alpha, beta and gamma diversity indices of the collected vector populations. These diversity indices provided an overall awareness of the diversity of selected vector mosquito species within the study area. The molecular identification of mosquito vectors confirmed the existence of 11 vector species of primary and crucial mosquito-borne diseases. The collected vector mosquito species were identified and documented under four different genera, *Anopheles, Aedes, Armigeres* and *Culex*, within the study area. The selection

of *Ae. aegypti*, as the experimental species for larvicidal activity studies was influenced by understanding the burden of disease associated with this vector mosquito and its role in disease transmission.

The next objective of the study involved screening various locally available plant extracts against *Ae. aegypti* vector using organic solvents with increasing polarity. It comprised the identification and isolation of bioactive compound within effective phyto-extract, and the evaluation of the susceptibility of fourth-instar larvae of *Ae. aegypti* to the plant extract. This assessment utilised the standard larval bioassay procedure outlined by the World Health Organization (WHO).

The following part of the study involved the larval susceptibility assay, where different conventional insecticides and the plant isolate were tested against *Ae*. *aegypti* larvae. The bioactive compound, identified as eicosane and termed CB1, and four conventional insecticides, lambda-cyhalothrin, cypermethrin, temephos, and malathion, were chosen for examination. The WHO protocol was followed for assessing larval susceptibility, and plant isolate bioassay, with modifications as needed to meet the specific requirements of the study. The results revealed the susceptibility status of *Ae. aegypti* towards all the tested compounds.

Antimicrobial activities were also considered to determine the efficiency of CB1 to limit the growth of microorganisms. Of the four different bacterial strains tested, the growth of all except one was limited by the plant isolate. This result indicated an add-on advantage of CB1 as it could inhibit certain microbial growth when released to the environment as a larvicide.

The fundamental objective of this study was to evaluate the synergistic impact, as synergy can enhance the efficacy of insecticides when combined with natural compounds like the plant isolate, thus improving the prospects of successful vector control. This cooperative approach also holds the potential to reduce the dependence on chemical insecticides alone, thereby promoting more sustainable vector management practices. Two distinct experimental approaches were established to examine the interplay between the insecticide and plant extract, yielding the Cotoxicity coefficient, CTC and the Synergistic factor, SF. These experiments aimed to gain a deeper understanding of the combined effects of each chemical insecticide with the plant's bioactive compound on *Ae. aegypti* larvae. The CTC analysis assessed the

combined mixture- influenced mortality rates in comparison to expected outcomes, while the evaluation of the SF aimed to explain the degree of synergism or antagonism observed between the insecticide and the plant isolate. These investigations provided a better perceptive of the interactions among these substances and their aptitude for successful vector control tactics. The results demonstrated that all combinations exhibited a synergistic effect on the test species, with the eicosane-lambda cyhalothrin combination, SC4, displaying the most pronounced impact.

SC4 was chosen for further analysis to investigate the possibility of resistance development in the laboratory reared *Ae. aegypti*. This involved quantitative assay of the detoxifying enzymes of the selected generations of *Ae. aegypti*, which had been raised through exposure to this compound for five consecutive generations and comparing their detoxifying enzyme activity with that of the susceptible strain. Bioassay experiments adhered to the standard WHO method and the Resistance Ratio (RR) assessment was also conducted following the WHO protocol. The derived lethal concentration (LC<sub>50</sub>) values indicated that although there was a minor rise in LC<sub>50</sub> values with the progression of generations, it did not reach a level indicative of resistance development against SC4, and the *Ae. aegypti* strain remained susceptible even after five generations.

Quantitative enzyme assays were also performed to analyse the mode of action of crucial detoxifying enzymes in a laboratory-reared susceptible strain of *Ae. aegypti* when exposed to the synergistic compound, SC4 and the plant isolate CB1 over different time intervals of 24, 48, and 72 hours. Specific enzyme activities of Acetylcholinesterase, Carboxylesterase, Glutathione S-transferase and Cytochrome P450 were evaluated along with the total protein concentration. The results consistently demonstrated a reduction in the activity of the tested detoxifying enzymes throughout all treated generations, implying a potential barrier to the rapid development of resistance to these compounds.

Keywords: Mosquito, *Ae. aegypti*, Barcoding, Larvicide, Synergy, Insecticides, Phyto- extract.

#### സംഗ്രഹം

ലോകത്തിന്റെ വിവിധ ഭാഗങ്ങളിൽ സർവ്വവ്യാപിയായി കാണന്ന രോഗാണവാഹകരായ കൊത്തകകൾ, ഡങ്കി, ചിക്കൻഗ്രനിയ, മലേറിയ, സികവൈറസ് അണബാധ, മന്ത് തുടങ്ങിയ മാരകമായ സാംക്രമിക രോഗങ്ങൾ മനുഷ്യരിലേക്കും മൃഗങ്ങളിലേക്കും പകർത്തുന്നതിൽ പ്രധാന പങ്ക് വഹിക്കുന്നു. ആഗോളതലത്തിൽ ഈ രോഗങ്ങൾ വിപ്പലമായ മരണനിരക്കിനു കാരണമാകന്നത് നിമിത്തം ഇവയുടെ ഫലപ്രദമായ നിയന്ത്രണം ആരോഗ്യമേഖലക്ക് അനിവാര്യമാണ്.

കേരളത്തിലെ തൃശൂർ ജില്ലയിലെ തിരഞ്ഞെടുത്ത നഗര, അർദ്ധനഗര പ്രദേശങ്ങളിലെ പ്രധാന രോഗ വാഹക കൊതുകകളുടെ തന്മാത്രാതലത്തിലുള്ള വർഗ്ഗീകരണവും അതിലൂടെ സാന്നിധ്യം, സാന്ദ്രത, വൈവിധ്യം എന്നിവയുടെ രേഖപ്പെടുത്തലും ആയിരുന്നു ഈ പഠനത്തിന്റെ ആദ്യലക്ഷ്യം. ഈ മേഖലയിൽ നിന്നും 11 വ്യത്യസ്ത സ്പീഷീസുകളിൽ പെട്ട പ്രധാന രോഗവാഹകകൊതുകകളെ തിരിച്ചറിയാനും വിവരങ്ങൾ രേഖപ്പെടുത്താനും സാധിച്ചു. ഇത് ഏഡീസ് ഈജിപ്തി ഡെങ്കരോ ഗാണവാഹക കൊതുകിനെ അതുമായി ബന്ധപ്പെട്ട രോഗത്തിന്റെ നാശകശേഷിയുടെ അടിസ്ഥാനത്തിൽ ലാർവിസൈഡൽ പരീക്ഷണത്തിനായി തെരഞ്ഞെടുക്കാൻ സഹായകമായി.

പ്രാദേശികമായി ലഭ്യമായ വിവിധ സസ്യങ്ങളുടെ എക്സ്ടാക്ടിന്റെ ലാർവിസൈഡൽ സാധുത ഏഡിസ് ഈജിഹ്തി കൊതുകിനെതിരെ പരീക്ഷിക്കുന്നതായിരുന്നു ഈ പാനത്തിന്റെ അടുത്തലക്ഷ്യം. ഇതിനായി വിവിധ സ്പീഷിസിൽ പെടുന്ന മുപ്പതോളം സസ്യങ്ങളുടെ ഭാഗങ്ങൾ ശേഖരിക്കുകയും അവയുടെ എക്സ്ടാക്ട് വേർതിരിച്ചെടുക്കുകയും അവയിൽ ക്രോട്ടൺ ബോൺപ്ലാൻഡിയാനസ് ചെടിയുടെ ഇലകളുടെ എക്സ്ടാക്ടിന്റെ മികച്ച ആക്ടിവിറ്റി മനസിലാക്കുകയും ചെയ്തു. ഇതിൽ തന്നെ ഇകോസൈൻ എന്ന സംയുക്തമാണ് ഈ ചെടിയുടെ ലാർവിസൈഡൽ ആക്ടിവിറ്റിക്ക് പ്രധാന കാരണം എന്ന മനസിലാക്കി വേർതിരിച്ചെട്ടുക്തു.

നിലവിലെ പഠനത്തിന്റെ അടുത്ത ഘട്ടത്തിൽ ഈ വേർതിരിച്ചെടുത്ത സംയുക്തത്തിന്റെയും മറ്റു നാലു രാസകീട നാശിനികളായ മാലത്തിയോൺ, ടെമഫോസ്, സൈപർമെത്രിൻ, ലാംഡസൈഹാലോത്രിൻ എന്നിവയുടെയും ലാർവിസൈഡൽ ആക്ടിവിറ്റി ഏഡീസ് ഈജിപ്റ്റി കൊതുകകൾക്കെതിരെ പരീക്ഷിക്കുകയും അവയുടെ ലീതൽ കോൺസെൻട്രേഷൻ നിരക്ക് രേഖപ്പെട<u>ടത്ത</u>കയും ചെയ്ത.

പ്രകൃതിദത്ത സംയോജിപ്പിക്കുമ്പോൾ പ്ലാന്റ് എസോലേറ്റ് സംയുക്തങ്ങളമായി പോലുള്ള കീടനാശിനികളുടെ ഫലപ്രാപ്തി വർദ്ധിപ്പിക്കാൻ സാധിക്കം എന്ന സിനർജി എന്ന ആശയത്തിന്റെ പരീക്ഷണമായികന്നു ഈ പഠനത്തിന്റെ അടിസ്ഥാനലക്ഷ്യം. ഇതിനായി, ഇകോസെയിൻ, മറ്റ നാലു രാസകീടനാശിനികളമായി പ്രത്യക അനപാതത്തിൽ സംയോജിപ്പിക്കകയും അവയുടെ ലാർവിസൈഡൽ ആക്ടിവിറ്റി പരിശോധിക്കകയും ചെയ്ത. അതിൽ നിന്നും ലഭിച്ച കോ-ടോക്ലിസിറ്റി കോ-എഫിഷ്യന്റെയും സിനർജിസ്റ്റിക് ഫാക്ടറിന്റെയും ഫലങ്ങൾ താരതമ്യപഠനത്തിന് വിധേയമാക്കിയപ്പോൾ അതിൽ സിനർജിക് മിശ്രിതങ്ങൾ കൊതുകിന്റെ മരണനിരക്കിനെ കൂടിയ നിരക്കിൽ സ്വാധീനിച്ചതായി കാണപ്പെട്ടു. ഇതിൽ തന്നെ ലാംഡസൈഹാലോത്രിൻ ആയുള്ള മിശ്രിതമാണ് കൂടുതൽ കാര്യക്ഷമത കാഴ്ചവെച്ചത് എന്നതിനാൽ ആ സംയുക്തത്തെ ലബോറട്ടറി കൾച്ചർ ചെയ്ത ഏഡീസ് ഈജിപ്റ്റിയുടെ രാസനാശിനിക്കെതിരായുള്ള പ്രതിരോധ വികസനത്തിന്റെ സാധ്യതകൾ വിലയിരുത്താനായി തെരഞ്ഞെടുത്തു. ഇതിനായി ഡീടോക്ലിഫിക്കേഷൻ എൻസൈമുകളടെ ക്വാന്റിറ്റേറ്റീവ് അസെ ആണ് പരീക്ഷിച്ചത്. എന്നാൽ തുടർച്ചയായ ഈ മിശ്രിതം ഉപയോഗിച്ച അഞ്ചാമത്തെ തലമുറയിൽ പോലും പ്രതിരോധ വികസനത്തിന്റെ അസാന്നിധ്യം രേഖപ്പെട<u>്ടത്ത</u>കയും അതിലൂടെ ഈ മിശ്രിതം പ്രതിരോധത്തിന്റെ ദ്രതഗതിയുള്ള വികസനത്തെ തടയുന്നതായും മനസ്സിലാക്കാൻ സാധിച്ച.

XXVI

**GENERAL INTRODUCTION** 

Mosquitoes are a humongous group of insects observed throughout the world's temperate and tropical regions and beyond the Arctic Circle. They belong to the Culicidae family of the order Diptera (Harbach and Kitching 2016). They are recognized as one of the most pertinent groups of arthropods in the public health field, as they can act as vectors for many lethal disease parasites. A total of 3,719 species of mosquitoes, divided into 113 genera and two subfamilies, are currently recognized, with many more species still in need of confirmation (Harbach, 2023). More findings and nomenclature of sibling species, primarily in *Anopheles*, as a result of the use of DNA-based methods, can be expected to result in a three to fivefold increase in current numbers (Harbach and Besansky, 2014). After Brazil, Indonesia, Malaysia, and Thailand, India stands fifth in terms of mosquito biodiversity (Foley et al., 2007).

Many species of mosquitoes are crucial to tropical medicine and public health because they carry pathogens of infectious diseases, such as nematodes, protozoans, and arboviruses, which can cause serious harm to humans. These diseases are particularly concerning tropical and temperate countries and are considered as a significant public health risk (Rocklöv and Dubrow, 2020). According to WHO reports, vector-borne diseases, including those transmitted by mosquitoes, make up over seventeen percent of all infectious diseases in humans and lead to approximately 700,000 deaths each year (WHO, 2014; Chaiphongpachara et al., 2022).

### **Biology**

Based on their characteristics, general morphology, and lifecycle, mosquitoes are organised into two subfamilies: Anophelinae, and Culicinae. Both Culicine and Anophelinae subfamilies comprise blood-feeding female mosquitoes. Unlike these, the Toxorhynchitinae females do not need blood to complete their life cycle, and their general morphology excludes bloodsucking mouthparts (Cauich-Kumul et al., 2018). The general distinguishing morphological characteristics of the Culicinae subfamily include long antennae and a proboscis with shorter maxillary palpi, which are adapted for piercing and sucking fluids from plants and animals. In comparison, the palpi and

proboscis of the Anophelinae subfamily are approximately equal in length (Resh and Carde, 2009).

The scutellum is the posterior portion of either the mesonotum or the metanotum of the thorax region that can be considered a distinguishing characteristic among different subfamilies of mosquitoes. In mosquitoes, it is seen as a small, plate-like structure on the dorsal side of the thorax. The scutellum of the Anophelinae subfamily has a rounded or semi-lunar shape and is comparatively flat without any lobes, whereas the Culicinae subfamily has a distinct triangular shape due to its trilobed structure. The scales on the wings of mosquitoes are another important feature used in the conventional morphologic classification. The Anophelinae mosquitoes has ornamental wings with pale and dark scales arranged in a distinctive pattern. However, such scales are usually absent in Culicinae subfamily. Even though some members of the Culicinae have ornamental scales on the wings, the scale pattern is only prominent on the abdominal area where the wings are connected to the body part and less on the main wing region. This pattern can also be used to identify different species and subfamilies of mosquitoes (Resh and Carde, 2009; Wilkerson et al., 2021).

### Life Cycle

Mosquito is a holometabolous dipteran with four distinct life stages, Egg, larva, pupa and adult. Except for the Adult, which is a free-flying phase, all the other forms are entirely aquatic and require water for their survival. Usually, mosquito species can complete their life cycle and become adult in a relatively short period of 8 to 10 days, depending on several factors that influence their survival and growth, like availability of food, climatic conditions, mosquito species and other environmental factors (Kalman, 2004).

Egg: The female mosquitoes lay eggs, which is the first stage of the mosquito life cycle. The eggs are laid as single eggs or in clusters. Each cluster may contain up to hundreds of eggs. The species coming under *Aedes* and *Anopheles* lay single eggs, while *Culex* and *Culiseta* lay eggs in cluster form. The selection of oviposition sites also shows a wide range of habitats within the subfamilies, such as stagnant water, floating plants, artificial containers, tree holes, or damp areas which are prone to flooding (Rueda et al., 2008). After a few hours of laying, the color of the mosquito

egg shifts from white to dark brown to black. Mosquito eggs vary in shape depending on the species. While some mosquito eggs are boat-shaped, others are ovoid in shape. Typically, their length ranges from 0.5 to 1 mm. In two to three days after being laid, mosquito eggs will hatch into larvae under typical, favourable conditions. Certain species, on the other hand, can endure for several months in hostile, arid conditions before hatching. Several factors, including temperature, humidity, and the availability of nutrients, influence the timing of egg hatching. Once hatched, the larvae undergo several developmental stages before becoming pupae and adult mosquitoes (Hall and Tamïr, 2022).

Larvae: The mosquito larvae undergo four stages of development known as instars before reaching the pupal stage. The body of larvae is divided into three distinct parts: a small head, an elongated thorax, and a tubular abdomen. After hatching, the mosquito larvae start to feed on tiny aquatic plants and animals, such as phytoplankton and zooplankton, as well as organic waste. Certain mosquito larvae have a predatory behaviour and consume other mosquito larvae as food. The larvae can take four to ten days to go through the four instar stages before they moult into the pupae. Mosquito larvae are usually found near the water surface to inhale air. They can draw air in by penetrating the surface film with a siphon that is attached to the end of their body. However, the larvae belonging to the species of *Mansonia* and *Coquilletidida* complex have a unique way of breathing. They have a modified piercing siphon that enables them to attach themselves to plant stems below the water surface to obtain oxygen from the plant tissues (Jackman and Olson, 2002; Becker et al., 2010a; Hall and Tamïr, 2022).

Pupae: Pupae, often referred to as "tumblers," are the stage of development that follows the fourth moult of the larval stage in mosquitoes. During the pupal stage, mosquitoes are almost completely still and only move when disturbed. In this stage, some larval organs disappear, and the development of adult body structure occurs. Unlike larvae, pupae do not consume any food, and they typically survive for a period of 1 to 3 days before emerging as adult mosquitoes. (Jackman and Olson, 2002; Becker et al., 2010a).

Adult: The last stage of metamorphosis is finished, and adult mosquitoes typically emerge 1 to 2 days following the appearance of pupae. Male mosquitoes do not reach sexual maturity upon emergence, which distinguishes them from female mosquitoes, and consequently, the male population generally emerges a day or two prior to females. Adult mosquitoes typically obtain nourishment from sources such as nectar, plant sap, and other types of carbohydrates. Upon emergence, adult mosquitoes are prepared to commence their life cycle, which involves mating, feeding, and oviposition. In most species, female mosquitoes need to consume a blood meal as a source of protein before they can lay eggs (Jackman and Olson, 2002; Becker et al., 2010a).

#### **Breeding Habitats**

Mosquitoes breed in a wide range of aquatic habitats such as standing water, temporary rain pools, marshes, swamps, and other similar environments, with different species preferring different environments. Except for marine ecosystems that have significant levels of salt, mosquitoes can survive in a variety of habitats, including freshwater, brackish water, or any other sort of water (clear, turbid, or contaminated). The breeding sites may be natural or artificial and can vary in size from small containers, like discarded tires, cans, and bottles, to extensive water bodies, for instance, rivers, lakes, and ponds. Several factors, including the availability of water, temperature, humidity, and the presence of suitable organic matter for larval nutrition, determine the breeding habitat of mosquitoes. Mosquitoes usually opt for stagnant water that is rich in organic matter, containing decaying leaves and algae to lay their eggs. The diversity of mosquito species varies depending on the geographical region, and several researchers have investigated mosquito biodiversity (Adeleke et al., 2008; SNR et al., 2011; Dejenie et al., 2011; Gopalakrishnan et al., 2013; Chatterjee et al., 2015).

### **Vector Status**

Despite their small size, mosquitoes play a significant role in the ecosystem as pollinators and vectors of numerous diseases. According to Naddaf et al. (2012), mosquito complexes are responsible for causing severe discomfort and transmitting life-threatening pathogens and parasites like arboviruses, protozoans and nematodes to humans and animals. Due to their capacity to spread mosquito-borne illnesses that affect humans, the *Anopheles*, *Aedes*, *Armigeres* and *Culex* genera of mosquitoes are medically and economically significant (Gubler, 2010). *Culex* mosquitoes are majorly known to spread filariasis, West Nile virus and Japanese encephalitis. *Aedes* 

mosquitoes are particularly well known for transmitting deadly diseases like dengue, chikungunya and zika. *Anopheles* mosquitoes, the members of the Anopheline group are primarily responsible for passing on one of the most fatal strains of malaria-causing pathogens, along with several arboviruses and parasites (Reisen, 2010; WHO, 2014).

The rate at which a virus spreads depends on a multitude of factors that interact in a given landscape, including susceptibility, abundance and rate of contact. Differentially distributed patterns of disease transmission may arise because of changes in the number, range, and variety of disease-carrying vectors and hosts. Such patterns might spread the disease repeatedly, which could have catastrophic consequences. The consequences of global changes, including changes in temperature, agricultural management, population expansion, and urbanization, can drastically affect the diversity and complexity of the mosquito population and the frequency of transmission of mosquito-borne illnesses (Sutherst, 2004). The environment and climate substantially impact how vectors, particularly mosquitoes, are distributed both temporally and spatially (Wanji et al., 2009). A productive and effective sustainable mosquito control program by the local authorities depends on their knowledge of the variety and faunal richness in the region. The underlying ecological and environmental changes directly impact the variety and abundance of mosquito species (Radhakrishnan, 2019). It is crucial to enumerate mosquito species diversity to understand the epidemiology of various illnesses. Such methodical investigations based on the spatial distribution of vector mosquitoes will support a more accurate assessment of the risk of transmission of vector-borne illnesses (Sajith et al., 2015).

The Oriental region, which includes India, is said to be one of the world's richest biogeographic regions for mosquitoes, along with the Neotropics. The expansive and abundant foliage topography of India has provided an inclusive array of determinant variables that nourished mosquito breeding and vector-borne disease outbreaks throughout the country. The rich diversity of mosquito species in the Oriental Region can be attributed to several factors, including its tropical climate, which provides ideal conditions for mosquito breeding and proliferation, as well as its diverse range of habitats like forests, wetlands, and urban areas, which offer a variety of niches for different mosquito species. Moreover, the extended history of human habitation and trade in the area has contributed to the dispersal of mosquito species over various regions. (Gaston and Hudson, 1994).

With its diverse geography and climate, India has consistently been a focal point for transmitting mosquito-borne diseases such as dengue, chikungunya, malaria, Japanese encephalitis, and filariasis (Sabesan et al., 2000; Williams et al., 2000; Mackenzie et al., 2004). Mosquito-related difficulties and outbreaks of diseases transmitted by mosquitoes cause significant and demanding challenges that have profoundly impacted public health, particularly in developing urban areas. These difficulties have proven to be highly detrimental, necessitating immediate attention and practical strategies to alleviate their adverse effects on the well-being of the population (Dale et al., 1998; Palaniyandi, 2012; Dev et al., 2015).

In Kerala, the predominant mosquito species, including *Anopheles*, *Aedes*, *Culex*, and *Armigeres*, serve as carriers for transmitting various vector-borne diseases. The conducive temperature prevailing throughout the year in Kerala provides an optimal environment for the proliferation and survival of disease-carrying vectors, particularly mosquitoes. Additionally, the significant annual rainfall experienced in the state further creates suitable breeding habitats for mosquitoes, amplifying their population and potential for disease transmission. The abundance of breeding sources, such as stagnant water bodies and vegetation, further exacerbates the vulnerability to vector-borne diseases in Kerala (Sumodan, 2012; Balasubramanian and Nikhil, 2013). There has been a marked increase in reported outbreaks related to mosquito-borne diseases in both rural and urban areas of the state, and this trend stances a substantial challenge to the public health sector in Kerala, as highlighted by Vanaja and Sumodan (2019).

### Aedes aegypti

Among the thirteen genera within the Culicidae family, the genus *Aedes* poses the most significant public health concern worldwide (Rajesh et al., 2013). The proliferation of *Ae. aegypti* populations have coincided with an apparent rise in the frequency of dengue virus outbreaks worldwide. As rainfall contributes to the proliferation of *Aedes* mosquito populations, the risk of dengue infections is exceptionally high during or after these periods, thereby amplifying the potential for disease transmission (Pandya, 1982; Mackenzie et al., 2004).

*Aedes* species are frequently spotted in natural and artificial containers that contain uncontaminated and tidy water. The females of *Ae. aegypti* predominantly prefer artificial containers filled with water for oviposition, and it has been observed that the number of eggs laid increases significantly when these containers are dark in colour and contain standing water with a low concentration of decomposing organic matter (Harrington et al., 2008). Ant traps, clay jars, flowerpots, drums, concrete tanks, coconut shells, and abandoned tires are some favoured hatching places (Paupy et al., 2009., Paupy et al., 2010; Dom et al., 2013). Unlike other mosquito genera, *Aedes* lay eggs just above the water surface, and they can withstand desiccation for a long time before hatching into larvae once they encounter water (Fay and Perry, 1965; Reiter 2007). The females enrich the development and persistence of their juvenile forms by choosing oviposition sites of low to moderate encounter with parasites (Zahiri et al., 1997), predators (Pamplona et al., 2009) and competition (Ponnusamy et al., 2008).

The biology of the species explains that one of the key distinguishing features of Ae. *aegypti* is the pattern and placement of silvery-white scales on different body sections. The tori, clypeus, and palpi tips have white patterning that is similar to the pale scales that developed on the central vertical region and stretched into the space between the eyes. Scutellum also has flat, whitish scale patterns. On its frontal aspect, the midfemur is nearly entirely covered by a long, pale band without extending all the way to the knee. A band of white scales that almost completely covers the front part of the hind femur stretches to the knee area. On segments 1-2 or 1-3 of the mid and hind leg tarsi, there is a thin white band; on segments 1-4, there is a totally white fifth segment. Segments of the abdomen range from brown to black. II-IV or V tergites have light, pale scales at the base, occasionally with vivid spots. I-VII tergites' dorsal views reveal lateral white spots. The larvae have lateral teeth that are substantially distinct and carry 8–12 comb scales. Near the base of the shaft, a single antennal hair appears. In the mesothoracic and metathoracic segments, undivided pleural hairs are moderately developed. A long syphon (longer than the length of the basal diameter) has 3-5 sets of hair that extend over the centre of the syphon from the base. Chitin completely covers the anal segment; the papillae have rounded borders and a doublelength fan (Barraud, 1934; Nagpal and Sharma, 1995).

### **Dengue Fever**

Dengue fever is a severe viral illness associated with life-threatening complications. The origins of dengue fever can be traced back to ancient times, as it was described in a Chinese medical encyclopaedia from the Jin Dynasty in AD 992, referred to as "water poison" associated with flying insects. The term "dengue" itself originated from the Swahili phrase Ka-dinga pepo, which translates to "cramp-like seizure." In the 1780s, the first recorded dengue outbreaks occurred simultaneously in Asia, Africa, and North America. Benjamin Rush, in 1789, reported the first clinical case of Dengue during the 1780 Philadelphia outbreak, naming it "break-bone fever" due to the prevalent symptoms of muscle and joint pain (Morens et al., 2013).

Dengue viruses (DV) belong to the Flaviviridae family and have four known serotypes: DV-1, DV-2, DV-3, and DV-4. DV is a positive-stranded RNA virus with three genes encoding structural and seven genes encoding non-structural proteins. Dengue viruses are predominantly transmitted through the bites of mosquitoes, particularly by the species *Ae. aegypti* and *Ae. albopictus*. These mosquitoes act as the primary vectors for the spread of dengue viruses to humans (Halstead, 2008a; Halstead, 2008b).

The WHO classified dengue infection in 1997 into undifferentiated fever, known as Dengue Fever (DF), and Dengue Hemorrhagic Fever (DHF), which are commonly used worldwide, although it was revised in 2009 to uncomplicated and severe fever (Deen et al., 2006). In India, dengue outbreaks have increased since the mid-1990s, particularly in urban areas. After that, it quickly spread to areas that were previously dengue-free, such as Orissa, Arunachal Pradesh, and Mizoram. As per the available data, dengue was initially documented in Madras (Chennai) in 1780, and its first epidemic occurred in Calcutta, Kolkata, in 1963. Since then, the disease has spread extensively throughout India. Large-scale outbreaks of dengue shock syndrome (DSS) and dengue haemorrhagic fever (DHF) started in 1996, first affecting the areas around Delhi and Lucknow before moving across the country (Dar et al., 1999). Since 1956, four serotypes (types one through four) of the dengue virus have been isolated from various parts of India, with DENV2 and DENV3 having the most severe impacts on the Indian subcontinent (Raheel et al., 2011). The overall incidence of dengue cases in the nation has significantly increased since 2001. A few southern states (Maharashtra, Karnataka, Tamil Nadu, and Kerala) and some northern states witnessed dengue outbreaks in the early 2000s. The disease's geographic distribution has noticeably changed with the increased quantity and severity of cases. The spread of the dengue virus and its carriers has been accelerated by insufficient efforts to control vector mosquitoes (Mutheneni et al., 2017).

Dengue cases, with some resulting in deaths, were initially reported in Kerala in 1997. However, previous records revealed that even before this, the strains DEN-1, DEN-2, and DEN-4 had already been identified in human blood samples. Since 1998, Kerala has experienced a high incidence of dengue (Mutheneni et al., 2017; Karunakaran et al., 2014). Dengue has become a growing concern in Kerala, with increasing reported cases, high co-infection rates, a high mortality rate, and the presence of all four virus serotypes, making it a hyper-endemic region for the disease. In 2003, Kerala emerged as the Indian state with the highest dengue-related mortality, and since then, the reported cases of dengue in this region have been steadily rising (Thenmozhi et al., 2007; Karunakaran et al., 2014; Suresh et al., 2021).

### Barcoding

The precise identification and thorough documentation of regional vector species are of utmost importance in implementing effective vector management strategies. With a thorough understanding of the presence and distribution of vector species, it becomes possible to formulate insecticidal interventions specifically targeted at controlling these vectors. This approach not only helps mitigate the risk of pathogen transmission but also ensures the use of appropriate insecticidal combinations that could optimize vector control efforts. Traditionally, the identification of most mosquito species has relied on morphological taxonomy, which involves using physical characteristics as a means of classification, as proposed by Linnaeus. While morphology continues to be the most commonly employed technique for distinguishing adult mosquitoes, it does have certain limitations. The fragility of mosquito scales and their probability of rubbing off or damage during collection is a significant challenge for morphologybased identification. Furthermore, mosquitoes frequently belong to closely related sibling species that exhibit morphological similarities, resulting in the formation of species "complexes." Additionally, larger groups of related species with overlapping morphology further complicate the task of morphological identification (Bortolus, 2008; Wang et al., 2012). The presence of these challenges has led to a shift towards
DNA sequencing, also known as "barcoding," as a reliable method for mosquito identification. This approach involves using concise, standardized gene regions as internal tags for species, enabling quick, efficient, and precise automated identification. The cytochrome oxidase I gene (COI or COX1) in mitochondrial DNA has become a valuable resource for evaluating mosquito biodiversity. The mitochondrial (mt) genome is currently the most studied genomic area in the insect world, outdoing nuclear genomes, including representatives from all insect orders, in contrast to only a few nuclear genomes (Caravas and Friedrich, 2013; Cameron, 2014). This gene provides a universally comparable DNA sequence that can be employed for comparative analysis, making it an essential tool in assessing and studying the diversity of mosquito species (Avise et al., 1987; Naddaf et al., 2012; Paramasivan et al., 2013). The COI barcode region is situated at the gene's 5' end. This region is typically 648 base pairs long and surrounded by conserved regions, which are used as a basis for designing PCR primers. The COI barcode region is characterized by significant differences in genetic distance within species (usually less than 3%) compared to that between species (usually 10-25%) (Hebert et al., 2003a; Hebert et al., 2003b; Ratnasingham and Hebert, 2007). For this reason, it acts as a logical initial step for the identification of mosquitoes (Beebe, 2018).

# Diversity

Gaining insights into the diversity and distribution of mosquito vectors of different species within a specific area is crucial for establishing effective methods of vector monitoring and control, as highlighted by Rueda (2008). Utilizing the concepts of mosquito diversity (alpha diversity) and community structure in which they coexist (beta diversity) can provide valuable information for developing more efficient population control programs. Alpha diversity ( $\alpha$ ) represents the diversity within a single community in a homogeneous area under investigation. Beta diversity ( $\beta$ ) refers to the variation in composition between different communities across a landscape. The combined diversity of these community clusters, resulting from the interaction between alpha and beta diversity, is known as gamma diversity ( $\gamma$ ), as defined by Whittaker (1972) and Magurran (1988). Utilizing diversity indices, including alpha, beta, and gamma diversity, allows the overall analysis of the influence of climate, physical and biological factors, and human activities on biodiversity. These indices provide a quantitative framework for assessing how these

10

factors shape mosquito species composition and distribution within a particular ecosystem. The exploration of these relationships aids in understanding the intricate dynamics between environmental variables and mosquito diversity, thus facilitating the development of targeted strategies for effective mosquito population control and management (Piovezan et al., 2013; Nikookar et al., 2015)

## **Vector Control**

Mosquito control strategies can be categorized into three primary methods: physical, chemical, and biological. Physical methods include actions that reduce mosquito breeding habitats or make them less hospitable for mosquitoes to lay eggs, such as draining stagnant water and removing objects that collect water. Chemical methods involve using insecticides to kill adult mosquitoes or their larvae. On the other hand, biological methods use natural predators or bacteria to control the mosquito population (Pates and Curtis, 2005; Golding et al., 2015).

### **Chemical Insecticides**

The World Health Organization classified chemical pesticides into four different categories: I. Organochlorines (OC), II. Organophosphates (OP), III. Carbamates, and IV. Pyrethroids (Leng et al., 1997). Pesticides manufactured from organic molecules containing chlorine atoms are classified as OCs. Pesticides classified as OPs belong to the second group and have phosphorus as a primary component. The third class of chemical insecticides are carbamates. These substances, made from carbamic acid, are frequently applied to manage nematodes, mites, and insects. Pyrethroids, artificial pesticides made from natural substances present in chrysanthemum flowers, comprise the fourth category. Because pyrethroids work well against a variety of pests, they are frequently used in both household and agricultural settings (Casida and Quistad, 1998).

In 1892, an inventive milestone was achieved with the discovery of dinitro-o-cresol, the first synthetic organic insecticide. Over the following decades, a diverse array of comparable compounds emerged through synthesis, although with limited application in mosquito control initiatives. Subsequent advancements in insecticide research led to the development of more sophisticated and efficacious products, exemplified by dichlorodiphenyltrichloroethane (DDT) and malathion. Nevertheless, the unrestrained and inappropriate utilisation of these chemical agents has propelled the evolution of

insecticide resistance among mosquitoes, creating a formidable challenge to their efficacy (Cremlyn, 1978). From the 1920s onward, insecticides were the preferred method of controlling insect pests because of their greater efficacy regarding pest management. Mosquito control has been primarily connected with the use of synthetic insecticides ever since organic insecticides were pioneered. These synthetic insecticides, such as DDT and malathion, were widely used for mosquito control due to their efficacy in killing both adult mosquitoes and their larvae (Lee and Yap, 2003). DDT was also utilised in agriculture to manage pests like potato beetles and boll weevils. However, worries about how it would affect the environment surfaced. DDT is difficult to decompose and remains persistent in the environment. Its ability to travel over long distances through the air and water, accumulate in the tissues of animals and humans, and affect human health and non-target species like fish and birds raised concern. Research revealed that DDT may be carcinogenic to humans and was connected to issues with development and reproduction in birds and other animals. As worries about DDT increased, substitute pesticides were created. The development of OP in Germany quickly followed, starting in 1932 when Lange and von Krueger created organofluorophosphate esters for the first time, which quickly took the place of DDT in many applications. Although OPs degrade more quickly in the environment and do not accumulate as much in the food chain as DDT, they are more toxic to insects. OPs are also harmful to humans and can have significant negative health effects, especially for those who work with them. As an alternative to DDT and OPs, carbamates were created in the 1950s and gained popularity in the 1960s (Cremlyn, 1978).

The 1960s and 1970s observed a significant change in the way insecticides were developed and governed. During this time, the discovery and development of photostable pyrethroids had a significant impact on insecticide administration. Photostable pyrethroids represent a group of synthetic insecticides that are structurally modelled after the chemical composition of natural pyrethrins, originating from the blossoms of chrysanthemum flowers. These compounds are known for their fast-acting and potent insecticidal properties and are highly effective against a wide range of insects. For over two hundred years, it has been known that pyrethrum flowers and their extracts contain insecticidal properties in the form of pyrethrins and have been documented in various sources (McLaughlin, 1973; Casida,1980; RUIGT, 1985;

Proudfoot, 2005; Ensley, 2018). Over the past several decades, pyrethroids and pyrethrins have risen to prominence as a primary group of insecticides employed to combat pests in agricultural fields, gardens, and homes. They currently represent a substantial portion, making up 25 per cent, of the worldwide insecticide market. Pyrethroids have been adopted as an alternative to extremely toxic and persistent organochlorine and organophosphorus pesticides, as noted in the study conducted by Katsuda in 1999. From 1940 to 1970, several synthetic compounds, known as pyrethroids, were created and subjected to testing as analogues of natural pyrethrins. During this timeframe, the research and development of pyrethroids were predominantly led by Japan and the United Kingdom (Elliott et al., 1973; Elliott, 1980). The discovery of these compounds revolutionized the field of insecticide administration and paved the path for the formulation of safer and more efficient insecticides. Notably, specific synthetic pyrethroid compounds like allethrin, tetramethrin, and resmethrin exhibited remarkable insecticidal characteristics, leading to their successful commercial production as insecticides (Gajendiran and Abraham, 2018).

The global utilisation of synthetic insecticides for vector control, which involves controlling and managing disease vectors, including mosquitoes, has been well-documented in research conducted by Becker et al. (2010b). Reportedly, the annual usage of 547 tonnes of active OCs, 437 tonnes of OPs, 24 tonnes of carbamates, and 162 tonnes of pyrethroids were recorded for vector control purposes. These formulations have been widely used to prevent vector species successfully for several decades. Their primary method of action is to interfere with the nervous system of insects, which is analogous to the nervous system of mammals. Insects are extremely susceptible to even minute concentrations of pesticides, which can lead to their mortality because of their small size and quick metabolism. Even though these dosages might not be fatal to humans, risks could still be involved. Because non-pest insects, humans, animals, and pets share similar nervous system components, designing insecticides that only target pest insects is difficult. However, the goal of the most recent pesticide generation, according to Prato et al. (2012), is to minimize environmental persistence while exhibiting improved specificity.

Nevertheless, the development of insecticide resistance in mosquito vectors has made the reappearance of mosquito-borne diseases a concern yet again. Insecticide resistance is a genetic adaptation that allows mosquitoes to survive exposure to insecticides, rendering them ineffective towards the interventions aimed at controlling mosquito-borne diseases. Insecticides with high fatality rates have been used all over the world to control pest insects, including mosquitoes. Although these insecticides have successfully managed mosquito populations for a long time, resistance to these compounds has emerged due to their widespread use and dependence on a few active ingredients. Developing resistance in vector mosquitoes towards synthetic insecticides is an extreme menace to public health worldwide because it reduces the effectiveness of fundamental measures against diseases spread by mosquitoes (Brown, 1986). Investigations into the development of resistance have revealed that, *Ae. aegypti* has triggered resistance to almost all insecticides, including carbamates, OCs, OPs and pyrethroids (Ranson et al., 2010).

Statistics from the WHO indicate that over 250,000 individuals succumb to pesticide poisoning each year. These fatalities are primarily attributed to factors such as incorrect administration, including inaccurate dosage or application methods and improper handling of pesticides (Stoytcheva, 2011). The concerns regarding the detrimental effects of pesticide residues on human and animal health stem from numerous scientific investigations that have demonstrated the harmful effects of specific synthetic active components found in pesticides. These studies provide a foundation for understanding the potential risks associated with high pesticide exposure. Furthermore, several community-based research studies have explored the correlation between pesticide exposure and cancer development, shedding light on the potential health implications of prolonged pesticide exposure (Wolff et al., 1993; Settimi et al., 2003). Studies suggest pesticides can impact cancer development through various non-genotoxic mechanisms, such as peroxisome proliferation and hormonal imbalance. Additionally, pesticides can influence the carcinogenic process through multiple pathways, potentially altering the genome and providing neoplastic cells with a growth advantage. These findings highlight the complex nature of pesticide-induced carcinogenesis, and the various ways pesticides can contribute to the development and progression of cancer (Hodgson and Levi, 1996). Most pesticides are known to have harmful effects on various systems of the human body, including the nervous, renal, respiratory, and reproductive systems. These chemicals can cause detrimental impacts and disruptions to the normal functioning of these vital

physiological systems (Stoytcheva, 2011). Insecticides, while intended to disrupt the nervous system of insects and their normal functions, can also harm mammals, causing immediate and long-lasting neurotoxic effects due to the fundamental similarities in the neurological systems of mammals and insects (Osman, 2011). Intensive or improper application of insecticides has been associated with numerous negative consequences, such as the development of pesticide resistance in certain pests, the pollution of water, soil, and chemicals with residues that can accumulate in the food chain, a decline in biodiversity and nitrogen fixation, the destruction of marine and avian life, and the potential for genetic abnormalities in future generations (Stoytcheva, 2011; Naqqash et al., 2016).

Studies also indicate that when mosquitoes become resistant to a particular insecticide, they frequently exhibit resistance to other insecticides as well, a phenomenon referred to as cross-resistance. Consequently, the utilisation of alternative insecticides may not produce the desired outcomes when combating resistant mosquito populations. Moreover, the rapid development of insecticide resistance implies that the regular development of new insecticides is imperative to adapt to the ever-changing resistance patterns exhibited by mosquito populations (Liu et al., 2006). Insufficient knowledge regarding the development of resistance and cross-resistance has led to the widespread use of multiple chemical insecticides, resulting in detrimental effects on non-target populations and the environment.

## **Botanicals**

The emergence of resistance and the growing environmental catastrophe have prompted researchers to shift their focus towards phytochemicals to achieve successful vector control devoid of such tribulations. The use of plants for pest control purposes can be traced back to ancient times, with historical evidence supporting its practice for an extensive duration. Previous studies have indicated that several aromatic plants or their derived extracts, obtained from specific plant components, were employed as effective measures to combat various insects (Isman, 2006; Benelli, 2015). This traditional approach to pest control relied on recognizing that certain plants possessed insecticidal properties. In mosquito vector management, phytochemicals played a crucial role until the 1920s, when synthetic chemicals gradually replenished them following the introduction of DDT. One notable study conducted in 1933 by Campbell et al. demonstrated the potential of plant alkaloids as a larvicidal agent against mosquitoes. Researchers isolated several alkaloids, including anabasine, methyl anabasine, nicotine, and lupinine, from Anabasis aphylla, a common weed in the Middle East. The results showed that these substances had strong larvicidal activity against mosquitoes, suggesting that they could be useful as natural pesticides for minimizing mosquito populations. Following that study, other phytochemicals with the potential to control mosquito populations were explored. Notable examples include eucalyptus oil, citronella oil, and neem oil. These substances may prevent adult mosquitoes from flying or impede the growth and development of mosquito larvae. Plants are a rich source of insecticidal compounds, and traditional medical practices around the world are well acquainted with this fact. Plants have been used for medical purposes for many ages. Scientists started methodical research into the insecticidal qualities of many plant species in the early 1900s, and by the 1990s, over 1,200 species had been identified as potentially insecticidal. Many of these plants are effective natural insecticides because they contain phytochemicals that disrupt insects' biological processes (Roark and McIndoo, 1945). But, with the onset of synthetic pesticides like OPs, OCs, carbamates, DDT, and pyrethroids, their influence in the field significantly declined (Ghosh et al., 2012).

Most compounds classified as botanicals are secondary metabolites, which are the chief principal defence mechanism of plants against constant herbivore and environmental selection pressure. Additionally, some plant-based compounds have inherent insecticidal properties as well. An inclusive review of previous research provides compelling evidence supporting the use of plant-derived products as effective insecticides against mosquito populations. Numerous phytochemicals from diverse classes, such as phenolics, alkaloids, steroids, terpenoids, and essential oils derived from various plants, have been extensively studied for their insecticidal properties. Several variables, including the extraction technique, polarity of the solvents used, specific plant species, mosquito species, regional variations, and the specific plant parts employed in the extraction process, can affect the degree of insecticidal activity displayed by these plant extracts (Shaalan et al., 2005b).

A diverse range of plant species, including herbs, shrubs, and towering trees, have been utilised to extract compounds with mosquito-controlling properties. It has been discovered that some herbal extracts function as insect growth regulators (IGRs), having a significant impact on different stages of insect development. These effects include hindering growth, influencing adult emergence, delaying egg hatching, and affecting fecundity and fertility. As a result, these herbal extracts offer practical solutions for controlling mosquito populations. More than a thousand plant species have been found to be possible sources of bioactive compounds that act as IGRs, including Phyto-ecdysones, Phyto-juvenoids, and antijuvenile hormones (Tiwari et al., 1998). Phytochemicals found in plants represent a vast and relatively unexplored resource that could be usefully employed in mosquito control programs rather than heavily depending on synthetic pesticides. Several studies have examined the chemical structure and composition of phytochemicals to ascertain the extent to which they inhibit the development of mosquito larvae. The potential benefits of various secondary plant-derived compounds, such as lignans, alkaloids, steroids. isoflavonoids, and terpenes, have been documented by this analysis. Additionally, numerous studies have identified and isolated biologically active components from diverse plant sources and investigated their lethal effects on various mosquito species (Kishore et al., 2011; Isman, 2020).

# Synergy

Although plant extracts appear to be promising substitutes for mosquito control, they have certain drawbacks. Their wide variations in efficacy can be attributed to a multitude of factors, such as the type of plant utilised, the area of origin, and the extraction technique. Because of this variance, standardizing plant extracts in terms of potency and consistency for the purpose of controlling mosquitoes becomes more difficult. Another disadvantage of plant extracts as adulticides or larvicides is their shorter shelf-life when compared to synthetic pesticides. More frequent applications are needed to ensure long-term efficacy. The potency of plant extracts may also vary amongst mosquito species, with some exhibiting a greater tolerance or resistance to these substances. Furthermore, the expense and demand of the resources associated with the extensive production of plant extracts make them hard to use in large-scale mosquito control initiatives. To maximize the effectiveness, consistency, and usefulness of plant extracts in mosquito control initiations must be addressed through additional research and development (Pavela, 2014).

In the quest for efficient and environmentally sustainable mosquito control strategies, exploring synergistic interactions between synthetic insecticides and botanical compounds has gained considerable attention. In the field of toxicology, synergism pertains to the occurrence where the combined toxicity of a mixture surpasses the expected level when considering the individual toxic effects of its components (Sarup et al., 1980; Mohan et al., 2006). The combination of synthetic insecticides with specific botanical compounds has shown the potential to enhance their collective efficacy in vector control. By harnessing the complementary properties of these two components, synergistic effects can be achieved, resulting in improved mosquito control outcomes. This approach offers a promising ability to reduce the reliance on high concentrations of synthetic insecticides while maximizing their impact on mosquito populations. Furthermore, utilizing botanical compounds alongside synthetic insecticides may help alleviate the development of insecticide resistance, offering a more resilient and long-term solution for mosquito management (Morales-Rodriguez and Peck, 2009; Bhan et al., 2015).

Research endeavours that use plant extracts as a means of vector control and their synergistic effects with conventional pesticides hold significant potential for enhancing the effectiveness of vector control measures while minimizing environmental risks. Such studies can provide valuable perceptions for developing integrated pest management approaches against vector mosquitoes.

# Objectives

- To Screen a few locally available plant extracts against *Aedes aegypti*, using organic solvents of increasing polarity.
- To identify and isolate the bioactive compound in effective Phyto-extract.
- To evaluate the susceptibility status of 4<sup>th</sup> instar larvae of *Ae. aegypti* towards the plant isolate by employing the standard larval bioassay procedure prescribed by WHO.
- To evaluate the synergistic effects of selected plant-isolate with different conventional insecticides on *Ae. aegypti*.
- To recognize different mosquito vector species from selected areas of the Thrissur district, Kerala, India, by molecular identification and the preparation of a phylogenetic tree

# **Organization of the Thesis**

**Chapter I**: Molecular Identification of Important Vector Mosquito Species from Selected Sites of Thrissur District, Kerala, India.

**Chapter II**: Screening of Locally Available Plants for Their Larvicidal Effect on Fourth Instar Larvae of *Ae. aegypti* and Bioactive Compound Isolation from the Selected Plant.

**Chapter III**: Susceptibility Assessment of Four Different Conventional Insecticides and Isolated Plant Bioactive Compound on Fourth Instar Larvae of *Ae. aegypti*.

**Chapter IV**: The Effect of Synergistic Interaction between Plant Isolate and Four Conventional Insecticides on Fourth Instar Larvae of *Ae. aegypti*.

**REVIEW OF LITERATURE** 

## **Mosquito Diversity**

Since the earliest days of human civilization, mosquitoes have been a persistent source of annoyance and the carriers of devastating diseases, causing frequent suffering and significant economic burdens. These tiny insects transmit some of the most lethal illnesses known to humanity, including malaria, yellow fever, dengue, encephalitis, filariasis, and several other infections, causing a significant loss of human lives (Gubler, 1991). Despite extensive research efforts and decades of mosquito control measures implemented worldwide, mosquitoes remain a global public health challenge. The eradication of traditional mosquito-borne diseases remains a distant goal for many developing nations, while some developed countries have witnessed the introduction and establishment of exotic mosquito species, leading to the emergence of previously unknown mosquito-borne diseases in these regions. Mosquitoes exhibit exceptional adaptability, thriving in diverse habitats across the globe, except for permanently frozen areas. Their larvae breed in a wide range of water bodies, whether temporary or permanent, highly polluted, or clean, large or small, stagnant or overflowing, and even the tiniest accumulations, such as water-filled buckets, flower vases, old tires, hoof prints, or leaf axils (Becker et al., 2010a).

#### **Mosquito Vectors**

After developing into the adult phase, the capacity of a mosquito species to transmit diseases to humans is determined by a range of factors, which are commonly assessed using the concept of vectorial capacity. Vectorial capacity provides a quantitative measure of the transmission risk caused by a mosquito species, explicitly indicating the daily rate at which new human infections are likely to arise from a current infected human case. With over 350 mosquito species capable of spreading infections, mosquito vectors are one of the leading causes of disease and death worldwide (Gubler, 1996; Reiter, 2001).

**Chikungunya:** Chikungunya (CHIK), a viral disease transmitted by mosquitoes, is caused by the CHIK virus, an alphavirus belonging to the Togaviridae family. The term refers to the arched posture of individuals experiencing severe joint pain. The CHIK virus was first identified in Tanzania, East Africa, in the 1950s. The first documented occurrence of chikungunya in India was in Kolkata city, West Bengal, in 1963, resulting in numerous fatalities, especially among children, followed by the outbreak in Barsi in 1973. However, the virus re-emerged in December 2005 and has been persistently spreading ever since (Shah et al., 1964; Mourya et al., 2001; Naresh and Sai, 2010). *Ae. aegypti* and *Ae. albopictus* are the primary vectors of chikungunya in Asia and the Indian Ocean region, although other *Aedes* species, along with *Cx. annulirostris* and various *Anopheles* species contribute to the transmission of the virus worldwide (Jupp et al., 1981; Lam et al., 2001; Pialoux et al., 2007).

**Dengue Fever:** Dengue poses a current threat to more than 2.5 billion individuals, which accounts for over 40% of the global population. The dengue virus consists of four serotypes (DV-1, DV-2, DV-3, and DV-4) belonging to the Flaviviridae family. Based on the information provided by WHO, approximately 100 million people are affected by dengue each year, leading to hospitalization for around 500,000 severe cases, predominantly among minors. The fatality rate for dengue infections is estimated to be nearly 5%. The initial significant outbreak of DHF occurred during 1953-1954 in the Philippines, which was soon followed by the rapid global spread of DF and DHF epidemics (Rigau-Pérez et al., 1998). Subsequently, in 1996, India experienced its first major widespread epidemic of DHF, starting in areas near Delhi and Lucknow before spreading throughout the entire country (Dar et al., 1999; Agarwal et al., 1999; Shah et al., 2004; Gupta et al., 2012). The incidence of dengue fever in Kerala has steadily increased since its first reported case in the Kottayam District in 1997, with a notable surge observed from 2006 onwards (Lal and Prasittisuk, 2004; Kumar et al., 2013).

**Filariasis:** Lymphatic filariasis is caused by a thread-like filarial parasite, *Wuchereria bancrofti*, that is transmitted to people by mosquitoes. The primary causative agents of lymphatic filariasis are *W. bancrofti* (98%), followed by *Brugia malayi* and *B. timori* (2%), which are responsible for Bancroftian and Brugian filariasis, respectively (Simonsen and Mwakitalu, 2013). The Indian

subcontinent is significantly affected by this disease, making it a prevalent health issue in the region. Lymphatic filariasis continues to be a substantial socio-economic challenge in many tropical countries, including India (Udonsi, 1986). The presence of microscopic parasitic worms in the lymphatic system impairs the immune system and contributes to the severity of the illness. Lymphatic filariasis affects over 120 million people globally, with approximately permanent disability in 40 million individuals, including genital illness in over 25 million males and lymphedema in more than 15 million patients, and the majority of cases, around 65%, are found in Southeast Asia. In India, it is estimated that approximately 23 million individuals experience symptoms of filarial disease, and more than 31 million people are carriers, with Kerala being identified as the state with the second-highest prevalence of lymphatic filariasis in the country (Rajasekariah et al.,1991; Regu et al., 2005; WHO, 2005b). In the Indian context, *W. bancrofti* is the primary causative agent of lymphatic filariasis, and it is primarily transmitted by the widely prevalent mosquito vector, *Cx. quinquefasciatus* (Agrawal and Sashindran, 2006).

Japanese Encephalitis: JEV (Japanese Encephalitis Virus), a member of the Flaviviridae family, is closely related to the West Nile, Murray Valley, St Louis, and encephalitis viruses, as well as the dengue virus (Heinz and Stiasny, 2012). JEV primarily circulates in a zoonotic cycle involving mosquitoes, pigs, and water birds, with humans being considered dead-end hosts for the virus. JEV has been isolated from various mosquito species through field research. While the principal mosquito vectors may vary across regions, Cx. tritaeniorhynchus has been identified as the most significant mosquito vector. In specific locations such as Malaysia and Australia, Cx. gelidus has been recognized as the primary JEV vector, and it is now emerging as a secondary vector in several other countries (Heathcote, 1970; Gould et al., 1974; Reuben and Gajanana, 1997; Bhattacharya and Basu, 2014). Japanese encephalitis is estimated to cause 50,000 cases and 10,000 deaths annually, primarily affecting children under five. Reports indicate that the virus has established itself in India. Anopheles species, including An. subpictus, are strongly implicated in the transmission of JE in the Indian states, in addition to the primary vector, Cx. tritaeniorhynchus. During an outbreak in Cuddalore, Tamil Nadu, India, An. subpictus was identified as a vector for JEV. Another species, Ar. subalbatus is also considered a potential vector of JE in India (Pearce et al., 2018).

Malaria: Plasmodium falciparum and P. vivax are the primary parasite species responsible for human malaria infections, posing a significant global health concern, with transmission occurring in 97 countries and risking the lives of approximately 3.4 billion individuals. Annually, approximately 2 million confirmed cases of malaria and 1,000 deaths are reported, although the estimated figures by the WHO Southeast Asia Regional Office indicate around 15 million cases and 20,000 deaths. India accounts for 77% of the total malaria cases in Southeast Asia (Peters et al., 2002; Kumar et al., 2007). In India, several mosquito species have been identified as the principal malaria vectors, along with An. stephensi (Balasubramanian et al., 1984). Except for An. stephensi, all the primary vectors belong to species complexes (Sharma, 2002). An. vagus, a prevalent species in Southeast Asian countries, including India, carries important malarial pathogens that contribute to their transmission among humans (Alam et al., 2010; Verhaeghen et al., 2010). In recent years, An. vagus has been identified as an increasingly important vector for malaria transmission in various global regions, highlighting its growing role in carrying human pathogens (Maheswary et al., 1994; WHO, 2016b; Alam et al., 2017).

**West Nile Virus:** West Nile virus (WNV) is a significant flavivirus transmitted by arthropods, typically resulting in a mild infection known as West Nile fever (WNF) in humans. Mosquitoes serve as the primary carriers of WNV. Different species of *Culex* mosquitoes have been identified as vectors in various geographical areas, including India. The detection of West Nile antibodies in humans was initially documented in Mumbai in 1952, indicating the presence of the virus in India (Smithburn et al., 1954). Experimental investigations have demonstrated that mosquitoes, counting *Cx. pipiens*, *Cx. tritaeniorhynchus*, *Cx. bitaeniorhynchus*, *Cx. quinquefasciatus*, and *Ae. albopictus*, have the capability to act as potential vectors of WNV (Varma, 1960; Ilkal et al., 1997; Paramasivan et al., 2003).

**Yellow Fever:** The primary causative agent of YF is the prototype member of the Flavivirus genus, which falls under the Flaviviridae family (Barrett and Higgs, 2007). Productive infection of the virus is limited to a relatively small range of hosts, and its natural maintenance occurs through transmission between non-human primates and blood-feeding mosquitoes, primarily from the *Aedes* genera. From the 18th Century to the early 20th Century, yellow fever posed a significant risk to human health, leading to repeated epidemics in coastal towns and cities located far

away from endemic regions in North America, the Caribbean, and Europe. YF sporadically infects humans when they are bitten by mosquitoes that have previously fed on virus-carrying monkeys. However, humans can also become hosts for interhuman transmission, primarily facilitated by the *Ae. aegypti* mosquito (Monath and Vasconcelos, 2015). Other *Aedes* species, *Ae. albopictus* (Reiter, 2007) and *Ae. vittatus* (Sudeep and Shil, 2017) has also been identified as a potential vector for transmitting YF.

Zika Virus: ZIKV, a type of virus that falls under the Flaviviridae family, was initially detected in 1947 following its isolation from *Rhesus macaque* monkey found in the Zika Forest of Uganda (Dick et al., 1952). During the period from the 1960s to the 1980s, isolated cases of ZIKV infections were sporadically identified in various regions of Africa and Asia. However, since 2007, significant outbreaks of Zika virus disease have been documented in Africa, the Americas, Asia, and the Pacific (Puntasecca et al., 2021). It belongs to the positive-sense single-stranded RNA virus group. Similar to other flaviviruses, the ZIKV is primarily transmitted by mosquitoes, with the Aedes genus being the primary carrier. Different Aedes species, including Ae. aegypti, Ae. albopictus and Ae. vittatus have been implicated in the transmission. In Asia, the Ae. aegypti mosquito is considered the primary vector for ZIKV (Lanciotti et al., 2008; Plourde and Bloch, 2016; Sudeep and Shil, 2017). India reported the initial four instances of ZIKV in 2007, originating in Gujarat and Tamil Nadu (Bhardwaj et al., 2017). In 2021, the first confirmed case of ZIKV was reported in Thiruvananthapuram, Kerala, followed by 83 additional cases reported in the region (Sasi et al., 2021).

### **Molecular Barcoding**

Scientists have successfully categorized approximately 1.7 million species based on their morphology, which refers to the shape and structure of plants and animals, and this method continues to be fundamental in taxonomic diagnosis following the Linnaean system. However, relying solely on morphology to describe the diversity of life has limitations. Firstly, variations in the appearance of species and genetic variability in the traits used for identification can lead to incorrect classifications. Secondly, many groups often have hidden or cryptic taxa that cannot be distinguished based on morphology alone. Thirdly, morphological keys are often limited to specific life stages or genders, making it challenging to identify many individuals. Additionally, traditional identification methods based on morphology can be time-consuming and may not always provide accurate species-level identification (Paramasivan et al.,2013). Lastly, while modern interactive versions of keys have improved the process, their practical use still requires a high level of expertise, increasing the likelihood of errors (Knowlton, 1993; Jarman and Elliott, 2000). The limitations associated with morphology-based identification systems and the shortage of taxonomists highlight the necessity for a new approach to recognize taxonomic groups. Micro-genomic identification systems, which utilise the analysis of a small portion of the genome, offer a highly promising method for identifying biological diversity. While this approach has gained significant hold in studying complex groups such as viruses, bacteria, and protists, the challenges posed by morphological taxonomy demand its expansion to incorporate all life forms (Pace, 1997; Brown et al., 1999; Vincent et al., 2000; Allander et al., 2001; Hamels et al., 2003a)

The DNA barcode technique has emerged as a promising method for rapid characterization of biodiversity. This approach involves amplifying a specific segment of mitochondrial DNA from animals. Genomic techniques for taxon identification utilise the diversity found within DNA sequences to identify and distinguish organisms. These sequences can be considered genetic "barcodes" that are present in every cell (Kurtzman,1994; Wilson, 1995). Notably, the DNA barcoding technique has proven effective in distinguishing sibling species of mosquitoes. The concept of DNA barcoding is not novel and was initially introduced in 1993, although it needed to attain significant attention from the scientific community at that time. However, the field of DNA barcoding experienced a resurgence in 2003, marking its golden age (Hebert et al., 2003a; Naddaf et al., 2012).

The analysis of the mitochondrial genome of animals is considered superior to the nuclear genome due to several factors, including the absence of introns, minimal exposure to recombination, the maternal lineage, and its haploid mode of inheritance, as highlighted by Saccone et al. in 1999. Among mitochondrial genes, Cytochrome c oxidase subunit 1 is widely recognized as the most conserved gene in terms of amino acid sequences, providing a clear advantage for taxonomic studies

(Knowlton and Weigt, 1998; Hebert et al., 2003b; Kumar et al., 2007). This characteristic renders it highly suitable for investigating evolutionary timeframes in scientific studies. Using reliable primers facilitates the regular retrieval of targeted regions within the mitochondrial genome (Folmer et al., 1994).

The precision and adaptability of DNA barcoding make it an essential tool for species identification in vector surveillance (Ashfaq and Hebert, 2016). The existing morphological identification keys for mosquitoes have limitations as they primarily cover only certain developmental stages like imaginal and fourth instar. This restricts their effectiveness in identifying other field-collected developmental stages without laboratory rearing. Moreover, adult specimens obtained during routine disease surveillance programs are prone to damage, resulting in the loss of important identifying features like bristles and scales, rendering them unidentifiable. Identifying sibling species with identical morphological characteristics adds further complexity to the conventional method (Kumar et al., 2007).

To examine significant mosquito species for their impact on public health in rural South India, Paramasivan et al. (2013) conducted a study analysing the genetic sequences of four species: Ae. aegypti, Ae. albopictus, Cx. tritaeniorhynchus, and Cx. quinquefasciatus. The study concluded that DNA barcoding is a rapid and efficient methodology for identifying and classifying mosquito species. This technique enables differentiation between mosquito species and provides important insights into their phylogenetic relationships. Furthermore, incorporating DNAbased species identification methodologies can significantly enhance the traditional morphology-based taxonomical techniques used in mosquito classification. In a study aiming to generate DNA barcodes for various mosquito species in India, particularly those of significance as vector species, samples were collected from multiple regions, including eight Indian states and union territories. Through molecular identification, they successfully documented 111 mosquito specimens from 15 taxa, highlighting the effectiveness of DNA barcoding as a complementary approach to traditional morphology-based taxonomical methods in identifying and classifying mosquito species (Kumar et al., 2007). Bindu and Sabastian (2014) investigated the genetic structure of COI gene in the mosquito species Ar. subalbatus obtained from Kerala. The gene sequences from these specimens exhibited a 100% similarity to those obtained from the same species collected in Pakistan. This study emphasised that one of the essential advantages of DNA barcoding is its capacity to evaluate the global geographic and spatial distribution of species. Using a specific fragment of mitochondrial DNA from the COI region enabled the identification of Canadian mosquito species. This approach successfully generated barcodes for 37 mosquito species in Ontario and New Brunswick provinces. The study revealed a notable difference in the sequence divergence of the COI region, with significantly higher variations observed among species within the same genus compared to variations within a species (Cywinska et al., 2006). These findings were further supported by Wang et al. (2012), who utilised the COI gene to generate DNA barcodes for common mosquito species in China, including the primary disease vectors. Their research confirmed a significant disparity in the sequence divergence of the COI gene, with species within the same genus exhibiting approximately 30 times higher divergence compared to individuals within the same species.

In the research conducted by Chan et al. (2014), an analysis was carried out on 128 adult mosquito specimens belonging to 45 species from 13 genera. The researchers constructed phylogenetic relationship trees for different mosquito genera such as *Aedes*, *Anopheles*, *Culex*, and others. The study focused on comparing the distinct clustering patterns of different species with their taxonomic identities. The results showed that using DNA barcoding based on the CO1 gene achieved a 100% success rate in accurately identifying mosquito species. Additionally, the study contributed to the existing knowledge by providing COI-based barcode sequences for 16 mosquito species that were not formerly presented in sequence databases. In the process of molecularly identifying mosquitoes in southeastern Australia, researchers obtained the COI sequences from 113 specimens that had been morphologically identified. These specimens represented 29 distinct species, six tribes, and 12 genera. The study involved all developmental stages of the collected species, including eggs, to conduct a comprehensive molecular analysis (Batovska et al., 2016).

The molecular identification of mosquito species has been the focus of several studies investigating the utility of the COI gene sequences. Research focused on the use of mitochondrial markers for molecular identification of West African *Aedes* mosquitoes, which are known vectors of arboviral diseases, revealed a

significant molecular divergence between Ae. furcifer, and Ae. taylori, despite their similar morphological characteristics. These findings underscored the effectiveness of molecular identification techniques, particularly utilizing the mitochondrial gene COI, in accurately documenting interspecific species (Cook et al., 2005). In an analysis conducted in Japan, the nucleotide sequence of the COI gene was utilised to evaluate 512 mosquito specimens collected from multiple sites spanning from Hokkaido to Kagoshima. The findings revealed that 240 mosquitoes, representing 45 species and 11 genera, had their gene sequences deposited in GenBank. Traditional taxonomy methods faced significant challenges in northern Japan when distinguishing morphologically similar Aedes mosquitoes with black legs, specifically those belonging to the punctor-subgroup like Ae. punctor and Ae. communis. However, the specimens could be categorized into two genetically distinct populations through COI gene sequence analysis (Maekawa et al., 2016).

Díez-Fernández et al. (2018) conducted a study in southern Spain where they employed a molecular method to amplify and sequence the COI gene of Ae. vittatus mosquito larvae and adults. The sequenced species exhibited a similarity of only 94% with other Aedes species. When comparing the mosquito sequences isolated from Spain with those published in public databases, a 99% similarity was found with sequences of two Aedes mosquitoes, Ae. vittatus and Ae. cogilli. Notably, at that time, there were no previous records of the mosquito species Ae. cogilli in Europe and was exclusively seen in India. A study conducted by Hernández-Triana et al., (2019) focused on using DNA barcoding techniques to aid in identifying British mosquitoes, documented cryptic genetic diversity, and examined invasive species. The study analysed a total of 42 mosquito species from different genera, including Aedes, Culex, Anopheles, Coquillettidia, and Orthopodomyia. Based on this analysis, the authors proposed that combining morphological characteristics with DNA barcoding provided an efficient approach for accurately identifying mosquitoes, particularly those invasive species that were a threat to public health. Furthermore, this method also helped to uncover hidden genetic diversity within species groups, enhancing the understanding of mosquito populations. In a survey conducted in Mananthavady Taluk of Wayanad district, Kerala, mosquito vectors of JE were identified using molecular barcoding techniques. The study revealed the presence of 12 mosquito species belonging to three genera, Anopheles, Culex,

and *Mansonia*, in the region. *Cx. tritaeniorhynchus*, *Cx. quenquefasciatus*, *Cx. gelidus*, *Cx. bitaeniorhyncus*, *Cx. vishnui*, *Cx. pseudovishnui*, *Cx. fuscocephala*, *Ma. indiana*, *Ma. uniformis*, *An. barbirostris*, and *An. Peditaeniatus* were the identified species. The findings supported the recommendation of employing molecular barcoding to identify mosquito vectors effectively (Thankachan et al., 2021).

The collective findings of these studies underscore the effectiveness and promise of employing COI gene sequences and DNA barcoding for the molecular identification and classification of mosquitoes. Utilizing molecular approaches enhances the understanding of genetic diversity, population dynamics, and interspecific relationships and complements traditional morphological identification methods in mosquito research and surveillance. Furthermore, these studies emphasized one of the significant advantages of DNA barcoding in assessing the spatial and geographic distribution of mosquito species on a global scale. Integrating molecular techniques with traditional methods could hold great potential for improving the knowledge of mosquitoes and their impact on public health.

## **Chemical Control**

Historically, the utilisation of insecticides dates back to ancient times, with arsenic as insect bait in the 9<sup>th</sup> century AD. Subsequently, compounds such as lead arsenate (PbHAsO<sub>4</sub>), cryolite (Na<sub>3</sub>AlF<sub>6</sub>), and borax (Na<sub>2</sub>B<sub>4</sub>O<sub>7</sub>) were employed as cellular poisons and dehydrators (Popov et al., 2021). The chemical industry has witnessed significant advancements, leading to crucial breakthroughs in managing pathogens, vectors, and pests. Chemical insecticides gained widespread usage in the mid-19<sup>th</sup> century, with Paris green, a mixture of copper acetoarsenite, proving effective in combating the Colorado potato beetle in 1871 (Alyokhin, 2009). Paris green remained a prevalent choice until the mid-20th century in various countries, particularly for controlling the malaria vector, *Anopheles* mosquito (Symes, 1952; Majori, 2012).

DDT, perhaps the most renowned chemical pesticide, was synthesized in 1874 by Austrian chemist Othmar Tseidler (Bate, 2007) and its insecticidal properties were discovered by Swiss scientist Paul Müller, employed at J. R. Geigy Ltd., in 1939 (Davies et al., 2007). In recognition of his seminal research on the effectiveness of DDT as a contact toxin, Paul Müller was honoured with the Nobel Prize in Medicine in 1948 (Mischke, 1985). Subsequent research revealed the detrimental impact of DDT on various non-target organisms, including mammals, birds, and reptiles, in addition to pest insects.

#### Organophosphates

The use of DDT in plant protection prevailed until the latter half of the 20th century, after which it was succeeded by a widespread adoption of organophosphates (e.g., dichlorvos, cyanophos, fonofos, malathion, temephos) and carbamates (such as carbaryl, carbofuran, aldicarb). OPs represent a group of insecticides, some possessing high toxicity levels. They were extensively employed as insecticides and were considered among the most prevalent options until the beginning of the 21st century (O'Brien, 1967). OPs consist of two components, namely a phosphate (or thio- or dithio-phosphate) group and an organic moiety. Typically, the phosphate group is O, O-dialkyl substituted. These pesticides exhibit strong inhibitory effects on cholinesterase enzymes through reversible or irreversible covalent binding with the serine residue positioned in the active site of acetylcholinesterase. As a result, the natural breakdown of neurotransmitters is hindered, causing similar adverse effects in insects, wildlife, and humans (Barr and Buckley, 2011).

Classified as an Op insecticide, malathion was first made available by the American Cyanamid Company in 1950. Malathion is well-known for its broad range of effectiveness and has been used extensively to control a variety of insect species (Flessel et al., 1993). The lipid-soluble nature of malathion makes it easier to absorb by the skin, respiratory system, or digestive tract (Gunther et al., 1968). Since 1956, public health officials have used malathion as a tool to control mosquito populations when needed. Malathion proved to be an effective mosquito repellent with negligible hazards to human health and the environment when used in accordance with the recommended application rate and safety precautions (Penner, 2005). The study on insecticide susceptibility of *Ae. aegypti* in various regions of Thailand indicated that malathion remained effective in control programs, as all larval populations exhibited minimal resistance to this insecticide (Ponlawat et al., 2005). The assessment of insecticide resistance in *Ae. aegypti* across different localities in Colombia indicated that the species displayed susceptibility to malathion and did not exhibit resistance or cross-resistance (Ocampo et al., 2011).

The extensive utilisation of malathion in vector control programs has been welldocumented in the literature. Nevertheless, the emergence of resistance to these compounds has raised concerns, as it has been observed in diverse mosquito vectors across different geographical regions (Bisset et al., 1991; Gopalan et al., 1996; Poopathi et al., 2000). A study assessed the development of resistance to malathion in Ae. albopictus. The larvae of selected colonies, subjected to 10 generations of malathion-induced selection pressure, exhibited reduced susceptibility to malathion compared to the susceptible strains. Susceptibility tests using a diagnostic dosage of 5 % malathion-impregnated paper showed varying degrees of resistance among adult mosquitoes (Selvi et al., 2010). Likewise, in the research carried out by Hidayati and colleagues in 2011, it was demonstrated that subjecting Ae. aegypti mosquitoes to continuous malathion exposure over 45 generations of selective treatment led to a progressive escalation in their resistance to the insecticide. This discovery lent acceptance to the idea that extended and recurrent malathion usage could lead to the development of resistance within mosquito populations.

Temephos, classified as a non-systemic organophosphorus insecticide, is primarily utilised as a larvicide for mosquito control, particularly in domestic water containers and drinking water storage facilities (WHO, 2009). Temephos continued to be the predominant chemical used for controlling the immature stages of Ae. aegypti in Southeast Asia and became a crucial component in mosquito control efforts. The repeated utilisation of insecticides has led to the development of resistance in vector populations, thereby abating the efficacy of operational interventions (Saeung et al., Resistance to temphos has been extensively observed in Ae. 2020). aegypti populations in the Americas, as evidenced by studies conducted by Rodríguez et al. (2007) and Ocampo et al. (2011). However, the Asian region has relatively fewer reports on temephos resistance, as described by Chaiphongpachara and Moolrat (2017). Several studies, such as those conducted by Liew et al. (1994) in Singapore, Polson et al. (2001) in Cambodia and Paeporn et al. (2004b) in Thailand, employed a diagnostic dosage of 0.02 mg/L of temephos. These studies consistently of temephos have reported the presence resistance in Aedes mosquitoes. Ae. aegypti's resistance to temephos has been the subject of several studies, with Paeporn et al. reporting a substantial rise in resistance through selection, Wirth and Georghiou observing elevated resistance in a laboratory-reared colony, and Tikar et al. documenting a significant increase in resistance in a particular strain of *Ae. aegypti* (Wirth and Georghiou,1999; Paeporn et al., 2003; Tikar et al., 2009). In a scientific investigation that sought to assess the susceptibility or resistance status of *Ae. aegypti* to temephos in three districts of Tamil Nadu, the populations showed a considerable degree of resistance, ranging from high to moderate, and the authors concluded that the widespread use of temephos to control *Ae. aegypti* populations in the corresponding areas were the cause of this elevation in resistance (Muthusamy and Shivakumar, 2015a).

### **Pyrethroids**

Pyrethrum is a plant-based insecticide derived from the flower heads of a whiteflowered plant in the chrysanthemum genus. It has a long history as a botanical insecticide. Its insecticidal properties have been recognized for over 150 years, with references to the chrysanthemum flowers originating from ancient Chinese history and potentially being introduced to Europe through the Silk Roads. The efficacy of pyrethrum as an insecticide was first observed in the 19th century when it was used by Caucuses tribes for controlling body lice, as noted by Jumticoff, an American researcher (Glynne-Jones, 2001). Since the 1840s, it has been well-established that pyrethrins are highly susceptible to degradation by light, with a short half-life of less than five hours when exposed to direct sunlight. This inherent photosensitivity has significantly restricted their practical application in commercial settings. To overcome this limitation, the initial development of synthetic pyrethroids involved modifying specific structural elements of pyrethrin I with isosteric substitutes to enhance their metabolic and photochemical stability. Although the synthesis of pyrethrin analogues commenced shortly after identifying the active constituents, it was not until 1949 that the first commercially successful pyrethroid, allethrin, was introduced (Casida, 1980). However, their usage declined after World War II due to the introduction of more cost-effective organochlorines, organophosphorus compounds, and carbamate insecticides. Nevertheless, concerns about environmental contamination and vertebrate toxicity prompted a renewed interest in pyrethrins and the development of synthetic pyrethroids with improved stability and potency. These synthetic analogues, incorporating structural modifications, exhibit a wide range of insecticidal activity. These synthetic compounds can display structural

similarities to the original pyrethrins or have significantly different chemical structures (Bradbury and Coats, 1989; Valentine, 1990; Schleier and Peterson, 2011).

Cypermethrin, a potent synthetic pyrethroid insecticide, was initially synthesized in 1974 and introduced to the market in 1977. It is chemically composed of the alphacyano-3-phenoxybenzyl ester of the dichloro analogue of chrysanthemic acid, specifically 2,2-dimethyl-3-(2,2-dichloro vinyl) cyclopropane carboxylic acid (WHO, 1989). Evaluation of cypermethrin resistance in the dengue vector, Ae. aegypti population from Lahore, Pakistan, revealed that the tested population displayed a lower level of resistance to cypermethrin (Jahan and Shahid, 2013). Ae. *aegypti* in various regions of Vietnam demonstrated continued susceptibility to the pyrethroid insecticide cypermethrin, as revealed by studies conducted at different locations in eleven provinces and cities (Huong et al., 2004). Monitoring the resistance to the pyrethroid cypermethrin in Ae. aegypti populations collected in Brazil indicated the development of resistance in the selected species, potentially attributed to the repeated use of insecticides without available alternatives (Da-Cunha et al., 2005). The evaluation of Ae. aegypti populations from Pernambuco, Brazil, revealed resistance across all tested populations for cypermethrin, as documented by de Araújo et al. (2019). The resistance status of Ae. aegypti to cypermethrin in Bengkulu City, Indonesia, was examined, and it was found that Ae. *aegypti* populations from dengue endemic and sporadic areas in Bengkulu City remained susceptible to cypermethrin. However, there were indications of the emergence of resistance mechanisms in some populations, suggesting the potential development of resistance over time (Triana et al., 2019).

The results of the susceptibility assay conducted on *Ae. aegypti, Ae. albopictus, Cx. quinquefasciatus*, and *An. subpictus* mosquitoes exposed to cypermethrin revealed varying vulnerability among the mosquito species. While *Ae. aegypti* mosquitoes exhibited resistance, *Ae. albopictus* and *Cx. quinquefasciatus* displayed tolerance, with *An. subpictus* mosquitoes remained susceptible to the insecticide (Ramadhani et al., 2020).

Lambda-cyhalothrin was introduced in 1988, belongs to the pyrethroid class of insecticides and is widely utilised for effective pest control against a diverse range of pests (Fetoui et al., 2015). Lambda-cyhalothrin, identified explicitly as cyano-3-

phenoxybenzyl 3-(2-chloro-3,3,3-trifluoroprop-1-enyl)-2,2-dimethylcyclopropanecarboxylate, emerged as an insecticide that striked a favourable balance between efficacy and toxicity. With widespread application in public health and animal health sectors, lambda-cyhalothrin had proven effective in controlling a broad spectrum of insects, including mosquitoes (Anadon et al., 2006). A research study was carried out at the International Airports of Thiruvananthapuram and Cochin in southern India to evaluate the susceptibility of Ae. aegypti and Ae. albopictus to lambda-cyhalothrin in their aquatic and adult stages. The findings revealed that both the larval and adult populations of Ae. aegypti and Ae. albopictus displayed susceptibility to lambda-cyhalothrin (Sharma et al., 2004). A research investigation by Husham et al. (2010) aimed to assess the susceptibility of the dengue vector Ae. aegypti to pesticides in Port Sudan City and samples of Ae. aegypti in their aquatic stage were collected from nine entomological stations for testing. The results of the study indicated that, Ae. aegypti demonstrated tolerance to lambda-cyhalothrin. During a survey analysis carried out in a malaria-endemic area of Southeastern Iran, Fathian et al. (2015) observed that both An. stephensi and An. culicifacies showed susceptibility to the insecticide lambda-cyhalothrin. The examination of the molecular mechanisms underlying resistance to lambda-cyhalothrin in a population of An. funestus from Senegal unveiled the development of resistance in the species to the insecticide (Samb et al., 2016).

# **Plant Extract**

Current developments have led to limitations in using synthetic insecticides for mosquito control due to various factors. These include the absence of new insecticides, high costs associated with synthetic alternatives, and concerns about sustainability and their adverse effects on human health and non-target organisms. Synthetic insecticides are non-biodegradable and can lead to biological magnification in ecosystems, contributing to the emergence of global insecticide resistance. Researchers have actively pursued alternative strategies prioritising effective and transparent mosquito management approaches, including public education, monitoring, source reduction, and eco-conscious larval control methods with reduced toxicity. Consequently, there has been a shift in focus within control programs towards eco-friendly alternatives like plant-derived insecticides, reducing reliance on chemical insecticides (Ghosh et al., 2012).

In previous times, botanical insecticides like nicotine and pyrethrum held a prominent position in managing household pests until the late 1930s, when the insecticidal properties of DDT and methyl parathion were unveiled (Morgan, 2004). However, the subsequent emergence of cost-effective and highly efficient synthetic insecticides, such as organochlorines, organophosphates, and carbamates, led to the diminished significance of botanicals in the pest control industry starting from the 1970s. A resurgence of scientific interest in botanical insecticides was sparked by the discovery of the potent insecticidal properties of azadirachtin, a triterpenoid compound isolated from the seeds of the *Azadirachta indica*, commonly known as Indian neem tree, during the 1960s (Isman, 2006). This led to more research and the organization of international conferences dedicated to neem and neem-based insecticides throughout the 1980s and 1990s (Isman and Grieneisen, 2014). Sukumar et al. (1991) conducted a comprehensive review documenting 344 botanical agents with insecticidal properties, further highlighting the significance of botanical compounds in pest control.

In recent years, alternative approaches for effective pest and vector control have proliferated, leveraging advancements in genetic engineering, plant breeding, and a deeper understanding of plant-pest-predator interactions (Bakhsh et al., 2015). Among these options, one that shows promise and is effective is using secondary plant metabolites produced by certain plant species as part of their natural defence mechanisms against pests and diseases (Miresmailli and Isman, 2014). Numerous investigations in botanical studies have revealed the remarkable evolutionary adaptations of different plant species. Diverse chemical and physical defence mechanisms have emerged because of these adaptations, intending to overcome a variety of insect threats. These defence mechanisms exerted by plants include a wide range of compounds, including alkaloids, terpenoids, polyphenols, and phenols. These chemical compounds have unique properties and can be extracted from plants using a variety of techniques. Simple mixing in water, the use of organic solvents with varying polarities, supercritical fluid extraction, and various distillation techniques are examples of standard extraction techniques. The complex and frequently compelling chemicals plants have developed to lessen the harm that herbivorous insects inflict have been thoroughly examined and documented in the scientific literature (Mithöfer and Boland, 2012). A deeper understanding has been

gained regarding the precise mechanisms by which various plant defensive metabolites operate, emphasizing their capacity to deter insects (Nerio et al., 2010; Maia and Moore, 2011). Numerous plant species from diverse geographical regions have been found to have phytochemicals capable of exerting both acute and chronic toxic effects. Several botanical extracts have demonstrated notable detrimental effects on the fertility and viability of mosquito eggs. Additionally, these extracts have shown significant and promising larvicidal properties, highlighting their potential as effective mosquito control agents (Shaalan et al., 2005b).

In their research, Prempree and Sukhapanth (1990) observed that the crude extracts derived from various parts of the Derris elliptica bentham plant exhibited toxicity towards mosquito larvae. The extracts were found to disrupt the formation of both the cuticle and internal tissues of the larvae, ultimately resulting in total mortality. These findings indicate the potential of this plant as a natural larvicide against mosquitoes. Amusan et al. (2005) compared the toxicity effect of oil extracts from Hyptis suaveolens and Citrus sinensis and found that ethanolic extracts derived from the peel of *Citrus sinensis* demonstrated the highest mortality rate when tested against Ae. aegypti, in comparison to Hyptis suaveolens. These results of the study revealed the aptitude of extract taken from Citrus sinensis peel as a persuasive larvicide against Ae. aegypti mosquitoes, suggesting its possible application in mosquito control strategies. Chapagain and Wiesman (2005) conducted a study to examine the larvicidal effects of *Balanites aegyptica* (desert date) on Cx. pipiens mosquito larvae. They found that extracts from different plant parts, such as the seed kernel, fruit pulp, roots, bark, and leaves, displayed larvicidal activity. Among these extracts, the aqueous extract from the roots exhibited the highest larvicidal mortality, achieving significant results even at minute concentrations. In a study conducted by Chansang et al. (2005), it was observed that the aqueous extract derived from both unripe and ripe fruits of Piper retrofractum displayed varying degrees of larvicidal effectiveness against Cx. quinquefasciatus larvae. Furthermore, the extract exhibited comparable toxicity towards both resistant and susceptible strains of Bacillus sphaericus in Thailand. Interestingly, Ae. aegypti mosquitoes were more susceptible to the extract obtained from ripe fruits than Cx. quinquefasciatus. Komalamisra et al. (2005) performed a screening of larvicidal activity using various Thai plants against four species of mosquito vectors. They

conducted experiments on 96 ethanolic extracts obtained from 84 Thai plants. The results showed that extracts derived from *Rhinacanthus nasutus*, *Trigonostemon redioides*, *Acorus calamus*, *D. elliptica*, *Stemona tuberose*, and *Homalomena aromatic*, demonstrated significant larvicidal activity, suggesting their efficacy in this regard. Additionally, the petroleum ether extract of *R. nasutus* demonstrated larvicidal effects against all tested mosquito species. George and Vincent (2005) conducted a comparative investigation to assess the effectiveness of *Annona squamosa*, *Pongamia glabra*, and *Az. indica* against mosquitoes. They found that both *P. glabra* and *A. squamosa* extracts exhibited larvicidal properties, with *P. glabra* demonstrating a more pronounced effect. *Ae. aegypti* larvae were the most susceptible, followed by *An. stephensi* and *Cx. quinquefasciatus* for both extracts.

According to Obomanu et al. (2006), Lepidagathis alopecuroides exhibited potential as an affordable and efficient larvicide for mosquitoes. The study revealed its lethal effects on An. gambiae and Cx. quinquefasciatus mosquito larvae. Furthermore, Cx. quinquefasciatus demonstrated greater susceptibility to the extracts of L. alopecuroides and Az. indica. In a separate study, Pushpananthan et al. (2006) observed that steam-distilled oil derived from Cymbopogan citrus caused mortality in Cx. quinquefasciatus larvae after 24-hour treatment, and it displayed complete ovicidal activity. An examination was undertaken to analyse the larvicidal efficacy of the leaf extract derived from Ageratina adenophora, an extensively cultivated weed plant in the higher terrains of the Nilgiris district. The prime focus of this study involved the detailed analysis of the extract's impact on two species of mosquitoes, Ae. aegypti and Cx. quinquefasciatus. In comparison to neem, it was discerned that the leaf extract obtained from A. adenophora exhibited heightened toxicity towards both Ae. aegypti and Cx. quinquefasciatus. Consequently, the extract demonstrated significant potential for efficaciously restricting the proliferation of mosquito larvae (Mohan and Ramaswamy, 2007). Das et al. (2007) determined that the ethanol extract of A. squamosa exhibited the highest activity against Cx. quinquefasciatus, followed by ethanol extract of Aristolochia saccate, methanol extract of A. squamosa, and methanol extract of Gymnopetelum cochinchinensis. Tiwary et al. (2007) conducted a study on the larvicidal activities of the essential oil from the seed of Zanthoxylum armatum against three mosquito vectors, and they observed that Cx. quinquefasciatus, Ae. aegypti, and An.

*stephensi* displayed sensitivity to the oil. Matasyoh et al. (2008) discovered that the ethyl acetate extract of *Aloe turkanensis*, as well as the hexane, acetone, and methanol extracts of *Aloe fibrosa*, and all extracts of *A. andongensis*, demonstrated larvicidal effects against *An. gambiae*. Notably, the ethyl acetate extract of *A. turkanensis* demonstrated the most significant larvicidal activity, achieving 100% mortality.

An. culicifacies, Ae. aegypti, Cx. quinquefasciatus, and An. stephensi, were tested in a study assessing the efficacy of aqueous and hexane extracts from the dried fruit of Solanum nigrum against these species. It was found that the aqueous extracts showed lethal effects, causing 100% mortality in all tested species during the larval bioassay at a concentration of 1000 ppm (Raghavendra et al., 2009). Borah et al. (2010) proposed that *Toddalia asiatica* holds promise as a larvicide. Their research demonstrated that hexane, acetone, and methanol extracts from the leaves of T. asiatica displayed larvicidal activity against Ae. aegypti and Cx. quinquefasciatus. The hexane extract from the fruits of T. asiatica exhibited the highest larvicidal activity against both mosquito vectors. Dua et al. (2010) revealed that the essential oil derived from the leaves of *Lanthana camara* possessed adulticidal activity against Cx. quinquefasciatus, Ae. aegypti, and An. stephensi exhibited extended effectiveness at low storage temperatures. Jawale et al. (2010) investigated the larvicidal activity of Oestrum nocturnum against Ae. aegypti and found that the methanol extract of O. nocturnum displayed the highest larvicidal activity, resulting in 100% mortality of tested species.

Kamaraj et al. (2011) discovered that the ethyl and methanol extracts from the bark of *A. squamosa*, ethyl acetate and methanol extracts from the leaves of *Chrysanthemum indicum*, as well as acetone and ethyl acetate extracts from *Tridax procumbens*, showed potential as eco-friendly means to control *An. subpictus* and *Cx. tritaeniorhynchus*. In an examination of the larvicidal activity of *Eugenia jambolana* extracts against three mosquito species, *Ae. aegypti* exhibited the highest sensitivity, followed by *Cx. quinquefasciatus* and *An. stephensi*. Crude petroleum extract demonstrated greater larvicidal effectiveness (Raghavendra et al., 2011). The larvicidal activity of seaweed extracts, specifically *Enteromorpha intestinalis*, *Acanthopora spicifera*, and *Dictyota dichotoma*, dissolved in dimethylsulfoxide, was investigated against fourth instar *Ae. aegypti* larvae. The study reported that ethanolic extracts from the seaweed *D. dichotoma* contained active compounds that exhibited larvicidal activity, indicating their potential for developing effective larvicidal agents (Beula et al., 2011).

The larvicidal activity of P. pinnata extract was evaluated against three mosquito vectors. The bark of *P. pinnata* was used to prepare methanol and hydro alcohol extracts, which were tested against fourth instar larvae of An. Stephensi, Ae. aegypti, and Cx. quinquefasciatus. The findings revealed that the methanol extract derived from P. pinnata presented the highest larval mortality compared to the hydro alcohol extract (Kolli and Sundararajan, 2013). Another study assessed the larvicidal potential of extracts from several Indian medicinal plants against Ae. aegypti. Among the extracts tested, the acetone extract of *Elaeagnus indica* showed the followed by the acetone highest larval mortality. extract of Maesa indica (Shivakumar et al., 2013). Kamiabi et al. (2013) observed that the crude extracts obtained from Cyperus aromaticus exhibited notable inhibitory effects on the growth of Ae. aegypti and Ae. albopictus. The wing length of treated adults from both mosquito species, particularly females of Ae. albopictus, showed a significant decrease. Additionally, the longevity of the mosquitoes was reduced, sterility indices were increased in the female parental generation, and pupal formation and adult emergence were delayed in both Aedes species.

The results of the study organised by Paul et al. (2020) indicated that the crude extracts, combined extracts, and bioactive fractions derived from two different plant species *Andrographis paniculata* and *Tinospora cordifolia* showed promise as larvicides against third-instar larvae of *Ae. aegypti*. In the research carried out by Aziz et al. (2021), an investigation was conducted to assess the larvicidal effect of a methanolic extract from *Vitex ovata* leaves against *Ae. aegypti*. The study demonstrated that the crude extract of *V. ovata* possessed bioactive compounds that could be utilised as bio-larvicides for controlling the *Aedes* mosquito vector.

Plant species that demonstrate high success rates are known to possess a wide variety of moderately toxic defence compounds or a small number of highly toxic substances. This enables them to effectively target a diverse range of molecular components, including proteins (enzymes, receptors, ion channels, structural proteins), nucleic acids, bio-membranes, and secondary metabolites. These specific or non-specific interactions contribute to the plant's ability to defend against threats.

Secondary metabolite analogues can disrupt essential components of cellular signalling systems by interfering with vital enzymes and processes involved in nervous system signalling. These analogues can affect neurotransmitter synthesis, storage, release, binding, re-uptake, receptor activation, and function, as well as enzymes responsible for signal transduction. Additionally, they can block metabolic pathways, leading to the disruption of crucial cellular processes. This indicates the diverse mechanisms through which secondary metabolite analogues exert their effects (Wink, 2000). It is evident that plant-based insecticides impact insect physiology through diverse mechanisms and at multiple receptor sites. For instance, terpenes can block the stimulating effects of glucose and inositol on chemosensory receptor cells (Gershenzon and Dudareva, 2007). Essential oils and their constituents disrupt biochemical processes, leading to imbalances in insect endocrinology and interfering with normal morphogenesis (Reynolds, 1987; Balandrin and Klocke, 1988). Neurotoxicity is observed in several monoterpenoids, causing hyperactivity and paralysis in insects (Coats et al., 1991). Insecticides like avermectin and milberrycin act on glutamate-gated chloride channels, while pyrethrins affect sodium channels (Bloomquist, 2003). Rotenone interferes with cellular energy metabolism in mitochondria by either inhibiting the electron transport system or uncoupling it from ATP production (Fukami, 1961; Yamamoto and Kurokawa, 1970). Other compounds like Sabadila, nicotine, and veratridine interfere with nerve function, energy metabolism, and cell division. Azadirachtin has been identified as an anti-mitotic insecticide, and specific mutations in GABA receptors confer resistance to certain insecticides (Richards and Cutkomp,1945; Höld et al., 2000, Rattan, 2010).

## Synergy

Insecticide synergy has emerged as a valuable approach to enhance the efficacy of insecticides by amplifying their lethal effects. In this approach, single or multiple compounds are mixed with an insecticide. Synergistic compounds have successfully controlled the resistance development of targeted vector populations to conventional insecticides. The administration of synergists, even in sublethal doses, has presented escalation in the lethality of insecticides (Brindley and Selim, 1984). Synergists have been widely employed in commercial applications over the past five decades as they have proved to improve the competence of insecticides. The objective of

improving the stability of a pyrethroid insecticide permethrin, a potent insecticide for controlling houseflies, mosquitoes, and other household pests, can be considered the origin of insecticide synergists. The first practical and economically feasible synergist was piperonyl butoxide (PBO), which significantly decreased the production costs related to natural pyrethrum. However, a more promising approach was discovered when Haller and colleagues interpreted Eagleson's finding that adding sesame oil to pyrethrum extracts significantly enhanced their efficacy (Haller et al., 1942). They credited this enhanced effectiveness to the synergistic impact of sesamin, a component found in the oil. Later, it was identified that the presence of a methylene-dioxy-phenyl group in sesamin was a contributing factor. Subsequently, they synthesized the amides of 3,4-methylene-dioxy cinnamic acid and found them to exhibit synergistic activity with pyrethrins (Wachs, 1947).

Metcalf (1967) defined a synergist as a passive component in a mixture that enhances its toxicity when combined with an insecticide. Synergists are often metabolic inhibitors, implying a specific mode of action. Additionally, the term "potentiation" described the greater-than-additive effect observed in synergistic combinations of insecticides, where each insecticide is used at its toxic level and targets specific sites (Raffa and Priester, 1985). Moreover, the term "quasisynergism," as proposed by Sun and Johnson in 1972, should be applied explicitly to chemicals that facilitate the penetration, transport, or accessibility of the insecticide rather than affecting its toxicity or mode of action. The use of synergists with increasing specificity continued to play a crucial role in managing resistant pests, helping to minimize selection pressure, primarily when they target a specific detoxification pathway of an insect. These synergistic agents served as valuable tools in maintaining effective pest control strategies while reducing the development of resistance (Wachs, 1947).

Thangam and Kathiresan (1991) investigated the synergistic interaction between marine plant extracts and insecticides (DDT, BHC and malathion) against *Ae.aegypti*. The study revealed that the stilt root of *Rhizophora apiculata* exhibited the highest level of synergistic activity when combined with BHC (Benzene Hexachloride). The larvicidal activity of plant extracts, both individually and in combination with synthetic larvicidal agents, was evaluated by Harve and Kamath (2004) against *Ae. aegypti* mosquitoes. The results showed that

of Murraya koenigii, Ferula asafetida, and Trigonella foenum extracts graceum exhibited potential synergistic activity when combined with the synthetic agents. At the same time, they showed poor larvicidal activity when tested individually. Shaalan et al. (2005b) evaluated the synergistic efficacy of Khaya senegalensis, Daucus carota, and Callitris glaucophylla in combination with and without synthetic insecticides against Ae. aegypti and Cx. annulirostris mosquitoes. The results indicated that all mixtures resulted in 100% mortality of Cx. Annulirostris larvae within 24 hours. Furthermore, the mixtures exhibited synergistic effects on Ae. aegypti larvae, except for one mixture that demonstrated an additive effect. In a distinct study conducted by Mohan et al. (2007), the synergistic efficiency of a combination of cypermethrin and petroleum ether extract of Solanum *xanthocarpum* at a 1:1 ratio was examined against Cx. quinquefasciatus mosquitoes. The results demonstrated that this combination exhibited the highest efficacy in controlling the target mosquito species. Chenniappan and Kadarkarai (2008) focused on the synergistic activity of Andrographis paniculata extracts against An. stephensi larvae. The study found that combining plant extract with deltamethrin resulted in the highest larvicidal activity, indicating synergistic effects. Furthermore, a 1:4 ratio of deltamethrin and ethanolic extract was identified as the most effective combination.

In a study by Mohan et al. (2010), the larvicidal activity of a combination of *Solanum xanthocarpum* extract and specific synthetic insecticides was investigated against *Cx. quinquefaciatus* mosquitoes. The results indicated that when fenthion and the plant extract were combined at a 1:1 ratio, they exhibited synergistic effects, resulting in the most favourable outcomes regarding larvicidal action against the target organism. Interestingly, oils derived from *Amyris balsamifera*, *Sesamum indicum*, *Helichrysum italicum*, *Santalum album*, *Juniperus virginiana*, and *Piper nigrum* exhibited significant synergistic effects when combined with carbaryl. However, paradoxically, all these oils reduced the toxicity or synergistic effects on *Ae. aegypti* adult mosquitoes (Tong and Bloomquist, 2013). Lakshmi et al. (2021) undertook an experiment to investigate the synergistic effect of *C. bonplandianum* with two pyrethroid insecticides, cypermethrin and lambda-cyhalothrin, against *Ae. aegypti*. The study examined both the individual larvicidal

properties of these compounds and their synergistic effects. The findings revealed that synergism significantly enhanced the larvicidal activity of these compounds and was effective against Ae. aegypti larvae. In a study on the synergistic effect of bioactive monoterpenes against Cx. pipiens mosquitoes, researchers investigated the insecticidal impact of various binary monoterpene combinations utilizing a synergistic design approach. The findings indicated that all the individual monoterpenes, when tested within these binary mixtures, worked together to enhance the effectiveness of the insecticide (Ramzi et al., 2022). A study exploring the synergistic repellent and irritant effects of a mixture comprising  $\beta$ -caryophyllene oxide and vetiver oil against mosquito vectors demonstrated that this combination had a more substantial impact on mosquitoes than the individual compounds. The blend of  $\beta$ -caryophyllene oxide and vetiver oil exhibited an additive contact irritability effect, functioning as a noncontact repellent and led to knockdown activities at lower concentrations, indicating that utilizing these two repellent compounds in combination could result in a more effective mosquito repellent than using a single compound (Nararak et al., 2023).

Many research investigations have underscored that distinct mosquito species utilise a range of resistance mechanisms, emphasising the crucial role played by enhanced metabolic detoxification of insecticides via detoxifying enzymes (Hemingway and Ranson, 2000). Within the framework of mosquito insecticide metabolism, three enzyme families, namely, cytochrome P450 monooxygenases (P450), glutathione transferases (GST), and carboxy/cholinesterases (CCE) are intricately involved. These enzyme groups each catalyse a wide range of detoxification reactions and serve as the primary enzymatic defence against xenobiotics, which are foreign substances. Furthermore, they are responsible for clearing many by-products of metabolism, hold essential roles in numerous biosynthetic pathways, and actively participate in chemical communication processes (Feyereisen, 2005; Ranson and Hemingway, 2005; Strode et al., 2008; Oakeshott et al., 2010). The rapid increase in both numbers and variety of these enzymes, referred to as 'detoxification enzymes', in insects can be attributed to their evolutionary adaptation to a broad spectrum of natural xenobiotics found in their environment (Després et al., 2007; Marcombe et al., 2009).

Research findings have shown that changes in carboxylesterase activity are generally associated with resistance to organophosphate insecticides in many insects. The specific modifications in activity vary significantly depending on the sensitivity of the insects and differences between strains. Uplifted esterase activity is the underlying factor behind resistance to organophosphates, carbamates, and pyrethroid insecticides (Terriere, 1984; Oppenoorth, 1985). Esterases represent a category of enzymes linked to resistance in mosquitoes against organophosphates, carbamates, and, to a lesser extent, pyrethroids (Hemingway and Ranson, 2000; Sogorb and Vilanova, 2002). Glutathione S-transferases are actively involved in the detoxification process of xenobiotics, including insecticides (Hemingway et al., 2004; Gan et al., 2021). Cytochrome P450 monooxygenase is implicated in developing resistance to both organophosphates and pyrethroids. The heightened levels of these enzymes are accountable for the accelerated degradation of insecticides, ultimately leading to a modification in the susceptibility status of mosquitoes (Paeporn et al., 2004a; Adhikari et al., 2022). An accurate assessment of the susceptibility or resistance of a species to insecticide compounds could be achieved by conducting a quantitative enzymatic assay on these detoxifying enzymes (Jangir and Prasad, 2022).
**GENERAL METHODOLOGY** 

#### **Study Sites for Vector Collection**

Four areas of Thrissur district, Kerala, India, were selected for the mosquito vector species sampling. The chosen regions include two urban areas, Thrissur Corporation Area (10.519682N latitude, 76.228148' longitude) and Irinjalakuda Municipal Area (10.349122' N latitude, 76.214167'E longitude), and two semi-urban areas, Muthuvara (10.553486' N latitude, 76.177160E' longitude) and Palakkal (10.474126' N latitude, 76.215130'E longitude).

# **Mosquito Sampling**

# **Sampling Methods**

This study employed random sampling methods. Eggs were collected from both natural oviposition sites and artificial ovitraps. The larval collection was carried out using pipettes, dippers, and aquatic nets. Adult specimens were collected through attractant and non-attractant traps, sweeping insect nets, and an aspirator. The diversity study spanned from January 2016- December 2016. The identification of collected specimens was done using standard taxonomical keys. Various indices such as Dominance (D), Simpson's (1-D), Shannon (H), Evenness (H/S), Margalef, Biodiversity index, and Berger-Parker were utilised to demonstrate the alpha diversity of the study area. Jaccard and Sorenson diversity indices were used to compare two individual sites, and gamma diversity analysis was also conducted. The diversity analysis was performed using the 'PAST' software.

#### **GIS Data Preparation**

GPS coordinates were documented for every sampling location of mosquito species data collection throughout the diversity study timeframe. These records were then utilised in preparing the geographical information system (GIS). The ArcGIS software was employed for GIS preparation.

# **DNA Barcoding**

# **Collection and Preservation**

Mosquitoes were collected, morphologically identified, and preserved in 70% ethanol at -20°C. Each specimen was assigned with a unique voucher number for future reference.

# **Extraction of Genomic DNA and PCR Amplification**

Thoracic legs of mosquitoes were used to extract genomic DNA with the ORIGIN Genomic DNA Isolation Kit. Agarose gel electrophoresis was carried out to confirm DNA present in the reaction mixture. The process of amplification was conducted using a DNA thermal cycler (Takara). The amplification was achieved through 30 cycles, each comprising an initial denaturation at a temperature of 95°C (10 seconds), followed by annealing at 50°C (1 minute), and extension at 72°C (45 seconds), completed by a final extension at 72°C (3 minutes).

The forward and reverse primers were (5'-GGTCAACAAATCATAAAGA TATTGG-3') and (5'-TAAACTTCAGGGGGGACCAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAA, respectively. The initial step of the process involved denaturation at 95°C for 5 minutes.

# **Agarose Gel Electrophoresis**

PCR-obtained products were subjected to separation by electrophoretic technique using a 2% TAE agarose gel stained with EtBr. The size of the product was determined using a Gene Ruler (Thermo Scientific; GeneRuler 100bp DNA Ladder, #SM0242). EtBr functioned as an intercalating agent within the DNA bases, emitting an orange colour by DNA under ultraviolet light.

# **PCR Product Purification**

After completing the PCR amplification of the COI fragment of the specimen, the remaining PCR-obtained product was purified using the Fermentas GeneJET PCR purification kit. The GenElute TM PCR Clean-up Kit was specifically developed for the rapid PCR amplified product purification from surplus components present in the reaction mixture, including excessive DNA polymerase, primers, nucleotides, salts and oils. Subsequently, the purified product was once again subjected to examination by being separated on a 2% agarose gel to verify the existence of DNA.

#### **DNA Sequencing and Phylogenetic Analysis**

The previously purified PCR- obtained product was sequenced using the forward and reverse primers employed in the PCR process. This sequencing was performed using Sanger's method and was conducted at Sci Genom Labs Private Ltd., Cochin, employing the ABI 3730XL automated sequencer. The obtained COI sequences from both forward and reverse directions were aligned using ClustalW, and this region was considered to be the final product sequence. This final sequence was then subjected to a species confirmation search on NCBI BLAST. After species confirmation, the aligned final COI gene sequence was submitted to GenBank (NCBI) for global access, which could serve as the molecular barcode of the species. The final nucleotide sequences were analysed through MEGA XI to understand the phylogenetic relationships using the neighbor-joining algorithm (Saitou and Nei, 1987). The inter- and intraspecific genetic diversity was calculated using the Kimura 2 parameter model.

#### **Mosquito Colony Maintenance**

A laboratory-reared *Ae. aegypti* mosquito colony from the Communicable Disease and Research Laboratory (CDRL)was used for the current study. Adult mosquitoes were reared in sterilized mosquito cages fitted with netting, maintaining  $27\pm2^{\circ}$ C constant temperature, 75–85% relative humidity, and a 14:10 light-dark photoperiod. Their nutrition included soaked raisins and blood feeding of adult female mosquitoes, which were started on the third day after emergence (Munstermann, 1997).

# **Screening of Plants**

Thirty plants representing a broad spectrum of families and genera were collected from the Thrissur district of Kerala, India, under the direction of a detailed examination of the literature. The selection of plants was mainly based on their potential medicinal value, antimicrobial activity, aromatic nature and efficacy as pesticides or insecticides. A Soxhlet apparatus was used to perform extractions with different solvents during the initial screening of plants. A preliminary screening involved the preparation of a 1mg/ml (1000ppm) concentration of plant extract using three different solvents with varying polarities. 25 healthy fourth instar *Ae. aegypti* larvae were put into each beaker. Six replicates were arranged for each

extract. *Ae. aegypti* larvae were considered dead for evaluating mortality, if they did not show outward movement for respiration. The dead larvae from six test replicates were pooled and the percentage of larval mortality for each test concentration was calculated (Aivazi and Vijayan, 2009).

# **Plant Extraction for Bioassay**

Plant leaves were collected, washed with clean water for the larval bioassay, and then dried in the shade. A hand mixer grinder was used to grind the dried plant parts into a fine powder. A Dionex ASE 150 accelerated solvent extractor was used for taking the plant extract. Solvents with different polarities were used for extraction. The collected extracts were then transferred to HS-2005V-N Rotary Flash evaporator and the remaining excess solvent contents were removed by evaporation. Accelerated solvent extraction, rotary evaporation and lyophilizaion were done at Central Instruments Laboratory, Kerala Veterinary and Animal Science University, Mannuthy, Kerala. Stock solution was prepared by dissolving 1mg extract in acetone (Kraujalis et al., 2013; Kettle et al., 2016)

# **Isolation and Identification of Bioactive Compound**

Gas Chromatography-Mass Spectrometry (GC/MS) was used for the preliminary investigation of plant extract compounds. Based on the data collected, further appropriate separation techniques were selected. Column chromatography and Thin layer chromatography techniques were employed for the isolation of the bioactive compound of the selected plant. Chloroform and hexane in a 1:1 ratio was used as mobile phases for TLC separation. The most efficient fraction was selected. That fraction was then separated through column chromatography, in which a 1:1:5 ratio of three different solvents, hexane, chloroform, and ethyl acetate, was used as the mobile phase. Next, column chromatographic separation was conducted by following a modified technique by Bajpai et al. (2016). The final fraction obtained was then subjected to TLC using chloroform and ethyl acetate in a 2:1 ratio as the mobile phase. GC/MS analysis of the isolated compound was done at Care Keralam PVT. Ltd., Kinfra Park, Koratty, Thrissur, Kerala, India. NMR was done to understand the structure of the purified isolated compound.1H-NMR spectra and documented on VNMRS-400 13C-NMR spectra were "Agilent-NMR" spectrophotometer using Dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO) as solvent at Central

Instrumentation and Research Facility, Institution of Excellence, University of Mysore, Mysuru, India.

#### **Plant Larval Bioassay**

The larval bioassay was conducted following the WHO protocol (WHO, 2005a), adapted as needed for the particulars of the study. Test concentrations of the isolated bioactive compound were formulated by adding 1 ml of the compound concentration to the test containers and made up to 250 ml by adding 249 ml of dechlorinated tap water. For comparison, a control was established with 1 ml of acetone mixed with 249 ml of water in separate containers for each trial. Twenty-five *Ae. aegypti* larvae were placed into both the test concentrations and the control group in each setup, with six replicates per condition, and the experimental setup was left undisturbed for 24 hours.  $LC_{50}$  and  $LC_{90}$  values for the plant-isolated bioactive compound were determined through dosage-mortality regression analysis employing probit analysis (Finney, 1971).

#### **Insecticide Larval Bioassay**

Larval susceptibility determination was adhered to the established WHO protocol (Brown, 1986). The fourth instar larvae of *Ae. aegypti* were exposed to varying concentrations of insecticides, which were prepared by mixing stock solutions with distilled tap water. Stock solutions of 1mg/ml cypermethrin, lambda-cyhalothrin, malathion, and temephos were prepared in water. To prepare test concentrations, 1 ml of the insecticide solution was combined with 249 ml of water in a 500 ml beaker, and the test solution was vigorously mixed for 30 seconds with a glass rod. Test controls were made by adding 1 ml of solvent solution, instead of an insecticide solution, to 249 ml of dechlorinated water. A strainer was used to transfer 25 late third or early fourth instar larvae into each beaker, which held separate test and control setups. For the larval bioassay, six successive insecticide test concentrations were immobile were considered dead.

The  $LC_{50}$  and  $LC_{90}$  values for the pesticides were calculated using probit analysis in dosage-mortality regression analysis (Finney, 1971).

# Synergistic and Co-toxicity Coefficient Assay of Bioactive Plant Isolate and Insecticides

Two separate experimental protocols were developed to determine the Synergistic factor (SF) and the Co-toxicity coefficient (CTC), both concentrating on investigating the interaction between the plant extract and the insecticide as amalgamated product (Kalyanasundaram and Das 1985). These experiments aimed to understand the possible combined effects of each chemical insecticide and the bioactive compound isolated from the plant against *Ae. aegypti* larvae.

In particular, the investigation into the Co-toxicity coefficient aimed to determine the extent to which the combined mixture influenced mortality rates in comparison to expected outcomes. Similarly, evaluating the Synergistic factor aimed to elucidate the degree of synergy or antagonism observed between the insecticide and plant isolate.

#### **Selection Experiment**

A susceptible laboratory-reared population of *Ae. aegypti* was exposed to the synergistic combination SC4 over five consecutive generations, and The F0 generation, selected as the susceptible strain, was established after 25 generations of laboratory colonization at CDRL without any previous insecticide exposure. The bioassay experiments were conducted following the WHO (Brown, 1986) protocol. Resistance Ratio (RR) assessment was performed in accordance with the WHO, 2016a protocol.

# **Quantitative Enzymatic Assay**

Quantitative enzyme assays were employed to analyse the essential detoxifying enzymes. The primary objectives of these assays were to elucidate the mode of action and to monitor the potential development of resistance in the chosen mosquito species against SC4. The procedure outlined by Kranthi (2005) was employed to determine Acetylcholinesterase and Carboxylesterase activities. An altered methodology based on the technique established by Habig et al. (1974) was employed to evaluate the specific enzymatic activity of Glutathione S-transferase. The specific enzymatic activity of cytochrome P450 was assessed using the approach detailed by Khan et al. (2020).

# Antimicrobial Assay of Plant-Isolated Compound

Antimicrobial susceptibility testing, based on the agar well diffusion method described by Murray et al., 1995 and modified by Olurinola, 1996, was conducted on solid agar media placed in petri plates against three strains of bacteria.

# **CHAPTER I**

Molecular Identification of Important Vector Mosquito Species from Selected Sites of Thrissur District, Kerala, India

# **1.1 Introduction**

Taxonomy is an analytical and dynamic branch in biology due to its requirement for constant renewal, as novel species are being revealed and some previous species demand changes in their classification. Nevertheless, it is also considered imprecise when the morphology of a specimen is the only consideration for its identification and classification. To overcome this issue, taxonomists are now relying on a further advanced approach that integrates a more accurate branch of the system, molecular biology, in which a specific region of DNA of the species is separated, amplified, and equated for identification. This technique, termed DNA barcoding, consists of the isolation, magnification, and identification of petite but exceedingly conservative sequences of DNA ranging in length from 400 to 800 base pairs (Hebert et al., 2003a; Ball and Armstrong, 2006). Not all taxonomically distinct groups that are defined exclusively by physical characters require barcoding. Although these characteristics may be adequate to differentiate between specific taxonomic groups, molecular barcoding provides a potent substitute. When physical characteristics are insufficient for accurate identification, such as in the case of subspecies where genetic differences may exist despite physical similarities or the classification of cultivated plant varieties bred for particular traits, this method becomes especially useful. Moreover, ecological variants of different populations of the same species adapted to certain environments can be studied using molecular barcoding. Molecular barcoding can even help to distinguish morphological mutants or organisms within a species with unique physical characteristics. By comparing the DNA barcode with sequences from other taxonomic groups, this technique enables precise identification and facilitates the preparation of a taxonomic record for a specimen. In discrepancies, molecular phylogenetic analyses employing molecular operational taxonomic units can help to establish accurate species identification (Floyd et al., 2002; Naddaf et al., 2012).

Mitochondrial DNA (mtDNA) has gained widespread use in animal phylogenetic research due to its rapid mutation rate, which far exceeds that of nuclear DNA. This accelerated mutation rate leads to the accumulation of genetic differences among

closely related species, as documented by various researchers (Moore, 1995; Mindell, 1997; Brown et al., 1999). The rapid pace of sequence evolution in mitochondrial DNA (mtDNA) leads to noticeable genetic differences even among groups that have experienced relatively short periods of isolation. The revolutionary work of scientist John Avise marked the initial recognition of these distinctions in mtDNA sequences, highlighting their significance as a repository of the evolutionary history of an organism within a species. This profound perception has played a pivotal role in connecting the domains of population genetics and systematics, ultimately giving rise to the flourishing field of phylogeography (Avise and Zink, 1988).

Because genetic sequence variations between species are usually much more pronounced than within species, mtDNA sequences are often used as genetic markers to identify separate species. This method increased the understanding of the evolutionary relationships between animal species and improved the accuracy of animal species classification. Over the past two decades, DNA sequencing technology has made major advances, transitioning from manual to automated sequencers. For example, an automated 96-capillary sequencer can produce over a thousand sequences with 1000 base pairs in a single day. This technical breakthrough has made DNA sequencing more accessible to everyone, even those without a background in genetics. The development of DNA barcoding is closely intertwined with these remarkable advancements (Hebert et al., 2003a; Hebert and Gregory, 2005; Schindel and Miller, 2005; Valentini et al., 2009).

Globally, mosquitoes exert a significant influence on public health. Although mosquitoes have received more diligence than most other insect varieties due to their role as disease vectors, the systematic understanding of these insects still needs to be completed. A considerable number of the species are marked as vectors owing to their competency to transmit pathogens from one living organism to another, making their identification crucial. Most species are primarily found within the *Anopheles, Aedes*, and *Culex* genera. These species are known for their role in transmitting a wide range of vector-borne diseases that cause substantial morbidity and mortality among humans, exceeding the impact of any other group of organisms (Murugan et al., 2016). These mosquito-borne diseases involve dengue fever, zika, malaria, Japanese encephalitis, West Nile fever, lymphatic filariasis, and yellow

fever. With the rising incidence rates and the absence of effective preventive measures and vaccines for some of these mosquito-borne illnesses, significant outbreaks of these diseases place a considerable strain on the healthcare systems and economies of various nations (Kuno and Chang, 2005; Weaver and Reisen, 2010; Liang et al., 2015; Atoni et al., 2019; Atoni et al., 2020).

For several important reasons, identifying vector mosquitoes is essential for disease control and public health. First, it is possible to apply focused prevention strategies targeted to specific mosquito species. Because of their diverse habits, breeding locations, and insecticide susceptibilities, mosquitoes must be precisely identified to implement effective interventions. Second, identifying vector mosquitoes is essential to disease surveillance since it keeps track of the quantity and presence of these vectors, which can be used to predict possible outbreaks and provide early warning systems. This proactive approach makes timely responses and resource allocation to high-risk areas possible. Because some sibling species have morphological characteristics that are closely related, it may become difficult to identify and distinguish them. Identification of mosquito species is mainly done by analysing the physical characteristics. This method can be challenging because distinguishing morphological traits are often lost in the process of being captured or preserved, or they may only be visible at some stages of development. Furthermore, only expert mosquito taxonomists can accurately distinguish between mosquito species due to the minor differences in physical characteristics. The vectorial status of mosquito species demands accurate and immediate identification to prepare effective control methods (Cook et al., 2005; Patsoula et al., 2006; Kumar et al., 2007; Verna and Munstermann, 2011; Versteirt et al., 2012; Versteirt et al., 2015).

Additionally, understanding the transmission dynamics of mosquito-borne diseases is greatly enhanced through vector identification. Researchers can reach into the behaviour, distribution, and feeding habits of specific vector species that aid in predicting disease transmission patterns and crafting preventive measures. Moreover, the knowledge of vector mosquitoes contributes to developing vaccines and treatments specifically targeting the pathogens carried by these vectors, potentially leading to more effective medical interventions. As climate change continues to alter the geographical range and behaviour of vector mosquitoes, identification becomes even more critical to adapt strategies to emerging disease risks (Chaiphongpachara, 2018; Sumruayphol et al., 2020; Chaiphongpachara et al., 2022).

In India, the primary vector mosquitoes crucial for disease transmission belong mainly to four genera: Culex, Aedes, Anopheles, and Armigeres (Mandal, 2012; Dev and Sharma, 2013; Moirangthem and Singh, 2018; Manikandan et al., 2022). The increased rates of disease transmission carried by mosquito vectors are frequently documented in densely populated regions, with a notable concentration in urban and semi-urban areas. Densely populated areas, such as urban and semi-urban regions, create an advantageous environment for the intensified transmission of diseases by mosquito vectors. Several factors contribute to this phenomenon, including the proximity of individuals, increased human activities, and, often, inadequate sanitation and waste management practices. These conditions create a fertile ground for mosquitoes to thrive and transmit diseases efficiently (Dev et al., 2014; Dávalos-Becerril et al., 2019). Kerala has witnessed a continued prevalence of mosquitoborne diseases throughout the year for decades. The annual reports of casualties and deaths due to this indicate the need for attention in this area (Table 1.1). The integration of molecular techniques and an extensive understanding of vector mosquitoes play critical roles in addressing the challenges of mosquito vector-borne diseases, contributing to more operative public health strategies in an evolving global landscape.

Table 1.1: Confirmed cases of mosquito- vector borne diseases in Kerala 2010-2022
(dhs.kerala.gov.in, https://dhs.kerala.gov.in/data-on-communicable-diseases/)

Year	Dengue	Fever	Mal	aria	Chikungunya		Japanese Encephalitis		West Nile fever		Zika	
	Case	Death	Case	Death	Case	Death	Case	Death	Case	Death	Case	Death
2010	2597	17	2299	7	210	0	20	5	0	0	0	0
2011	1304	10	1993	2	81	0	102	8	33	0	0	0
2012	4056	16	2036	3	62	0	3	1	0	0	0	0
2013	7938	29	1634	0	247	0	2	0	0	0	0	0
2014	2548	13	1751	6	264	0	3	2	0	0	0	0
2015	4114	29	1549	4	152	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
2016	7218	21	1540	3	124	0	1	0	0	0	0	0
2017	21993	165	1194	2	54	0	1	0	0	0	0	0
2018	4090	32	908	0	76	0	5	2	1	0	0	0
2019	4651	14	656	1	109	0	11	2	11	2	0	0
2020	2722	22	268	1	558	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
2021	3251	27	309	1	334	0	0	0	0	0	90	0
2022	4468	58	439	0	66	0	2	0	3	1	15	0

# **1.2 Methodology**

# **1.2.1 Vector Mosquito Diversity**

# 1.2.1.1 Study Site

Four distinct locations within Thrissur district, Kerala, India, were selected for the sampling of vector species. These selected regions included two urban areas and two semi-urban areas, namely SITE 1: Palakkal (10.474126°N latitude and 76.21513°E longitude), SITE 2: Thrissur Corporation Area (10.519682°N latitude and 76.228148 °E longitude), SITE 3: Muthuvara (10.553486°N latitude and 76.17716°E longitude), and SITE 4: Irinjalakuda Municipal Area (10.349122 °N latitude and 76.214167 °E longitude).



Figure 1.1 Location map of study sites

# **1.2.1.2 Sample Collection**

Eggs: Mosquito eggs, the initial stage of the mosquito life cycle, were obtained from their natural breeding sites or artificial ovitraps. Floating eggs were collected using aquatic nets, pipettes, and dippers. These collected eggs were carefully labelled, transported to the laboratory, and carried out the larval and adult mosquito rearing and identification processes.

Larvae: Juvenile mosquito larvae were collected from diverse breeding sites employing pipettes, aquatic nets, and dippers. The specimens were placed in appropriately labelled plastic containers and transported to the laboratory. To facilitate identification, the larvae were subjected to hot water treatment at 40°C and examined using taxonomical keys (Barraud, 1934; Christopher, 1933; Black, 1968; Gilles, 1993; Das and Kaul, 1998; Nagpal and Sharma 1995; Tyagi et al., 2015) under a stereo-zoom microscope (Leica-M205C). The larvae, which were difficult for precise species-level identification at the juvenile stage, were reared into adults. Unidentified larvae of collected specimens were raised into adults under controlled laboratory conditions (temperature  $26\pm2^{\circ}$ C) using a larval diet. Adult female mosquitoes were fed on 5% sucrose solution and were allowed to take blood meal on the third day following their emergence.

Adult: Various attractant and non-attractant traps, including light and CO<sub>2</sub> traps, were used together with sweeping nets and an aspirator to gather adult mosquitoes in both resting and host-seeking states. After being collected, these adult mosquitoes were brought to the lab for identification. Adult specimens captured from the study field and those raised in the laboratory were carefully examined and dissected under a stereo-zoom microscope (Leica-M205C). Species identification was achieved using established morphological keys (Barraud, 1934; Christopher, 1933; Black, 1968; Gilles, 1993; Nagpal and Sharma, 1995; Das and Kaul, 1998; Tyagi et al., 2015). The identified species were carefully pinned, labelled, and stored in the Communicable Disease Research Laboratory at St. Joseph's College, Irinjalakuda.

#### **1.2.1.3 Statistical Analysis**

Different diversity index analyses were conducted to evaluate the mosquito collection data from four distinct sampling sites: Site 1 (Palakkal), Site 2 (Thrissur), Site 3 (Muthuvara) and Site 4 (Irinjalakkuda). The alpha diversity of the study area included Dominance (D), Simpsons (1-D), Shannon (H), Evenness (H/S), Margalef, Biodiversity index, and Berger-Parker indices. Jaccard and Sorenson diversity indices of beta diversity were used to compare the diversity between individual site pairs. Furthermore, gamma diversity was examined to measure species diversity throughout multiple sites within the ecosystem. PAST software was used to conduct all diversity analyses.

# **1.2.1.4 GIS Preparation**

Throughout the diversity study, GPS coordinates were noted for each sampling site and mosquito species were recorded. After that, these mosquito data were used to create Geographic Information System (GIS) maps. ArcGIS software was used for the GIS mapping.

# **1.2.2 DNA Barcoding**

# **1.2.2.1** Collection and Preservation

Mosquitoes were collected from different sampling sites using various collection techniques. Once morphologically identified, these mosquitoes were placed into individual glass vials containing 70% ethanol and preserved at -20° C. Each vial was marked with a specific code number and was kept as a voucher specimen for future reference.

# 1.2.2.2 Genomic DNA Extraction and PCR Amplification

Thoracic legs were used to extract Genomic DNA from a morphologically identified mosquito species, following the ORIGIN Genomic DNA isolation Kit instructions outlined by Shere-Kharwar et al. (2013). The DNA amplification was performed using a Takara DNA thermal cycler, amplifying approximately 2ng of genomic DNA of the mitochondrial cytochrome oxidase subunit I (COI) gene with forward and reverse primers (forward primer: 5'-GGTCAACAAATCATAAA GATATTGG-3', and reverse primer: 5'-TAAACTTCAGGGTGACCAAAAAATCA-3') (Folmer et al., 1994). In the PCR reaction, 2 ng (1  $\mu$ l) of genomic DNA including 1  $\mu$ l each of forward and reverse primers (10mM concentration),1  $\mu$ l of dNTPs (2mM), 5  $\mu$ l of 10X reaction buffer with MgCl<sub>2</sub>, 0.5  $\mu$ l of Taq polymerase (5 U/ $\mu$ l), and 41.5  $\mu$ l of water was used. Amplification consisted of 30 cycles, starting with an initial denaturation at 95°C for 5 minutes, followed by 10-second denaturation at 95°C, 1-minute annealing at 50°C, 45-second extension at 72°C for each cycle, and a final 3-minute extension at 72°C.

# 1.2.2.3 Agarose Gel Electrophoresis

The PCR samples were separated on a 2% TAE agarose gel, following the protocol outlined by Mahesh et al. in 2012. Afterwards, it was treated with EtBr, described by Sambrook and Russell in 2001, and photographed using a gel documentation

system. To recognize the product's size, a Gene Ruler (Thermo Scientific; GeneRuler 100bp DNA Ladder, Catalog #SM0242) was employed. EtBr was used as an intercalating agent within the DNA base pairs to emit an orange glow when exposed to ultraviolet light.

#### **1.2.2.4 PCR Product Purification**

The purification of PCR-obtained product was done using the Fermentas GeneJET PCR purification kit after completing COI fragment amplification by PCR. This purification kit is specially designed for the rapid purification of single-stranded or double-stranded PCR amplification products by removing additional DNA polymerase, primers, nucleotides, salts, oils, and other contaminants from the PCR-obtained product. After that, another evaluation on a 2% agarose gel of the purified product was done to ascertain the DNA present.

#### 1.2.2.5 DNA Sequencing and Phylogenetic Analysis

The purified PCR product was then sequenced at Sci Genom Labs Private Ltd. An ABI 3730XL automated sequencer was employed for the sequencing. The methodology followed was Sanger's sequencing method, using the forward and reverse primers used for the PCR amplification. ClustalW was used to align the forward- and reverse-direction trimmed COI sequences. The aligned region of the sequence was considered the final product sequence (Thompson et al., 1994). The sequence was then run for similarity searches using the NCBI's BLAST n and BLAST p programs (Altschul et al., 1990). After that, the partial COI gene sequence was deposited into GenBank (NCBI) for global access. MEGAXI (Tamura et al., 2013) was used for the phylogenetic analysis of the final sequence. A phylogenetic tree was constructed using a neighbour-joining algorithm, and interspecific and intraspecific genetic diversity was analysed using the Kimura 2 parameter model (Saitou and Nei, 1987). Percentage nucleotide distance calculations were conducted using MEGAXI.

# 1.3 Result

# 1.3.1 Vector Mosquito Diversity and Diversity Analysis

During the data collection period, spanning from January 2016 to December 2016, a total of 24,778 mosquito specimens were collected from the research site. These

samples represented 11 distinct species distributed among four genera, *Anopheles*, *Aedes*, *Culex* and *Armigeres*. The mosquito collection was partitioned across the study sites as follows: Site 1 yielded 4,201 mosquitoes, Site 2 contributed 6,285, Site 3 yielded 6,606, and Site 4 had the highest count with 7,686 mosquitoes. The identified species were *Anopheles stephensi* with 157 individuals, *Anopheles subpictus* with 324, *Anopheles vagus* with 149, *Aedes aegypti* with 4,124, *Aedes albopictus* with 3,822, *Aedes vittatus* with 134, *Armigeres subalbatus* with 1,648, *Culex gelidus* with 2,200, *Culex pipiens* with 2,831, *Culex quinquefasciatus* with 3,944, and *Culex tritaeniorhynchus* with 5,445 individuals (Table 1.2).

Different diversity indices of the collected vector mosquito species during the study period were analysed and listed in Table 1.3. As indicated by the alpha diversity index, species richness varied across the four studied sites, Site 1 with 11species, Site 2 with 9 species, Site 3 having 11 species, and Site 4 with 10 species. This information provided an understanding of the diversity of species present within each Site, with Site 1 and Site 3 demonstrating higher species richness, indicating more diverse ecosystems. Site 2 and Site 4 showed slightly lower species richness but represented moderately diverse environments. The Dominance (D) index, which measured species dominance, differed across the four Sites, with Site 1 having a value of 0.1594, Site 2 at 0.1669, Site 3 at 0.1534, and Site 4 at 0.146. Lower Dominance (D) values suggested a more evenly distributed community, while higher values indicated a dominance of one or a few species. In this context, Site 4 exhibited the lowest Dominance (D) value, indicating a relatively even distribution of species, while Site 2 displayed the highest value, suggesting a higher degree of dominance by specific species.

The Simpson (1-D) index, reflecting species diversity and dominance, varied among the Sites, with Site 1 at 0.8406, Site 2 at 0.8331, Site 3 at 0.8466, and Site 4 at 0.854. Higher Simpson(1-D) values signified greater diversity and a reduced impact of dominant species, making Site 4 the most diverse among the Sites. In contrast, the Shannon (H) index, which assessed diversity and evenness, ranged from Site 1 at 1.973, Site 2 at 1.902, Site 3 at 1.992, and Site 4 at 2. Higher Shannon (H) values indicated increased species diversity and evenness, with Site 4 emerging as the most diverse Site overall. The Evenness(e^H/S) index differed across the four Sites, with Site 1 at 0.6541, Site 2 at 0.7445, Site 3 at 0.6665, and Site 4 at 0.7389. Evenness

assessed the even distribution of species, with higher values indicating a more balanced ecosystem. Site 2 exhibited the highest Evenness value, suggesting a relatively even distribution of species, while Site 3 had the lowest value, indicating a slightly less even distribution.

The Berger-Parker index, measured species dominance, varied with Site 1 at 0.2472, Site 2 at 0.262, Site 3 at 0.2187, and Site 4 at 0.1954. Lower Berger-Parker values indicated less dominance by a single species, indicating a more balanced community. Site 3 had the lowest Berger-Parker value, suggesting a more evenly distributed community, while Site 2 had the highest value, indicating a slightly higher dominance of a single species. The Margalef index, suggesting species richness, ranged from Site 1 at 1.118, Site 2 at 0.9594, Site 3 at 1.137, to Site 4 at 1.029. Higher Margalef values indicated greater species richness, reflecting a more diverse ecosystem. Site 3 exhibited the highest Margalef value, indicating the highest species richness, while Site 2 had the lowest value, suggesting slightly lower species richness.

Beta diversity indices were calculated for pairwise combinations of the four studied Sites. Jaccard's index values between Site 1 and Site 2, Site 1 and Site 3, Site 1 and Site 4, Site 2 and Site 3, Site 2 and Site 4, and Site 3 and Site 4 were 0.676, 0.634, 0.639, 0.697, 0.703, and 0.658, respectively. Sorensen's index values for the same pairwise combinations were 0.807, 0.776, 0.780, 0.821, 0.825, and 0.793, respectively. The beta diversity indices quantified the dissimilarity in species composition between pairs of ecological Sites. Higher values indicate more significant dissimilarity, suggesting that the species composition in those pairs of Sites was distinct. Jaccard's and Sorensen's indices provided insights into the ecological dissimilarity between different combinations of the studied Sites, aiding in understanding the variation in species composition among these Sites. The gamma diversity value was calculated as 11, which indicated the total species diversity across all the ecological Sites or areas under consideration. It represented the overall number of unique species found when considering all the Sites together as a single entity or ecosystem. A GIS map of vector mosquitoes according to their collection Sites was prepared, as shown in Figure 1.2. Figure 1.3 represents the Site wise abundance graph of collected vector mosquito species during the study time.

SI No.	Mosquito species	Site 1	Site 2	Site 3	Site 4	Total
1	An. stephensi	41	41	41	34	157
2	An. subpictus	89	63	76	96	324
3	An. vagus	59	38	11	41	149
4	Ae. aegypti	587	1066	1445	1026	4124
5	Ae. albopictus	613	895	1164	1150	3822
6	Ae. vittatus	-	-	79	55	134
7	Ar. subalbatus	-	611	498	539	1648
8	Cx.gelidus	558	564	487	591	2200
9	Cx. pipiens	461	745	841	784	2831
10	Cx. quinquefasciatus	697	1034	743	1470	3944
11	Cx. tritaeniorhynchus	1096	1228	1221	1900	5445
	TOTAL			24778		

Table 1.2: Total number of vector mosquito species collected during the study period.







Site 2	Site 3	Site 4
THRISSUR CORPORATION AREA	<b>MUTHUVARA</b> 10.553486°N76.17716°E	IRINJALAKUDA MUNCIPAL AREA
10.519682°N 76.228148 °E		10.349122°N76.214167 °E
1.An. stephensi	1.An. stephensi	1.An. stephensi
2.An. subpictus	2. An. subpictus	2.An. subpictus
3.An. vagus	3.An. vagus	3.An. vagus
4. Ae. aegypti	4. Ae. aegypti	4. Ae. aegypti
5. Ae. albopictus	5. Ae. albopictus	5. Ae. albopictus
6.Cx. gelidus	6. Ae. vittatus	6. Ar. subalbatus
7.Cx. pipiens	7.Ar. subalbatus	7. Cx. gelidus
8.Cx. quinquefasciatus	8.Cx. gelidus	8. Cx. pipiens
9.Cx. tritaeniorhynchus	9.Cx. pipiens	9. Cx. quinquefasciatus
	10.Cx. quinquefasciatus	10. Cx. tritaeniorhynchus
	11.Cx. tritaeniorhynchus	



Figure 1.3 Site wise abundance graphs of collected vector mosquitoes

Alpha Diver	sity Indice	es	Site1	Site2	Site3	Site4				
Species R	lichness		11	9	11	10				
Dominar	nce (D)		0.1594	0.1669	0.1534	0.146				
Simpsor	n (1-D)		0.8406	0.8331	0.8466	0.854				
Shanno	on (H)		1.973	1.902	1.992	2				
Evenness	(e^H/S)		0.6541	0.7445	0.6665	0.7389				
Berger-J	Parker		0.2472	0.262	0.2187	0.1954				
Marg	alef		1.118	0.9594	1.137	1.029				
Beta Diversity	Site1&	Site1&	Site1&	Site2&	Site2 &	Site3&				
Indices	Site2	Site3	Site4	Site3	Site4	Site4				
Jaccard's	0.676	0.634	0.639	0.697	0.703	0.658				
Sorensen	0.807	0.776	0.780	0.821	0.825	0.793				
Gamma Diversity =11										

Table 1.3: Different diversity indices of collected vector mosquito species during the study period

#### **1.3.2 Vector Mosquito Barcoding**

The collected mosquitoes underwent morphological identification before being chosen for molecular identification. Partial sequencing was performed using PCR amplification, employing a forward primer with the DNA sequence 5'-GGTCAA CAAATCATAAAGATATTGG-3' and a reverse primer with the DNA sequence 5'-TAAACTTCAGGGTGACCAAAAAATCA-3'. All the NCBI deposited species were assigned with accession number and their details are listed in Table 1.4.

PCR amplification of COI from *An. stephensi* resulted in a single 530 bp product. This sequence was submitted to the NCBI GenBank with Accession No. MT 899149.1. Figures 1.4a to 1.4f display the image of mosquito species collected, obtained DNA sequence, its conceptual translation product, the phylogenetic tree, electropherogram, and molecular barcode.

In the case of *An. stephensi*, the BLAST analysis of the 530 bp sequence demonstrated significant homology with other *Anopheles* species. Genetic divergence analysis revealed variations between geographically isolated *An. stephensi* species and related species. *An. stephensi* specimens from Thrissur, Kerala (GenBank Accession No. MT 899149.1), showed a 100% sequence similarity to specimens from Odisha and Tamil Nadu (MN329060.1 and LR736010.1) (Table

1.5a). In the phylogenetic tree, *Anopheles* species clustered into related clades, with *An. culicifacies* (KF406660.1, KF406658.1) and *An. varuna* (MT434331.1, MT434330.1) in a different clade closer to *An. stephensi*. The average nucleotide composition throughout the species seemed to be T=40.0%; C=15.3%; A=28.2%; G=16.5% and the nucleotide composition of *An. stephensi* collected from Thrissur district was T(U)= 38.9, C= 15.1, A=29.9, and G= 16.1(Table 1.5b).

For *An. subpictus*, PCR amplification yielded a single 678 bp product. This sequence has been deposited in the NCBI GenBank and received Accession No. MK603828.1. Figures 1.5a to 1.5f present the image of mosquito species collected, obtained DNA sequence, its conceptual translation product, the phylogenetic tree, electropherogram, and molecular barcode. The data in Table 1.6a indicated that *An. subpictus* from Thrissur, Kerala, exhibited a 0.34% genetic divergence from *An. subpictus* (MT508474.1) isolated from Vietnam, a 0.86% divergence from same species (MT258530.1) isolated from Kole wetlands of Thrissur, Kerala, and a considerable 15.67% evolutionary divergence from *An. nigerrimus* (MH330206.1) isolated from Sri Lanka. The phylogenetic tree analysis (NJ method) illustrated the phylogenetic relationship of *An. subpictus* isolated from Thrissur, Kerala with other species. The average nucleotide composition throughout the species seemed to be T=39.4%; C=15.3%; A=28.9%; G=16.4% and the nucleotide composition of *An. subpictus* collected from Thrissur district was T(U)= 38.9, C= 15.4, A=28.8, and G= 16.8 (Table 1.6b).

In the case of *An. vagus*, the gene fragment underwent PCR amplification of 613 bp product, which was subsequently deposited in the NCBI GenBank with Accession No. MW199166.1. Figures 1.6a to 1.6f presents the image of mosquito species collected, obtained DNA sequence, its conceptual translation product, the phylogenetic tree, electropherogram, and molecular barcode. The evolutionary divergence analysis of *An. vagus* conducted using MEGAXI (Table 1.7a) indicated that *An. vagus* isolated from Thrissur exhibited a close relationship with the same mosquito species (MH425409.1, MF179262.1) geographically isolated in Vietnam and China, showing divergences of 1.67% respectively, and 16.98%, from the *species An. culicifacies* (KF406658.1) from Pakistan. The phylogenetic tree, using the Neighbour Joining (NJ) method, illustrated the phylogenetic position of *An. vagus* isolated from Thrissur, Kerala. The average nucleotide composition

throughout the species seemed to be T=39.3%; C=15.5%; A=28.3%; G=16.9% and the nucleotide composition of *An. vagus* collected from Thrissur district was T(U)= 36.7, C= 17.3, A=29.2, and G= 16.8 (Table 1.7b).

Ae. aegypti's gene fragment underwent PCR amplification of 681 bp product, which was then deposited in the NCBI GenBank with Accession No. MK542380.1. Figures 1.7a to 1.7f presents the image of mosquito species collected, obtained DNA sequence, its conceptual translation product, the phylogenetic tree, electropherogram, and molecular barcode. The evolutionary analyses were conducted using MEGA XI, and the data in Table 1.8a revealed that, Ae. aegypti from Kerala exhibited a 9.47% evolutionary divergence from Ae. vexans (KP954638.1) isolated in the USA and an 11.06% evolutionary divergence from Ae. lineatopennis (HQ398909.1) isolated from Vietnam. The phylogenetic tree, constructed through the Neighbour Joining (NJ) method, illustrated the phylogenetic position of Ae. aegypti isolated from Thrissur, Kerala. The average nucleotide composition throughout the species seemed to be T=40.1%; C=16.0%; A=28.0%; G=15.8% and the nucleotide composition of Ae. aegypti collected from Thrissur district was T(U)= 39.4, C= 17.6, A=27.7, and G= 15.3 (Table 1.8b).

A single 677 bp product was obtained for *Ae. albopictus*, which was deposited in the NCBI GenBank with Accession No. MK297326.1. Figures 1.8a to 1.8f denotes the image of mosquito species collected, obtained DNA sequence, its conceptual translation product, the phylogenetic tree, electropherogram, and molecular barcode. The data in Table 1.9a revealed that, *Ae. albopictus* exhibited 0.00% evolutionary divergence with two specimens of *Ae. albopictus* (MF148287.1, MF148270.1) isolated from Malaysia. *Ae. vexans* (KP954638.1), isolated from Malaysia, showed only 9.48% evolutionary divergence from *Ae. albopictus* that was collected from Thrissur, Kerala. The phylogenetic tree, using the Neighbour Joining (NJ) method, illustrated the phylogenetic position of *Ae. albopictus* isolated from Thrissur, Kerala. The average nucleotide composition throughout the species seemed to be T=39.3%; C=16.0%; A=28.3%; G=16.4% and the nucleotide composition of *Ae. albopictus* collected from Thrissur district was T(U)= 38.6, C= 17.3, A=28.1, and G= 16.0 (Table 1.9b).

The gene fragments of Ae. vittatus produced a single 527 bp product, which was deposited in the NCBI GenBank with Accession No. MT858330.1. Figures 1.9a to 1.9f presents the image of mosquito species collected, obtained DNA sequence, its conceptual translation product, the phylogenetic tree, electropherogram, and molecular barcode. The BLAST search revealed that the partial COI nucleotide sequence of Ae. vittatus isolated from Thrissur, Kerala, was 99.81% similar to Ae. vittatus that was isolated from Sri Lanka (MH330198.1, MH330197.1). Ae. vittatus isolated from Thrissur, Kerala, exhibited a 7.62% evolutionary divergence from Ae. lineatopennis which was isolated from Japan (AB738145.1) and a 17.41% evolutionary divergence from Ma. uniformis isolated from Japan and Mozambique (LC473705.1, LC517293.1) (Table 1.10a). The phylogenetic tree, Neighbour Joining (NJ) method, illustrated the phylogenetic position of Ae. vittatus isolated from Thrissur, Kerala. The average nucleotide composition throughout the species seemed to be T=40.6%; C=15.6%; A=28.5%; G=15.4% and the nucleotide composition of Ae. vittatus collected from Thrissur district was T(U)= 39.9, C= 16.0, A=29.6, and G= 14.5 (Table 1.10b).

For *Ar. subalbatus*, the PCR amplified sequence of the CO1 gene fragment yielded a single 666 bp product, which was subsequently deposited in the NCBI GenBank with Accession No. MK297327.1. Figures 1.10a to 1.10f presented the image of mosquito species collected, obtained DNA sequence, its conceptual translation product, the phylogenetic tree, electropherogram, and molecular barcode. The data in Table 1.11a revealed that *Ar. subalbatus* exhibited an absolute 0.00% evolutionary divergence with *Ar. subalbatus* (KJ410334.1 & MW542319.1) isolated from the Cochin and Wayanad districts of Kerala. The average nucleotide composition throughout the species seemed to be T=39.8%; C=15.7%; A=28.4%; G=16.1% and the nucleotide composition of *Ar. subalbatus* collected from Thrissur district was T(U)= 40.0, C= 17.0, A=28.0, and G= 15.0 (Table 1.11b).

*Cx. gelidus*'s CO1 gene fragment underwent PCR amplification of 677 bp product. The sequence deposited in the NCBI GenBank under Accession No. MK630238.1. Figures 1.11a to 1.11f present the image of mosquito species collected, obtained DNA sequence, its conceptual translation product, phylogenetic tree, electropherogram, and molecular barcode. Data from Table 1.12a indicated that *Cx. gelidus* exhibited only 0.29% evolutionary divergence with *Cx. gelidus*  (HQ398895.1) that was collected from Vietnam. *Cx. declarator* (KM593055.1, KM593051.1) isolated from Colombia showed a 3.90% evolutionary divergence with *Cx. gelidus* isolated from Kerala. The phylogenetic tree (NJ) showed that *Cx. gelidus* species (MK630238.1) isolated from Thrissur, Kerala, were the closest relatives of *Cx. gelidus* (HQ398895.1) from Vietnam, both belonging to the same clade. The average nucleotide composition throughout the species seemed to be T=40.3%; C=15.5%; A=28.2%; G=16.0% and the nucleotide composition of *Cx. gelidus* collected from Thrissur district was T(U)= 40.1, C= 16.2, A=28.8, and G= 14.9 (Table 1.12b).

The CO1 gene fragment of *Cx. tritaeniorhynchus* underwent PCR amplification of a 678 bp product. The obtained sequence was deposited in the NCBI GenBank with Accession No. MH745093.1. Figures 1.12a-1.12f presented the image of mosquito species collected, obtained DNA sequence, its conceptual translation product, phylogenetic tree, electropherogram, and molecular barcode of the species. *Cx. tritaeniorhynchus* isolated from Sri Lanka (MH330220.1) showed 0.36% divergence. A 6.64% divergence with *Cx. declarator* (KM593055.1, KM593051.1) isolated from Colombia was observed (Table 1.13a). The phylogenetic tree (NJ) revealed the phylogenetic status of *Cx. tritaeniorhynchus* isolated from Kerala with other species. The average nucleotide composition throughout the species seemed to be T=40.0%; C=15.6%; A=28.4%; G=16.1% and the nucleotide composition of *Cx. tritaeniorhynchus* collected from Thrissur district was T(U)= 38.8, C= 16.2, A=29.7, and G= 15.3 (Table 1.13b).

The CO1 gene fragment of 680 bp product of *Cx. pipiens* was subjected to PCR amplification. The sequence was deposited in the NCBI GenBank with Accession No. MK347224.1. Figures 1.13a-1.13f presents the image of mosquito species collected, obtained DNA sequence, along with its conceptual translation product, phylogenetic tree, electropherogram, and molecular barcode. Evolutionary analyses were performed in MEGA XI. The data in Table 1.14a revealed that *Cx. pipiens* exhibited 0.00% evolutionary divergence with *Cx. pipiens* (MK300247.1 & LC102133.1) isolated from Kenya and Portugal. *Cx. declarator* (KM593055.1 & KM593051.1) isolated from Kerala. The phylogenetic tree (NJ) illustrated the phylogenetic position of *Cx. pipiens* isolated from Thrissur, Kerala, demonstrating

that *Cx. pipiens* (MK347224.1) was the closey related to *Cx. pipiens* (MK300247.1 & LC102133.1) isolated from Kenya and Portugal. The average nucleotide composition throughout the species seemed to be T=40.2%; C=15.4%; A=28.2%; G=16.2% and the nucleotide composition of *Cx. pipiens* collected from Thrissur district was T(U)= 39.6, C= 15.6, A=29.0, and G= 15.8 (Table14.b).

The CO1 gene fragment of Cx. quinquefasciatus yielded a single product of 544 bp. The sequence was deposited in the NCBI GenBank with Accession No. MW143512.1. Figures 1.14a-1.14f presented the image of mosquito species collected, the obtained DNA sequence, its conceptual translation product, phylogenetic tree, electropherogram, and molecular barcode. From the data given in Table 1.15a, it was clear that Cx. quinquefasciatus exhibited 0.00% evolutionary divergence with Cx. quinquefasciatus (MT895717.1 & MW509611.1) isolated from Thrissur Kole lands, Kerala, and the USA, as well as 5.94% with Cx. declarator (KM593055.1) from Colombia. An. subpictus (KJ461792.1) isolated from Sri Lanka showed a 15.80% evolutionary divergence with Cx. quinquefasciatus isolated from Kerala. The phylogenetic tree constructed showed the phylogenetic position of Cx. quinquefasciatus isolated from Kerala, with phylogenetically close species. The average nucleotide composition throughout the species seemed to be T=39.9%; C=15.2%; A=28.0%; G=16.9% and the nucleotide composition of Cx. quinquefasciatus collected from Thrissur district was T(U)= 39.4, C= 15.5, A=28.8, and G= 16.3 (Table 1.15b).

Mosquito Species	Voucher Number	Sequence Length (Base pair)	Accession Number
An. stephensi	ST18	530 bp	MT899149.1
An. subpictus	ST05	678 bp	MK603828.1
An. vagus	ST08	613 bp	MW199166.1
Ae. aegypti	ST01	681 bp	MK542380.1
Ae. albopictus	ST02	677 bp	MK297326.1
Ae. vittatus	ST14	527 bp	MT858330.1
Ar. subalbatus	ST04	666 bp	MK297327.1
Cx. gelidus	ST06	677 bp	MK630238.1
Cx. tritaeniorhynchus	ST07	672 bp	MH745093.1
Cx. pipiens	ST09	680 bp	MK347224.1
Cx. quinquefasciatus	ST17	544 bp	MW143512.1

Table 1.4: Accession number of collected vector mosquito species provided by NCBI GenBank

# 1.3.2.1 Species Name: Anopheles stephensi

GenBank Accession Number: MT 899149.1

Voucher Number: ST18

# Systematic position

Kingdom	:	Animalia
Phylum	:	Arthropoda
Class	:	Insecta
Order	:	Diptera
Suborder	:	Nematocera
Family	:	Culicidae
Subfamily	:	Anophelini
Genus	:	Anopheles
Subgenus	:	Myzomyia
Species	:	Anopheles stephensi (Figure 1.4a)

> MT 899149.1 Anopheles stephensi|530bp

Figure 1.4b The DNA sequence of An. stephensi COI gene

> MT 899149.1 Anopheles stephensi

MVGTSLSILIRAELGHPGAFIGDDQIYNVIVTAHAFIMIFFMVMPIMIGGFGNWLVPLMLGAPDMAFP RMNNMSFWMLPPSLTLLISSSMVENGAGTGWTVYPPLSSGIAHAGASVDLAIFSLHLAGISSILGAVN FITTVINMRSPGITLDRMPLFVWSVVITAILLLLSLPVLAGAITMLLT

Figure 1.4c The protein sequence of An. stephensi COI gene



Figure 1.4d Phylogenetic tree of An. stephensi



Figure 1.4e Electropherogram showing the nucleotide sequence of mitochondrial COI gene of *An. stephensi* 



Figure 1.4f Molecular barcode of An. stephensi

Table 1.5a: Percentage of evolutionary divergence of *An. stephensi* with its closely related species accessible from NCBI GenBank

Accession Number	Organism	Percentage of Divergence
MT899149.1	Anopheles stephensi	0.00%
MN329060.1	Anopheles stephensi	0.00%
LR736010.1	Anopheles stephensi	0.00%
KF406660.1	Anopheles culicifacies	9.07%
KF406658.1	Anopheles culicifacies	9.07%
MT434331.1	Anopheles varuna	9.03%
MT434330.1	Anopheles varuna	9.05%
MT519730.1	Aedes vittatus	16.78%
MT519729.1	Aedes vittatus	16.78%
MH745093.1	Culex tritaeniorhynchus	16.72%
MH330220.1	Culex tritaeniorhynchus	16.76%
KC849092.1	Nephila sumptuosa	29.31%
KY694466.1	Afidenta misera	35.49%
EF033298.1	Lampsilis hydiana	67.90%

Table 1.5b: The nucleotide frequency comparison of An. stephensi COI gene sequence with its kin species

ACCESSION NO. AND NAME OF								NUC	CLEOT	TIDE FR	EQUE	INCIE	S (%)							
THE SPECIES	T(U)	С	А	G	TOTAL	T-1	C-1	A-1	G-1	POS #1	T-2	C-2	A-2	G-2	POS #2	T-3	C-3	A-3	G-3	POS #3
MT899149.1 Anopheles stephensi	38.9	15.1	29.9	16.1	509.0	28.2	12.9	29.4	29.4	170.0	45.3	27.6	11.8	15.3	170.0	43.2	4.7	48.5	3.6	169.0
MN329060.1 Anopheles stephensi	38.9	15.1	29.9	16.1	509.0	28.2	12.9	29.4	29.4	170.0	45.3	27.6	11.8	15.3	170.0	43.2	4.7	48.5	3.6	169.0
LR736010.1 Anopheles stephensi	38.9	15.1	29.9	16.1	509.0	28.2	12.9	29.4	29.4	170.0	45.3	27.6	11.8	15.3	170.0	43.2	4.7	48.5	3.6	169.0
KF406660.1 Anopheles culicifacies	40.1	15.3	28.9	15.7	509.0	25.9	15.3	29.4	29.4	170.0	45.3	27.6	11.8	15.3	170.0	49.1	3.0	45.6	2.4	169.0
KF406658.1 Anopheles culicifacies	40.1	15.3	28.9	15.7	509.0	25.9	15.3	29.4	29.4	170.0	45.3	27.6	11.8	15.3	170.0	49.1	3.0	45.6	2.4	169.0
MT434331.1 Anopheles varuna	38.7	16.3	29.1	15.9	509.0	25.3	15.9	29.4	29.4	170.0	45.3	27.6	11.8	15.3	170.0	45.6	5.3	46.2	3.0	169.0
MT434330.1 Anopheles varuna	39.1	15.9	29.1	15.9	509.0	25.3	15.9	29.4	29.4	170.0	45.3	27.6	11.8	15.3	170.0	46.7	4.1	46.2	3.0	169.0
MT519730.1 Aedes vittatus	40.5	15.7	28.5	15.3	509.0	26.5	15.9	29.4	28.2	170.0	45.3	28.2	11.8	14.7	170.0	49.7	3.0	44.4	3.0	169.0
MT519729.1 Aedes vittatus	40.5	15.7	28.5	15.3	509.0	26.5	15.9	29.4	28.2	170.0	45.3	28.2	11.8	14.7	170.0	49.7	3.0	44.4	3.0	169.0
MH745093.1 Culex tritaeniorhynchus	39.7	15.5	29.3	15.5	509.0	24.7	17.6	28.8	28.8	170.0	45.3	27.6	11.8	15.3	170.0	49.1	1.2	47.3	2.4	169.0
MH330220.1 Culex tritaeniorhynchus	39.5	15.7	29.5	15.3	509.0	24.1	18.2	28.8	28.8	170.0	45.3	27.6	11.8	15.3	170.0	49.1	1.2	47.9	1.8	169.0
KY694466.1 Afidenta misera	38.1	18.7	27.7	15.5	509.0	24.7	16.5	33.5	25.3	170.0	45.3	26.5	12.4	15.9	170.0	44.4	13.0	37.3	5.3	169.0
EF033298.1 Lampsilis hydiana	45.2	12.0	17.9	25.0	509.0	34.7	11.8	24.7	28.8	170.0	45.9	20.0	13.5	20.6	170.0	55.0	4.1	15.4	25.4	169.0
KC849092.1 Nephila sumptuosa	41.9	12.2	28.0	17.9	508.0	34.1	11.2	25.3	29.4	170.0	47.6	24.7	12.9	14.7	170.0	44.0	0.6	45.8	9.5	168.0
Avg.	40.0	15.3	28.2	16.5	508.9	27.3	14.9	29.0	28.8	170.0	45.5	26.9	12.0	15.6	170.0	47.2	4.0	43.7	5.1	168.9

# 1.3.2.2 Species Name: Anopheles subpictus

GenBank Accession Number: MK603828.1.

Voucher Number: ST05

# Systematic position

Kingdom	:	Animalia
Phylum	:	Arthropoda
Class	:	Insecta
Order	:	Diptera
Suborder	:	Nematocera
Family	:	Culicidae
Subfamily	:	Anophelini
Genus	:	Anopheles
Subgenus	:	Myzomyia
Species	:	Anopheles subpictus (Figure 1.5a)

> MK603828.1 Anopheles subpictus| 678bp

Figure 1.5b The DNA sequence of An. subpictus COI gene

> MK603828.1 Anopheles subpictus

 $\label{eq:mlgapdmafprmnnmsfwmlppsltllisssmvengagtgwtvypplssgiahagasvdlaifslhlagassilgavnfittvinmrspgitldrmplfvwsvvitaillllslpvlagaitmlltdrnlntsffdpagggdpilyqhlfwfl$ 

Figure 1.5c The protein sequence of An. subpictus COI gene









Figure 1.5f Molecular barcode of An. subpictus

Table 1.6a: Percentage of evolutionary divergence of *An. subpictus* with its closely related species accessible from NCBI GenBank

Accession Number	Organism	Percentage of Divergence																		
MK603828.1	Anopheles subpictus	0.00%																		
MT258530.1	Anopheles subpictus	0.86%																		
MT508474.1	Anopheles subpictus	0.34%																		
MT669946.1	Anopheles maculatus	10.80%																		
MK579211.1	Anopheles maculatus	11.26%																		
AB778799.1	Anopheles nigerrimus	15.35%																		
MH330206.1	Anopheles nigerrimus	15.67%																		
MT519730.1	Aedes vittatus	19.63%																		
MT519729.1	Aedes vittatus	19.63%																		
MH745093.1	Culex tritaeniorhynchus	19.66%																		
MH330220.1	Culex tritaeniorhynchus	19.72%																		
KC849092.1	Nephila sumptuosa	39.58%																		
KY694466.1	Afidenta misera	35.91%																		
EF033298.1	Lampsilis hydiana	78.71%																		
ACCESSION NO. AND NAME OF		NUCLEOTIDE FREQUENCIES (%)																		
------------------------------------	------	----------------------------	------	------	-------	------	------	------	------	--------	------	------	------	------	--------	------	------	------	------	--------
THE SPECIES	T(U)	С	А	G	TOTAL	T-1	C-1	A-1	G-1	POS #1	T-2	C-2	A-2	G-2	POS #2	T-3	C-3	A-3	G-3	POS #3
MK603828.1 Anopheles subpictus	38.9	15.4	28.8	16.8	583.0	44.1	27.7	12.8	15.4	195.0	45.9	4.1	43.8	6.2	194.0	26.8	14.4	29.9	28.9	194.0
MT258530.1 Anopheles subpictus	38.8	15.6	29.2	16.5	583.0	44.1	27.7	12.8	15.4	195.0	45.4	4.6	44.8	5.2	194.0	26.8	14.4	29.9	28.9	194.0
MT508474.1 Anopheles subpictus	38.9	15.4	28.8	16.8	583.0	44.1	27.7	12.8	15.4	195.0	45.9	4.1	43.8	6.2	194.0	26.8	14.4	29.9	28.9	194.0
MH330206.1 Anopheles nigerrimus	37.2	15.3	31.7	15.8	583.0	44.1	27.7	12.8	15.4	195.0	40.2	4.1	53.1	2.6	194.0	27.3	13.9	29.4	29.4	194.0
AB778799.1 Anopheles nigerrimus	37.7	14.8	32.2	15.3	583.0	44.1	27.7	12.8	15.4	195.0	42.3	2.1	54.6	1.0	194.0	26.8	14.4	29.4	29.4	194.0
MK579211.1 Anopheles maculatus	39.1	15.3	30.0	15.6	583.0	44.1	27.7	12.8	15.4	195.0	45.9	4.1	47.4	2.6	194.0	27.3	13.9	29.9	28.9	194.0
MT669946.1 Anopheles maculatus	39.1	15.4	29.8	15.6	583.0	44.1	27.7	12.8	15.4	195.0	46.4	4.1	46.9	2.6	194.0	26.8	14.4	29.9	28.9	194.0
MT519730.1 Aedes vittatus	39.8	16.0	29.2	15.1	583.0	44.1	28.2	12.8	14.9	195.0	48.5	4.1	44.8	2.6	194.0	26.8	15.5	29.9	27.8	194.0
MT519729.1 Aedes vittatus	39.8	16.0	29.2	15.1	583.0	44.1	28.2	12.8	14.9	195.0	48.5	4.1	44.8	2.6	194.0	26.8	15.5	29.9	27.8	194.0
MH745093.1 Culex tritaeniorhynchus	39.3	15.8	29.7	15.3	583.0	44.1	27.7	12.8	15.4	195.0	49.0	2.1	46.9	2.1	194.0	24.7	17.5	29.4	28.4	194.0
MH330220.1 Culex tritaeniorhynchus	39.1	16.0	29.8	15.1	583.0	44.1	27.7	12.8	15.4	195.0	49.0	2.1	47.4	1.5	194.0	24.2	18.0	29.4	28.4	194.0
KY694466.1 Afidenta misera	37.9	18.7	28.3	15.1	583.0	44.6	26.2	13.3	15.9	195.0	44.3	13.4	37.6	4.6	194.0	24.7	16.5	34.0	24.7	194.0
EF033298.1 Lampsilis hydiana	44.8	12.2	18.5	24.5	583.0	45.6	20.0	14.4	20.0	195.0	54.1	4.6	16.0	25.3	194.0	34.5	11.9	25.3	28.4	194.0
KC849092.1 Nephila sumptuosa	41.4	12.4	28.7	17.5	582.0	46.2	25.1	13.8	14.9	195.0	45.1	0.5	45.6	8.8	193.0	33.0	11.3	26.8	28.9	194.0
Avg.	39.4	15.3	28.9	16.4	582.9	44.4	26.9	13.0	15.6	195.0	46.4	4.2	44.1	5.3	193.9	27.4	14.7	29.5	28.4	194.0

# Table 1.6b: The nucleotide frequency comparison of *An. subpictus* COI gene sequence with its kin species

## 1.3.2.3 Species Name: Anopheles vagus

GenBank Accession Number: MW199166.1

Voucher Number: ST08

#### Systematic position

Kingdom	:	Animalia
Phylum	:	Arthropoda
Class	:	Insecta
Order	:	Diptera
Suborder	:	Nematocera
Family	:	Culicidae
Subfamily	:	Anophelini
Genus	:	Anopheles
Subgenus	:	Myzomyia
Species	:	Anopheles vagus (Figure 1.6a)

> MW199166.1 Anopheles vagus |613bp

Figure 1.6b The DNA sequence of An. vagus COI gene

> MW199166.1 Anopheles vagus

 $MVGTSLSILIRAELGHPGAFIGDDQIYNVIVTAHAFIMIFFMVMPIMIGGFGNWLVPLMLGAPDMAFPRMNN\\MSFWMLPPSLTLLISSSMVENGAGTGWTVYPPLSSGIAHAGASVDLAIFSLHLAGISSILGAVNFITTVINMRS\\PGITLDRMPLFVWSVVITAVLLLLSLPVLAGAITMLLTDRNLNTSFFDPAGGGDPIL$ 

Figure 1.6c The protein sequence of An. vagus COI gene



Figure 1.6d Phylogenetic tree of An. vagus

Figure 1.6e Electropherogram showing the nucleotide sequence of mitochondrial COI gene of *An. vagus* 



Figure 1.6f Molecular barcode of An. vagus

Table 1.7a: Percentage of evolutionary divergence of *An. vagus* with its closely related species accessible from NCBI GenBank

Accession	Organism	Percentage of
Number	Organishi	Divergence
MW199166.1	Anopheles vagus	0.00%
MH425409.1	Anopheles vagus	1.67%
MF179262.1	Anopheles vagus	1.67%
MT434331.1	Anopheles varuna	14.71%
MT434330.1	Anopheles varuna	15.19%
KF406660.1	Anopheles culicifacies	17.23%
KF406658.1	Anopheles culicifacies	16.98%
MH745093.1	Culex tritaeniorhynchus	18.42%
MH330220.1	Culex tritaeniorhynchus	18.42%
MT519730.1	Aedes vittatus	18.56%
MT519729.1	Aedes vittatus	18.56%
KY694466.1	Afidenta misera	31.66%
KC849092.1	Nephila sumptuosa	38.15%
EF033298.1	Lampsilis hydiana	89.79%

ACCESSION NO. AND NAME OF	NUCLEOTIDE FREQUENCIES (%)																			
THE SPECIES	T(U)	С	А	G	TOTAL	T-1	C-1	A-1	G-1	POS #1	T-2	C-2	A-2	G-2	POS #2	T-3	C-3	A-3	G-3	POS #3
MW199166.1 Anopheles vagus	36.7	17.3	29.2	16.8	548.0	22.4	18.0	29.5	30.1	183.0	45.4	27.3	11.5	15.8	183.0	42.3	6.6	46.7	4.4	182.0
MH425409.1 Anopheles vagus	36.9	17.3	29.0	16.8	548.0	22.4	18.0	29.5	30.1	183.0	45.4	27.3	11.5	15.8	183.0	42.9	6.6	46.2	4.4	182.0
MF179262.1 Anopheles vagus	36.5	17.7	29.0	16.8	548.0	22.4	18.0	29.5	30.1	183.0	45.4	27.3	11.5	15.8	183.0	41.8	7.7	46.2	4.4	182.0
KF406660.1 Anopheles culicifacies	39.6	15.1	29.2	16.1	548.0	25.1	15.3	30.1	29.5	183.0	45.4	27.3	11.5	15.8	183.0	48.4	2.7	46.2	2.7	182.0
KF406658.1 Anopheles culicifacies	39.6	15.1	29.2	16.1	548.0	25.1	15.3	30.1	29.5	183.0	45.4	27.3	11.5	15.8	183.0	48.4	2.7	46.2	2.7	182.0
MT434331.1 Anopheles varuna	38.3	16.1	29.4	16.2	548.0	24.6	15.8	30.1	29.5	183.0	45.4	27.3	11.5	15.8	183.0	45.1	4.9	46.7	3.3	182.0
MT434330.1 Anopheles varuna	38.7	15.7	29.4	16.2	548.0	24.6	15.8	30.1	29.5	183.0	45.4	27.3	11.5	15.8	183.0	46.2	3.8	46.7	3.3	182.0
MT519730.1 Aedes vittatus	40.3	15.3	28.8	15.5	548.0	26.2	15.3	30.1	28.4	183.0	45.4	27.9	11.5	15.3	183.0	49.5	2.7	45.1	2.7	182.0
MT519729.1 Aedes vittatus	40.3	15.3	28.8	15.5	548.0	26.2	15.3	30.1	28.4	183.0	45.4	27.9	11.5	15.3	183.0	49.5	2.7	45.1	2.7	182.0
MH745093.1 Culex tritaeniorhynchus	39.6	15.1	29.6	15.7	548.0	24.6	16.9	29.5	29.0	183.0	45.4	27.3	11.5	15.8	183.0	48.9	1.1	47.8	2.2	182.0
MH330220.1 Culex tritaeniorhynchus	39.4	15.3	29.7	15.5	548.0	24.0	17.5	29.5	29.0	183.0	45.4	27.3	11.5	15.8	183.0	48.9	1.1	48.4	1.6	182.0
KY694466.1 Afidenta misera	37.8	18.4	28.3	15.5	548.0	24.6	16.4	33.9	25.1	183.0	45.9	25.7	12.0	16.4	183.0	42.9	13.2	39.0	4.9	182.0
EF033298.1 Lampsilis hydiana	45.1	11.5	17.9	25.5	548.0	35.0	11.5	24.6	29.0	183.0	47.0	19.1	13.1	20.8	183.0	53.3	3.8	15.9	26.9	182.0
KC849092.1 Nephila sumptuosa	41.0	12.1	28.9	18.1	547.0	32.8	10.9	26.8	29.5	183.0	47.5	24.6	12.6	15.3	183.0	42.5	0.6	47.5	9.4	181.0
Avg.	39.3	15.5	28.3	16.9	547.9	25.7	15.7	29.5	29.0	183.0	45.7	26.5	11.7	16.1	183.0	46.4	4.3	43.8	5.4	181.9

# Table 1.7b: The nucleotide frequency comparison of An. vagus COI gene sequence with its kin species

## 1.3.2.4 Species Name: Aedes aegypti

GenBank Accession Number: MK542380.1

Voucher Number: ST01

#### Systematic position

Kingdom	:	Animalia
Phylum	:	Arthropoda
Class	:	Insecta
Order	:	Diptera
Suborder	:	Nematocera
Family	:	Culicidae
Subfamily	:	Culicini
Genus	:	Aedes
Subgenus	:	Stegomyia
Species	:	Aedes aegypti (Figure 1.7a)

#### > MK542380 Aedes aegypti 681bp

Figure 1.7b The DNA sequence of Ae. aegypti COI gene

#### > MK542380 Aedes aegypti

MGTLYFIFGVWSGMVGTSLSILIRAELSHPGMFIGNDQIYNVIVTAHAFIMIFFMVMPIMIGGFGNWLV PLMLGAPDMAFPRMNNMSFWMLPPSLTLLLSSSMVENGAGTGWTVYPPLSSGTAHAGASVDLAIFSL HLAGISSILGAVNFITTVINMRSSGITLDRLPLFVWSVVITAILLLLSLPVLAGAITMLLTDRNLNTSFFDP IGGGDPILYQHLFWFLV

Figure 1.7c The protein sequence of Ae. aegypti COI gene



Figure 1.7d Phylogenetic tree of Ae. aegypti

Figure 1.7e Electropherogram showing the nucleotide sequence of mitochondrial COI gene of *Ae. aegypti* 



Figure 1.7f Molecular barcode of Ae. aegypti

Table 1.8a: Percentage of evolutionary divergence of *Ae. aegypti* with its closely related species accessible from NCBI GenBank

Accession Number	Organism	Percentage of Divergence
MK542380.1	Aedes aegypti	0.00%
MN299016.1	Aedes aegypti	0.00%
MF043259.1	Aedes aegypti	0.00%
KP954638.1	Aedes vexans	9.74%
MK402823.1	Aedes vexans	10.39%
AB738145.1	Aedes lineatopennis	10.83%
HQ398909.1	Aedes lineatopennis	11.06%
MH745093.1	Culex tritaeniorhynchus	13.85%
MH330220.1	Culex tritaeniorhynchus	13.84%
LC473705.1	Mansonia uniformis	15.51%
LC517293.1	Mansonia uniformis	15.51%
KY694466.1	Afidenta misera	28.68%
KC849092.1	Nephila sumptuosa	31.07%
EF033298.1	Lampsilis hydiana	58.19%

ACCESSION NO. AND NAME OF	NUCLEOTIDE FREQUENCIES (%)																			
THE SPECIES	T(U)	С	А	G	TOTAL	T-1	C-1	A-1	G-1	POS #1	T-2	C-2	A-2	G-2	POS #2	T-3	C-3	A-3	G-3	POS #3
MK542380.1 Aedes aegypti	39.4	17.6	27.7	15.3	556.0	43.5	28.5	13.4	14.5	186.0	48.6	7.0	40.5	3.8	185.0	25.9	17.3	29.2	27.6	185.0
MN299016.1 Aedes aegypti	39.4	17.6	27.7	15.3	556.0	43.5	28.5	13.4	14.5	186.0	48.6	7.0	40.5	3.8	185.0	25.9	17.3	29.2	27.6	185.0
MF043259.1 Aedes aegypti	39.4	17.6	27.7	15.3	556.0	43.5	28.5	13.4	14.5	186.0	48.6	7.0	40.5	3.8	185.0	25.9	17.3	29.2	27.6	185.0
KP954638.1 Aedes vexans	40.6	16.0	28.8	14.6	556.0	43.5	28.5	13.4	14.5	186.0	50.8	3.8	43.8	1.6	185.0	27.6	15.7	29.2	27.6	185.0
MK402823.1 Aedes vexans	39.9	16.0	29.3	14.7	556.0	43.5	28.5	13.4	14.5	186.0	48.6	3.8	45.4	2.2	185.0	27.6	15.7	29.2	27.6	185.0
AB738145.1 Aedes lineatopennis	40.3	16.2	28.8	14.7	556.0	43.5	28.0	13.4	15.1	186.0	51.4	3.8	43.8	1.1	185.0	25.9	16.8	29.2	28.1	185.0
HQ398909.1 Aedes lineatopennis	39.9	16.7	28.6	14.7	556.0	43.5	28.0	13.4	15.1	186.0	50.3	5.4	43.2	1.1	185.0	25.9	16.8	29.2	28.1	185.0
LC473705.1 Mansonia uniformis	40.1	14.9	30.0	14.9	556.0	44.1	27.4	14.0	14.5	186.0	49.2	2.7	45.9	2.2	185.0	27.0	14.6	30.3	28.1	185.0
LC517293.1 Mansonia uniformis	40.1	14.9	30.0	14.9	556.0	44.1	27.4	14.0	14.5	186.0	49.2	2.7	45.9	2.2	185.0	27.0	14.6	30.3	28.1	185.0
MH745093.1 Culex tritaeniorhynchus	38.8	16.2	29.7	15.3	556.0	43.5	28.0	13.4	15.1	186.0	48.6	2.2	47.0	2.2	185.0	24.3	18.4	28.6	28.6	185.0
MH330220.1 Culex tritaeniorhynchus	38.7	16.4	29.9	15.1	556.0	43.5	28.0	13.4	15.1	186.0	48.6	2.2	47.6	1.6	185.0	23.8	18.9	28.6	28.6	185.0
KY694466.1 Afidenta misera	38.1	18.7	28.1	15.1	556.0	44.1	26.3	14.0	15.6	186.0	45.4	13.0	36.8	4.9	185.0	24.9	16.8	33.5	24.9	185.0
EF033298.1 Lampsilis hydiana	44.8	12.6	18.5	24.1	556.0	44.6	20.4	15.1	19.9	186.0	55.7	4.9	15.1	24.3	185.0	34.1	12.4	25.4	28.1	185.0
KC849092.1 Nephila sumptuosa	42.0	12.6	27.9	17.5	555.0	45.7	25.3	14.5	14.5	186.0	46.7	0.5	43.5	9.2	184.0	33.5	11.9	25.9	28.6	185.0
Avg.	40.1	16.0	28.0	15.8	555.9	43.9	27.2	13.7	15.1	186.0	49.3	4.7	41.4	4.6	184.9	27.1	16.0	29.1	27.8	185.0

# Table 1.8b: The nucleotide frequency comparison of Ae. aegypti COI gene sequence with its kin species

## 1.3.2.5 Species Name: Aedes albopictus

GenBank Accession Number: MK297326.1

Voucher Number: ST02

#### Systematic position

Kingdom	:	Animalia
Phylum	:	Arthropoda
Class	:	Insecta
Order	:	Diptera
Suborder	:	Nematocera
Family	:	Culicidae
Subfamily	:	Culicini
Genus	:	Aedes
Subgenus	:	Stegomyia
Species	:	Aedes albopictus (Figure 1.8a)

#### > MK297326.1 Aedes albopictus |677bp

Figure 1.8b The DNA sequence of Ae. albopictus COI gene

> MK297326.1 Aedes albopictus

MGTLYFIFGIWSGMVGTSLSVLIRIELSHPGMFIGNDQIYNVIVTAHAFIMIFFMVMPIMIGGFGNWLVPL MLGAPDMAFPRMNNMSFWMLPPSLTLLLSSSMVENGAGTGWTVYPPLSSGTAHAGASVDLAIFSLHL AGISSILGAVNFITTVINMRSAGITLDRLPLFVWSVVITAILLLLSLPVLAGAITMLLTDRNLNTSFFDPIG GGDPILYQHLFWFL

Figure 1.8c The protein sequence of Ae. albopictus COI gene



# Figure 1.8d Phylogenetic tree of Ae. albopictus





Figure 1.8f Molecular barcode of Ae. albopictus

Table 1.9a: Percentage of evolutionary divergence of *Ae. albopictus* with its closely related species accessible from NCBI GenBank

Accession Number	Organism	Percentage of Divergence
MK297326.1	Aedes albopictus	0.00%
MF148287.1	Aedes albopictus	0.23%
MF148270.1	Aedes albopictus	0.23%
KP954638.1	Aedes vexans	9.48%
MK402823.1	Aedes vexans	9.76%
AB738145.1	Aedes lineatopennis	9.78%
HQ398909.1	Aedes lineatopennis	10.24%
MH330220.1	Culex tritaeniorhynchus	10.79%
MH745093.1	Culex tritaeniorhynchus	11.08%
MH425409.1	Anopheles vagus	13.61%
MF179262.1	Anopheles vagus	13.30%
KY694466.1	Afidenta misera	19.65%
KC849092.1	Nephila sumptuosa	21.47%
EF033298.1	Lampsilis hydiana	33.82%

ACCESSION NO. AND NAME OF								N	UCLEO'	FIDE FRE	QUENC	CIES (%	)							
THE SPECIES	T(U)	С	А	G	TOTAL	T-1	C-1	A-1	G-1	POS #1	T-2	C-2	A-2	G-2	POS #2	T-3	C-3	A-3	G-3	POS #3
MK297326.1 Aedes albopictus	38.6	17.3	28.1	16.0	588.0	47.4	6.6	41.3	4.6	196.0	24.0	17.9	30.1	28.1	196.0	44.4	27.6	12.8	15.3	196.0
MF148287.1 Aedes albopictus	38.6	17.3	28.4	15.6	588.0	47.4	6.6	42.3	3.6	196.0	24.0	17.9	30.1	28.1	196.0	44.4	27.6	12.8	15.3	196.0
MF148270.1 Aedes albopictus	38.6	17.3	28.4	15.6	588.0	47.4	6.6	42.3	3.6	196.0	24.0	17.9	30.1	28.1	196.0	44.4	27.6	12.8	15.3	196.0
KP954638.1 Aedes vexans	40.1	15.5	29.4	15.0	588.0	49.0	3.6	45.4	2.0	196.0	27.6	14.8	30.1	27.6	196.0	43.9	28.1	12.8	15.3	196.0
MK402823.1 Aedes vexans	39.5	15.5	30.1	15.0	588.0	46.9	3.6	47.4	2.0	196.0	27.6	14.8	30.1	27.6	196.0	43.9	28.1	12.8	15.3	196.0
AB738145.1 Aedes lineatopennis	40.0	15.6	29.3	15.1	588.0	50.0	3.6	44.9	1.5	196.0	26.0	15.8	30.1	28.1	196.0	43.9	27.6	12.8	15.8	196.0
HQ398909.1 Aedes lineatopennis	39.6	16.2	29.3	15.0	588.0	49.0	5.1	44.9	1.0	196.0	26.0	15.8	30.1	28.1	196.0	43.9	27.6	12.8	15.8	196.0
MH425409.1 Anopheles vagus	36.7	17.3	29.3	16.7	588.0	43.4	6.6	45.4	4.6	196.0	23.0	17.9	29.6	29.6	196.0	43.9	27.6	12.8	15.8	196.0
MF179262.1 Anopheles vagus	36.4	17.7	29.3	16.7	588.0	42.3	7.7	45.4	4.6	196.0	23.0	17.9	29.6	29.6	196.0	43.9	27.6	12.8	15.8	196.0
MH745093.1 Culex tritaeniorhynchus	39.1	15.6	29.8	15.5	588.0	49.0	2.0	46.9	2.0	196.0	24.5	17.3	29.6	28.6	196.0	43.9	27.6	12.8	15.8	196.0
MH330220.1 Culex tritaeniorhynchus	38.9	15.8	29.9	15.3	588.0	49.0	2.0	47.4	1.5	196.0	24.0	17.9	29.6	28.6	196.0	43.9	27.6	12.8	15.8	196.0
KY694466.1 Afidenta misera	37.6	18.5	28.4	15.5	588.0	43.9	13.3	37.8	5.1	196.0	24.5	16.3	34.2	25.0	196.0	44.4	26.0	13.3	16.3	196.0
EF033298.1 Lampsilis hydiana	44.6	12.1	18.4	25.0	588.0	53.6	4.6	15.8	26.0	196.0	34.7	11.7	25.0	28.6	196.0	45.4	19.9	14.3	20.4	196.0
KC849092.1 Nephila sumptuosa	41.2	12.4	28.8	17.5	587.0	45.1	0.5	45.6	8.7	195.0	32.7	11.2	27.0	29.1	196.0	45.9	25.5	13.8	14.8	196.0
Avg.	39.3	16.0	28.3	16.4	587.9	47.4	5.2	42.4	5.1	195.9	26.1	16.1	29.7	28.2	196.0	44.3	26.8	13.0	15.9	196.0

# Table 1.9b: The nucleotide frequency comparison of Ae. albopictus COI gene sequence with its kin species

### 1.3.2.6 Species Name: Aedes vittatus

GenBank Accession Number: MT858330.1

Voucher Number: ST14

#### Systematic position

Kingdom	:	Animalia
Phylum	:	Arthropoda
Class	:	Insecta
Order	:	Diptera
Suborder	:	Nematocera
Family	:	Culicidae
Subfamily	:	Culicini
Genus	:	Aedes
Subgenus	:	Stegomyia
Species	:	Aedes vittatus (Figure 1.9a)

> MT858330.1 Aedes vittatus |527bp

Figure 1.9b The DNA sequence of Ae. vittatus COI gene

> MT858330.1 Aedes vittatus

IGNDQIYNVIVTAHAFIMIFFMVMPIMIGGFGNWLVPLMLGAPDMAFPRMNNMSFWMLPPSLTLLLSSSM VENGAGTGWTVYPPLSSGTAHAGASVDLAIFSLHLAGISSILGAVNFITTVINMRSAGITLDRLPLFVWSVV ITAILLLLSLPVLAGAITMLLTDRNLNTSFFDP

Figure 1.9c The protein sequence of Ae. vittatus COI gene



Figure 1.9d Phylogenetic tree of Ae. vittatus

Figure 1.9e Electropherogram showing the nucleotide sequence of mitochondrial COI gene of *Ae. vittatus* 



Figure 1.9f Molecular barcode of Ae. vittatus

Table 1.10a: Percentage of evolutionary divergence of *Ae. vittatus* with its closely related species accessible from NCBI GenBank

Accession Number	Organism	Percentage of
	U	Divergence
MT858330.1	Aedes vittatus	0.00%
MH330198.1	Aedes vittatus	0.19%
MH330197.1	Aedes vittatus	0.19%
AB738145.1	Aedes lineatopennis	7.62%
HQ398909.1	Aedes lineatopennis	8.16%
MK402823.1	Aedes vexans	9.63%
KP954638.1	Aedes vexans	10.24%
MH745093.1	Culex tritaeniorhynchus	14.03%
MH330220.1	Culex tritaeniorhynchus	14.10%
LC473705.1	Mansonia uniformis	17.41%
LC517293.1	Mansonia uniformis	17.41%
KY694466.1	Afidenta misera	43.00%
KC849092.1	Nephila sumptuosa	45.16%
EF033298.1	Lampsilis hydiana	102.36%

Table 1 10b <sup>.</sup> 1	The nucleotide free	mency com	narison of Ae	vittatus COI	gene sequen	ce with its kin sr	vecies
1 abic 1.100. 1		queney com	iparison of he.	villallas COI	gene sequen	ee with its kill sp	

	NUCLEOTIDE FREQUENCIES (%)																			
ACCESSION NO. AND NAME OF THE SPECIES	T(U)	С	А	G	TOTA L	T-1	C-1	A-1	G-1	POS #1	T-2	C-2	A-2	G-2	POS #2	T-3	C-3	A-3	G-3	POS #3
MT858330.1 Aedes vittatus	39.9	16.0	29.6	14.5	524.0	27.4	14.9	29.7	28.0	175.0	44.0	29.1	13.1	13.7	175.0	48.3	4.0	46.0	1.7	174.0
MH330198.1 Aedes vittatus	39.9	16.0	29.8	14.3	524.0	27.4	14.9	29.7	28.0	175.0	44.0	29.1	13.1	13.7	175.0	48.3	4.0	46.6	1.1	174.0
MH330197.1 Aedes vittatus	39.9	16.0	29.4	14.7	524.0	27.4	14.9	29.7	28.0	175.0	44.0	29.1	13.1	13.7	175.0	48.3	4.0	45.4	2.3	174.0
AB738145.1 Aedes lineatopennis	40.6	16.2	28.6	14.5	524.0	26.3	16.0	29.7	28.0	175.0	44.0	28.6	13.1	14.3	175.0	51.7	4.0	43.1	1.1	174.0
HQ398909.1 Aedes lineatopennis	40.3	16.8	28.4	14.5	524.0	26.3	16.0	29.7	28.0	175.0	44.0	28.6	13.1	14.3	175.0	50.6	5.7	42.5	1.1	174.0
KP954638.1 Aedes vexans	41.0	15.8	29.0	14.1	524.0	28.0	14.9	29.7	27.4	175.0	44.0	29.1	13.1	13.7	175.0	51.1	3.4	44.3	1.1	174.0
MK402823.1 Aedes vexans	40.5	15.8	29.4	14.3	524.0	28.0	14.9	29.7	27.4	175.0	44.0	29.1	13.1	13.7	175.0	49.4	3.4	45.4	1.7	174.0
LC473705.1 Mansonia uniformis	40.3	14.9	30.2	14.7	524.0	27.4	13.7	30.9	28.0	175.0	44.0	28.6	13.7	13.7	175.0	49.4	2.3	46.0	2.3	174.0
LC517293.1 Mansonia uniformis	40.3	14.9	30.2	14.7	524.0	27.4	13.7	30.9	28.0	175.0	44.0	28.6	13.7	13.7	175.0	49.4	2.3	46.0	2.3	174.0
MH745093.1 Culex tritaeniorhynchus	39.5	16.0	29.6	14.9	524.0	24.6	17.7	29.7	28.0	175.0	44.0	28.6	13.1	14.3	175.0	50.0	1.7	46.0	2.3	174.0
MH330220.1 Culex tritaeniorhynchus	39.3	16.2	29.8	14.7	524.0	24.0	18.3	29.7	28.0	175.0	44.0	28.6	13.1	14.3	175.0	50.0	1.7	46.6	1.7	174.0
KY694466.1 Afidenta misera	38.4	18.9	28.1	14.7	524.0	24.6	16.6	34.3	24.6	175.0	44.6	26.3	14.3	14.9	175.0	46.0	13.8	35.6	4.6	174.0
EF033298.1 Lampsilis hydiana	45.6	12.4	18.7	23.3	524.0	35.4	11.4	25.7	27.4	175.0	45.1	21.1	14.9	18.9	175.0	56.3	4.6	15.5	23.6	174.0
KC849092.1 Nephila sumptuosa	43.0	12.2	27.7	17.0	523.0	34.9	10.3	26.3	28.6	175.0	46.9	25.7	14.3	13.1	175.0	47.4	0.6	42.8	9.2	173.0
Avg.	40.6	15.6	28.5	15.4	523.9	27.8	14.9	29.7	27.7	175.0	44.3	27.9	13.5	14.3	175.0	49.7	4.0	42.3	4.0	173.9

## 1.3.2.7 Species Name: Armigeres subalbatus

GenBank Accession Number: MK297327.1

Voucher Number: ST04

#### Systematic position

Kingdom	:	Animalia
Phylum	:	Arthropoda
Class	:	Insecta
Order	:	Diptera
Suborder	:	Nematocera
Family	:	Culicidae
Subfamily	:	Culicini
Genus	:	Armigeres
Species	:	Armigeres subalbatus (Figure 1.10a)

> MK297327.1 Armigeres subalbatus |666bp

Figure 1.10b The DNA sequence of Ar. subalbatus COI gene

> MK297327.1 Armigeres subalbatus

MGTLYFIFGAWAGMVGTSLSILIRTELNHPGVFIGNDQIYNVIVTAHAFIMIFFMVMPIMIGGFGNWLVPLM LGAPDMAFPRMNNMSFWMLPPSLTLLISSSLVETGAGTGWTVYPPLSSGTAHAGASVDLAIFSLHLAGISSI LGAVNFITTVINMRSSGITLDRLPLFVWSVVITAILLLLSLPVLAGAITMLLTDRNLNTSFFDPIGGGDPILYQ HLF

Figure 1.10c The protein sequence of Ar. subalbatus COI gene



Figure 1.10d Phylogenetic tree of Ar. subalbatus

Figure 1.10e Electropherogram showing the nucleotide sequence of mitochondrial COI gene of *Ar. subalbatus* 



Figure 1.10f Molecular barcode of Ar. subalbatus

Table 1.11a: Percentage of evolutionary divergence of *Ar. subalbatus* with its closely related species accessible from NCBI GenBank

Accession	Organism	Percentage of
Number	Organism	Divergence
MK297327.1	Armigeres subalbatus	0.00%
KJ410334.1	Armigeres subalbatus	0.00%
MW542319.1	Armigeres subalbatus	0.00%
AB738145.1	Aedes lineatopennis	9.55%
HQ398909.1	Aedes lineatopennis	10.32%
MH745093.1	Culex tritaeniorhynchus	11.32%
MH330220.1	Culex tritaeniorhynchus	11.32%
KP954638.1	Aedes vexans	13.15%
MK402823.1	Aedes vexans	14.15%
FJ210896.1	Anopheles pseudopictus	15.16%
MT993487.1	Anopheles pseudopictus	15.38%
KY694466.1	Afidenta misera	27.89%
KC849092.1	Nephila sumptuosa	29.65%
EF033298.1	Lampsilis hydiana	48.23%

ACCESSION NO. AND NAME OF	NUCLEOTIDE FREQUENCIES (%)																			
THE SPECIES	T(U)	C	А	G	TOTAL	T-1	C-1	A-1	G-1	POS #1	T-2	C-2	A-2	G-2	POS #2	T-3	C-3	A-3	G-3	POS #3
MK297327.1 Armigeres subalbatus	40.0	17.0	28.0	15.0	593.0	26.3	16.2	29.8	27.8	198.0	43.4	28.8	12.6	15.2	198.0	50.3	6.1	41.6	2.0	197.0
KJ410334.1 Armigeres subalbatus	40.0	17.0	28.0	15.0	593.0	26.3	16.2	29.8	27.8	198.0	43.4	28.8	12.6	15.2	198.0	50.3	6.1	41.6	2.0	197.0
MW542319.1 Armigeres subalbatus	40.0	17.0	28.0	15.0	593.0	26.3	16.2	29.8	27.8	198.0	43.4	28.8	12.6	15.2	198.0	50.3	6.1	41.6	2.0	197.0
KP954638.1 Aedes vexans	40.1	15.5	29.3	15.0	593.0	28.3	14.6	29.8	27.3	198.0	43.4	28.3	12.6	15.7	198.0	48.7	3.6	45.7	2.0	197.0
MK402823.1 Aedes vexans	39.5	15.5	30.0	15.0	593.0	28.3	14.6	29.8	27.3	198.0	43.4	28.3	12.6	15.7	198.0	46.7	3.6	47.7	2.0	197.0
AB738145.1 Aedes lineatopennis	40.0	15.7	29.2	15.2	593.0	26.8	15.7	29.8	27.8	198.0	43.4	27.8	12.6	16.2	198.0	49.7	3.6	45.2	1.5	197.0
HQ398909.1 Aedes lineatopennis	39.6	16.2	29.2	15.0	593.0	26.8	15.7	29.8	27.8	198.0	43.4	27.8	12.6	16.2	198.0	48.7	5.1	45.2	1.0	197.0
FJ210896.1 Anopheles pseudopictus	38.4	15.3	30.7	15.5	593.0	26.3	14.6	29.3	29.8	198.0	43.4	27.8	12.6	16.2	198.0	45.7	3.6	50.3	0.5	197.0
MT993487.1 Anopheles pseudopictus	38.3	15.3	30.9	15.5	593.0	26.3	14.6	29.3	29.8	198.0	42.9	27.8	13.1	16.2	198.0	45.7	3.6	50.3	0.5	197.0
MH745093.1 Culex tritaeniorhynchus	39.0	15.7	29.7	15.7	593.0	24.7	17.2	29.3	28.8	198.0	43.4	27.8	12.6	16.2	198.0	48.7	2.0	47.2	2.0	197.0
MH330220.1 Culex tritaeniorhynchus	38.8	15.9	29.8	15.5	593.0	24.2	17.7	29.3	28.8	198.0	43.4	27.8	12.6	16.2	198.0	48.7	2.0	47.7	1.5	197.0
KY694466.1 Afidenta misera	37.4	18.5	28.3	15.7	593.0	24.7	16.2	33.8	25.3	198.0	43.9	26.3	13.1	16.7	198.0	43.7	13.2	38.1	5.1	197.0
EF033298.1 Lampsilis hydiana	44.5	12.0	18.4	25.1	593.0	35.4	11.6	24.7	28.3	198.0	44.9	19.7	14.1	21.2	198.0	53.3	4.6	16.2	25.9	197.0
KC849092.1 Nephila sumptuosa	41.0	12.5	28.7	17.7	592.0	32.8	11.1	26.8	29.3	198.0	45.5	25.8	13.6	15.2	198.0	44.9	0.5	45.9	8.7	196.0
Avg.	39.8	15.7	28.4	16.1	592.9	27.4	15.2	29.4	28.1	198.0	43.7	27.2	12.9	16.2	198.0	48.2	4.5	43.2	4.1	196.9

# Table 1.11b: The nucleotide frequency comparison of Ar. subalbatus COI gene sequence with its kin species

## 1.3.2.8 Species Name: Culex gelidus

GenBank Accession Number: MK630238.1

Voucher Number: ST06

#### Systematic position

Kingdom	:	Animalia
Phylum	:	Arthropoda
Class	:	Insecta
Order	:	Diptera
Suborder	:	Nematocera
Family	:	Culicidae
Subfamily	:	Culicini
Genus	:	Culex
Subgenus	:	Culex
Species	:	Culex gelidus (Figure 1.11a)

#### > MK630238.1 Culex gelidus 677bp

Figure 1.11b The DNA sequence of Cx. gelidus COI gene

> MK630238.1 Culex gelidus

MGTLYFIFGAWAGMIGTSLSILIRAELSQPGVFIGNDQIYNVIVTAHAFIMIFFMVMPIMIGGFGNWLVPLML GAPDMAFPRMNNMSFWMLPPSLTLLLSSSLVENGAGTGWTVYPPLSSGTAHAGASVDLAIFSLHLAGISSIL GAVNFITTVINMRSSGITLDRMPLFVWSVVITAVLLLLSLPVLAGAITMLLTDRNLNTSFFDPIGGGDPILYQ HLFWFF

Figure 1.11c The protein sequence of Cx. gelidus COI gene



Figure 1.11d Phylogenetic tree of Cx. gelidus



Figure 1.11e Electropherogram showing the nucleotide sequence of mitochondrial COI gene of *Cx. gelidus* 



Figure 1.11f Molecular barcode of Cx. gelidus

Table 1.12a: Percentage of evolutionary divergence of Cx.	gelidus	with its	closely
related species accessible from NCBI GenBank			

Accession Number	Organism	Percentage of Divergence
MK630238.1	Culex gelidus	0.00%
MH330217.1	Culex gelidus	0.43%
HQ398895.1	Culex gelidus	0.29%
KM593055.1	Culex declarator	3.90%
KM593051.1	Culex declarator	3.90%
MN793302.1	Culex dolosus	4.70%
MN793283.1	Culex dolosus	4.53%
LC517293.1	Mansonia uniformis	11.82%
KJ768160.1	Mansonia uniformis	12.53%
KJ461792.1	Anopheles subpictus	12.79%
KJ461784.1	Anopheles subpictus	14.17%
KC849092.1	Nephila sumptuosa	22.78%
KY694466.1	Afidenta misera	23.87%
EF033298.1	Lampsilis hydiana	39.93%

ACCESSION NO. AND NAME		NUCLEOTIDE FREQUENCIES (%)																		
OF THE SPECIES	T(U)	C	А	G	TOTAL	T-1	C-1	A-1	G-1	POS #1	T-2	C-2	A-2	G-2	POS #2	T-3	C-3	A-3	G-3	POS #3
MK630238.1 Culex gelidus	40.1	16.2	28.8	14.9	556.0	43.5	28.0	13.4	15.1	186.0	51.4	3.2	44.3	1.1	185.0	25.4	17.3	28.6	28.6	185.0
MH330217.1 Culex gelidus	40.3	16.0	28.8	14.9	556.0	43.5	28.0	13.4	15.1	186.0	51.9	2.7	44.3	1.1	185.0	25.4	17.3	28.6	28.6	185.0
HQ398895.1 Culex gelidus	40.1	16.2	28.8	14.9	556.0	43.5	28.0	13.4	15.1	186.0	51.4	3.2	44.3	1.1	185.0	25.4	17.3	28.6	28.6	185.0
KM593055.1 Culex declarator	41.2	15.3	29.0	14.6	556.0	43.5	28.0	13.4	15.1	186.0	54.1	1.6	44.3	0.0	185.0	25.9	16.2	29.2	28.6	185.0
KM593051.1 Culex declarator	41.2	15.3	29.0	14.6	556.0	43.5	28.0	13.4	15.1	186.0	54.1	1.6	44.3	0.0	185.0	25.9	16.2	29.2	28.6	185.0
MN793302.1 Culex dolosus	40.1	15.8	28.8	15.3	556.0	43.5	28.0	13.4	15.1	186.0	50.8	3.2	43.8	2.2	185.0	25.9	16.2	29.2	28.6	185.0
MN793283.1 Culex dolosus	40.1	15.6	29.1	15.1	556.0	43.5	28.0	13.4	15.1	186.0	50.8	2.7	44.9	1.6	185.0	25.9	16.2	29.2	28.6	185.0
KJ461792.1 Anopheles subpictus	38.7	15.6	29.0	16.7	556.0	43.5	28.0	13.4	15.1	186.0	45.4	4.3	44.3	5.9	185.0	27.0	14.6	29.2	29.2	185.0
KJ461784.1 Anopheles subpictus	38.1	16.2	29.1	16.5	556.0	43.5	28.0	13.4	15.1	186.0	44.9	4.9	44.9	5.4	185.0	25.9	15.7	29.2	29.2	185.0
KJ768160.1 Mansonia uniformis	39.2	16.4	29.5	14.9	556.0	44.1	27.4	14.0	14.5	186.0	47.0	6.5	44.3	2.2	185.0	26.5	15.1	30.3	28.1	185.0
LC517293.1 Mansonia uniformis	40.1	14.9	30.0	14.9	556.0	44.1	27.4	14.0	14.5	186.0	49.2	2.7	45.9	2.2	185.0	27.0	14.6	30.3	28.1	185.0
KY694466.1 Afidenta misera	38.1	18.7	28.1	15.1	556.0	44.1	26.3	14.0	15.6	186.0	45.4	13.0	36.8	4.9	185.0	24.9	16.8	33.5	24.9	185.0
EF033298.1 Lampsilis hydiana	44.8	12.6	18.5	24.1	556.0	44.6	20.4	15.1	19.9	186.0	55.7	4.9	15.1	24.3	185.0	34.1	12.4	25.4	28.1	185.0
KC849092.1 Nephila sumptuosa	42.0	12.6	27.9	17.5	555.0	45.7	25.3	14.5	14.5	186.0	46.7	0.5	43.5	9.2	184.0	33.5	11.9	25.9	28.6	185.0
Avg.	40.3	15.5	28.2	16.0	555.9	43.9	27.0	13.7	15.3	186.0	49.9	3.9	41.8	4.4	184.9	27.1	15.6	29.0	28.3	185.0

# Table 1.12b: The nucleotide frequency comparison of *Cx. gelidus* COI gene sequence with its kin species

## 1.3.2.9 Species Name: Culex tritaeniorhynchus

GenBank Accession Number: MH745093.1

Voucher Number: ST07

#### Systematic position

Kingdom	:	Animalia
Phylum	:	Arthropoda
Class	:	Insecta
Order	:	Diptera
Suborder	:	Nematocera
Family	:	Culicidae
Subfamily	:	Culicini
Genus	:	Culex
Subgenus	:	Culex
Species	:	Culex tritaeniorhynchus (Figure 1.12a)

> MH745093.1 Culex tritaeniorhynchus|672bp

Figure 1.12b The DNA sequence of Cx. tritaeniorhynchus COI gene

> MH745093.1 Culex tritaeniorhynchus

MGTLYFIFGAWAGMVGTSLSILIRAELSQPGVFIGNDQIYNVIVTAHAFIMIFFMVMPIMIGGFGNWLVPLM LGAPDMAFPRMNNMSFWMLPPSLTLLLSSSLVENGAGTGWTVYPPLSSGTAHAGASVDLAIFSLHLAGISS ILGAVNFITTVINMRSSGITLDRMPLFVWSVVITAVLLLLSLPVLAGAITMLLTDRNLNTSFFDPIGGGDPILY QHLFWFL

Figure 1.12c The protein sequence of Cx. tritaeniorhynchus COI gene



Figure 1.12d Phylogenetic tree of Cx. tritaeniorhynchus





Figure 1.12f Molecular barcode of Cx. tritaeniorhynchus

Table 1.13a: Percentage of evolutionary divergence of *Cx. tritaeniorhynchus* with its closely related species accessible from NCBI GenBank

Accession Number	Organism	Percentage of Divergence
MH745093.1	Culex tritaeniorhynchus	0.00%
MH330220.1	Culex tritaeniorhynchus	0.36%
MH330219.1	Culex tritaeniorhynchus	0.54%
KM593055.1	Culex declarator	6.64%
KM593051.1	Culex declarator	6.64%
MN793302.1	Culex dolosus	7.76%
MN793283.1	Culex dolosus	7.77%
LC517293.1	Mansonia uniformis	17.04%
KJ461784.1	Anopheles subpictus	18.52%
KJ768160.1	Mansonia uniformis	19.38%
KJ461792.1	Anopheles subpictus	19.61%
KC849092.1	Nephila sumptuosa	36.06%
KY694466.1	Afidenta misera	39.39%
EF033298.1	Lampsilis hydiana	79.59%

ACCESSION NO. AND NAME OF								Ν	UCLEO	OTIDE FRE	QUENCI	ES (%)								
THE SPECIES	T(U)	С	А	G	TOTAL	T-1	C-1	A-1	G-1	POS #1	T-2	C-2	A-2	G-2	POS #2	T-3	C-3	A-3	G-3	POS #3
MH745093.1 Culex tritaeniorhynchus	38.8	16.2	29.7	15.3	556.0	43.5	28.0	13.4	15.1	186.0	48.6	2.2	47.0	2.2	185.0	24.3	18.4	28.6	28.6	185.0
MH330220.1 Culex tritaeniorhynchus	38.7	16.4	29.9	15.1	556.0	43.5	28.0	13.4	15.1	186.0	48.6	2.2	47.6	1.6	185.0	23.8	18.9	28.6	28.6	185.0
MH330219.1 Culex tritaeniorhynchus	38.7	16.4	29.7	15.3	556.0	43.5	28.0	13.4	15.1	186.0	48.6	2.2	47.0	2.2	185.0	23.8	18.9	28.6	28.6	185.0
KM593055.1 Culex declarator	41.2	15.3	29.0	14.6	556.0	43.5	28.0	13.4	15.1	186.0	54.1	1.6	44.3	0.0	185.0	25.9	16.2	29.2	28.6	185.0
KM593051.1 Culex declarator	41.2	15.3	29.0	14.6	556.0	43.5	28.0	13.4	15.1	186.0	54.1	1.6	44.3	0.0	185.0	25.9	16.2	29.2	28.6	185.0
MN793302.1 Culex dolosus	40.1	15.8	28.8	15.3	556.0	43.5	28.0	13.4	15.1	186.0	50.8	3.2	43.8	2.2	185.0	25.9	16.2	29.2	28.6	185.0
MN793283.1 Culex dolosus	40.1	15.6	29.1	15.1	556.0	43.5	28.0	13.4	15.1	186.0	50.8	2.7	44.9	1.6	185.0	25.9	16.2	29.2	28.6	185.0
KJ461792.1 Anopheles subpictus	38.7	15.6	29.0	16.7	556.0	43.5	28.0	13.4	15.1	186.0	45.4	4.3	44.3	5.9	185.0	27.0	14.6	29.2	29.2	185.0
KJ461784.1 Anopheles subpictus	38.1	16.2	29.1	16.5	556.0	43.5	28.0	13.4	15.1	186.0	44.9	4.9	44.9	5.4	185.0	25.9	15.7	29.2	29.2	185.0
KJ768160.1 Mansonia uniformis	39.2	16.4	29.5	14.9	556.0	44.1	27.4	14.0	14.5	186.0	47.0	6.5	44.3	2.2	185.0	26.5	15.1	30.3	28.1	185.0
LC517293.1 Mansonia uniformis	40.1	14.9	30.0	14.9	556.0	44.1	27.4	14.0	14.5	186.0	49.2	2.7	45.9	2.2	185.0	27.0	14.6	30.3	28.1	185.0
KY694466.1 Afidenta misera	38.1	18.7	28.1	15.1	556.0	44.1	26.3	14.0	15.6	186.0	45.4	13.0	36.8	4.9	185.0	24.9	16.8	33.5	24.9	185.0
EF033298.1 Lampsilis hydiana	44.8	12.6	18.5	24.1	556.0	44.6	20.4	15.1	19.9	186.0	55.7	4.9	15.1	24.3	185.0	34.1	12.4	25.4	28.1	185.0
KC849092.1 Nephila sumptuosa	42.0	12.6	27.9	17.5	555.0	45.7	25.3	14.5	14.5	186.0	46.7	0.5	43.5	9.2	184.0	33.5	11.9	25.9	28.6	185.0
Avg.	40.0	15.6	28.4	16.1	555.9	43.9	27.0	13.7	15.3	186.0	49.3	3.7	42.4	4.6	184.9	26.8	15.9	29.0	28.3	185.0

# Table 1.13b: The nucleotide frequency comparison of *Cx. tritaeniorhynchus* COI gene sequence with its kin species

## 1.3.2.10 Species Name: Culex pipiens

GenBank Accession Number: MK347224.1

Voucher Number: ST09

#### Systematic position

Kingdom	:	Animalia
Phylum	:	Arthropoda
Class	:	Insecta
Order	:	Diptera
Suborder	:	Nematocera
Family	:	Culicidae
Subfamily	:	Culicini
Genus	:	Culex
Subgenus	:	Culex
Species	:	Culex pipiens (Figure 1.13a)

> MK347224.1 Culex pipiens |680bp

Figure 1.13b The DNA sequence of Cx. pipiens COI gene

> MK347224.1 Culex pipiens

MGTLYFIFGAWAGMVGTSLSLLIRAELSQPGVFIGNDQIYNVIVTAHAFIMIFFMVMPIMIGGFGNWLVPLMLGAPDMAFPRMNNMSFWMLPPSLTLLLSSSLVENGAGTGWTVYPPLSSGTAHAGASVDLAIFSLHLAGISSILGAVNFITTVINMRSSGITLDRMPLFVWSVVITAVLLLLSLPVLAGAITMLLTDRNLNTSFFDPIGGGDPILYQHLFWF

Figure 1.13c The protein sequence of Cx. pipiens COI gene



Figure 1.13d Phylogenetic tree of Cx. pipiens

Figure 1.13e Electropherogram showing the nucleotide sequence of mitochondrial COI gene of *Cx. pipiens* 



Figure 1.13f Molecular barcode of Cx. pipiens

Table 1.14a: Percentage of evolutionary divergence of *Cx. pipiens* with its closely related species accessible from NCBI GenBank

Accession Number	Organism	Percentage of Divergence
MK347224.1	Culex pipiens	0.00%
MK300247.1	Culex pipiens	0.00%
LC102133.1	Culex pipiens	0.00%
MN793283.1	Culex dolosus	5.80%
MN793302.1	Culex dolosus	5.99%
KM593055.1	Culex declarator	6.21%
KM593051.1	Culex declarator	6.21%
LC517293.1	Mansonia uniformis	14.31%
KJ461792.1	Anopheles subpictus	15.48%
KJ768160.1	Mansonia uniformis	16.34%
KJ461784.1	Anopheles subpictus	17.09%
KC849092.1	Nephila sumptuosa	26.99%
KY694466.1	Afidenta misera	30.65%
EF033298.1	Lampsilis hydiana	47.11%

ACCESSION NO. AND NAME OF	NUCLEOTIDE FREQUENCIES (%)																			
THE SPECIES	T(U)	С	А	G	TOTAL	T-1	C-1	A-1	G-1	POS #1	T-2	C-2	A-2	G-2	POS #2	T-3	C-3	A-3	G-3	POS #3
MK347224.1 Culex pipiens	39.6	15.6	29.0	15.8	556.0	43.5	28.0	13.4	15.1	186.0	48.6	2.7	44.9	3.8	185.0	26.5	16.2	28.6	28.6	185.0
MK300247.1 Culex pipiens	39.6	15.6	29.0	15.8	556.0	43.5	28.0	13.4	15.1	186.0	48.6	2.7	44.9	3.8	185.0	26.5	16.2	28.6	28.6	185.0
LC102133.1 Culex pipiens	39.6	15.6	29.0	15.8	556.0	43.5	28.0	13.4	15.1	186.0	48.6	2.7	44.9	3.8	185.0	26.5	16.2	28.6	28.6	185.0
KM593055.1 Culex declarator	41.2	15.3	29.0	14.6	556.0	43.5	28.0	13.4	15.1	186.0	54.1	1.6	44.3	0.0	185.0	25.9	16.2	29.2	28.6	185.0
KM593051.1 Culex declarator	41.2	15.3	29.0	14.6	556.0	43.5	28.0	13.4	15.1	186.0	54.1	1.6	44.3	0.0	185.0	25.9	16.2	29.2	28.6	185.0
MN793302.1 Culex dolosus	40.1	15.8	28.8	15.3	556.0	43.5	28.0	13.4	15.1	186.0	50.8	3.2	43.8	2.2	185.0	25.9	16.2	29.2	28.6	185.0
MN793283.1 Culex dolosus	40.1	15.6	29.1	15.1	556.0	43.5	28.0	13.4	15.1	186.0	50.8	2.7	44.9	1.6	185.0	25.9	16.2	29.2	28.6	185.0
KJ461792.1 Anopheles subpictus	38.7	15.6	29.0	16.7	556.0	43.5	28.0	13.4	15.1	186.0	45.4	4.3	44.3	5.9	185.0	27.0	14.6	29.2	29.2	185.0
KJ461784.1 Anopheles subpictus	38.1	16.2	29.1	16.5	556.0	43.5	28.0	13.4	15.1	186.0	44.9	4.9	44.9	5.4	185.0	25.9	15.7	29.2	29.2	185.0
KJ768160.1 Mansonia uniformis	39.2	16.4	29.5	14.9	556.0	44.1	27.4	14.0	14.5	186.0	47.0	6.5	44.3	2.2	185.0	26.5	15.1	30.3	28.1	185.0
LC517293.1 Mansonia uniformis	40.1	14.9	30.0	14.9	556.0	44.1	27.4	14.0	14.5	186.0	49.2	2.7	45.9	2.2	185.0	27.0	14.6	30.3	28.1	185.0
KY694466.1 Afidenta misera	38.1	18.7	28.1	15.1	556.0	44.1	26.3	14.0	15.6	186.0	45.4	13.0	36.8	4.9	185.0	24.9	16.8	33.5	24.9	185.0
EF033298.1 Lampsilis hydiana	44.8	12.6	18.5	24.1	556.0	44.6	20.4	15.1	19.9	186.0	55.7	4.9	15.1	24.3	185.0	34.1	12.4	25.4	28.1	185.0
KC849092.1 Nephila sumptuosa	42.0	12.6	27.9	17.5	555.0	45.7	25.3	14.5	14.5	186.0	46.7	0.5	43.5	9.2	184.0	33.5	11.9	25.9	28.6	185.0
Avg.	40.2	15.4	28.2	16.2	555.9	43.9	27.0	13.7	15.3	186.0	49.3	3.9	41.9	4.9	184.9	27.3	15.3	29.0	28.3	185.0

Table 1.14b: The nucleotide frequency comparison of *Cx. pipiens* COI gene sequence with its kin species

# 1.3.2.11 Species Name: Culex quinquefasciatus

GenBank Accession Number: MW143512.1

Voucher Number: ST17

#### Systematic position

Kingdom	:	Animalia
Phylum	:	Arthropoda
Class	:	Insecta
Order	:	Diptera
Suborder	:	Nematocera
Family	:	Culicidae
Subfamily	:	Culicini
Genus	:	Culex
Subgenus	:	Culex
Species	:	Culex quinquefasciatus (Figure1.14a)

> MW143512.1 Culex quinquefasciatus |544bp

Figure 1.14b The DNA sequence of *Cx. quinquefasciatus* COI gene

> MW143512.1 Culex quinquefasciatus

LLIRAELSQPGVFIGNDQIYNVIVTAHAFIMIFFMVMPIMIGGFGNWLVPLMLGAPDMAFPRMNNMS FWMLPPSLTLLLSSSLVENGAGTGWTVYPPLSSGTAHAGASVDLAIFSLHLAGISSILGAVNFITTVIN MRSSGITLDRMPLFVWSVVITAVLLLLSLPVLAGAITMLLTDRNL

Figure 1.14c The protein sequence of *Cx. quinquefasciatus* COI gene



Figure 1.14d Phylogenetic tree of Cx. quinquefasciatus





Figure 1.14f Molecular barcode of *Cx.quinquefasciatus* 

Table 1.15a: Percentage of evolutionary divergence of *Cx. quinquefasciatus* with its closely related species accessible from NCBI GenBank

Accession	Organism	Percentage of	
Number	Organism	Divergence	
MW143512.1	Culex quinquefasciatus	0.00%	
MT895717.1	Culex quinquefasciatus	0.00%	
MW509611.1	Culex quinquefasciatus	0.00%	
MN793302.1	Culex dolosus	5.29%	
MN793283.1	Culex dolosus	5.29%	
KM593055.1	Culex declarator	5.94%	
KM593051.1	Culex declarator	5.94%	
LC517293.1	Mansonia uniformis	13.34%	
KJ461792.1	Anopheles subpictus	15.80%	
KJ768160.1	Mansonia uniformis	15.99%	
KJ461784.1	Anopheles subpictus	18.08%	
KC849092.1	Nephila sumptuosa	28.50%	
KY694466.1	Afidenta misera	31.35%	
EF033298.1	Lampsilis hydiana	50.77%	
Table 1.15b: The nucleotide frequency co	omparison of Cx. quinquefasciati	us COI gene sequence w	vith its kin species
--	----------------------------------	------------------------	----------------------
--	----------------------------------	------------------------	----------------------

ACCESSION NO. AND NAME OF THE SPECIES		NUCLEOTIDE FREQUENCIES (%)																		
	T(U)	С	А	G	TOTAL	T-1	C-1	A-1	G-1	POS #1	T-2	C-2	A-2	G-2	POS #2	T-3	C-3	A-3	G-3	POS #3
MW143512.1 Culex quinquefasciatus	39.4	15.5	28.8	16.3	510.0	44.1	27.6	12.4	15.9	170.0	48.8	2.4	45.9	2.9	170.0	25.3	16.5	28.2	30.0	170.0
MT895717.1 Culex quinquefasciatus	39.4	15.5	28.8	16.3	510.0	44.1	27.6	12.4	15.9	170.0	48.8	2.4	45.9	2.9	170.0	25.3	16.5	28.2	30.0	170.0
MW509611.1 Culex quinquefasciatus	39.4	15.5	28.8	16.3	510.0	44.1	27.6	12.4	15.9	170.0	48.8	2.4	45.9	2.9	170.0	25.3	16.5	28.2	30.0	170.0
KM593055.1 Culex declarator	40.8	15.3	28.6	15.3	510.0	44.1	27.6	12.4	15.9	170.0	53.5	1.8	44.7	0.0	170.0	24.7	16.5	28.8	30.0	170.0
KM593051.1 Culex declarator	40.8	15.3	28.6	15.3	510.0	44.1	27.6	12.4	15.9	170.0	53.5	1.8	44.7	0.0	170.0	24.7	16.5	28.8	30.0	170.0
MN793302.1 Culex dolosus	39.8	15.7	28.6	15.9	510.0	44.1	27.6	12.4	15.9	170.0	50.6	2.9	44.7	1.8	170.0	24.7	16.5	28.8	30.0	170.0
MN793283.1 Culex dolosus	39.8	15.5	28.8	15.9	510.0	44.1	27.6	12.4	15.9	170.0	50.6	2.4	45.3	1.8	170.0	24.7	16.5	28.8	30.0	170.0
KJ461792.1 Anopheles subpictus	38.0	15.3	29.2	17.5	510.0	44.1	27.6	12.4	15.9	170.0	43.5	4.1	46.5	5.9	170.0	26.5	14.1	28.8	30.6	170.0
KJ461784.1 Anopheles subpictus	37.6	15.9	29.0	17.5	510.0	44.1	27.6	12.4	15.9	170.0	44.1	4.1	45.9	5.9	170.0	24.7	15.9	28.8	30.6	170.0
KJ768160.1 Mansonia uniformis	39.2	15.7	29.4	15.7	510.0	44.7	27.1	12.9	15.3	170.0	47.1	5.3	45.3	2.4	170.0	25.9	14.7	30.0	29.4	170.0
LC517293.1 Mansonia uniformis	40.0	14.3	30.0	15.7	510.0	44.7	27.1	12.9	15.3	170.0	48.8	1.8	47.1	2.4	170.0	26.5	14.1	30.0	29.4	170.0
KY694466.1 Afidenta misera	37.6	18.4	28.0	15.9	510.0	44.7	25.9	12.9	16.5	170.0	43.5	12.9	38.2	5.3	170.0	24.7	16.5	32.9	25.9	170.0
EF033298.1 Lampsilis hydiana	44.9	12.0	17.6	25.5	510.0	45.3	19.4	14.1	21.2	170.0	55.9	4.1	14.1	25.9	170.0	33.5	12.4	24.7	29.4	170.0
KC849092.1 Nephila sumptuosa	41.3	12.4	27.9	18.5	509.0	46.5	24.7	13.5	15.3	170.0	44.4	0.6	45.0	10.1	169.0	32.9	11.8	25.3	30.0	170.0
Avg.	39.9	15.2	28.0	16.9	509.9	44.5	26.6	12.7	16.2	170.0	48.7	3.5	42.8	5.0	169.9	26.4	15.3	28.6	29.7	170.0

#### **1.4 Discussion**

#### **1.4.1 Vector Mosquito Diversity**

Mosquito-borne diseases constitute a significant global health concern. They exact a heavy toll on public health, causing illness and death, particularly in regions where mosquito vectors are prevalent. Beyond the immediate health impacts, these diseases also place substantial economic burdens on affected communities and healthcare systems (Ligsay et al., 2021).

A total of 11 vector mosquito species under four genera were collected and identified using molecular barcoding during the study, conducted at four distinct sites within Thrissur district. Among these sites, two were in urban areas, and the other two were in semi-urban areas. Various diversity indices, encompassing alpha, beta, and gamma diversity, were employed for analysis. The assessment of diversity indices for vector mosquito species holds significance, as it can offer valuable insights into implementing effective vector control measures within the area. Mosquitoes inhabit various water-related environments, including sewage, stagnant, and septic tanks. It is imperative to promptly address the proliferation of both vector and non-vector mosquito populations. This action is essential for mitigating vectorborne diseases and minimizing the annoyance caused by mosquitoes by applying suitable control methods. The breeding habitat is pivotal in mosquito population dynamics, serving as the site for numerous critical life cycle processes (Reuben, 1978). Rajavel et al. (2001) reported that mosquito management required the collection of adequate information concerning species diversity and how they were distributed within a specific region. This information would be essential for meaningfully formulating and implementing suitable strategies to control the mosquito population. Consequently, these efforts contributed to a decrease in the menace posed by mosquitoes and a reduction in the incidence of associated diseases. This information would be necessary to formulate and implement appropriate strategies to control the mosquito population effectively. As a result, these measures have contributed to reducing both the threat that mosquitoes present and the frequency of diseases that are linked to them. Kumar and Nattuthurai (2011) analysed mosquito fauna diversity in Dindigul district, Tamil Nadu. They found that in addition to measuring overall organism diversity, the widely used diversity

indices in environmental assessment could effectively be used as instruments to monitor mosquito species. Through the implementation of longitudinal databases, habitat type, latitude, land use, and mosquito vector species monitoring across multiple sites, it became feasible to predict the impact of environmental changes on mosquito populations. Furthermore, since the breeding sites had a major impact on changes in adult mosquito abundance in the study habitats, it was essential to learn about the dynamics of immature mosquitoes.

#### **1.4.2 Vector Mosquito Barcoding**

The mosquito population in India is extremely varied, consisting of 393 species spread over 49 genera and 41 subgenera. Among this extensive array of mosquito species, 31 have been identified as capable of transmitting a wide range of agents responsible for human and animal diseases (Prakash et al., 2014; Benelli et al., 2016). Mosquito-borne diseases have remained a persistent health challenge in Kerala, with continuous concerns about their impact. Kerala has witnessed a notable burden of mosquito-borne diseases (Vanaja and Sumodan, 2019), as evident from the reported cases spanning from 2010 to 2022, as documented in the data sourced from dhs.kerala.gov.in. In this study, a total of 11 mosquito species from four genera (*Anopheles, Aedes, Culex,* and *Armigeres*) were collected and analysed from four distinct study sites from Thrissur district, Kerala, India. These species have displayed strong vectorial capabilities and are recognized as primary, secondary, or potential vectors of numerous pathogens that impact human and animal health.

The collected species from the Anopheles genus comprised An. stephensi, An. subpictus, and An. vagus. An. stephensi is a widely recognized mosquito species in Asia, particularly in India, plays a significant role as a vector for *P. falciparum* and *P. vivax*, two parasites responsible for causing malaria (Surendran et al., 2019; Ahmed et al., 2021). An. subpictus is acknowledged as a primary or secondary malaria vector, a disease of substantial socio-economic significance across the globe. It has been implicated in malaria transmission in India and has also been identified as a malaria vector in various locations, including the Maldives Islands, Celebes, South Java, Portuguese Timor, and Malaysia. Additionally, it assumes a secondary role in malaria transmission in Sri Lanka (Panicker, 1981; Chandra et al., 2010; Singh et al., 2014). In Asia, West Nile virus has been isolated from An. subpictus, with documented cases in India (Hubálek and Halouzka, 1999).

Furthermore, a study conducted by Thenmozhi et al. (2006) reported *An. subpictus* as a major vector of JEV in Cuddalore, an endemic zone for the disease in Tamil Nadu, India.*An. vagus* is a widely documented mosquito species found in malariaendemic regions of the Indian subcontinent. This species plays a significant and notable role in the transmission of malaria, particularly in countries such as Bangladesh, Laos, and Cambodia. In these regions, *An. vagus* is recognized as a primary vector responsible for transmitting the malaria parasite to humans (Alam et al., 2010; Rueda et al., 2011; Bashar and Tuno, 2014; Dhiman et al., 2016).

Three species belonging to the Aedes genus were collected from the study site, specifically Ae. aegypti, Ae. albopictus, and Ae. vittatus. Ae. albopictus and Ae. *aegypti* are among the highest abundant mosquito vectors globally. These two species are distributed across nearly every continent, except for Antarctica, and have significantly contributed to numerous outbreaks of vector-borne diseases throughout the past century. These mosquitoes are acknowledged as major carriers of viruses responsible for several significant diseases, including dengue, yellow fever, chikungunya, and Zika (Bhatt et al., 2013; Kraemer et al., 2015; Girard et al., 2020; Lwande et al., 2020; Laporta et al., 2023). The Ae. vittatus mosquito has gained significant public notice lately due to its link to the Zika virus. Furthermore, this mosquito species is acknowledged for its crucial involvement in preserving and spreading viruses that hold considerable public health significance, the yellow fever virus, dengue virus, and chikungunya virus. These viruses have consistently been detected in mosquitoes captured in the wild, underscoring their role in the natural preservation of these viral pathogens (Jupp and McIntosh, 1990; Sudeep and Shil, 2017; Mulwa et al., 2018).

In this study, *Ar. subalbatus* was identified as the sole species from the *Armigeres* genus. *Ar. subalbatus*, a species of mosquito, plays a crucial role in both human and veterinary health due to its function as a carrier for filarial worms, including *Brugia pahangi*, a significant human pathogen and *Dirofilaria repens*, a parasite of veterinary concern. This mosquito species has been identified as a carrier of the Japanese Encephalitis Virus. Furthermore, reports have indicated its involvement as a vector for the filarial worm *Wuchereria bancrofti* in India (Das et al., 1983; Chen et al., 2000; Lee et al., 2007; Liu et al., 2013; Muslim et al., 2013).

Several species of *Culex* mosquitoes serve as vectors, facilitating the transmission of pathogens and parasites responsible for numerous significant illnesses, including JE, WNV, St. Louis encephalitis, and filariasis (Karthika et al., 2018). Throughout the study period, four species from the Culex genus were collected: Cx. gelidus, Cx. pipiens, Cx. quinquefasciatus, and Cx. tritaeniorhynchus. Studies have reported a substantial rise in the population of Cx. gelidus in countries like India, Sri Lanka, and Malaysia, displacing previously dominant mosquito species such as Cx. tritaeniorhynchus. This mosquito species plays a prominent role as a vector for the JEV in Malaysia and contributes to the secondary transmission of JEV in countries like India, Sri Lanka, and others, as evidenced by repeated virus isolations from mosquitoes captured in their natural habitat (Murty et al., 2010; Arunachalam et al., 2014; Sudeep, 2014, Sudeep etal., 2015). Cx. pipiens mosquitoes are essential in public health as they are vectors for filarial worms, WNV, and encephalitis viruses. Among their roles, Cx. pipiens mosquitoes are particularly notable as the primary vectors of WNV in Europe, making them a crucial component of WNV transmission cycles in the region (Hubálek, 2008; Farajollahi et al., 2011; Kilpatrick, 2011; Kioulos et al., 2014). Research findings have indicated that Cx. quinquefasciatus is the primary vector for bancroftian filariasis and is also considered a potential carrier of WNV. Additionally, this species has been shown to possess the ability to transmit the JE virus and Chikungunya virus (Goddard et al., 2002; Sudomo et al., 2010; Bhattacharya et al., 2016). Cx. tritaeniorhynchus holds the primary status as the vector responsible for transmitting JEV and is found across Southeast Asia, the Middle East, Africa, and Europe. Additionally, this mosquito species is involved in transmitting other viral diseases affecting humans and animals, such as Dengue fever and Rift Valley fever (Kanojia, 2007; Shi et al., 2014; Sanisuriwong et al., 2021; Tong et al., 2023).

# **1.5 Conclusion**

The molecular identification and diversity analysis of vector mosquitoes conducted in this study has yielded valuable insights into the composition and genetic variability of important disease-transmitting vectors. The findings revealed the presence of a diverse array of vector mosquito species, spanning different genera such as *Anopheles*, *Aedes*, *Culex*, and *Armigeres*. This diversity underscores the complex nature of vector-borne diseases and highlights the need for comprehensive surveillance and control measures. The application of molecular techniques has enabled the precise identification and classification of these mosquito species, providing a better understanding of their vectorial capabilities and potential contributions to disease transmission. Furthermore, identifying primary and secondary vectors among these mosquito species underscores the complexity of disease transmission dynamics. Understanding the genetic diversity within these populations is crucial for developing targeted control strategies and alleviating disease outbreaks. Overall, this chapter has discussed valuable information in the field of vector-borne disease research, emphasizing the importance of continued monitoring and research efforts to combat the threats presented by these diseasetransmitting mosquitoes.

# **CHAPTER II**

Screening of Locally Available Plants for Their Larvicidal Effect on Fourth Instar Larvae of *Ae. aegypti* and Bioactive Compound Isolation from the Selected Plant

# **2.1 Introduction**

Mosquitoes serve as vital dipteran vectors, playing a crucial role in transmitting numerous diseases. Their importance goes beyond mere nuisances, as they are highly efficient carriers of various pathogens. As a result, mosquitoes hold considerable economic significance in the field of public health. WHO has emphasized the gravity of mosquito-borne diseases, which comprise a spectrum of dreadful conditions and life-threatening illnesses. These diseases have a profound global impact, affecting over a billion people across the world and causing a significant threat to human populations. Dengue fever has become one of the most widespread infectious diseases, spreading to 129 countries. Due to its high transmission rates and wide geographic distribution, it is a compelling problem that needs immediate attention as well as efficient preventive and control measures. The global impact of dengue necessitates wide-ranging research and interventions to combat the disease and abate its burden on affected populations (Farrar et al., 2007; Guzman et al., 2010; Mahalingam et al., 2013; Gubler et al., 2014).

As the female mosquitoes that typically feed on their hosts from early morning to evening, *Ae. aegypti* are generally known as daytime mosquitoes due to their feeding time preference. They mostly prefer fresh water for their breeding and breed in natural or artificial sites like pools, tree holes, leaf axils, pots, tanks, coconut shells, and plastic containers. The females oviposit on hard surfaces and just above the water surface, and after getting embryonated, they can survive desiccation for up to around a year. Female mosquitoes spread the dengue virus, primarily those of the species *Ae. aegypti* and, to a slightly lesser extent, *Ae. albopictus*. These mosquitoes have also been reported to transmit Zika, yellow fever, and chikungunya viruses (Russell et al., 2001).

*Ae. aegypti* is commonly grouped as the primary urban vector of dengue viruses globally. An intensification in the distribution of *Ae. aegypti* and the dengue virus epidemic have been observed all over the world in recent decades (Mackenzie et al., 2004). WHO reports that more than forty per cent of the global human population is

now at risk of dengue and assesses there could be dengue infections ranging from a hundred million every year. Approximately five hundred thousand people suffer from severe dengue symptoms and necessitate hospitalization each year, including children. Supposedly, 2.5% of the infected population has been reported dead. Although several countries are susceptible to infection, India bears the paramount burden, with a high prevalence and endemicity found in many major cities (Cecilia, 2014).

Chemical insecticides are predominantly and extensively used to control pests concerning economy and health. The indiscriminate global practice of these potent chemicals has elevated many environmental issues, and it has altered the chemical composition of natural habitats and resources and even directly affected human health due to its highly lethal nature. Besides all these detrimental effects, many of these compounds have induced resistance in both the targeted and non-targeted species. This resistance can occur when an organism is repeatedly exposed to a specific insecticide, causing it to develop mechanisms to counteract the lethal effects. Over time, this can lead to the inefficiency of that insecticide against the targeted pest and may require higher doses or alternative chemicals to achieve the same level of control. Developing cross-resistance, in which the target organism acquires resistance against similar compounds of treated ones without exposure, is also an important hurdle in dealing with chemical insecticides (Baldacchino et al., 2015).

Plants act as natural sources of a wide variety of chemicals, making them invaluable reservoirs of essential compounds that can act against pest species. Over the years, human communities have relied on traditional plant-based products as safe and effective methods to control insect pests and vectors (Mandal, 2010). Earlier reports suggest that phytochemicals have been used for mosquito control since the 1920s. Approximately 2000 plant species were recognized for their effective properties in pest management, with hundreds of these species demonstrating significant activity against mosquitoes. An earlier survey, primarily focused on agriculture, identified thousands of plant species documented in the literature as having potential insecticidal properties. These studies have revealed numerous plant metabolites that harbour a wide range of bioactive compounds effective against fungi, nematodes, insect pests, and even cancer (Roark, 1947). India boasts an incredibly diverse flora,

offering a wealth of biologically active and environmentally safe agents for resisting mosquitoes and other pests (Khare and Manjusha, 2007). Numerous studies have been conducted worldwide to explore the potential of phytoextracts in controlling mosquito vectors, but many of these studies have focused only on preliminary screening (Prajapati et al., 2005; Shaalan et al., 2005b; Amer and Mehlhorn, 2006; Chaiyasit et al., 2006; Pavela, 2016).

In the past, botanicals were almost entirely replaced by chemical insecticides, particularly with the introduction of DDT in the 1940s as part of the Malaria eradication program. The marked rise of synthetic chemical insecticides, such as organochlorides, organophosphates, carbamates, and pyrethroids, for mosquito control led to a decline in phytoextracts. However, extensive research since then revealed the detrimental effects of these chemical treatments on various non-target aquatic and terrestrial life forms, raising concerns within the scientific community (Desneux et al., 2007). One of the major concerns was the emergence of pesticide resistance, even in response to low concentrations of these chemicals, which posed a significant threat to pest control efforts. This phenomenon impaired the challenge of dealing with chemical insecticides and emphasised the urgent need for alternative approaches (Brattsten et al., 1986; Chareonviriyaphap et al., 1999; Cui et al., 2006; Garcia et al., 2018).

The escalating resistance and adverse environmental effects caused by chemical insecticides have sparked interest in seeking a more sustainable and effective alternative for mosquito control. This pursuit has once again led researchers to explore the potential of secondary metabolites derived from plants, which have demonstrated significant insecticidal activity against vector mosquitoes. Many plant species have been identified for their insecticidal properties and have been successfully employed in pest management strategies (Shaalan et al., 2005b; Thiyagarajan et al., 2014; Siegwart et al., 2015; Pilaquinga et al., 2019). Exploring the insecticidal potential of plant secondary metabolites has gathered attention due to their numerous advantages over chemical insecticides. These botanical compounds offer a sustainable and renewable source of mosquito control agents, which often persist in the environment and harm non-target species, plant-derived insecticides pose a lower risk to beneficial organisms and ecosystems. Additionally,

the use of botanicals may help alleviate the development of resistance in mosquito populations, as the complex chemical composition of these natural products may make it more challenging for mosquitoes to develop resistance mechanisms. As a result, plant-based insecticides have emerged as a promising avenue against mosquito-borne diseases and reducing the environmental impact associated with conventional chemical control methods (Isman, 2014; Hazra et al., 2017; Hikal et al., 2017).

In contemporary pest management practices, plant isolates are increasingly employed either individually or in combination with other plant metabolites or chemical insecticides as part of integrated strategies. This approach capitalizes on the diverse properties of plant-derived compounds, enhancing their efficacy in controlling mosquito populations. Numerous plant families, such as Asteraceae, Solanaceae, Oocystaceae, Meliaceae, Rutaceae and Euphorbiaceae, have been identified for their remarkable ability to act as both larvicidal and repellent agents against various mosquito species, as reported by Shaalan et al. (2005b). Among the various classes of phytochemicals with well-documented insecticidal properties are alkaloids, alkanes, terpenoids, steroids, phenolics, and essential oils. The insecticidal potency of plant extracts is influenced by several factors, including the extraction technique, the polarity of the solvents used, specific plant species, regional variations, and the parts of the plant utilised (Pitasawat et al., 2007; Oliveira et al., 2010; Ghosh et al., 2012; Şengül and Canpolat, 2022). As a result, diverse plant species, ranging from herbs to shrubs and trees, are harnessed to isolate and exploit mosquitocidal compounds, thus expanding the repertoire of effective mosquito control solutions. This broad diversity of botanical sources offers excellent potential for developing novel and sustainable mosquito control products and strategies, fostering a harmonious coexistence between human populations and mosquito vectors.

# 2.2 Methodology

# **2.2.1 Collection of Plants**

For the present study, a total of thirty plants were collected from the Thrissur district of Kerala, India, representing diverse families and genera. The selection process was based on careful consideration of the existing literature survey conducted in the field. Plants were chosen based on their potential medicinal importance, antimicrobial activity, or efficacy as insecticides or pesticides. These selection criteria ensured that the plants included in the study possessed desirable properties and relevance to the research objectives.

#### 2.2.2 Mosquito Colony Maintenance

The present research utilised laboratory-reared Ae. aegypti larvae, which were maintained in an insectary at the CDRL. The larvae were bred under controlled conditions to ensure uniformity and consistency in their development. Specifically, the adult mosquiitoes were kept and reared in sterilized cages equipped with netting to prevent any external interference. A constant rearing environment was sustained with 27±2°C temperature, 75–85% relative humidity, and a photoperiod cycle of 14 hours of light and 10 hours of darkness (14:10 L/D). These carefully controlled conditions provided an ideal setting for the growth and development of mosquitoes. Freshly water-soaked raisins were provided as the primary food source for the nutrition and sustenance of the adult mosquitoes. This nutritionally rich diet served as a suitable energy source for the mosquitoes to thrive in the insectary. The consistent temperature, humidity, and photoperiod cycle created a stable and supportive environment for the mosquitoes, allowing them to reach their reproductive stage. As the study focused on female Ae. aegypti mosquitoes, they were fed on blood placed in a separate mosquito-resting cage on the third day postemergence. This step was crucial for stimulating the reproductive cycle of female mosquitoes and obtaining the required blood-fed status for the subsequent experiments. Throughout the entire duration of the experiments, these controlled laboratory conditions were maintained to minimize any external factors that could potentially influence the outcome of the tests (Munstermann, 1997).

#### 2.2.2a Aedes aegypti L.

Family : Culicidae Subfamily: Culicinae Tribe: Aedini Genus: Aedes Subgenus: Stegomyia Species: aegypti

**Eggs:** Female mosquitoes could lay between 100 and 200 eggs on average per batch when given a complete blood meal. Female mosquitoes can lay roughly five batches

of eggs during their entire lifespan. Female mosquitoes prefer moist surfaces like water-filled tree holes, temporarily flooded areas, and artificial containers to lay eggs (Clements, 1999). Compared to the eggs of other container breeders, *Ae. aegypti* eggs are smoother-textured, cigar-shaped, and about one millimetre long. These eggs are laid individually on the walls of oviposition sites, just above the water level. Eggs undergo a quick colour change from white to shiny black after being laid. Embryonic development of *Ae. aegypti* eggs are usually completed in two days in warm, humid conditions, but it may take up to 5 days in colder climates. Once fully developed, the eggs can withstand prolonged desiccation for up to a year (Bova et al., 2016). This feature makes managing *Ae. aegypti* population extremely difficult as the eggs can travel long distances in dry containers, allowing for reinfestation even months after adult mosquitoes and larvae have been removed from a particular area (Nelson, 1986; Clemons et al., 2010; Foster and Walker, 2019).

Larvae: The larvae and pupae of Ae. aegypti are fully aquatic, undergoing complete metamorphosis. During the larval stage, dedicated to feeding and growth, they utilise fan-like mouth brushes to consume submerged objects and organic matter on container surfaces. Ae. aegypti larvae share standard features with other mosquito larvae, possessing ovoid heads, thoraxes, and 9-segmented abdomens. Their abdomen's posterior and anal segments have four-lobed gills for osmotic regulation and a siphon or air tube for respiration at the water surface. Distinguishing characteristics include shorter siphons compared to other culicine mosquitoes and the absence of a siphon as in anophelines. Anopheles larvae lie almost parallel to the surface of breeding water, *Culex* mosquito larvae rest at a particular angle, while *Ae*. aegypti larvae hang vertically down from the water surface. The duration of larval development varies depending on temperature, food availability, and larval density. Under optimal conditions, the hatching to pupation can be as short as five days but typically lasts 7 to 14 days. The first three instars progress rapidly, while the fourth instar takes longer to develop and significantly increases in size and weight. In challenging conditions of low temperatures or limited food, the fourth stage may extend for several weeks before pupation. Additionally, male larvae and pupae tend to develop more rapidly than females (Nelson, 1986; Farajollahi and Price, 2013).

**Pupae:** Mosquito pupae transform from larval to adult stages and do not feed. Unlike other holometabolous insects, mosquito pupae react remarkably to external stimuli like vibrations. Their buoyancy helps the adult mosquito emerge by allowing them to float on the water surface when not moving. The pupal stage usually lasts for two or three days. A pair of trumpet-shaped breathing tubes seen at the base of the thorax allow mosquito pupae to access air above the water surface. They bear swimming paddles at the tip of the abdomen that are used for propulsion. The short, non-flared trumpets of *Aedes* pupae and the single hair on the tip of each swimming paddle set them apart from pupae of other genera. *Ae. aegypti* pupae have short, well-developed setae on the lower side of the second to sixth abdominal segments, distinguishing them from other *Aedes* species (Nelson, 1986).

Adult: Ae. aegypti is a holometabolous insect species that undergoes complete metamorphosis, progressing through all the four stages (egg, larva, pupa, and adult). The duration of the adult phase of Ae. aegypti's life cycle varies from two weeks to a month, influenced by prevailing environmental conditions. Notably, Ae. aegypti manifests itself in three polytypic forms: domestic, sylvan, and peri domestic. The domestic variant predominantly breeds within urban habitats, often near or within human dwellings. Conversely, the sylvan form primarily inhabits rural areas, explicitly opting for tree holes commonly found within forests. Lastly, the peridomestic form thrives in areas that have undergone environmental modifications, such as coconut groves and farms (Tabachnick et al., 1979; Nelson, 1986; Zettel and Kaufman, 2009). The adult stage of Ae. aegypti is recognized as the reproductive phase. Similar to other flying insects, including mosquito species, the adult stage plays a crucial role in dispersion. However, in the case of Ae. aegypti, passive dispersion through transporting eggs and larvae in containers is believed to be more significant than active dispersal through adult flight. Adult Aedes mosquitoes, including Ae. aegypti, can be differentiated from Anopheles mosquitoes by their petite palps and resting position, which is more parallel or horizontal to the resting surface. Additionally, Aedes mosquitoes can be differentially identified from most other Culicinae species by their pointed abdomen and lack of spiracular bristles. Ae. aegypti is characterized by its dark colouration with white bands at the bases of the tarsal leg segments and a distinct "lyre"-shaped pattern on the mesonotum. Although

the lyre marking may fade with age, the characteristic white scales on the clypeus and palpi usually remain, aiding in identifying *Ae. aegypti* (Nelson, 1986).

# **2.2.3 Screening of Plants**

A preliminary screening involved the preparation of a 1mg/ml (1000ppm) concentration of plant extract using three different solvents with varying polarities. A Soxhlet apparatus was used to perform extractions with different solvents during the initial screening of plants. Solvents and essential components were allowed to pass through a filter paper thimble containing twenty grams of dried plant material placed in the Soxhlet extractor. 250 ml of the selected solvent was kept in a roundbottomed flask that was attached to an isomantle along with a condenser to the Soxhlet extractor. Organic solvents with increasing polarity, such as ethyl acetate, methanol, and hexane, were heated independently to their respective boiling points for six to twelve hours. This allowed the plant extracts containing bioactive components to enter the condenser. When the solvent reached a certain level in the siphon, it was allowed to cycle back to the flask, and this process was repeated until all of the plant constituents were extracted. Ae. aegypti larvae were used to evaluate the larvicidal efficacy of the remaining evaporated extracts (Aivazi and Vijayan, 2009). Test concentrations were made by adding 249 ml of water to 1 ml stock solution of each plant extract in a 500 ml beaker. One control was set up for each bioassay by different solvent extracts, where 1 ml of solvent, instead of plant extract, was added to 249 ml of water. Subsequently, 25 healthy early fourth instar Ae. aegypti larvae were introduced into each individual beaker. Six replicates were arranged for each extract. For calculating the mortality rate, Ae. aegypti larvae were considered dead if they did not exhibit outward movement for respiration. After pooling the dead larvae from six test replicates, the percentage of larval mortality for each concentration was calculated. The plant that showed maximum efficiency, C. bonplandianus Baill, was selected for further analysis.

# 2.2.3a Croton bonplandianus Baill.

Kingdom: Plantae Order: Malpighiales Family: Euphorbiaceae Genus: *Croton* Species: *bonplandianus*  *C. bonplandianus* Baill. is a wild croton species classified as an undesirable weed in the Euphorbiaceae family. It originated from South America and was first observed in India in the late 1890s. It has since proliferated extensively, commonly appearing along roadsides, railways, abandoned grounds, and paddy or sugarcane fields, particularly on sandy or sandy clay soils. However, this species is rarely found in areas densely populated with shrubs and trees, as it thrives in locations with unrestricted airflow (Sisodia and Siddiqui, 2010). The leaves and flowers bear a striking resemblance to Tulsi, also known as Ban Tulsi or Jungle Tulsi. This plant is considered a small herb, typically reaching a height of 1-2 feet. The leaves are arranged alternately and have a lance-shaped structure with a serrated edge. The flowers, found in racemes measuring approximately 3 to 8 cm long, are small and white. Each flower comprises five sepals, five petals, and several prominent stamens extending outward. The fruit is an oblong capsule with a rough surface, measuring around 5 mm in size. The flowering season of *C. bonplandianus Baill* occurs from September to November (Islam et al., 2010; Ghosh et al., 2018).

#### 2.2.4 Extraction of Selected Plant for Larval Bioassay

The plant species selected for the current study was collected from the Palakkal Kol situated in Thrissur, Kerala, India. The preliminary criteria for the selection were the aromatic nature of the plant species. It was identified as *C. bonplandianus*, which is coming under the family Euphorbiaceae. For the larval bioassay, the leaves of the plant were collected, cleaned with tap water, and was subjected to shade drying. Fine powder of the dried leaves was made by crushing it in a hand mixer grinder. The extractions were done in a Dionex ASE 150 accelerated solvent extractor at 100<sup>o</sup>C and 1700 PSI for 20 minutes using hexane as the solvent. The collected extracts were then subjected to HS-2005V-N Rotary Flash evaporator under reduced pressure at 40<sup>o</sup>C to remove the solvent (Kraujalis et al., 2013; Kettle et al., 2016). The rest of the extract was lyophilized for further drying procedures. These procedures were carried out at Central Instruments Laboratory, Kerala Veterinary and Animal Science University, Mannuthy, Kerala. Stock solutions were prepared by dissolving a specific quantity of extract in acetone to prepare the stock solution.

#### 2.2.5 Susceptibility of Phyto- extract

The procedure outlined by the WHO (WHO, 2005a) was followed to conduct the larval bioassay, with necessary modifications to suit the specific requirements of the study. The test concentrations were prepared by adding 1 ml of the plant extract stock solution to the experimental beakers. This volume was then made up with dechlorinated tap water to achieve a final volume of 250 ml. A separate control was maintained with 1 ml of acetone blended with 249 ml of water for each experiment. In each experimental setup, twenty-five Ae. aegypti larvae were introduced into the test concentrations and the control group, ensuring that six replicates were maintained for each condition. The experimental setup remained undisturbed throughout the 24-hour test duration. No food was provided to the larvae during this time in both the control and test groups. The larvae showing no response to gentle nudging with a fine needle were considered dead. The entire experiment was conducted under constant environmental circumstances, with a room temperature of 27±2°C and a humidity level of 75±5%. The observed mortality percentage was corrected for control mortality, if present, using Abbott's formula and reported as adjusted mortality (Abbott, 1925).

# 2.2.6 Statistical Analysis

Lethal values of the tested plant extracts, including  $LC_{25}$ ,  $LC_{50}$ , and  $LC_{90}$ , were computed using SPSS version 26 to discuss the outcomes of the larval bioassay. A one-way ANOVA analysis was also performed using the observed larval bioassay values.

#### 2.2.7 Isolation and Identification of Bioactive Compound

The phyto-extract was initially evaluated using Gas Chromatography-Mass Spectrometry (GCMS) (Figure 2.2.1) to identify the chemical compounds present, which informed the selection of appropriate separation techniques. Column chromatography (Figure 2.4) and thin layer chromatography (TLC) (Figure 2.3)were employed to isolate the bioactive compound. TLC was performed using a mobile phase composed of chloroform and hexane in a 1:1 ratio for primary separation. The TLC analysis separated the plant extract into five fractions: FRA, FRB, FRC, FRD, and FRE. Each fraction was then tested for larvicidal activity against *Ae. aegypti* larvae. FRD exhibited remarkable larvicidal activity among these fractions,

while the others were discarded. To further isolate the bioactive compound within fraction FRD, column chromatography was employed using a solvent mixture of hexane, chloroform, and ethyl acetate in a ratio of 1:1:5. This process yielded a total of 18 fractions, labelled as FD1, FD2, FD3, FD4, FD5, FD6, FD7, FD8, FD9, FD10, FD11, FD12, FD13, FD14, FD15, FD16, FD17, and FD18. Each fraction was then analysed for its larvicidal activity against Ae. aegypti larvae, revealing that FD7 exhibited the highest larvicidal activity. Next, a modified column chromatography procedure, as described by Bajpai et al. (2016), was employed to fractionate fraction FD7 using varying proportions of hexane, ethyl acetate, and methanol. The mobile phase volume was made up to 50 ml for all the fractions. The initial separation began with using 100% hexane as the solvent to obtain the first fraction, with a volume of 50 ml. The subsequent fraction (Fraction 2) involved a solvent mixture of hexane and ethyl acetate in a ratio of 10:1, and Fraction 3 employed a hexane-toethyl acetate ratio of 5:1. The separation continued with Fraction 4, which employed a hexane to ethyl acetate ratio of 1:1, Fraction 5 involved a solvent mixture of hexane and ethyl acetate in a ratio of 1:5, and Fraction 6 employed a hexane-to-ethyl acetate ratio of 1:10.Fraction 7 utilised 100% ethyl acetate as the solvent, Fraction 8 involved a solvent mixture of ethyl acetate and methanol in a ratio of 10:1, Fraction 9 employed an ethyl acetate to methanol ratio of 5:1, and Fraction 10 utilised a solvent mixture of ethyl acetate and methanol in a ratio of 1:1. Fraction 11 involved an ethyl acetate to methanol ratio of 1:5, Fraction 12 employed an ethyl acetate to methanol ratio of 1:10, and the final fraction, Fraction 13, utilised 100% methanol as the solvent. This process generated 13 fractions, named FR1, FR2, FR3, FR4, FR5, FR6, FR7, FR8, FR9, FR10, FR11, FR12, and FR13. All fractions were tested for larvicidal activity, and fraction FR4, eluted at a solvent concentration of hexane and ethyl acetate in a 1:1 ratio, exhibited significant larvicidal activity. The other fractions were discarded. Subsequently, the selected fraction, FR4, underwent additional TLC using chloroform and ethyl acetate in a 2:1 ratio. This process resulted in the isolation of a single band with an RF value of 0.5.

The fraction FR4 was purified and applied to GCMS (Figure 2.2.2) analysis to gain a comprehensive understanding of the compound present in the selected fraction. The purified compound in FR4 was subjected to NMR spectrum analysis. 1H-NMR spectra (Figure 2.5.1 and 2.5.2) and 13C-NMR (Figure 2.5.3 and 2.5.4) spectra were

recorded on VNMRS-400 "Agilent-NMR" spectrophotometer using Dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO) as solvent at Central Instrumentation and Research Facility, Institution of Excellence, University of Mysore, Mysuru, India. The isolated compound was named CB1.

The isolated compound was identified using GC/MS analysis carried out at Care Keralam PVT. Ltd., Kinfra Park, Koratty, Thrissur, Kerala, India. The analysis was performed using a GC system consisting of a Model 7890 A instrument equipped with a triple-axis detector (5975C) and a DB 5MS column measuring 30 m in length and 0.250 mm in diameter, with a thickness of 0.25mm. During the analysis, the injecting temperature was carefully maintained at 280°C while a pressure of 7.0699 was applied. Helium gas served as the carrier gas for the analysis, and the ionization temperature was set to 80eV.

Analytical grade ethyl acetate, methanol, and hexane were employed for column chromatography and TLC. Silica gel 60 with a mesh size of 230-400 was used for column preparation, while analytical grade n-hexane was used for column packing. All chemicals used were of analytical grade and were obtained from Merck Co. (Germany).

# 2.2.8 Antimicrobial Activity Study

The antimicrobial susceptibility of the test samples was evaluated using the agar well diffusion method, as described by Murray et al. (1995) with modifications by Olurinola (1996). The testing was conducted on solid media, specifically agar-agar, which was poured into sterile petri plates.

The nutrient agar medium used in this study consisted of the following components: peptone (0.5g), yeast extract (0.3g), NaCl (0.5g), agar (3g), and distilled water (100ml). The pH of the medium was adjusted to 7.2. This composition provided a suitable growth medium for the bacterial strains under investigation.

The bacterial strains selected for antimicrobial susceptibility testing were as follows:

- 1. Escherichia coli (E. coli)
- 2. Staphylococcus aureus
- 3. Klebsiella pneumoniae
- 4. Proteus vulgaris

These strains were chosen due to their clinical significance and relevance to antimicrobial research.

# 2.2.8.1 Pure culture

The streak plate technique was employed to obtain pure cultures of clinically significant microbial pathogens. The initial inoculum from the culture was transferred to 50 ml of nutrient broth. The nutrient broth was incubated at room temperature (30°C) to facilitate the growth and multiplication of the pathogens for further study and analysis.

# 2.2.8.2 Antimicrobial Test

Nutrient agar medium was prepared and then sterilized using autoclaving to perform the antibacterial sensitivity studies. The sterilized medium was then transferred into sterile petri dishes of 4mm depth, in sterile conditions and solidified at room temperature (30°C). Once solidified, the test microbial organism was transferred onto the surface of the nutrient agar medium using a sterile swab. This step allowed the consistent growth of microorganisms, enabling the assessment of antibacterial activities. Three wells of 7mm diameter were made on agar medium in each Petri dish using a cup borer. In each well, 50µl of the extract samples, an antibiotic (chloramphenicol), and a control (hexane) were individually introduced. Then, the petri dishes were incubated for 24 hours at 37°C. After the incubation period, the zone of inhibition produced by the different organisms on the various plates was measured. This measurement indicated the antibacterial activity exhibited by the test samples against the tested microorganisms.

# 2.3 Results

In this study, a total of 30 plant species were subjected to screening against *Ae. aegypti* larvae (Figure 2.1.1- 2.1.30), and a fixed screening concentration of 1mg/ml was used for all the tested species. The bioassay results using different plant species and plant parts against various solvent extracts are summarized in Table 2.1. The percentage of mortality at a concentration of 1mg/ml (1000ppm) was evaluated to assess the bioactivity of each combination. Among the tested plant species, *Cosmos sulphureus* Cav displayed moderate toxicity with a mortality rate ranging from  $10 \pm 0.5\%$  for the hexane extract to  $3.33 \pm 0.75\%$  for the ethyl acetate extract and  $32.66 \pm$ 

1.6% for the methanol extract. Duranta erecta L. (leaf) showed mortality rates of  $15.33 \pm 0.89\%$  for the hexane extract,  $0.66 \pm 0.4\%$  for the ethyl acetate extract, and  $4 \pm 0.89\%$  for the methanol extract. *Duranta erecta* (seed) exhibited a mortality rate of  $52 \pm 0.57\%$  for the hexane extract,  $39.33 \pm 1.32\%$  for the ethyl acetate extract, and  $18.66 \pm 1.21\%$  for the methanol extract. *Terminalia paniculata* demonstrated a mortality rate of  $22 \pm 0.95\%$  for the hexane extract, 6.66  $\pm 1.03\%$  for the ethyl acetate extract, and  $47.33 \pm 0.98\%$  for the methanol extract. *Cyanthillium cinereum* (leaf) showed mortality rates of 18.66  $\pm$  0.74% for the hexane extract and 40.66  $\pm$ 1.16% for the ethyl acetate extract. Selaginella bryopteris (leaf) exhibited a mortality rate of  $1.33 \pm 0.47\%$  for the hexane extract,  $17.33 \pm 0.51\%$  for the ethyl acetate extract, and  $18 \pm 1.22\%$  for the methanol extract. Datura stramonium (leaf) displayed a mortality rate of  $39 \pm 1.95\%$  for the hexane extract,  $6 \pm 0.83\%$  for the ethyl acetate extract, and  $17.33 \pm 0.81\%$  for the methanol extract, while Datura stramonium (seed) showed a mortality rate of  $18 \pm 0.76\%$  for the hexane extract, 28  $\pm$  1.09% for the ethyl acetate extract, and 38.66  $\pm$  1.21% for the methanol extract. The mortality rate for *Mussaenda erythrophylla* (leaf) was  $33.33 \pm 1.49\%$  in hexane extract,  $5.33 \pm 0.81\%$  in ethyl acetate extract, and  $7.33 \pm 1.32\%$  in methanol extract.

A few plant species exhibited either no mortality or limited mortality. For example, Bougainvillea glabra (leaf) showed 0% mortality for the hexane extract,  $3.33 \pm$ 1.16% for the ethyl acetate extract, and  $47.33 \pm 1.47\%$  for the methanol extract respectively. The flower of Bougainvillea glabra showed no mortality when exposed to hexane extract,  $7.33 \pm 0.75\%$  when exposed to ethyl acetate extract, and  $24.66 \pm 0.98\%$  when exposed to methanol extract. The mortality rates for *Solanum* torvum (leaf) and Solanum torvum (seed) were  $0.66 \pm 0.37\%$  and  $58.66 \pm 1.21\%$ , and  $18.66 \pm 0.94\%$ ,  $40.66 \pm 0.4\%$ , and  $1.33 \pm 0.51\%$ , respectively, for the ethyl acetate and methanol extracts. The mortality rate of Grangea maderaspatana (leaf) extracts was found to be  $14.66 \pm 0.47\%$  for hexane,  $16.66 \pm 0.75\%$  for ethyl acetate, and  $21.33 \pm 1.5\%$  for methanol. The mortality rate of *Tridax procumbens* (leaf) was found to be  $1.33 \pm 0.74\%$  in the hexane extract and  $19.33 \pm 1.47\%$  in the ethyl acetate extract. The mortality rate for the Vitex negundo (leaf) extract was 2.0  $\pm$ 0.83% for the ethyl acetate extract, 28.66  $\pm$  0.89% for the hexane extract, and 32.0  $\pm$ 2.19% for the methanol extract. The hexane extract of Lantana camara (leaf) showed no mortality, the ethyl acetate extract showed 40.66  $\pm$  0.98%, and the

methanol extract showed  $8 \pm 167\%$ . The mortality rate for *Ixora coccinea* (leaf) extracts in hexane, ethyl acetate, and methanol was  $11.33 \pm 037\%$ ,  $28.66 \pm 0.75\%$ , and  $28.66 \pm 1.83\%$ , respectively. For the hexane extract, *Crotalaria retusa* (leaf) showed 0% mortality, the ethyl acetate extract showed 1.33  $\pm$  0.51%, and the methanol extract showed  $41.33 \pm 2.25\%$ . The mortality rate for *Cassia fistula* (leaf) was  $12.66 \pm 1.06\%$  in the hexane extract,  $43.33 \pm 1.6\%$  in the ethyl acetate extract, and  $4 \pm 1.54\%$  in the methanol extract. The mortality rate for *Clitoria ternatea* (leaf) extracts was  $19.33 \pm 0.89\%$  in hexane,  $11.33 \pm 0.98\%$  in ethyl acetate, and  $40.66 \pm$ 1.94% in methanol. The hexane extract of Hygrophila auriculata showed a mortality rate of  $36.66 \pm 0.68\%$ , while the ethyl acetate extract showed a mortality rate of 0.66  $\pm$  0.4%. The hexane extract of *Abrus precatorius* (leaf) showed no mortality, the ethyl acetate extract showed 44.66  $\pm$  1.83%, and the methanol extract showed 20  $\pm$ 1.41%. The hexane extract of Adenanthera pavonina (leaf) showed no mortality, while the ethyl acetate and methanol extracts showed  $30.66 \pm 1.75\%$  and  $42.66 \pm$ 2.16% of mortality, respectively. The mortality rate for *Hemigraphis alternata* (leaf) extracts was  $61.33 \pm 1.1\%$ ,  $20.66 \pm 1.83\%$ , and  $19.33 \pm 1.47\%$  for hexane, ethyl acetate, and methanol, respectively. For hexane, ethyl acetate, and methanol extracts, the mortality rate for Nymphaea nouchali (flower) was  $1.33 \pm 0.47\%$ , 35.33 $\pm$  2.71%, and 50.66  $\pm$  2.73%, respectively. The hexane extract showed no mortality in *Eichhornia crassipes* (leaf), while the ethyl acetate extract showed  $38 \pm 2.58\%$ . A mortality rate of  $8 \pm 0.57\%$  for the hexane extract,  $42 \pm 0.54\%$  for the ethyl acetate extract, and  $12.66 \pm 2.71\%$  for the methanol extract was observed in *Biophytum* sensitivum (whole plant). The mortality rate for Holarrhena antidysenterica (leaf) extracts was  $10.66 \pm 0.74\%$  for hexane,  $4.66 \pm 1.47\%$  for ethyl acetate, and  $15.33 \pm$ 2.63% for methanol. The hexane extract of Trichosanthes dioica (leaf) showed no mortality, while the ethyl acetate extract showed  $41.33 \pm 1.63\%$  and the methanol extract showed 11.33  $\pm$  0.75%. The mortality rate of Acacia auriculiformis (leaf) was  $56 \pm 0.81\%$  in hexane extract,  $16.66 \pm 1.94\%$  in ethyl acetate extract, and  $4.66 \pm$ 1.83% in methanol extract. The mortality rate for *Millettia pinnata* (leaf) extracts in hexane, ethyl acetate, and methanol was  $64.66 \pm 0.89\%$ ,  $12.6634 \pm 2.56\%$ , and 1.33 $\pm$  0.81%, respectively. The mortality rate for *Millettia pinnata* (seed coat) was 14  $\pm$ 1.04% in the methanol extract,  $27.33 \pm 0.4\%$  in the ethyl acetate extract, and  $72 \pm$ 0.81% in the hexane extract. The mortality rate for Eclipta prostrata (leaf) extracts in hexane, ethyl acetate, and methanol was  $77.33 \pm 1.24\%$ ,  $7.33 \pm 1.47\%$ , and 19.33

 $\pm$  2.48%, respectively. *C. bonplandianus* (leaf) showed a 100% mortality rate for all three solvent extracts, making it a choice for analysis to elucidate the bioactive compounds responsible for the larvicidal efficacy.

Three different solvents of varying polarity, namely ethyl acetate, methanol, and hexane, were utilised for the extraction process of *C. bonplandianus*. The extracts were tested at varying concentrations, ranging from 10 ppm to 105 ppm for ethyl acetate, 20 ppm to 70 ppm for methanol, and 10 ppm to 60 ppm for hexane. As shown in Table 2.2, the results unveiled the percentage of mortality observed for each concentration of the tested extracts. For ethyl acetate, at 30 ppm, the mortality observed was 10.67%, which progressively increased to 24.00% at 45 ppm, 33.33% at 60 ppm, 49.33% at 75 ppm, 65.33% at 95 ppm, and reached 86.67% at 105 ppm. The methanol extract exhibited mortality rates of 5.33% at 20 ppm, 20.00% at 30 ppm, 30.67% at 40 ppm, 45.33% at 50 ppm, 52.00% at 60 ppm, and 76.00% at 70 ppm. Similarly, the hexane extract showed mortality rates of 12% at 10 ppm, 36% at 20 ppm, 52% at 30 ppm, 64% at 40 ppm, 84% at 50 ppm, and 92% at 60 ppm.

In the next phase of the study, the larvicidal efficacy of the Hexane extract of C. bonplandianus was evaluated. Multiple parameters were recorded and analysed, including mean mortality, percentage, and lethal concentration values. These assessments were crucial in gaining a deeper understanding of the potency of the extract and its potential as a viable larvicidal agent against Ae. aegypti. The detailed results and data from these investigations have been compiled and presented in Table 2.3. The table displays the concentration (in ppm), log concentration, probit kill %, and per cent kill % for each tested concentration. At a concentration of 10 ppm, the log concentration was 1, resulting in a probit kill % of 3.82 and a per cent mortality % of 12%. As the concentration increased to 20 ppm, the log concentration became 1.30, leading to a probit mortality % of 4.64 and a per cent mortality % of 36%. Subsequently, at 30 ppm, the log concentration reached 1.48, resulting in a probit mortality % of 5.05 and a per cent mortality % of 52%. As the concentration further increased to 40 ppm, the log concentration became 1.60, a probit mortality % of 5.36 and a per cent mortality % of 64%. Similarly, at 50 ppm, the log concentration was 1.70, resulting in a probit mortality % of 5.99 and a per cent mortality % of 84%. Finally, at 60 ppm, the log concentration reached 1.78, leading to a probit mortality % of 6.41 and a per cent mortality % of 92%.

Table 2.4 presents the lethal concentrations (LC) of the hexane extract of *C. bonplandianus* against early fourth instar *Ae. aegypti* larvae. The table includes the LC<sub>25</sub>, LC<sub>50</sub>, and LC<sub>90</sub> values along with their respective Lower Confidence Limit (LCL) and Upper Confidence Limit (UCL), as well as the p-value for the statistical significance of the results. The LC<sub>25</sub> value, representing the concentration of the plant extract required to cause 25% mortality in the tested larvae, was determined to be 16.0 ppm, with the LCL and UCL being 11.3 ppm and 19.8 ppm, respectively. Similarly, the LC<sub>50</sub> value, indicating the concentration causing 50% mortality, was found to be 26.3 ppm, with the LCL and UCL being 21.6 ppm and 31.0 ppm, respectively. Furthermore, the LC<sub>90</sub> value, representing the concentration required for 90% mortality, was measured as 67.5 ppm, with the LCL and UCL being 53.1 ppm and 101.7 ppm, respectively. The obtained p-value for the statistical analysis was found to be less than 0.001, indicating a highly significant and reliable outcome.

After the initial screening of the selected plant extracts, the Hexane extract of *C*. *bonplandianus* demonstrated significant potential as it exhibited notable larvicidal efficacy against *Ae. aegypti* larvae. Therefore, it was selected for subsequent susceptibility and synergistic studies and for the isolation of bioactive compounds. The compound isolated was identified as Eicosane, denoted as CB1, with the chemical formula  $C_{20}H_{42}$  (Figure 2.6).

In the study, various organisms, including *E. coli*, *S. aureus*, *K. pneumoniae* and *P. vulgaris*, were tested for their susceptibility to different agents. The zones of inhibition, representing the extent of growth inhibition around each organism, were measured. When exposed to antibiotics, *E. coli* exhibited a zone of inhibition measuring 3.6 cm, *S. aureus* showed a zone of 3.5 cm, and *K. pneumoniae* had a zone of 2.5 cm. *P. vulgaris* displayed a zone of 3.4 cm in the presence of antibiotics. When subjected to control, all organisms displayed no inhibition zones, indicating no growth inhibition. Notably, the introduction of CB1 resulted in some level of inhibition, with zones measuring 3 cm for *E. coli*, 2.0 cm for *S. aureus*, and 2.1 cm for *K. pneumoniae*. In contrast, no inhibition was observed for *P. vulgaris*. These findings indicated that CB1 possessed a potential inhibitory effect on three of the tested organisms (Table 2.5).

				Percentage of mortality at			
CI			Plant	1mg/ml(1000ppm) Mean ±SD			
SL NO	Plant Species	Plant Family	Part	Hevane	Ethyl	Methanol	
110.			used	extract	acetate	extract	
				extract	extract		
1	Cosmos sulphureus Cav	Asteraceae	Leaf	$10 \pm 0.5$	$3.33\pm0.75$	$32.66 \pm 1.6$	
2a	Duranta erecta L.	Verbenaceae	Leaf	$15.33\pm0.89$	$0.66\pm0.4$	$4\pm0.89$	
2b	Duranta erecta L.	Verbenaceae	seed	$52\pm0.57$	$39.33 \pm 1.32$	$18.66 \pm 1.21$	
3	Terminalia paniculata Roth	Combretaceae	Leaf	$22\pm0.95$	$6.66 \pm 1.03$	$47.33\pm0.98$	
4	Cyanthillium cinereum (L.)	Asteraceae	Leaf	$18.66\pm0.74$	$40.66 \pm 1.16$	0	
5	Selaginella bryopteris(L.)	Selaginellaceae	Leaf	$1.33\pm0.47$	$17.33\pm0.51$	$18\pm1.22$	
ба	Datura stramonium L.	Solanaceae	leaf	$39 \pm 1.95$	$6 \pm 0.83$	$17.33\pm0.81$	
6b	Datura stramonium L.	Solanaceae	seed	$18\pm0.76$	$28 \pm 1.09$	$38.66 \pm 1.21$	
7	Mussaenda erythrophylla	Rubiaceae	leaf	$33.33 \pm 1.40$	$5.33 \pm 0.81$	$7.33 \pm 1.32$	
	Schumach. and Thonn. (1827)			55.55 ± 1.49	$5.55 \pm 0.81$	$7.55 \pm 1.52$	
8a	Bougainvillea glabra Choisy	Nyctaginaceae	leaf	0	$3.33 \pm 1.16$	$47.33 \pm 1.47$	
8b	Bougainvillea glabra Choisy	Nyctaginaceae	Flower	0	$7.33\pm0.75$	$24.66\pm0.98$	
9a	Solanum torvum Sw.	Solanaceae	leaf	$0.66\pm0.37$	0	$58.66 \pm 1.21$	
9b	Solanum torvum Sw.	Solanaceae	seed	$18.66\pm0.94$	$40.66\pm0.4$	$1.33\pm0.51$	
10	Grangea maderaspatana (L.)	Asteraceae	leaf	$14.66\pm0.47$	$16.66\pm0.75$	$21.33 \pm 1.5$	
11	Tridax procumbens L.	Asteraceae	leaf	$1.33\pm0.74$	$19.33 \pm 1.47$	0	
12	Vitex negundo L.	Lamiaceae	leaf	$28.66 \pm 0.89$	$2\pm0.83$	$32\pm2.19$	
13	Lantana camara L.	Verbenaceae	leaf	0	$40.66\pm0.98$	8 ± 1.67	
14	Ixora coccinea L.	Rubiaceae	leaf	$11.33\pm0.37$	$28.66\pm0.75$	$28.66 \pm 1.83$	
15	Crotalaria retusa L.	Fabaceae	leaf	0	$1.33\pm0.51$	$41.33 \pm 2.25$	
26	Cassia fistula L.	Fabaceae	leaf	$12.66 \pm 1.06$	$43.33 \pm 1.6$	$4\pm1.54$	
17	<i>Clitoria ternatea</i> L.	Fabaceae	leaf	$19.33\pm0.89$	$11.33\pm0.98$	$40.66 \pm 1.94$	
18	Hygrophila auriculata	Acanthaceae	Whole	36.66 ± 0.68	$0.66 \pm 0.4$	0	
1.0			plant				
19	Abrus precatorius L.	Fabaceae	leaf	0	44.66 ± 1.83	$20.0 \pm 1.41$	
20	Adenanthera pavonina L.	Fabaceae	leaf	0	$30.66 \pm 1.75$	$42.66\pm2.16$	
21	<i>Hemigraphis alternata</i> (Burm. f.)	Acanthaceae	leaf	$61.33 \pm 1.1$	$20.66 \pm 1.83$	$19.33 \pm 1.47$	
22	Nymphaea nouchali Burm. f.	Nymphaeaceae	flower	$1.33\pm0.47$	$35.33 \pm 2.71$	$50.66 \pm 2.73$	
23	Eichhornia crassipes (Mart.)	Pontederiaceae	leaf	0	$38\pm2.58$	0	
24	Biophytum sensitivum (L.)	Oxalidaceae	Whole	8 ± 0.57	$42 \pm 0.54$	$12.66 \pm 2.71$	
			plant				
25	Holarrhena antidysenterica	Apocynaceae	leaf	$10.66 \pm 0.74$	4.66 ± 1.47	$15.33 \pm 2.63$	
26	Trichosanthes dioica Roxb.	Cucurbitaceae	leaf	0	$41.33 \pm 1.63$	$11.33 \pm 0.75$	
27	<i>Acacia auriculiformis</i> A. Cunn. ex Benth.	Fabaceae	leaf	$56\pm0.81$	$16.66 \pm 1.94$	$4.66 \pm 1.83$	
28a	Millettia pinnata (L.)	Fabaceae	leaf	$64.66\pm0.89$	$12.66 \pm 2.56$	$1.33\pm0.81$	
28b	Millettia pinnata (L.)	Fabaceae	Seed	70 . 0.01	27.22 0.4	14 . 1 04	
			coat	$72 \pm 0.81$	$27.33 \pm 0.4$	$14 \pm 1.04$	
29	Croton bonplandianus Baill.	Euphorbiaceae	leaf	100	100	100	
30	<i>Eclipta prostrata</i> (L.)	Asteraceae	leaf	77.33 ± 1.24	7.33 ± 1.47	$19.33 \pm 2.48$	

Table 2.1: List of plant specimens collected and screened for activity against fourth instar *Ae. aegypti* larvae

Solvent	Test Concentrations in nnm	Percentage mortality		
Solvent	Test Concentrations in ppin	observed		
	30	10.67		
	45	24.00		
Ethyl acetate	60	33.33		
	75	49.33		
	95	65.33		
	105	86.67		
	20	5.33		
Methanol	30	20.00		
	40	30.67		
	50	45.33		
	60	52.00		
	70	76.00		
	10	12		
	20	36		
Hexane	30	52		
	40	64		
	50	84		
	60	92		

Table 2.2: Evaluation of *C. bonplandianus* extracts in three different solvents with varying polarity against fourth instar *Ae. aegypti* larvae

Table 2.3: Percentage and probit mortality of hexane extract of *C. bonplandianus* against fourth instar *Ae. aegypti* larvae

Sl. No.	Concentration (ppm)	Log Concentration	Probit Mortality %	Percent Mortality %
1	10	1	3.82	12%
2	20	1.30	4.64	36%
3	30	1.48	5.05	52%
4	40	1.60	5.36	64%
5	50	1.70	5.99	84%
6	60	1.78	6.41	92%

Table 2.4: Lethal concentrations of hexane extract of *C. bonplandianus* against fourth instar *Ae. aegypti* larvae

Test material	LC <sub>25</sub> (LCL- UCL)	LC <sub>50</sub> (LCL- UCL)	LC <sub>90</sub> (LCL- UCL)	p-value
Plant extract	16.0 (11.3 -19.8)	26.3 (21.6 -31.0)	67.5 (53.1 -101.7)	p<0.001

Statistical significance p<0.05

	Zone of inhibition (cm)						
Organism used	Zone by antibiotic (cm)	Zone by control (cm)	Zone by CB1 (cm)				
E. coli	3.6	Nil	3				
S. aureus	3.5	Nil	2.0				
K. pneumoniae	2.5	Nil	2.1				
P. vulgaris	3.4	Nil	Nil				

# Table 2.5: Zone of inhibition of antimicrobial activity of CB1

File :E:\GCMSD\2020\DECEMBER\11.12.2020\V717C.D Operator :

Operator : Acquired : 11 Dec 2020 15:39 using AcqMethod GCMS NEW PROFILING.M Instrument : GCMSD Sample Name: WHOLE EXTRACT CROTON BONPLANDIANUS





Figure 2.2.1 GCMS chromatogram of Whole plant extract of C. bonplandianus



Figure 2.2.2 GCMS chromatogram of isolated compound CB1 of C. bonplandianus



Figure 2.5.1- 2.5.4 NMR spectra of the isolated bioactive compound CB1



Figure 2.6 Structure of bioactive plant isolate (CB1) (Eicosane, C<sub>20</sub>H<sub>42</sub>)

# 2.4 Discussion

With a history of evolution spanning over 400 million years, plants have developed a powerful chemical defence system of secondary metabolites to protect themselves against destructive pests (Tehri and Singh, 2015). Exploring floral biodiversity and adopting safer insecticides with phytochemical composition represents a straightforward and sustainable approach to mosquito control, offering a promising alternative within potential biocontrol programs. Plant-derived pesticides, containing a rich mixture of chemical compounds, act cooperatively, affecting both physiological and behavioural processes in mosquitoes. This stands in contrast to conventional insecticides, which rely on individual active ingredients. As a result, the risk of pests developing resistance to plant-derived compounds is significantly reduced, making them a more viable and enduring solution for vector control. This holistic approach to mosquito control involves understanding the intricate interactions between plant-based compounds and the targeted mosquito species. By embracing this paradigm, researchers and public health professionals can effectively develop appropriate and region-specific strategies to fight against mosquito-borne diseases. Emphasizing the utilisation of bio-insecticides derived from plants, with their diverse and complex chemical compositions, can set the foundation for environmentally friendly and sustainable mosquito control initiatives. Such approaches align with reducing mosquito populations and limiting disease transmission (Kalyanasundaram and Babu, 1982; Das et al., 2007; Ghosh et al., 2012).

In the present study, an evaluation was conducted on the larvicidal efficacy of several locally available plant species against Ae. aegypti. The results showed the substantial larvicidal effectiveness found in many of these plant species when subjected to extraction using solvents of different polarities. These findings highlighted the abundant variety of natural resources available for effective mosquito control strategies. In biological pest management programs, more than 2000 botanical species have been utilised, out of which 344 species' secondary metabolites or products have been scientifically proven to possess significant antimosquito properties (Remia and Logaswamy, 2010). These organic chemicals, including terpenoids, phenolics, and alkaloids, have demonstrated remarkable effectiveness as larvicides, adulticides, antifeedants, oviposition inhibitors, growth and moulting hormone disruptors, anti-moulting hormones, juvenile hormone analogues, and repellents, interfering with essential biological processes in targeted vector mosquitoes (Rattan, 2010). It has been proposed that plant extracts containing a diverse array of chemicals exhibit higher heterogeneity compared to synthetic pesticides, which in turn hinders the development of resistance (Rattan and Sharma, 2011). Laboratory studies have shown that Plutella xylostella (L.), a destructive pest, rapidly develops resistance to various synthetic pesticides. However, the intriguing mode of action and complex constituents of neem (Az. indica) have proven effective in preventing neem resistance even after 42 generations of selection with the same compound (Schmutterer, 1990). Pesticides derived from plants employ a multifaceted approach involving both behavioural and physiological

activities, which collectively prevent the emergence of resistance (Rattan, 2010). In a study, Kishore et al., 2011 investigated the impact of larvicidal activity of phytochemicals against mosquito larvae, focusing on their distinctive chemical characteristics. The study explored a diverse array of secondary compounds derived from plants, including essential oils, alkanes, alkenes, alkynes, terpenes, lactones, fatty acids, alkaloids, isoflavonoids, steroids, dipterocarps, and lignans, to ascertain their potential as mosquito larvicides.

Furthermore, the researchers extensively documented the lethal potential of various bioactive toxic components towards a wide range of mosquito species and successfully isolated these compounds from diverse plants. Some notable plant-isolated compounds include neoduline and nepseudin (Breytenbach and Rall, 1980), dioncophylline-A (Francois et al., 1996), geranial (Kelm et al., 1997), pipernonaline (Lee, 2000), octacosane (Rajkumar and Jebanesan, 2004), azadirachtin (Nathan et al., 2005),  $\alpha$ -terpinene (Jantan et al., 2005), germacrene D (Ravi Kiran and Devi, 2007), hugorosenone (Baraza et al., 2008),  $\beta$ -sitosterol (Rahuman and Venkatesan, 2008), stemocurtisine, stemocurtisinol, and oxyprotostemonine (Mungkornasawakul et al., 2009), plumbagin compound (Maniafu et al., 2009), and methyl-phydroxybenzoate (Kannathasan et al., 2011). These compounds, extracted from various plants, have demonstrated significant and efficient lethal activity against mosquitoes, presenting promising prospects for potential mosquito control strategies.

Within this analysis, among the different plants and plant parts tested, a member of the Euphorbiaceae family, *C. bnoplandianus*, showed significant efficiency in mosquito control, serving as a larvicide against *Ae. aegypti*, the test organism. When applied at a concentration of 1mg/ml, it achieved a 100% mortality rate. A more detailed examination of this extract indicated that the hexane extract exhibited exceptional efficiency compared to other solvents. The hexane extract of *C. bonplandianus* exhibited lethal concentrations against fourth instar larvae of *Ae. aegypti*, with LC<sub>25</sub> (LCL-UCL) measuring 16.0 (11.3-19.8), LC<sub>50</sub> (LCL-UCL) at 26.3 (21.6-31.0), and LC<sub>90</sub> (LCL-UCL) recorded as 67.5 (53.1-101.7). These results yielded a statistically significant P value of <0.001.

The results of this study were harmonious with the outcomes observed by Nazar et al. in 2009, where they observed strong larvicidal effects of C. *bonplandianus* stem

extracts against Cx. quinquefasciatus mosquitoes. In a study by Jeeshna et al., 2010, the investigation focused on the larvicidal activity of leaf extracts from C. bonplandianus at various concentrations. The results revealed its effectiveness in controlling the mosquito species Ae. aegypti, regarding larvicidal activity. Patel et al. (2000) proposed that the substantial biomass of the weed C. bonplandianus, abundantly found in the wastelands of southern India, holds the potential to serve as a valuable bioresource for the commercial production of mosquito repellent targeting Ae. aegypti. Furthermore, Bagavan and Rahuman (2011) conducted a study in Vellore District, Tamil Nadu, India, evaluating the larvicidal activity of C. bonplandianus extracts against different mosquito species An. vagus, Ar. subalbatus, and Cx. Vishnui. Their study revealed that the leaf ethyl acetate extract of C. bonplandianus exhibited high larval mortality against all the tested species. These findings are consistent with the present research, suggesting the potential of C. bonplandianus as a potent larvicidal agent. Moreover, a detailed review conducted by Ghosh et al. in 2018 further explored the pharmacology, traditional uses, and phytochemical properties of C. bonplandianus, reaffirming its remarkable larvicidal impact on the Ae. aegypti vector mosquito. These collective outcomes indicated C. bonplandianus could be used as an essential natural resource for developing ecofriendly larvicidal agents for mosquito control, positioning it as a promising resource for further research and exploration in vector-borne disease management.

The search for effective chemicals from the plant kingdom has been a subject of intensive exploration. Botanicals are naturally occurring secondary metabolites produced by plants, which function as defence mechanisms against various adverse factors. These compounds help plants withstand continuous selection pressure. Numerous studies have reported insecticidal activities among the various groups of phytochemicals, including essential oils, terpenoids, alkaloids, steroids, and phenolics. The insecticidal capability of plant extracts can vary based on plant variety, species of mosquito tested, geographical variations, and the plant part used for extraction. The extraction methodology and the polarity of the solvents used during the process also influence the insecticidal properties. A diverse range of plants, including large trees, shrubs, and herbs were selected for extracting natural compounds with mosquitocidal properties. Campbell et al. (1933) reported early findings on plant alkaloids, specifically nicotine, anabasine, methyl anabasine, and

Iupinine, isolated from the Russian weed, *Anabasis aphylla*. These alkaloids were found to exhibit larvicidal activity against the larvae of mosquito species, including *Cx. pipiens*, *Cx. territans*, and *Cx. quinquefasciatus*. Phytochemicals were extracted from various parts of the plants, such as fruits, leaves, stems, barks, and roots (Shaalan et al., 2005b; Ghosh et al., 2012).

During this research, the bioactive compound primarily responsible for the larvicidal effectiveness of a weed species, C. bonplandianus was isolated using a series of distinct chromatographic separation techniques. These phytochemical investigations conducted in this study unveiled the presence of an alkane compound, eicosane (CB1), which contributed to the larvicidal activity of C. bonplandianus against Ae. aegypti mosquitoes. The antimicrobial assessment of CB1 against clinically significant microbial strains revealed its capability to inhibit the proliferation of three bacterial strains: S. aureus, E. coli, and K. pneumoniae. This lined up with the previous research by Mohammed et al., 2016. They assessed the larvicidal action of essential oil from *Coccinia grandis* leaves on three different vector mosquito species and found that the isolated eicosane compound exhibited remarkable lethal activity against all tested species. The authors suggested that the potent larvicidal activity of Co. grandis essential oil could be attributed to the main component, eicosane, or its synergistic interactions with other minor components in the extract. Moreover, the literature review revealed additional evidence supporting the diverse biological activities of eicosane. Studies by Akpuaka et al., 2013, examining the biological activities of compound isolates from n-hexane extracts of Az. indica leaves reported that eicosane displayed excellent antifungal, antibacterial, antitumor, and cytotoxic effects. Furthermore, Mathur et al., 2014, investigated the in vitro multiplication and production of steroidal sapogenins from Moringa oleifera, observed that eicosane exhibited both antibacterial and larvicidal potential. These findings suggested the adaptability of eicosane as a bioactive compound with potential applications in various fields, including mosquito control and antimicrobial treatments.

# **2.5 Conclusion**

This chapter examined various plants screened for their larvicidal efficacy against the dengue fever vector, Ae. aegypti. The assessment involved the utilisation of three distinct solvents with varying polarities, hexane, methanol, and ethyl acetate, to extract essential components from these plant specimens. The determination of their effectiveness as larvicides relied on the derivation of lethal concentration values through susceptibility tests performed on early fourth-instar larvae of Ae. aegypti. Among the plants studied, C. bonplandianus exhibited the highest mortality rate when subjected to extraction using hexane as the solvent. Consequently, this plant was selected for further investigation. After this selection, various chromatographic techniques were employed to elucidate the bioactive compound that demonstrated the most promising efficacy from the selected plant species, which was identified as eicosane (CB1). The antimicrobial properties of the bioactive compound were examined to determine its potential effects on the microbial fauna within the environment upon dispersion. The results of these investigations revealed the remarkable larvicidal efficacy of the compound against the Ae. aegypti vector and its substantial capacity to control certain microbial organisms within the ecosystem. This plant-based approach could offer an essential instrument for reducing vector mosquito populations and the transmission of diseases like dengue while minimizing adverse effects on ecosystems and human health.

# **CHAPTER III**

# Susceptibility Assessment of Four Different Conventional Insecticides and Isolated Plant Bioactive Compound on Fourth Instar Larvae of *Ae. aegypti*

# **3.1 Introduction**

Mosquitoes have long been recognized as the principal vectors responsible for transmitting a multitude of diseases that retain substantial risks to both human and animal health. Among these, dengue fever stands out as one of the most alarming and hazardous due to its high mortality rate and the escalating frequency of its occurrence (Morra et al., 2018). In recent times, the global burden of dengue fever has shown a concerning increase, prompting severe public health concerns. Current reports suggest that nearly 390 million people are infected with the dengue virus annually, with approximately 90 million individuals experiencing severe manifestations of the disease (Brady et al., 2012; Bhatt et al., 2013). The prevalence of dengue fever remains highly unpredictable, leading to its spread into new areas and an uncontrollable surge in the number of cases. The transmission of the dengue fever virus to humans primarily occurs through mosquitoes belonging to the genus Aedes, with Ae. aegypti being recognized as the most significant dengue vector. This vector's widespread presence and efficient transmission capability contribute to the rapid and persistent spread of dengue fever, making it a major public health concern worldwide (Paul et al., 1965; Carey et al., 1996; Chaturvedi and Nagar, 2008; Mutheneni et al., 2017). Effective mosquito control methods are fundamental in diminishing vector-borne disease transmission and reducing morbidity. The basis of disease prevention hinges on effective mosquito control strategies. Among these methods, larval control, aimed at mosquito larvae, and adult control, which focuses on adult mosquitoes, emerged as crucial techniques (Sharma et al., 2016; Paul et al., 2020).

Since the 1920s, insecticides have become integral to pest management strategies due to their increasing effectiveness. The initial emergence of synthetic organic insecticides began with the invention of Dinitro-o-cresol, and it marked the foundation of a series of analogous compounds (Cremlyn, 1978). By the late 1930s, several innovative discoveries had identified new synthetic insecticides with enormous potential for widespread use, highlighting the necessity of a chemical approach to pest control. These insecticides have gradually become the preferred method of controlling insect pests. Chlorinated hydrocarbons such as DDT (1939), lindane (1942), chlordane (1945), toxaphene (1947), aldrin/dieldrin (1949), and endosulfan (1956) were notable pesticides. Carbamate insecticides included agents like carbaryl (1957), aldicarb (1965), carbofuran (1965), pirimicarb (1969), and alanycarb (1984). Organophosphates (Ops) introduced compounds like TEPP (1938), parathion (1946), malathion (1952), diazinon (1953), chlorpyriphos (1965), and chlorethoxyphos (1986). Pyrethroids (Pys) entered the list with allethrin (1949), resmethrin (1967), permethrin (1973), deltamethrin (1974), cypermethrin (1974), esfenvalerate (1984), silafluofen (1990), and lambda-cyhalothrin (1990), illustrating the dynamic landscape of insect control approaches (Casida and Quistad, 1998; Prato et al., 2012).

Organophosphates form a group of insecticides with varied chemical structures, united by the presence of a phosphate (or thio- or dithio-phosphate) component and an organic constituent. Initially developed as hazardous biowarfare agents in the 1940s, these compounds, including modern derivatives like sarin, were intended for pest control but pose significant disposal challenges today. While some OPs, such as Parathion, were designed as alternatives to DDT, they exhibited higher acute toxicity, leading to human fatalities. These pesticides inhibit cholinesterase and interfere with neurotransmitter degradation. Their effects extend beyond insects, affecting wildlife and humans as well (Prato et al., 2012).

During the transition from the 1960s to the 1970s, significant changes occurred in the landscape of insecticide usage, primarily driven by the discovery of photostable pyrethroids. These synthetic pyrethroids emerged as a new class of insecticides in the 1980s, characterized by their neurotoxic properties that target the voltagesensitive sodium channels in the nervous systems of insects. Despite their structural dissimilarity from organochlorides, organophosphates, and carbamates, PYs still exert their effects on nerve cells. PYs were found to have a higher impact on insects' sodium channels than mammals, as demonstrated in the study by Vais et al. in 2001. PYs trace their origins back to the 1800s, derived from the natural pyrethrum in Chrysanthemum flowers. Over the past two decades, their utilisation has experienced a significant upsurge (Narahashi, 1976; Lund and Narahashi, 1983). PYs can be categorized into three groups: Type I, Type II, or intermediate, based on their chemical structures. These synthetic pyrethroids mimic the desirable properties
of natural pyrethrins and can act as both stomach and contact poisons. Various PYs exhibit distinct structural attributes that influence their lethality towards insects and, in some cases, mammals. As more hazardous insecticides like OPs and carbamates have declined in use, synthetic pyrethroids have gained prominence in recent years (Thatheyus and Selvam, 2013).

Despite the success of these insecticides in effectively managing mosquito populations over several years, heavy reliance on these limited active ingredients and their widespread use has led to the development of resistance against these compounds. While most synthetic insecticides currently in use remain effective against their intended target species, concerns persist regarding resistance, which can potentially spark the resurgence of vector-borne infections (Sarkar et al., 2009). Consequently, biomagnification poses substantial risks to a diverse array of nontarget species and the surrounding environment (Gold et al., 2001). Chemical pesticides inflict significant harm as their residues persist in the ecosystem over prolonged durations, posing risks to life and aiding in the development of insect resistance (Pushpanathan et al., 2008). Studies examining resistance patterns have revealed that, Ae. aegypti has acquired resistance to various insecticides, including carbamates, organochlorides, organophosphates, and pyrethroids. The emergence of resistance and growing environmental concerns has motivated researchers to redirect their efforts toward phytochemicals as a strategic approach achieving effective vector control while circumventing these challenges (Vontas et al., 2012).

Botanical insecticides emerge as a natural and environmentally conscious substitute for synthetic or chemical pesticides in vector control strategies. These insecticides, derived from plants, provide a compelling strategy to counter the undesirable consequences often associated with synthetic counterparts (Hikal et al., 2017). Incredibly diverse secondary metabolites found in plants have been shown to be effective against mosquito species of significant medical and veterinary importance as well as against other arthropod nuisance pests and vectors (Isman, 2006; Isman and Grieneisen, 2014; Benelli et al., 2018). A brief exploration of the available literature uncovers numerous laboratory and applied studies (Roth et al., 1998; Momin and Nair, 2002; Supabphol and Tangjitjareonkun, 2014; Karthi et al., 2020) that have investigated the biological activity of various plant components against different pathogens and arthropods. These investigations have unveiled various botanical insecticides, including different bioactive agents, such as fungicides, nematicides, acaricides, insecticides, and growth inhibitors. Some isolated active compounds from various plant species included (5E)-ocimenone from Tagetes minuta (Maradufu et al., 1978), rotenone from D. elliptica (Ameen et al., 1983), from *Az*. indica (Schmutterer, 1981), capillin azadirachtin from Artemisia nilagirica (Banerji et al., 1990), quassin from Quassia amara (Evans and Raj, 1991), neolignans from Piper decurrens (Chauret et al., 1996), arborine, a novel bioactive compound related to quinazolone alkaloid, from *Glycosmis* pentaphylla (Muthukrishnan et al., 1999), and goniothalamin from Bryonopsis laciniosa (Kabir et al., 2003).

Studies have indicated that plant-derived larvicides present a secure, easily accessible, and economically viable option compared to chemical insecticides for eradicating mosquitoes in their larval or adult forms (Elumalai et al., 2017). In the context of resistance, the potential for developing resistance in the intended species remains unlikely owing to the multidimensional mechanisms of action exhibited by plant-derived insecticides. These mechanisms comprise the inhibition of acetylcholinesterase and modulation of GABA and octopamine receptors, as reported in studies by Enan (2005) and Price and Berry (2006). Furthermore, despite certain conflicting findings, these insecticides have demonstrated a degree of safety for vertebrates and generally exhibit low toxicity levels toward non-target aquatic invertebrates, as suggested by Pavela and Benelli (2016).

#### **3.2 Methodology**

#### **3.2.1 Mosquito Colony Maintenance**

The maintenance of the *Ae. aegypti* colony followed the methods explained in Chapter II (Munstermann, 1997).

#### **3.2.2 Plant Isolate Bioassay**

The bioactive compound CB1 was isolated using Thin-Layer Chromatography and Column chromatography, as described in Chapter II. To prepare the stock solution of the plant isolate, a specific quantity of the CB1 was dissolved in acetone. The stock solution was then used to prime the test concentrations. For this purpose, 1 ml of the identified concentration of the plant isolate was added to a volumetric flask, and dechlorinated tap water was added to make up a total volume of 250 ml. The experiment also included a control group consisting of 1 ml of acetone mixed with 249 ml of water. Further dilutions of the stock solution were made using dechlorinated tap water to create various test concentration levels. For the larval bioassay, twenty-five *Ae aegypti* larvae were introduced into each test concentration and control. Six replicates were maintained for both the control and the test to ensure the reliability and accuracy of the results. During the 24-hour experiment, the larvae were not provided additional food and the whole setup was kept undisturbed. At the end of the 24 hours, the larvae were examined, and those showing no response to gentle nudging with a fine needle were considered dead. The entire experiment was conducted under controlled room temperature, maintaining a constant temperature of  $27\pm2^{\circ}$ C and humidity at  $75\pm5\%$ . WHO (2005a) procedure for larval bioassay was followed.

#### 3.2.3 Insecticide Bioassay

Four conventional insecticides, Lambda-cyhalothrin, Cypermethrin, Temephos, and Malathion, were chosen for investigation. Insecticide stock solutions were composed by dissolving 1 milligram of individual insecticide in 10 ml of acetone. A series of different concentrations were prepared from this stock solution for each insecticide, which was then used in insecticide susceptibility studies. The standard WHO procedure was followed for determining larval susceptibility (Brown, 1986). The bioassays were carried out against the fourth instar larvae of *Ae. aegypti*.

#### **3.2.4 Statistical Analysis**

Statistical software SPSS version 26 was utilised to calculate the lethal values of the tested insecticides.  $LC_{25}$ ,  $LC_{50}$ , and  $LC_{90}$  values were computed to examine and interpret the outcomes obtained from the larval bioassay with the experimental insecticides. Additionally, one-way ANOVA analysis was conducted using the observed values from the larval bioassay to analyse the data further and draw relevant conclusions.

#### 3.3 Result

In this study, four conventional insecticides were chosen, comprising two from the organophosphate family and two from the pyrethroid group. The specific

insecticides included in the study were malathion, temephos, cypermethrin, and lambda-cyhalothrin. These selections were made to represent different classes of insecticides commonly used in mosquito control programs and to assess their effectiveness against the target mosquito species.

The susceptibility assay results indicated the insecticidal activity of malathion, an organophosphate insecticide widely used for mosquito control. The varying concentrations of malathion used for the analysis were  $2.1 \times 10^{-3}$  ppm,  $2.7 \times 10^{-3}$  ppm,  $3.3 \times 10^{-3}$  ppm,  $3.9 \times 10^{-3}$  ppm,  $4.5 \times 10^{-3}$  ppm, and  $5.1 \times 10^{-3}$  ppm. In a 24-hour bioassay, the percentage mortalities observed were 12%, 24%, 36%, 56%, 76%, and 92%, respectively. Probit mortalities were also recorded, corresponding to 3.82, 4.25, 4.64, 5.15, 5.71, and 6.41. The LC<sub>25</sub>, LC<sub>50</sub>, and LC<sub>90</sub> values for malathion were found to be  $2.7 \times 10^{-3}$  ppm (with a confidence interval of  $3.2 \times 10^{-3}$ - $3.0 \times 10^{-3}$  ppm),  $3.5 \times 10^{-3}$  ppm (with a confidence interval of  $3.2 \times 10^{-3}$ - $3.8 \times 10^{-3}$  ppm), and  $5.6 \times 10^{-3}$  ppm (with a confidence interval of  $3.2 \times 10^{-3}$ -gpm), respectively (Table 3.1 and Table 3.6).

The insecticidal potential of temephos, another organophosphate, was assessed using test solutions with concentrations of  $5.0 \times 10^{-4}$  ppm,  $1.2 \times 10^{-3}$  ppm,  $1.9 \times 10^{-3}$  ppm,  $2.6 \times 10^{-3}$  ppm,  $3.3 \times 10^{-3}$  ppm, and  $4.0 \times 10^{-3}$  ppm. The corresponding percentage mortalities were 8%, 24%, 44%, 60%, 72%, and 92%, while the probit mortalities were recorded as 3.59, 4.25, 4.85, 5.25, 5.58, and 6.41. The LC<sub>25</sub>, LC<sub>50</sub>, and LC<sub>90</sub> values for temephos were determined as  $1.1 \times 10^{-3}$  ppm (with a confidence interval of  $8 \times 10^{-4}$ - $1.4 \times 10^{-3}$  ppm),  $1.9 \times 10^{-3}$  ppm (with a confidence interval of  $1.6 \times 10^{-3}$ - $2.3 \times 10^{-3}$  ppm), and  $5.3 \times 10^{-3}$  ppm (with a confidence interval of  $4.0 \times 10^{-3}$ - $8.7 \times 10^{-3}$  ppm), respectively (Table 3.2 and Table 3.6).

The larvicidal potential of synthetic pyrethroids, cypermethrin and lambdacyhalothrin, was investigated for varying concentrations of  $4.0 \times 10^{-5}$  ppm,  $1.0 \times 10^{-4}$  ppm,  $1.6 \times 10^{-4}$  ppm,  $2.2 \times 10^{-4}$  ppm,  $2.8 \times 10^{-4}$  ppm, and  $3.4 \times 10^{-4}$  ppm for cypermethrin. The corresponding percentage mortalities were 16%, 32%, 48%, 64%, 80%, and 88%, and probit mortalities were calculated as 4.01, 4.53, 4.95, 5.36, 5.84, and 6.18, respectively (Table 3.3). For lambda-cyhalothrin, test concentrations of  $2.0 \times 10^{-5}$  ppm,  $4.0 \times 10^{-5}$  ppm,  $6.0 \times 10^{-5}$  ppm,  $8.0 \times 10^{-5}$  ppm,  $1.0 \times 10^{-4}$  ppm, and  $1.2 \times 10^{-4}$  ppm exhibited percentage mortalities of 16%, 36%, 52%, 64%, 84%, and 96%, with probit mortalities as 4.01, 4.64, 5.05, 5.36, 5.99, and 6.75, respectively (Table 3.4). The susceptibility values for cypermethrin were noted as  $7.0 \times 10^{-5}$ ppm (with a confidence interval of  $4.0 \times 10^{-5}$ - $9.0 \times 10^{-5}$ ppm) for LC<sub>25</sub>,  $1.4 \times 10^{-4}$ ppm (with a confidence interval of  $1.1 \times 10^{-4}$ - $1.7 \times 10^{-4}$ ppm) for LC<sub>50</sub>, and  $5.0 \times 10^{-4}$ ppm (with a confidence interval of  $3.5 \times 10^{-4}$ - $9.3 \times 10^{-4}$ ppm) for LC<sub>90</sub>. For lambda-cyhalothrin, the susceptibility values were determined as  $3.0 \times 10^{-5}$ ppm (with a confidence interval of  $2.0 \times 10^{-5}$  - $4.0 \times 10^{-5}$ ppm) for LC<sub>25</sub>,  $5.0 \times 10^{-5}$ ppm (with a confidence interval of  $4.0 \times 10^{-5}$  - $6.0 \times 10^{-5}$ ppm) for LC<sub>50</sub>, and  $1.3 \times 10^{-4}$ ppm (with a confidence interval of  $1.0 \times 10^{-5}$  - $6.0 \times 10^{-5}$ ppm) for LC<sub>90</sub> (Table 3.6).

The results demonstrated varying effectiveness among the tested chemical insecticides against Ae. aegypti larvae. Based on the research findings, it was evident that lambda-cyhalothrin emerged as the most effective chemical insecticide in controlling Ae. aegypti larvae, exceeding the efficacy of cypermethrin, temephos, and malathion in that order. While cypermethrin, temephos, and malathion also showed potential in mosquito control programs, each with its specific advantages and applications. This potency is crucial in mosquito control efforts, especially in regions where Ae. aegypti poses a significant threat as a vector for various diseases. The effectiveness of lambda-cyhalothrin as a synthetic pyrethroid highlights its potential in combating mosquito-borne diseases and mitigating the risk of transmission. Cypermethrin, although slightly less potent than lambda-cyhalothrin, also exhibited considerable larvicidal activity. It holds promise as an alternative insecticide for mosquito control programs, offering an additional option in situations where lambda-cyhalothrin may not be readily available or suitable. Temephos and malathion, belonging to the organophosphate family, displayed lower larvicidal efficacy than synthetic pyrethroids. Nevertheless, they can still serve as viable options in integrated pest management strategies, especially when resistance to pyrethroids is a concern.

The larval bioassay utilised various concentrations of the isolated compound, CB1, derived from *C. bonplandianum*. The concentrations tested were 1.8, 3.6, 5.4, 7.2, 9.0, and 10.8 ppm. The results revealed that as the concentration increased, the percentage of mortalities of the tested mosquito larvae also increased, with observed values of 12%, 36%, 52%, 64%, 84%, and 92% for each respective concentration. The observed probit mortalities were 3.82, 4.64, 5.05, 5.36, 5.99, and 6.41. The susceptibility of CB1, against the larvae was evident, as it demonstrated mortality at

even lower concentrations (Table 3.5). The  $LC_{25}$ ,  $LC_{50}$ , and  $LC_{90}$  values were determined to be 2.9 (2.0-3.6) ppm, 4.7 (3.9-5.6) ppm, and 12.2 (9.6-18.3) ppm, respectively, indicating the concentration at which 25%, 50%, and 90% of the larvae were affected. These findings highlighted the potential larvicidal activity of CB1 and its effectiveness in controlling mosquito larvae (Table 3.6).

Sl. No.	Concentration (ppm)	Log Concentration	Probit Mortality %	Percent Mortality %
1	$2.1 \times 10^{-3}$	-2.68	3.82	12%
2	$2.7 \times 10^{-3}$	-2.57	4.25	24%
3	$3.3 \times 10^{-3}$	-2.48	4.64	36%
4	$3.9 \times 10^{-3}$	-2.41	5.15	56%
5	$4.5 \times 10^{-3}$	-2.35	5.71	76%
6	$5.1 \times 10^{-3}$	-2.30	6.41	92%

Table 3.1: Percentage and probit mortality of Malathion against fourth instar Ae. aegypti larvae

Table 3.2: Percentage and probit mortality of Temephos against fourth instar Ae. *aegypti* larvae

Sl. No.	Concentration (ppm)	Log Concentration	Probit Mortality %	Percent Mortality %
1	$5.0  imes 10^{-4}$	-3.30	3.59	8%
2	$1.2 \times 10^{-3}$	-2.92	4.25	24%
3	$1.9 \times 10^{-3}$	-2.72	4.85	44%
4	$2.6 \times 10^{-3}$	-2.59	5.25	60%
5	$3.3 \times 10^{-3}$	-2.48	5.58	72%
6	$4.0  imes 10^{-3}$	-2.40	6.41	92%

Table 3.3: Percentage and probit mortality of Cypermethrin against fourth instar Ae. *aegypti* larvae

Sl. No.	Concentration (ppm)	Log Concentration	Probit Mortality %	Percent Mortality %
1	$4.0  imes 10^{-5}$	-4.40	4.01	16%
2	$1.0  imes 10^{-4}$	-4.00	4.53	32%
3	$1.6 \times 10^{-4}$	-3.80	4.95	48%
4	$2.2  imes 10^{-4}$	-3.66	5.36	64%
5	$2.8  imes 10^{-4}$	-3.55	5.84	80%
6	$3.4 \times 10^{-4}$	-3.47	6.18	88%

Sl. No.	Concentration (ppm)	Log Concentration	Probit Mortality %	Percent Mortality %
1	$2.0 \times 10^{-5}$	-4.70	4.01	16%
2	$4.0  imes 10^{-5}$	-4.40	4.64	36%
3	$6.0  imes 10^{-5}$	-4.22	5.05	52%
4	$8.0  imes 10^{-5}$	-4.09	5.36	64%
5	$1.0  imes 10^{-4}$	-4.00	5.99	84%
6	$1.2 \times 10^{-4}$	-3.92	6.75	96%

Table 3.4: Percentage and probit mortality of Lambda-cyhalothrin against fourth instar *Ae. aegypti* larvae

Table 3.5: Percentage and probit mortality CB1 against fourth instar Ae. aegypti larvae

Sl. No.	Concentration (ppm)	Log Concentration	Probit Mortality %	Percent Mortality %
1	1.8	0.26	3.82	12%
2	3.6	0.56	4.64	36%
3	5.4	0.73	5.05	52%
4	7.2	0.86	5.36	64%
5	9.0	0.95	5.99	84%
6	10.8	1.03	6.41	92%

Table 3.6: Mosquito larvicidal effect of CB1, Malathion, Temephos, Cypermethrin, and Lambda- cyhalothrin against fourth instar *Ae. aegypti* larvae

Test Material	LC <sub>25</sub> (LCL-	LC <sub>50</sub> (LCL-UCL)	LC <sub>90</sub> (LCL-UCL)	p-
	UCL) ppm	ppm	ppm	value
Plant isolate	2.9	4.7	12.2	< 0.01
(CB1)	(2.0-3.6)	(3.9-5.6)	(9.6-18.3)	
Malathion	$2.7 \times 10^{-3}$	3.5×10 <sup>-3</sup>	5.6×10 <sup>-3</sup>	< 0.01
	$(2.4 \times 10^{-3})$	$(3.2 \times 10^{-3} -$	(4.9×10 <sup>-3</sup> -6.9×10 <sup>-</sup>	
	3.0×10 <sup>-3</sup> )	3.8×10 <sup>-3</sup> )	3)	
Temephos	1.1×10 <sup>-3</sup>	1.9×10 <sup>-3</sup>	5.3×10 <sup>-3</sup>	< 0.01
	(8.0×10 <sup>-4</sup> -	$(1.6 \times 10^{-3} -$	(4.0×10 <sup>-3</sup> -	
	$1.4 \times 10^{-3}$ )	2.3×10 <sup>-3</sup> )	8.7×10 <sup>-3</sup> )	
Cypermethrin	7.0×10 <sup>-5</sup>	$1.4 \times 10^{-4}$	5.0×10 <sup>-4</sup>	< 0.01
	(4.0×10 <sup>-5</sup> -	$(1.1 \times 10^{-4} -$	(3.5×10 <sup>-4</sup> -	
	9.0×10 <sup>-5</sup> )	1.7×10 <sup>-4</sup> )	9.3×10 <sup>-4</sup> )	
Lambda-	3.0×10 <sup>-5</sup>	5.0×10 <sup>-5</sup>	1.3×10 <sup>-4</sup>	< 0.01
cyhalothrin	(2.0×10 <sup>-5</sup> -	(4.0×10 <sup>-5</sup> -	(1.0×10 <sup>-4</sup> -	
-	4.0×10 <sup>-5</sup> )	6.0×10 <sup>-5</sup> )	2.0×10 <sup>-4</sup> )	

Statistical significance p-value<0.05



Figure 3.1 Concentration vs probit mortality percentage of CB1 against Ae. aegypti larvae



Figure 3.2 Concentration vs probit mortality percentage of Malathion against Ae. aegypti larvae



Figure 3.3 Concentration vs probit mortality percentage of Temephos against Ae. aegypti larvae



Figure 3.4 Concentration vs probit mortality percentage of Cypermethrin against *Ae. aegypti* larvae



Figure 3.5 Concentration vs probit mortality percentage of Lambda- cyhalothrin against *Ae. aegypti* larvae

#### **3.4 Discussion**

The *Ae. aegypti* mosquito plays a critical role as the primary vector for transmitting dengue fever (Smith, 1956; Hammon, 1966; Rudnick, 1967; Gubler et al., 1979; Rohani et al., 2001) chikungunya and zika virus (Bodenmann and Genton, 2006; Pialoux et al., 2007; Díaz-González et al., 2015; Lounibos and Kramer, 2016). This invasive mosquito species has successfully spread across tropical to temperate regions worldwide. Its adaptability to breed in artificial containers has facilitated its passive dispersal over the past decades through significant transportation routes (Vezzani and Carbajo, 2008). *Ae. aegypti vector* mosquitoes are commonly found coexisting in artificial containers in rural, urban, and suburban communities within subtropical and tropical regions. Their ability to thrive in such varied environments has contributed to their widespread presence. Controlling and managing of *Ae. aegypti vector* populations are crucial to preventing disease outbreaks and safeguarding public health in affected regions (Rohani et al., 2001; Gomes et al., 2005; Jirakanjanakit et al., 2007).

Chemical treatment remains a fundamental and essential approach in pest management due to its fast-acting nature and broad coverage in treating infested areas. WHO has endorsed several chemical insecticides for managing mosquito populations in mosquito control strategies worldwide (Meier et al., 2022). These insecticides fall under different categories, Organochlorines, Organophosphates, Carbamates, and Pyrethroids (WHO, 2006; Marcombe et al., 2009).

Malathion is classified as an organophosphate insecticide, effective in killing insects while posing lesser harm to mammals. Since the 1970s, this second-generation insecticide has been widely utilised for efficient mosquito vector control, especially after the phasing out of DDT and dieldrin in the United States of America. It finds prevalent applications in agricultural pest management and is also incorporated into vector control strategies for public health purposes (Prato et al., 2012; Cox, 2003). The primary mechanism of organophosphate poisoning involves inhibiting acetylcholinesterase in the nervous system, increasing acetylcholine levels (Ecobichon and Joy, 1993). Consequently, a single presynaptic stimulus can produce multiple postsynaptic impulses, resulting in hyperexcitability. Exposure to malathion and other organophosphorus substances at work has been linked to significantly impaired neutrophil chemotaxis, according to Hermanowicz and Kossman (1984). Additionally, the incidence of upper respiratory infections among these individuals rose as sensitivity to organophosphorus chemicals grew over time. In vitro, macrophage and lymphocyte immunological responses can also be impacted by organophosphorus chemicals (Karalliedde and Senanayake, 1989; Pruett et al., 1994).

In the current susceptibility assay, the observed results unveiled a considerable positive association between the mortality rate of *Ae. aegypti* larvae and the all the tested concentrations of malathion. This correlation signifies the presence of susceptibility to the insecticide, as evidenced by an  $LC_{50}$  value of  $3.5 \times 10^{-3}$  ppm. In the 24-hour bioassay, higher concentrations of malathion were associated with increased mortality percentages, supporting the findings. This result aligned with previous research conducted by Huong et al. (2004), where they investigated the susceptibility of *Ae. aegypti* to insecticides across multiple locations in Vietnam and found the species susceptible to malathion, suggesting its potential effectiveness in mosquito control within those regions. Similarly, Ponlawat et al. (2005) examined *Ae. aegypti*'s susceptibility to insecticides across Thailand and reported that the species was susceptible to malathion. In a study by Hidayati et al. (2011), the first generation of *Ae. aegypti* mosquitoes, which had no prior exposure to malathion,

showed susceptibility to the insecticide. However, subsequent generations of the species displayed increasing resistance with continuous exposure to malathion. The present study, in line with findings by Samal and Kumar (2018), confirms *Ae*. *aegypti*'s sensitivity to malathion, strengthening the existing evidence of the species' vulnerability to this organophosphate insecticide.

WHO considers temephos insecticide to be a highly acceptable and effective mosquito larvicide, capable of controlling most mosquito vectors, even when used in drinking water. One of its key advantages is its minimal toxicity, posing little acute risk to humans. The mechanism of action of temephos involves the irreversible inhibition of acetylcholinesterase, an essential enzyme seen in metazoans, which is responsible for neurotransmission, particularly at nerve endings, that results in the disruption of acetylcholine-mediated processes (Fournier et al., 1992; Silman and Sussman, 2005). Temephos has been extensively used worldwide after its initial applications in the early 1970s for targeting *Ae. aegypti* larvae (Maestre-Serrano et al., 2014). However, the continuous usage of this insecticide has led to the surfacing resistance in *Ae. aegypti* populations in various regions.

The current study undertaken discovered that the test species showed sensitivity to temephos, as specified by an LC<sub>50</sub> value of  $1.9 \times 10^{-3}$  ppm. In a 2003 study conducted in Thailand, Paeporn et al. investigated the potential development of resistance in Ae. aegypti to the organophosphate insecticide temephos. The research spanned nineteen generations of Ae. aegypti mosquitoes which were exposed to temephos to assess LC50 values. Interestingly, the initial generation exhibited remarkable susceptibility to the insecticide, with mortality occurring even at lower concentrations. In contrast, the 19<sup>th</sup> generation demonstrated an elevated tolerance to the pesticide, indicating the emergence of resistance. In Brazil, Luna et al. (2004) performed bioassays to evaluate the susceptibility of Ae. aegypti to the temephos insecticide, determining its response to the chemical. The findings from the research study revealed that, Ae. aegypti demonstrated susceptibility to temephos. As per another research conducted in Venezuela to evaluate Ae. aegypti's susceptibility to temephos revealed that the larval populations from western Venezuela, collected during the study period, showed susceptibility to the insecticide. The study observed low resistance ratios and the absence of enzyme overexpression in the tested populations (Alvarez et al., 2014). In their study, Muthusamy and Shivakumar

(2015b) investigated the susceptibility status of *Ae. aegypti* to temephos in three districts of Tamil Nadu, India. *Ae. aegypti* larvae were collected from their natural habitats in three distinct areas, Salem, Namakkal, and Dharmapuri, for the study. The findings indicated that all three strains of *Ae. aegypti* tested showed susceptibility to temephos. Fatimah and Hasmiwati (2020) conducted an experiment to evaluate the lethal concentrations of *Ae. aegypti* larvae when exposed to a range of temephos concentrations, and results from the experiment indicated that the species sustained susceptibility to temephos. Considering the results obtained in the current investigation and a detailed review of previous research, it is apparent that *Ae. aegypti* consistently demonstrates susceptibility to temephos.

Pyrethroids available in the market are the result of efforts to create synthetic analogues of naturally occurring pyrethrins with improved environmental stability (Elliott, 1989). These pyrethroids were discovered when DDT use faced resistance and limitations, and the rising problem of resistance to organophosphate and carbamate insecticides needed to be addressed. Some of the widely used synthetic pyrethroids include permethrin, cypermethrin, deltamethrin, letherin, furethrin, fenevelerate, alpha-cyperamethrin, and lambda-cyhalothrin. Even today, pyrethroids remain a critical class of insecticides, widely employed in mosquito control, especially for treating bed nets and as adulticides. On a global scale, pyrethroid holds a substantial share of around 20% in the insecticide market (Scott et al., 2015; Abubakar et al., 2020). In 1993, Dorta et al. carried out a detailed study focusing on the susceptibility of six mosquito vector species to pyrethroids and organophosphorus insecticides to assess the relative effectiveness of these two insecticides in controlling the targeted vector populations. The results of their investigation demonstrated that synthetic pyrethroids displayed significantly higher insecticidal efficiency when compared to organophosphates, indicating the potential superiority of pyrethroids as a vector control strategy. These findings are consistent with the results obtained in the current study. The results of the study confirmed that, Ae. aegypti, the target mosquito species, displayed a high level of susceptibility to the pyrethroid insecticides that were tested. When exposed to cypermethrin, the  $LC_{50}$  value was measured at an exceptionally low concentration of  $1.4 \times 10^{-4}$  ppm, indicating that this chemical was highly effective at causing mortality in the mosquito larvae. Lambda-cyhalothrin, another pyrethroid insecticide, exhibited even greater potency, with an even lower  $LC_{50}$  value of  $5.0 \times 10^{-5}$  ppm. These outcomes validated the vulnerability of *Ae. aegypti* to pyrethroids, suggesting that these chemicals could be effective in mosquito control efforts, particularly in areas where this species is a significant vector of diseases.

Cypermethrin, a highly potent synthetic pyrethroid insecticide, was reportedly developed in 1974 and later commercialized in 1977. It has proven to be operative against a broad spectrum of insect pests in various domains, including agriculture, public health, and animal husbandry. The chemical structure of cypermethrin comprises the alpha-cyano-3-phenoxybenzyl ester of chrysanthemic acid's dichloro analogue, known as 2,2-dimethyl-3-(2,2-dichlorovinyl) cyclopropanecarboxylic acid. The molecule possesses three chiral centres, with two located on the cyclopropane ring and one on the alpha cyano carbon. The isomers of cypermethrin are categorized into four cis- and four trans-isomers, with the cis-group exhibiting greater potency as an insecticide. The cis-to-trans isomer ratio typically ranges from 50:50 to 40:60. Cypermethrin is a combination of all eight isomers, and in most cases, it primarily refers to the racemic mixture with a ratio of 50:50. It possesses a remarkably low vapour pressure and water solubility but exhibits high solubility in a diverse array of organic solvents (WHO, 1989; Velisek et al., 2006; Ullah et al., 2018). Luna et al. (2004) conducted a study in Brazil to evaluate the susceptibility of Ae. aegypti to cypermethrin, and the assessment revealed a survival rate of 35% and a fatality rate of 65% for cypermethrin. In another research study investigating the association between insecticide use and changes in Ae. aegypti susceptibility, the susceptibility status of nine vector populations from the Northeast region of Brazil was compared. The results showed that the sample populations collected from Campinas and Marília exhibited an average mortality rate in response to cypermethrin (Macoris et al., 2007). The assessment of pyrethroids efficacy in Ae. aegypti larvae from the semi-arid zone of Jaipur demonstrated that the species exhibited the highest susceptibility towards cypermethrin compared to other tested pyrethroids (Meena and Kachhwaha, 2016). Similarly, in the investigation of Pyrethroid resistance in adult mosquitoes, specifically Ae. aegypti from Jaipur City, Rajasthan, it was observed that the tested species exhibited a significant mortality rate when exposed to cypermethrin insecticide (Meena, 2017). In a research work conducted by Piedra et al. (2022) at The Zoological Garden of Havana, Cuba, the

insecticide resistance in *Ae. aegypti* was characterized, and the results of the investigation suggested that the tested species exhibited susceptibility to pyrethroid insecticides, with cypermethrin showing maximum effectiveness. These findings provide evidence of the potential susceptibility of *Ae. aegypti* to cypermethrin, as reported in the current study.

Lambda-cyhalothrin is composed of a ratio of 1:1 combination of two different stereoisomers:(S)-cyano-3-phenoxybenzyl-(Z)-(1R,3R)-3-cyhalothrin(2-chloro-3,3,3-trifluoroprop-1-enyl)-2,2-dimethylcyclopropanecarboxylate and (R)-cyano-3phenoxybenzyl-(Z)-cyclopropanecarboxylate(1S,3S)-3-(2-chloro-3,3,3trifluoroprop-1-enyl)-2,2-dimethylcyclopropanecarboxylate. This specific chemical composition of lambda-cyhalothrin was first documented by Robson and Crosby in 1984, and it was then immediately introduced to Central America in 1985 by ICI Agrochemicals. This pyrethroid compound has since become widely used in various regions to effectively control insects, particularly those that act as disease vectors, making it a valuable tool in pest management and public health initiatives. Its formulation has successfully prevented vector mosquitoes, cockroaches, ticks, and flies, thereby reducing the transmission of harmful diseases (Anadon et al., 2006; He et al., 2008). In research conducted at International Airports in Thiruvananthapuram and Cochin, located in southern India, the susceptibility of Ae. albopictus and Ae. aegypti in their aquatic and adult stages was examined, and the findings demonstrated that adult Ae. *aegypti* and *Ae. albopictus* exhibited susceptibility to lambda-cyhalothrin (Sharma et al., 2004). Lawler et al. (2007) examined to assess the duration of insecticidal activity of the pyrethroid lambda-cyhalothrin on predatory insects in rice fields and three types of mosquito larvae. These included a pyrethroid-sensitive strain of Cx. tarsalis, a pyrethroid-resistant strain of Cx. pipiens, and non-resistant Cx. pipiens. The results indicated that lambda-cyhalothrin was highly effective in controlling the majority of the susceptible mosquito poopulations. In 2007, Rodríguez et al. published comprehensive data on the dose mortalities of lambda-cyhalothrin involving Ae. aegypti collected from four different regions in Latin America. The strain obtained from Havana City exhibited an LC<sub>50</sub> value of  $2.7 \times 10^{-2}$  ppm, while Cuba displayed  $5.90 \times 10^{-3}$  ppm. Similarly, Jamaica and Panamá had LC<sub>50</sub> values of  $5.50 \times 10^{-3}$  ppm and  $4.80 \times 10^{-4}$  ppm, respectively, confirming their susceptibility to the tested insecticide. To assess the susceptibility of the Ae. aegypti strain discovered in El Salvador to lambda-cyhalothrin, Lazcano et al. (2009) undertook a study using an Ae. aegypti strain obtained from the municipality of Soyapango, El Salvador. The investigation results revealed that the adult mosquitoes belonging to this strain displayed a significant degree of susceptibility to lambda-cyhalothrin. Another study aimed to determine diagnostic doses of insecticides for the Rockefeller susceptible strain of Ae. aegypti, Rodríguez et al. (2017) utilised the CDC bottle bioassay to monitor insecticide resistance in the Cuban vector control program. The findings of the study revealed that despite being temephos-resistant, the strain remained susceptible to lambda-cyhalothrin. A study was conducted at The Zoological Garden of Havana, Cuba, to characterise insecticide resistance in Ae. aegypti. The investigation sought to assess the population's susceptibility level and identify potential insecticide resistance mechanisms. The findings revealed that adult mosquitoes in the Ae. aegypti population remained susceptible to the pyrethroid insecticide lambda-cyhalothrin (Piedra et al., 2022). The collective evidence from several studies, including investigations assessing insecticide susceptibility in Ae. *aegypti*, consistently supported that, this vector species remains highly susceptible to lambda-cyhalothrin as observed in the current study.

Phytochemicals derived from various botanical sources have proven to be versatile and beneficial in various applications, ranging from medicinal uses to insecticides. Even though synthetic organic pesticides have demonstrated remarkable efficacy against targeted pests like mosquitoes, they also pose risks to a wide range of nontarget organisms, including humans (Matsumura, 1975). Moreover, many crucial mosquito species responsible for transmitting diseases have developed physiological resistance to several conventional chemical pesticides (Brown, 1986). As a result, there is a growing need for environmentally friendly, biodegradable, and highly specific mosquito insecticides that make minimal harm to non-target organisms.

In the present study conducted, the isolated compound eicosane (CB1) from *C*. *bonplandianum* exhibited larvicidal activity against mosquito larvae. It was observed that as the concentration of CB1 increased, the mortality rate of the larvae also increased, and the compound showed susceptibility to the tested mosquito larvae, even at lower concentrations. The lethal concentration values were determined to assess the concentration at which specific percentages of larvae were affected, and these results marked the potential of CB1 as an effective agent for

controlling mosquito larvae. Numerous plant species from diverse botanical families have been examined for their larvicidal effects on Ae. aegypti. Patterson et al. (1975) studied more than three hundred wild-growing plants in North Dakota and western Minnesota, evaluating their effects on Ae. aegypti larvae. The research found that the impact varied not only among different plant species but also among different parts of the same plant species. Marcard et al. (1986) reported that the extracts obtained from different plant parts of Ajuga remota and A. reptans exhibited varying levels of efficiency against Ae. aegypti. The root extract exhibited the highest activity, followed by leaves, shoots, and flowers of the plant. Within the Annonaceae family, Annona crassiflora demonstrated efficient larvicidal activity in its root wood and root bark. Additionally, A. glabra seeds and A. muricata roots also found to be exhibit efficacy against Ae. aegypti mosquito larvae. From the Leguminoseae plant family, Pterodon polygalaeflorus seeds demonstrated larvicidal efficacy (Macêdo et al., 1997). In another study, Rhizophora mucronate from the Rhizophoraceae family exhibited larvicidal activity in its bark, pith, and stem wood (Kabaru and Gichia, 2001).

Similarly, when tested, the seeds of *Cassia tora* from the Caesulpinaceae family and Cassia obtusifolia from the Leguminosae plant family demonstrated larvicidal properties in two independent studies (Jang et al., 2002; Yang et al., 2003). In a study, Cheng et al. (2003) investigated the larvicidal efficacy of different plant species and their components as potential mosquito vector control agents. Among the tested plants, Cryptomeria japonica essential oils extracted from bark and leaf exhibited solid larvicidal efficacy. Azadiractin, the main chemical found in neem, was recognized to be efficient in preventing mosquito larvae proliferation. When tested, the phyto-extracts from M. koenigii, Coriandrum sativum, and Trigonella foenum graceum were effective against Ae. aegypti mosquito larvae. Apium graveolens seeds from Umbelliferae and Curcuma aromatica rhizome from Zingiberaceae displayed larvicidal efficacy as reported by separate research investigations (Choochote et al., 2004; Choochate et al., 2005). The stem wood of Cybistax antisyphilitica from the Bignoniaceae family exhibited larvicidal potential (Rodrigues et al., 2005), while the fruit of Momordica charantia from Cucurbitaceae demonstrated larvicidal activity as well against mosquito vectors (Singh et al., 2006). In 2005, Chansang et al. tested and identified the larvicidal efficacy of the unripe and ripe fruit of Piper retrofractum from Piperaceae against vector mosquitoes. In 2006, Chaithong et al. reported significant larvicidal activity exhibited by the fruit exocarp of P. longum, P. ribesoides, and P. sarmentosum from Piperaceae and in 2008, Chowdhury et al. revealed the larvicidal potential of the of Solanum *villosum* from leaves Solanaceae. Similarly, the *Coccinia* indica, Cucumus sativus, and Momordica charantia leaves from Cucurbitaceae displayed larvicidal activity in a study conducted by Rahuman and Venkatesan (2008). In separate studies conducted by Sivagnaname and Kalyanasundaram (2004) and Mgbemena in 2010, the leaves of Atlantia monophylla from the Rutaceae family, as well as the leaves of Ocimum gratissimum from the Meliaceae family and Citrus citratus from the Rutaceae family, respectively, demonstrated larvicidal efficacy. These findings indicated the significant potential of diverse plant sources in efficiently managing the mosquito larvae over time, supporting the outcomes of the current study.

#### **3.5 Conclusion**

This chapter evaluated the larvicidal efficacy of four conventional insecticides frequently employed in mosquito control programs. These insecticides belonged to two distinct classes, entailing organophosphates and pyrethroids. The results from the susceptibility assay demonstrated the insecticidal activity of malathion, temephos, cypermethrin, and lambda-cyhalothrin, each at varying concentrations. Lambda-cyhalothrin showed maximum activity among the tested insecticides, suggesting it could be a sustainable substitute for mosquito control initiatives. It was followed by cypermethrin, which also showed considerable larvicidal activity but was less than lambda-cyhalothrin. However, temephos and malathion, which are members of the organophosphate family, demonstrated reduced larvicidal effectiveness compared to synthetic pyrethroids. The plant isolate CB1, derived from C. bonplandianum, also exhibited larvicidal activity against Ae. aegypti larvae. The results clearly indicated its potential effectiveness in controlling mosquito larvae, unfolding its significance as a natural botanical resource in vector mosquito control. Excessive reliance on chemical insecticides can lead to adverse consequences, including developing insecticide-resistant mosquito strains and potentially harming non-target species and ecosystems. It is essential to strike a balance between effective mosquito control and minimizing the negative impact on ecosystems through judicious and responsible use of these chemicals. The findings of this chapter revealed the susceptibility status of four frequently used chemical insecticides against *Ae. aegypti*. Furthermore, this study advocated a promising plant-based compound for effective mosquito control.

## **CHAPTER IV**

The Effect of Synergistic Interaction between Plant Isolate and Four Conventional Insecticides on Fourth Instar Larvae of *Ae. aegypti* 

#### **4.1 Introduction**

Efforts to control mosquitoes encounter significant hurdles that impede their efficacy in addressing the menace of mosquito-borne diseases. Chief among these challenges is the emergence of insecticide resistance within mosquito populations. Over time, mosquitoes have developed adaptive mechanisms to withstand the lethal impact of commonly employed insecticides, diminishing the effectiveness of oncepotent chemicals. This resistance represents a formidable barrier to the success of vector control initiatives, necessitating an ongoing quest for novel insecticides and innovative strategies. Equally, environmental factors are a central aspect of the complexities surrounding mosquito control. Abundant chemical insecticides employed in vector management can exert detrimental effects on non-target organisms and ecosystems, potentially precipitating ecological imbalances. Moreover, the persistent presence of pesticide residues in the environment exacerbates environmental concerns, imposing the urgency of uniting sustainable and environmentally harmless approaches as an imperative response (Nauen and Denholm, 2005; Sharma et al., 2013; Pavela, 2014).

This scenario has spurred a pressing need to swiftly explore novel alternatives that align with both environmental and health considerations, offering adequate vector protection. Among the contemporary strategies geared towards moderating pest populations, using pesticides derived from plant extracts emerges as a particularly assuring avenue (Chockalingam et al., 1990). In present-day approaches against vector mosquito proliferation, allelochemicals originating from plant extracts are increasingly being explored as potential substitutes or supplements to synthetic insecticide methods (Attia et al., 2013). These chemical messengers facilitate communication between plants and herbivores (Regnault-Roger, 1997). Certain plants have even developed sufficient chemical and physical defences against various insect groups (Ryan and Byrne, 1988). Thus, plant extracts have emerged as influential pest behaviour and physiological factors in current pest control approaches. These extracts possess the ability to repel pests, impede their feeding, disrupt growth, affect moulting and respiration, and reduce reproductive capabilities. The combination of diverse bioactive compounds within these extracts has demonstrated the potential to delay the development of resistance. Crucially, these extracts align with environmental concerns, as they are biodegradable and have minimal effects on non-target organisms and ecosystems (Isman and Machial, 2006; Isman and Akhtar, 2007; Pavela and Vrchotová, 2013).

Even though plant-based insecticides have many advantages, there are some disadvantages as well that should be acknowledged. One of their main disadvantages is that they are more expensive to produce and use than synthetic chemical substitutes. The processing of plant products, which includes their extraction and formulation, increases the cost of production. The lower potency and rapid breakdown tendency causing reduced persistence demands a repeated and large-scale application of botanicals compared to synthetic insecticides. Also, the efficacy of plant-based insecticides can vary across different pest species and environmental conditions. These conditions may make it necessary to modify application rates or combine different plant extracts to target various pest species effectively. Such a need for repeated applications can escalate labour and operational costs, particularly in situations where continuous and consistent pest control is needed (Damalas and Koutroubas, 2020).

Synergists represent a direct and uncomplicated approach to counteracting the metabolic resistance of the pest species, as they can directly obstruct the mechanisms responsible for resistance. Since the initial illustration of insecticide synergism more than several decades ago (Haller et al., 1942; Raffa and Priester, 1985), their practical implementation in combating pests has held significant potential. This prospect of a synergistic blend of biological and chemical insecticides as a viable solution for managing insect pests is endorsed by Koppenhöfer and Fuzy (2003) and Morales-Rodriguez and Peck (2009). The synergistic method proposes that if the combined substances demonstrate synergistic effects, they could provide equivalent control at reduced concentrations compared to their separate application. Reducing expenses and minimizing toxicity to mammals and non-target organisms are the direct benefits of this strategy. The fundamental idea behind this tactical approach is that it is rare that the target organism could

175

develop resistance to both ingredients in the mixture simultaneously if resistance to one of the two insecticides occurs infrequently and independently (Curtis, 1985).

Synergists have been used commercially for almost fifty years and have greatly improved the efficacy of insecticides, particularly regarding resistance issues. These natural or artificial materials that improve the effectiveness and potency of insecticides currently on the market are considered safe. Most synergists work by blocking the metabolic pathways that break down pesticide molecules, which impacts enzymes and detoxification processes. Synergists play a crucial role in resistance management because they inhibit enzymes, making insects more susceptible to chemicals. As a result, synergists are thought to be immediately effective in preventing metabolic resistance or delaying its onset. However, the full potential of these substances for managing resistance is yet to be realized. As control agents, synergists have the capacity to convert resistant populations into susceptible ones, thereby preventing the occurrence of resistance (Bernard and Philogène, 1993; Picollo et al., 2000; Jensen et al., 2006; Pasay et al., 2009; Sarwar and Salman, 2015; Sarwar, 2016).

The synergy, where the combined impact of two substances exceeds the total of their individual effects, appears to be more frequent in situations where synthetic insecticides are mixed with phytochemicals, compared to instances where different phytochemicals exhibit synergistic interactions. This indicates that the synergy between synthetic insecticides and plant-derived compounds frequently results in enhanced pest control effects. The effectiveness of certain phytochemicals can exhibit a range of responses depending on the specific synthetic insecticides with which they are paired. This variability results in the complexity of interactions within these mixtures, increasing the need for careful consideration when designing and implementing such combinations for pest management strategies. With an expanding comprehension of these interactions, utilizing the possibilities of synergy between synthetic and natural compounds offers the prospect of creating more efficient and sustainable approaches to insect pest control (Thangam and Kathiresan, 1990; Mansour et al., 2000; Shaalan et al., 2005a).

Biochemical assessments have emerged as the preferred method for understanding insecticide resistance mechanisms among insects. With the advent of sophisticated and highly sensitive biochemical assays, it is now feasible to analyse insecticide

resistance mechanisms with reasonable precision. Within the context of metabolicbased insecticide resistance mechanisms, non-specific esterases, Glutathione Stransferases (GSTs), and P450-mediated monooxygenases (MFOs) are recognised for their involvement in detoxifying organophosphate, pyrethroid, and carbamate insecticides (Hemingway and Ranson, 2000). Among insects, significant research has focused on Acetylcholinesterase (AChE) concerning insecticide resistance, primarily because this enzyme is the primary target for organophosphate and carbamate insecticides. The insensitivity of AChE to these insecticides represents a significant contributing factor to resistance. Consequently, these enzymes are established as reliable markers for assessing the impact of toxic compounds on a wide range of test organisms (Smirle et al., 2010; Muthusamy et al., 2014).

#### 4.2 Methodology

#### 4.2.1 Mosquito Colony Maintenance

The maintenance of the *Ae. aegypti* colony adhered to the methods elucidated in Chapter II (Munstermann, 1997).

#### 4.2.2 Plant Isolate Bioassay and Insecticide Bioassay

The methodologies for conducting the plant isolate bioassay (WHO, 2005a) and insecticide bioassay (Brown, 1986) were followed as described in Chapter III.

#### 4.2.3 Synergistic Assay of Phyto-Extracts and Insecticides

Two separate test protocols were set up, each focusing on the interaction between the insecticide and plant extract to unveil the Co-toxicity coefficient (CTC) and Synergistic factor (SF) (Kalyanasundaram and Das 1985). These tests were designed to provide deeper insights into the possible cumulative effects of these substances on *Ae. aegypti* larvae. Analysing the Co-toxicity coefficient aimed to ascertain the level to which the combined mixture influenced mortality rates compared to expected outcomes. Similarly, the assessment of the Synergistic factor aimed to understand the extent of synergism or antagonism between the insecticide and plant isolate against *Ae. aegypti* larvae. The synergistic combinations were prepared by combining CB1 with different insecticides. Malathion and CB1 combination were denoted as SC1, temephos and CB1 as SC2, cypermethrin and CB1 as SC3 and lambda-cyhalothrin and CB1 as SC4.

#### 4.2.3.1 Co-toxicity Coefficient (CTC)

To calculate the CTC, a test concentration was meticulously prepared by mixing the insecticide and CB1 in a consistent ratio of 1:1. Specifically, the concentrations of insecticide and CB1 that had been determined as  $LC_{25}$  were selected for this experiment. Each solution, measuring 500 µl, was mixed and then diluted to a total volume of 250 ml using tap water. As a control, a mixture of 500 µl of alcohol and acetone in the same proportion and volume was added to tap water.

 $CTC = 100X \frac{(Observed \% \text{ mortality} - Expected \% \text{ mortality})}{Expected \% \text{ mortality}}$ 

A positive CTC value greater than 20 (CTC >20) indicated synergism, while a negative value below 0 (CTC <0) suggested antagonism. Values falling between 0 and 20 (0 < CTC < 20) indicated an additive effect. The expected mortality was calculated by combining the percentage of mortalities at the LC<sub>25</sub> concentration of the individual test materials. The observed mortality was recorded 24 hours after exposure to the mixtures, following the methodology established by Sun and Johnson in 1960.

#### 4.2.3.2 Synergistic Factor (SF)

The test solution was created using a constant  $LC_{25}$  concentration of CB1, achieved by diluting the 100% concentration. Additionally, varying concentrations of individual insecticide test solutions were prepared independently and introduced into the test solutions. Synergistic factors were calculated following the approach outlined by Kalyanasundaram and Das in 1985.

 $SF = \frac{(LC50 \text{ or } LC90 \text{ of the insecticide alone})}{(LC50 \text{ or } LC90 \text{ of the insecticide with plant extract})}$ 

A synergistic factor value greater than one indicates synergism, while a value lower than one indicates antagonism.

#### 4.2.3.3 Statistical Analysis

Larval mortality counts were corrected using Abbott's formula (Abbott, 1925) to account for mortality in the control group. The adjusted mortality data were then subjected to probit mortality regression analysis based on log dosage (Finney, 1971). To examine the significant effects of the plant-isolated compound both on its own and in combination with various insecticides, ANOVA was performed using SPSS software version 26.

#### 4.2.4 Quantitative Enzymatic Assay

To assess alterations in the enzymatic activity of detoxifying enzymes in *Ae. aegypti*, two distinct quantitative enzymatic assays were carried out. In the initial assay, 30 third instar larvae were exposed to a 10-fold diluted  $LC_{50}$  value of CB1 and SC4. Enzymatic assays for the specified detoxifying enzymes were performed on the dead larvae from both test groups after 24, 48, and 72 hours, aiming to reveal the influence of these compounds on the detoxification mechanisms of *Ae. aegypti*.

The second experiment was designed to determine whether any form of resistance had developed within the tested species against SC4 over successive generations. This investigation was conducted using both a susceptible line (F0) and a selected line (F5) exposed to selection pressure for five consecutive generations.

All the test batches were replicated three times to ensure accuracy.

#### 4.2.4.1 Selection Experiment

In the research methodology, a susceptible laboratory-reared population of *Ae. aegypti* was exposed to selection pressure using the synergistic compound SC4. SC4 was chosen for the selection experiment and subsequent analysis of resistance development because it demonstrated the highest larvicidal efficacy among all the tested combinations against fourth instar *Ae. aegypti larvae*. This selected synergistic combination was administered to the fourth instar *Ae. aegypti* larvae over five consecutive generations. The mosquito strain that had been colonised for 25 generations in the CDRL laboratory was designated as the F0 generation. The F0 strain utilised had no prior exposure to insecticides.

The standard method outlined by the WHO (Brown, 1986) was employed for bioassay experiments. 1 ml of the synergistic combination was thoroughly mixed with 249 ml of dechlorinated water in 500 ml glass beakers. Six concentrations of the compound were applied to the *Ae. aegypti* larvae in ascending series. Dose determination was based on preliminary experiments. Control groups were maintained alongside the experiments. Each experiment used 25 fourth instar larvae, and after 24 hours of continuous exposure at 55-60% relative humidity, a

temperature of  $27\pm2^{\circ}$ C, and a 14 L:12 D photoperiod, the mortality rate was recorded. The surviving synergistic compound-exposed larvae were used for selection experiments in each generation from F0 to F5. The larvae that had survived each experiment were washed and set aside for rearing. Surviving larvae from the experiment (LC<sub>50</sub>) were used to produce the progeny of the succeeding generations.

Probit regression analysis was utilised to compute the  $LC_{50}$  and  $LC_{90}$  values of the respective compounds against *Ae. aegypti* larvae. Control mortality between 5% and 20% was corrected using Abbott's formula (Abbott, 1925).

#### 4.2.4.2 Resistance Ratio (RR)

 $RR = \frac{(LC50 \text{ of the insecticide treated mosquito strain})}{(LC50 \text{ of the susceptible strain})}$ 

RR is frequently computed and serve as valuable tools for tracking the progression of insecticide resistance within a population in the field. To calculate an RR, the  $LC_{50}$  value of the insecticide-treated strain was divided by the  $LC_{50}$  value of a susceptible strain. The field population was categorized as susceptible as the RR fell below 5. RR values between 5 and 10 indicated moderate resistance among the mosquitoes, and RR values exceeding 10 denoted a high resistance level in the mosquito population (WHO, 2016a).

#### 4.2.4.3 Preparation of Sample Solution

In this study, thirty early fourth instar larvae of *Ae. aegypti* were individually homogenized using 200  $\mu$ l of distilled water in separate 1.5 ml capacity Eppendorf tubes. The homogenates were prepared at a temperature maintained at 4°C and were subsequently subjected to centrifugation at 5,000 rpm for 10 minutes. After centrifugation, approximately 20  $\mu$ l of the supernatant from each sample was transferred to another Eppendorf tube. The sample volume was then madeup to a final volume of 100  $\mu$ l using a 0.1 M potassium phosphate (KH<sub>2</sub>PO<sub>4</sub>) buffer solution with a pH of 7.2. This entire procedure was repeated for the preparation of samples required for all conducted experiments.

#### 4.2.4.4 Total Protein Quantification

The protein content of both susceptible and SC4-selected lines of *Ae. aegypti* was assessed using Lowry's method (Lowry et al.,1951).

i) Folin-Ciocalteau's Reagent: Equal volumes of distilled water and Folin-Ciocalteau's reagent were meticulously mixed just before the experiment.

ii) Lowry's Reagent: A solution containing 2% of copper sulphate, 2% of sodium potassium tartarate, and 4% of sodium carbonate dissolved in a 1:1:98 ratio was prepared.

A volume of 10  $\mu$ l of mosquito homogenate was diluted with distilled water to make a final volume of 1 ml. To this, 5 ml of reagent (ii) was added and left for 15 minutes. Subsequently, 0.5 ml of reagent (i) was added. The Optical density was measured at 660 nm after 20-30 minutes of incubation of the test sample. Bovine serum albumin (BSA) calibration curve was prepared and used as a reference standard calibration curve. The total protein concentration of the test sample was determined by correlating the optical density values with the standard protein curve.

#### 4.2.4.5 Acetylcholinesterase Assay

Acetylcholinesterase (AChE) activity was determined by the method outlined by Kranthi (2005). For this, a reaction mixture comprising 2.86 ml of 0.1M sodium phosphate buffer (pH 8.0) and 100  $\mu$ l of the enzyme extract was prepared. It was then incubated for 5-minutes at room temperature. After that, 10  $\mu$ l of the DTNB (0.01 M) solution and 30  $\mu$ l of 0.10M acetylthiocholine iodide were added to this. At 412 nm, the change in absorbance was monitored for 30 minutes using a spectrophotometer (Shimadzu UV-1900i UV-VIS spectrophotometer, Japan). The enzymatic activity of the AChE was quantified in nmoles of AChE/min/mg protein unit.

#### 4.2.4.6 Glutathione-S-Transferase Assay

The specific enzymatic activity of Glutathione S-transferase (GST) was assessed using a modified procedure by Habig et al. (1974). For this, 50µl of 50mM CDNB and 150µl of 50mM reduced glutathione and 0.77ml of phosphate buffer (100mM, pH 6.5) were mixed carefully. Then, 30µl of the enzyme extract was added to this mixture. The mixture was gently stirred and then incubated at 25°C for 2-3 minutes. Using a spectrophotometer, the change in absorbance of the sample was observed at 340 nm for 10 minutes. Specific enzymatic activity was quantified according to the CDNB-GSH conjugate formed and expressed as µmoles/min/mg protein.

#### 4.2.4.7 Esterase Assay

A modified method outlined by Kranthi (2005) was employed to determine the specific enzymatic activity of esterases. The reaction mixture was prepared by mixing 0.1ml of enzyme extract (10µl enzyme solution mixed with 90µl sodium phosphate buffer, 0.04M, pH 6.8), and 0.5 ml of a 0.3mM  $\alpha/\beta$ -naphthyl acetate substrate solution. This was then kept at room temperature in the dark for incubation for 20 minutes. The mixture was shaken in definite intervals during incubation. Then, a mixture of 0.1 ml of 1% Fast blue BB salt in sodium phosphate buffer (pH 6.8, 0.04 M) and 5% Sodium dodecyl sulphate (SDS) staining solution was added to the sample. It was then kept at room temperature for another 20-minute incubation. Using 0.1 ml of sodium phosphate buffer, 0.5 ml of substrate solution, and 0.1 ml of staining solution, a blank was prepared. At 590 nm, the absorbance of  $\alpha$ -naphthol and at 540 nm, the absorbance of  $\beta$ -naphthol was observed and recorded using a spectrophotometer. The optical density (OD) values were compared with standard curves prepared from known concentrations of the respective products,  $\alpha/\beta$ naphthol. The specific enzymatic activity was calculated by nanomoles of product formed per minute per milligram of protein unit.

#### 4.2.4.8 Monooxygenase (Cytochrome P450) Assay

A modified method described by Khan et al. (2020) was followed to determine the specific enzymatic activity of monooxygenase (cytochrome P450). At first, 0.3g of the sample was homogenized in a mixture of 900µl containing 1.0mM dithiothreitol (DTT), 1.0mM PMSF, 1.0mM EDTA, and 10% glycerol (0.1M, pH 7.5) on ice. After that, the homogenate was centrifuged at 4°C and 10,000 RPM for 15 minutes. The reaction mixture included 125µl of enzyme solution, 365µl of sodium phosphate buffer (0.1M, pH 7.5), 10µl of NADPH (10 mM), and 5µl of 7-ethoxycoumarin-Odethylase (40mM). The mixture was incubated at 30°C for 15 minutes after vigorous mixing.150µl of 15% trichloroacetic acid (TCA) was added to terminate the reaction, and the entire mixture was centrifuged at 10,000 RPM for two minutes. The resulting supernatant was collected, and 40µl of 1.6 mM glycine-NaOH buffer (pH 10.5) was added. The optical density of the experiment (OD) was measured at 650 nm. The enzymatic activity of cytochrome P450 was determined using a standard curve of absorbance for known concentrations of cytochrome C and

expressed as nmoles equivalent units of Cytochrome P450 per minute per milligram of protein.

#### 4.2.4.9 Statistical Analysis

All statistical analysises were done using R statistical software, R version 4.3.0 (R Core team 2023). A mixed-design ANOVA was done using the anova\_test function in the rstatix package version 0.7.2 (Kassambara, 2023) to analyse the effect of SC4 and CB1 on specific enzymatic activity of detoxifying enzymes of *Ae. aegypti* larvae. A Two-sample t-test was employed to compare the specific enzymatic activity of SC4 selected F5 generation with the susceptible strain F0 of *Ae. aegypti* (Fox and Weisberg, 2019).

#### 4.3 Result

#### 4.3.1 Co-toxicity Coefficient Evaluation

The CTC of Ae. aegypti against the combination of the plant isolate CB1 and various insecticides, malathion (SC1), temephos (SC2), cypermethrin (SC3), and lambda-cyhalothrin (SC4), was determined. When the plant extract was combined with malathion at a concentration of  $LC_{25}+LC_{25}$  (1:1), the observed mortality was 62%, while the expected mortality was 50%. This resulted in a co-toxicity coefficient of 24. For the combination of the plant extract with temphos at the same concentration, the observed mortality was 67.32%, compared to the expected mortality of 50%, yielding a co-toxicity coefficient of 34.64. Similarly, when combined with cypermethrin, the observed mortality was 70.68%, higher than the expected mortality of 50%, resulting in a co-toxicity coefficient of 41.36. In the case of the combination of the plant extract with lambda-cyhalothrin, the observed mortality stood at 80%, which was notably higher than the expected mortality of 50%, resulting in a co-toxicity coefficient of 60. These results demonstrated different levels of co-toxicity and synergistic effects between the plant extract and the selected insecticides against Ae. aegypti. All the tested combinations displayed CTC values greater than 20, indicating a synergistic impact on the tested organism. The SC1 exhibited the lowest CTC value among these combinations, and the SC4 showed the highest value (Table 4.1).

#### **4.3.2 Synergistic Effect Evaluation**

SC4 showed the highest synergistic effect, with LC<sub>25</sub>, LC<sub>50</sub>, and LC<sub>90</sub> values of  $3.0 \times 10^{-6}$ ,  $6.0 \times 10^{-6}$ , and  $2.8 \times 10^{-5}$ , respectively. Following this, SC3 exhibited a synergistic impact with  $1.6 \times 10^{-5}$  (LC<sub>25</sub>),  $4.5 \times 10^{-5}$  (LC<sub>50</sub>), and  $3.1 \times 10^{-4}$  (LC<sub>90</sub>). SC2 displayed LC<sub>25</sub>, LC<sub>50</sub>, and LC<sub>90</sub> values of  $6.0 \times 10^{-4}$ ,  $1.0 \times 10^{-3}$ , and  $3.0 \times 10^{-3}$ , respectively. Among the tested combinations, SC1 exhibited the lowest synergistic effect, with  $1.5 \times 10^{-3}$  (LC<sub>25</sub>),  $2.1 \times 10^{-3}$  (LC<sub>50</sub>), and  $3.7 \times 10^{-3}$  (LC<sub>90</sub>) (Table 4.2).

SC1 showed a synergistic factor of 1.75, indicating moderate synergism against *Ae. aegypti*. Similarly, SC2 displayed a synergistic factor of 1.9. SC3 exhibited a synergistic factor 3.11, reflecting a more pronounced synergistic effect. SC4 displayed the highest synergistic factor of 8.33, suggesting a strong and significant synergistic interaction between these two components. These findings indicated the potential of these synergistic combinations for the efficient control of *Ae. aegypti* populations (Table 4.3).

#### 4.3.3 Quantitative Enzyme Assays

In the study of detoxifying enzyme activity in Ae. aegypti larvae exposed to SC4 and CB1, specific enzymatic activities and Total protein concentrations were observed over time intervals of 24 hours, 48 hours, and 72 hours starting with a noninsecticide treated T0. The selected synergistic combination represented a 10-fold diluted concentration of the LC<sub>50</sub> previously determined during susceptibility testing, and the obtained results were compared with those of the non-treated TO. A mixed-design analysis of variance (ANOVA) was applied to examine the effects of the time period and compounds SC4 and CB1 on total protein and the detoxifying enzymes of Ae. aegypti larvae. There were no extreme outliers, as calculated by the box plot method. All the data were normally distributed, as evaluated by Shapiro-Wilk's test of normality (p > 0.05). There was homogeneity of variances for all the data (p > 0.05) as evaluated by Levene's test of homogeneity of variances. A Bonferroni adjustment was applied for the simple main effect of compounds at each time period, simple pairwise comparisons of compounds at each time period, simple main effect of time periods with different compounds, and simple pairwise comparisons of time periods for each compound.

#### 4.3.3.1 Quantitative Enzyme Assay at Different Time Period

#### 4.3.3.1.1a Specific Activity of GST in SC4 Treated Test Groups

GST activity of *Ae. aegypti* larvae was measured in µmoles/min/mg protein and demonstrated variations over time compared to the baseline T0 activity. The initial reading in T0 for both SC4 and CB1 was  $1.36 \times 10^{-1} \pm 3.80 \times 10^{-3}$  µmoles/min/mg protein. For the SC4 group, there was a notable decrease, with activity recorded at  $4.91 \times 10^{-2} \pm 3.40 \times 10^{-3}$  µmoles/min/mg protein at 24 hours, further dropping to  $3.95 \times 10^{-2} \pm 5.30 \times 10^{-3}$  µmoles/min/mg protein at 48 hours and reaching its lowest level at  $3.09 \times 10^{-2} \pm 6.40 \times 10^{-3}$  µmoles/min/mg protein at 72 hours (Table 4.5).

#### 4.3.3.1.1b Specific Activity of GST in CB1 Treated Test Groups

Initially at T0, the enzyme's activity measured  $1.36 \times 10^{-1} \pm 3.80 \times 10^{-3} \mu$ moles/min/mg protein. At the 24-hour, a decline in activity was observed with  $1.16 \times 10^{-1} \pm 1.45 \times 10^{-2} \mu$ moles/min/mg protein. This decreasing trend persisted at 48 hours, with GST activity further decreasing to  $7.36 \times 10^{-2} \pm 1.69 \times 10^{-2} \mu$ moles/min/mg protein. At 72-hours the enzyme activity reached at  $5.20 \times 10^{-2} \pm 1.93 \times 10^{-2} \mu$ moles/min/mg protein (Table 4.6).

## 4.3.3.1.1c Statistical Analysis of Specific Activity of GST in SC4 and CB1 Treated Test Groups

The Mixed- Design ANOVA of GST analysis showed significant difference between compounds F (1, 4) =  $6.71 \times 10^1$ , p < 0. 05) and Time Periods (F (3, 12) =  $7.60 \times 10^1$ , p < 0. 05) and a significant interaction between compounds and time period (F (3, 12) =  $8.62 \times 10^0$ , p < 0. 05) (Table 4.7). The simple main effect of compounds (CB1 vs SC4) was significant at T24 (p.adj =  $4.00 \times 10^{-3}$ ) but not significant at T48 (p.adj =  $1.16 \times 10^{-1}$ ) and T72 (p =  $5.88 \times 10^{-1}$ ) (Table 4.8). The simple pairwise of compounds (CB1 vs SC4) was significant at T24 and T48 (p.adj< 0.05) (Table 4.9). The simple main effect of Time periods was significant for SC4 and CB1 (p.adj < 0.05) (Table 4.10). Simple pairwise comparisons of GST between time periods were significantly different between T0 and T24, T0 and T48, and T0 and T72 and T24 and T72 for SC4 and CB1 (p < 0.05) except between T0 and T24 of CB1 (P>0.05) (Table 4.11).

#### 4.3.3.1.2a Specific Activity of AChE in SC4 Treated Test Groups

AChE activity quantified in nMoles/min/mg protein displayed fluctuations at different time intervals compared to the initial activity. At T0, AChE specific enzymatic activity was  $1.80 \times 10^{-2} \pm 8.1 \times 10^{-3}$  nmoles/min/mg protein. However, with time, the activity reduced to  $5.20 \times 10^{-3} \pm 3.81 \times 10^{-2}$  nmoles/min/mg protein. Then 24 hours later, further declining to  $4.40 \times 10^{-3} \pm 7.40 \times 10^{-3}$  nmoles/min/mg protein at 48 hours and reaching  $2.70 \times 10^{-3} \pm 1.79 \times 10^{-2}$  nmoles/min/mg protein at 72 hours (Table 4.5).

#### 4.3.3.1.2b Specific Activity of AChE in CB1 Treated Test Groups

Specific enzymatic activity of AChE exhibited varying levels across different time intervals. At T0, the specific enzyme activity was observed at  $1.80 \times 10^{-2} \pm 8.10 \times 10^{-3}$  nmoles/min/mg protein. The values were then decreased to  $1.14 \times 10^{-2} \pm 2.83 \times 10^{-2}$  nmoles/min/mg protein at 24 hours,  $9.30 \times 10^{-3} \pm 3.51 \times 10^{-2}$  nmoles/min/mg protein at 48 hours, and  $8.9 \times 10^{-3} \pm 1.20 \times 10^{-2}$  nmoles/min/mg protein at 72 hours (Table 4.6).

## 4.3.3.1.2c Statistical Analysis of Specific Activity of AChE in SC4 and CB1 Treated Test Groups

In the mixed -design ANOVA for AChE, the difference between compounds did not show significance (F (1, 4) =  $6.79 \times 10^{0}$ , p =  $6.00 \times 10^{-2}$ ), while the time periods showed a significant difference (F (3, 12) =  $1.95 \times 10^{1}$ , p < 0. 05). Also, a statistically non-significant interaction between Compounds and time period was observed (F (3, 12) =  $1.36 \times 10^{0}$ , p = $3.01 \times 10^{-1}$ ) (Table 4.7). The simple main effect of compounds (CB1 vs SC4) was found significant for T72 (p.adj =  $3.4 \times 10^{-1}$ ) in the case of AChE and found to be not significant at T24 (p.adj =  $2.80 \times 10^{-2}$ ) and T48 (p.adj =  $3.12 \times 10^{-1}$ ) (Table 4.8). The simple pairwise of compounds (CB1 vs SC4) was significant at T72 (p.adj < 0.05) (Table 4.9). The simple main effect of Time periods was significant for SC4 (p.adj < 0.05) and not for CB1 (p.adj =  $8.0 \times 10^{-1}$ ) (Table 4.10). Simple pairwise comparisons of AChE between time periods were significantly different between T0 and T24, T0 and T48, and T0 and T72 (P>0.05) (Table 4.11).

# 4.3.3.1.3a Specific Activity of $\alpha$ -esterase and $\beta$ -esterase in SC4 Treated Test Groups

The enzyme activity of  $\alpha$ -esterase and  $\beta$ -esterase, quantified in nmoles/min/mg protein, exhibited fluctuations during the experiment. Initially,  $\alpha$ -esterase activity at T0 was  $1.21 \times 10^{-1} \pm 1.30 \times 10^{-3}$  nmoles/min/mg protein, while  $\beta$ -esterase activity was  $1.65 \times 10^{-1} \pm 4.2 \times 10^{-3}$  nmoles/min/mg protein. Subsequently, both activities were reduced. At 24 hours,  $\alpha$ -esterase activity remained relatively stable at  $1.17 \times 10^{-1} \pm 2.40 \times 10^{-3}$  nmoles/min/mg protein, while  $\beta$ -esterase activity slightly decreased to  $1.30 \times 10^{-1} \pm 1.70 \times 10^{-3}$  nmoles/min/mg protein. At 48 hours, both  $\alpha$ -esterase and  $\beta$ -esterase activities were reduced with values of  $9.89 \times 10^{-2} \pm 1.60 \times 10^{-3}$  nmoles/min/mg protein, ac-esterase activity further decreased to  $6.88 \times 10^{-2} \pm 1.60 \times 10^{-3}$  nmoles/min/mg protein, while  $\beta$ -esterase activity further decreased to  $1.14 \times 10^{-1} \pm 1.30 \times 10^{-3}$  nmoles/min/mg protein, Table 4.5).

## **4.3.3.1.3b** Specific Activity of α-esterase and β-esterase in CB1 Treated Test Groups

The specific enzymatic  $\alpha$ -esterase activity was measured as  $1.21 \times 10^{-1} \pm 1.30 \times 10^{-3}$  nmoles/min/mg protein at T0, while  $\beta$ -esterase activity was recorded as  $1.65 \times 10^{-1} \pm 4.20 \times 10^{-3}$  nmoles/min/mg protein. At 24 hours,  $\alpha$ -esterase activity slightly decreased to  $1.18 \times 10^{-1} \pm 1.2 \times 10^{-3}$  nmoles/min/mg protein, and  $\beta$ -esterase activity decreased to  $1.42 \times 10^{-1} \pm 1.4 \times 10^{-3}$  nmoles/min/mg protein. At 48 and 72 hours,  $\alpha$ -esterase activity decreased to  $1.01 \times 10^{-1} \pm 7.10 \times 10^{-3}$  nmoles/min/mg protein and  $8.04 \times 10^{-2} \pm 2.30 \times 10^{-3}$  nmoles/min/mg protein, respectively, and  $\beta$ -esterase activity decreased to  $1.31 \times 10^{-1} \pm 1.65 \times 10^{-2}$  nmoles/min/mg protein and  $1.22 \times 10^{-1} \pm 4.20 \times 10^{-3}$  nmoles/min/mg protein (Table 4.6).

## 4.3.3.1.3c Statistical Analysis of Specific Activity of $\alpha$ -esterase and $\beta$ -esterase in SC4 and CB1 Treated Test Groups

In the mixed- design ANOVA of the Esterases, there was a significant difference between compounds with  $\alpha$  (F (1, 4) = 9.98×10<sup>0</sup>, p < 0.05) and  $\beta$  esterases (F (1, 4) =  $1.07 \times 10^{1}$ , p < 0.05). Time period also showed significant difference for both esterases (F (3, 12) =  $2.93 \times 10^{2}$ , p < 0.05) and  $\beta$  (F (3, 12) =  $4.34 \times 10^{1}$ , p < 0.05). But the interaction between Compounds and Time period was not significant for both  $\alpha$  (F (3, 12) =  $4.56 \times 10^{0}$ , p =  $8.40 \times 10^{-2}$ ), and  $\beta$  esterases (F (3, 12) =  $6.60 \times 10^{-1}$ ,

p =5.92×10<sup>-1</sup>) (Table 4.7). The simple main effect of compounds (CB1 vs SC4) was found significant only for T72(p.adj =1.20×10<sup>-2</sup>) in the case of α- esterase and T24 (p.adj =2.76×10<sup>-3</sup>) in the case of β esterase (Table 4.8). The simple pairwise of compounds (CB1 vs SC4) was significant at T72 (p.adj< 0.05) for α esterase and T24 and T72 (p.adj< 0.05) for β esterase (Table 4.9). For α- esterase, the simple main effect of the Time period was significant for SC4 and CB1 (p < 0.05) and for β-esterase, it was significant for SC4 and CB1 (p < 0.05) (Table 4.10).Simple pairwise comparisons of α- esterase between time periods were significantly different between T0 and T48, and T0 and T 72 for SC4 and CB1 (p < 0.05) except between T0 and T24 of SC4 and T0 and T24 of CB1 (P>0.05) and of β-esterase, it was significantly different between T0 and T24, T0 and T48, and T0 and T 72 for SC4 and CB1 (p < 0.05) (Table 4.11).

### 4.3.3.1.4a Specific Activity of Monooxygenase (Cytochrome p450) in SC4 Treated Test Groups

Monooxygenase activity, expressed in nmoles/min/mg protein, exhibited variations over time. An initial Monooxygenase activity of  $1.24 \times 10^{-1} \pm 1.6 \times 10^{-3}$  nmoles/min/mg protein was observed at T0, which decreased to  $1.01 \times 10^{-1} \pm 7.00 \times 10^{-4}$  nmoles/min/mg protein at 24 hours, further dropping to  $8.56 \times 10^{-2} \pm 2.70 \times 10^{-3}$  nmoles/min/mg protein at 48 hours, and  $7.01 \times 10^{-2} \pm 2.0 \times 10^{-3}$  nmoles/min/mg protein at 72 hours (Table 4.5).

#### 4.3.3.1.4b Specific Activity of Monooxygenase in CB1 Treated Test Groups

At T0, Cytochrome P450 activity was initially noted at  $1.24 \times 10^{-1} \pm 1.6 \times 10^{-3}$  nmoles/min/mg protein. At 24 hours, the activity decreased to  $1.21 \times 10^{-1} \pm 1.40 \times 10^{-3}$  nmoles/min/mg protein, followed by a further decline to  $1.08 \times 10^{-1} \pm 1.60 \times 10^{-3}$  nmoles/min/mg protein at 48 hours. At 72 hours, the activity was observed to be  $7.60 \times 10^{-2} \pm 2.60 \times 10^{-3}$  nmoles/min/mg protein (Table 4.6).

### 4.3.3.1.4c Statistical Analysis of Specific Activity of Monooxygenase in SC4 and CB1 Treated Test Groups

For the enzyme monooxygenase, the difference between compounds (F (1, 4) =  $1.37 \times 10^2$ , p < 0.05) and Time period (F (3, 12) =  $1.12 \times 10^3$ , p < 0.05) showed significance in mixed- design ANOVA. The interaction between Compounds and Time period was also observed to be significant (F (3, 12) =  $6.87 \times 10^1$ , p < 0.05) (Table 4.7). The simple main effect of compounds (CB1 vs SC4) was found

significant at T24 (p.adj =9.96×10<sup>-5</sup>) and T48 (p.adj =9.12×10<sup>-4</sup>), but not significant at T72 (p.adj=1.44 × 10<sup>-1</sup>) (Table 4.8). The simple pairwise of compounds (CB1 vs SC4) was significant at T24, T48 and T72 (p.adj< 0.05) (Table 4.9). The simple main effect of Time periods was significant for SC4 and CB1 (p < 0.05) (Table 4.10). Simple pairwise comparisons of Monooxygenase between Time periods were significantly different between T0 and T24, T0 and T48, and T0 and T 72 for SC4 and CB1 (p < 0.05) except between T0 and T24 of CB1 (P>0.05) (Table 4.11).

#### 4.3.3.1.5a Total protein concentration in SC4 Treated Test Groups

Total protein concentration, measured in mg/ml, when observed, decreased notably over time compared to the initial concentration. A total protein concentration value of  $1.39 \times 10^{-1} \pm 8.00 \times 10^{-4}$  mg/ml was observed at T0, which decreased to  $1.18 \times 10^{-1} \pm 1.60 \times 10^{-3}$  mg/ml at 24 hours, further reducing to  $9.95 \times 10^{-2} \pm 1.2 \times 10^{-3}$  mg/ml at 48 hours and  $8.24 \times 10^{-2} \pm 1.7 \times 10^{-3}$  mg/ml at 72 hours (Table 4.5).

#### 4.3.3.1.5b Total protein concentration in CB1 Treated Test Groups

Total protein concentration, measured in milligrams per millilitre (mg/ml), displayed significant fluctuations over the experimental timeline. At T0, the total protein concentration was determined to be  $1.39 \times 10^{-1} \pm 8.00 \times 10^{-4}$  mg/ml. At 24 hours, the concentration decreased to  $1.20 \times 10^{-1} \pm 3.00 \times 10^{-4}$  mg/ml, followed by a further reduction to  $1.05 \times 10^{-1} \pm 6.00 \times 10^{-4}$  mg/ml at 48 hours and  $9.35 \times 10^{-2} \pm 1.60 \times 10^{-3}$  mg/ml at 72 hours (Table 4.6).

### 4.3.3.1.5c Statistical Analysis of Total protein concentration in SC4 and CB1 Treated Test Groups

Mixed-design ANOVA of Total protein concentration showed a significant difference between compounds (F (1, 4) =  $1.63 \times 10^{1}$ , p < 0. 05) and Time Periods (F (3, 12) =  $1.98 \times 10^{3}$ , p < 0. 05). Also, there was a significant statistical interaction between Compounds and the Time period in evaluating the total protein levels, (F (3, 12) =  $2.44 \times 10^{1}$ , p < 0. 05) (Table 4.7). The simple main effect of compounds (CB1 vs SC4) was significant at T48 (p.adj =  $8.00 \times 10^{-3}$ ) and T72 (p.adj =  $4.00 \times 10^{-3}$ ) but not at T24 (p.adj =  $2.88 \times 10^{-1}$ ) (Table 4.8). The simple pairwise of compounds (CB1 vs SC4) was significant at T24, T48 and T72 (p.adj< 0.05) (Table 4.9). The simple main effect of Time periods was significant for SC4 and CB1 (p.adj < 0.05) (Table 4.10). Simple pairwise comparisons of total proteins between time periods
were significantly different between T0 and T24, T0 and T48, and T0 and T 72 for SC4 and CB1 (p < 0.05) (Table 4.11).

# 4.3.3.2 Quantitative Enzyme Assay of Susceptible F0 and SC4 selected F5 strain.

The specific enzymatic activity of essential enzymes and total protein concentration were compared between the susceptible F0 and the SC4 selected F5 strain of mosquitoes. In the F0 strain, GST activity was measured at  $1.36 \times 10^{-1} \pm 3.80 \times 10^{-3}$ umoles/min/mg protein, whereas the F5 Strain showed a reduced enzymatic activity of  $4.28 \times 10^{-2} \pm 8.7 \times 10^{-3}$  µmoles/min/mg protein. Similarly, AChE activity in the F0 strain was  $1.80 \times 10^{-2} \pm 8.1 \times 10^{-3}$  nmoles/min/mg protein, but in the F5 Strain, it decreased to  $3.70 \times 10^{-3} \pm 2.44 \times 10^{-2}$  nmoles/min/mg protein.  $\alpha$ -esterase activity was  $1.21 \times 10^{-1} \pm 1.30 \times 10^{-3}$  nmoles/min/mg protein in the F0 strain and the enzymatic recduced to  $8.97 \times 10^{-2} \pm 1.30 \times 10^{-3}$  nmoles/min/mg protein in the F5 strain. For  $\beta$ esterase, the F0 strain exhibited an activity of  $1.65 \times 10^{-1} \pm 4.2 \times 10^{-3}$  nmoles/min/mg protein, whereas the F5 strain had  $1.18 \times 10^{-1} \pm 4.2 \times 10^{-3}$  nmoles/min/mg protein. Monooxygenase activity in the F0 strain was  $1.24 \times 10^{-1} \pm 1.60 \times 10^{-3}$  nmoles/min/mg protein, which reduced to  $7.87 \times 10^{-2} \pm 2.7 \times 10^{-3}$  nmoles/min/mg protein in the F5 strain. Additionally, total protein concentration was  $1.39 \times 10^{-1} \pm 8.00 \times 10^{-4}$  mg/ml in the susceptible F0 strain and  $9.19 \times 10^{-2} \pm 1.50 \times 10^{-3}$  mg/ml in the F5 Strain (Table 4.12).

Test substance	Concentration in	Observed	Expected	Co-toxicity
	ppm	percent	percent	coefficient
		mortality	mortality	
SC1(Malathion +	$LC_{25}+LC_{25}(1:1)$	62	50	24
CB1)				
SC2(Temephos+	$LC_{25}+LC_{25}(1:1)$	67.32	50	34.64
CB1)				
SC3(Cypermethrin+	$LC_{25}+LC_{25}(1:1)$	70.68	50	41.36
CB1)				
SC4 (Lambda-	$LC_{25}+LC_{25}(1:1)$	80	50	60
cyhalothrin+ CB1)				

Table 4.1: Co-toxicity coefficient of synergistic combinations SC1, SC2, SC3 and SC4 against *Ae. aegypti* larvae

Table 4.2: Synergistic effect of synergistic combinations SC1, SC2, SC3 and SC4 against *Ae. aegypti* larvae

TEST MATERIAL	LC <sub>25</sub>	LC <sub>50</sub>	$LC_{90}$	p-value
	(LCL-UCL)	(LCL-UCL)	(LCL-UCL)	
SC1(Malathion +	$1.5 \times 10^{-3}$	$2.1 \times 10^{-3}$	3.7×10 <sup>-3</sup>	< 0.01
CB1)	$(1.3 \times 10^{-3} -$	$(1.8 \times 10^{-3}$ -	$(3.2 \times 10^{-3} -$	
	1.7×10 <sup>-3</sup> )	2.3×10 <sup>-3</sup> )	4.8×10 <sup>-3</sup> )	
SC2(Temephos+	6×10 <sup>-4</sup>	$1.0 \times 10^{-3}$	3.0×10 <sup>-3</sup>	< 0.01
CB1)	(3×10 <sup>-4</sup> -	(8×10 <sup>-4</sup> -	(2.3×10 <sup>-3</sup> -	
	7.0×10 <sup>-4</sup> )	$1.2 \times 10^{-3}$ )	4.7×10 <sup>-3</sup> )	
SC3(Cypermethrin+	1.6×10 <sup>-5</sup>	$4.5 \times 10^{-5}$	3.1×10 <sup>-4</sup>	< 0.01
CB1)	(7.0×10 <sup>-6</sup> -	(2.8×10 <sup>-5</sup> -	$(1.9 \times 10^{-4}$ -	
	2.6×10 <sup>-5</sup> )	6.2 ×10 <sup>-5</sup> )	7.8×10 <sup>-4</sup> )	
SC4 (Lambda-	3.0×10 <sup>-6</sup>	6.0×10 <sup>-6</sup>	2.8×10 <sup>-5</sup>	< 0.01
cyhalothrin+ CB1)	(2×10 <sup>-6</sup> -	$(5.0 \times 10^{-6} -$	(1.9×10 <sup>-5</sup> -	
	4 ×10 <sup>-6</sup> )	$8.0  imes 10^{-6}$ )	5.5×10 <sup>-5</sup> )	

Statistical significance p<0.05

Table 4.3: Synergistic factor of tested synergistic combinations SC1, SC2, SC3 and SC4 against *Ae. aegypti* larvae

	Test Material	Synergistic Factor
SC1	Malathion + Plant Isolate	1.75
SC2	Temephos+ Plant Isolate	1.9
SC3	Cypermethrin+ Plant Isolate	3.11
SC4	Lambda Cyhalothrin+ Plant Isolate	8.33



Figure 4.1 Comparison of larvicidal synergistic effect of SC1 and the larvicidal activity of Malathion alone against *Ae. aegypti* larvae



Figure 4.2 Comparison of larvicidal synergistic effect of SC2 and the larvicidal activity of Temephos alone against *Ae. aegypti* larvae



Figure 4.3 Comparison of larvicidal synergistic effect of SC3 and the larvicidal activity of Cypermethrin alone against *Ae. aegypti* larvae



Figure 4.4 Comparison of larvicidal synergistic effect of SC4 and the larvicidal activity of Lambda- cyhalothrin alone against *Ae. aegypti* larvae

Gener ation	LC <sub>25</sub> (LCL-UCL)	LC <sub>50</sub> (LCL-UCL)	LC <sub>90</sub> (LCL-UCL)	Heteroge nity (df)	P Value	RR value (LC <sub>50</sub> )
F0	$\begin{array}{c} 3.00 \times 10^{-6} \\ (1.75 \times 10^{-6} - \\ 4.16 \times 10^{-6}) \end{array}$	6.49×10 <sup>-6</sup> (4.78×10 <sup>-6</sup> - 8.42×10 <sup>-6</sup> )	2.82×10 <sup>-5</sup> (1.93×10 <sup>-5</sup> - 5.38×10 <sup>-5</sup> )	4	P< 0.05	-
F1	3.80×10 <sup>-6</sup> (2.44×10 <sup>-6</sup> - 5.01×10 <sup>-6</sup> )	7.32×10 <sup>-6</sup> (5.66×10 <sup>-6</sup> - 9.16×10 <sup>-6</sup> )	2.55×10 <sup>-5</sup> (1.85×10 <sup>-5</sup> - 4.35×10 <sup>-5</sup> )	4	P< 0.05	1.13
F2	$\begin{array}{r} 4.18 \times 10^{-6} \\ (2.79 \times 10^{-6} - \\ 5.40 \times 10^{-6}) \end{array}$	7.64×10 <sup>-6</sup> (6.02×10 <sup>-6</sup> - 9.38×10 <sup>-6</sup> )	2.40×10 <sup>-5</sup> (1.80×10 <sup>-5</sup> - 3.87×10 <sup>-5</sup> )	4	P< 0.05	1.17
F3	4.65×10 <sup>-6</sup> (3.20×10 <sup>-6</sup> - 5. 89×10 <sup>-6</sup> )	$8.10 \times 10^{-6}$ (6.50×10 <sup>-6</sup> - 9.79×10 <sup>-6</sup> )	2.32×10 <sup>-5</sup> (1.79×10 <sup>-5</sup> - 3.59×10 <sup>-5</sup> )	4	P< 0.05	1.24
F4	5.06×10 <sup>-6</sup> (3.57×10 <sup>-6</sup> - 6.32×10 <sup>-6</sup> )	$8.53 \times 10^{-6}$ (6.93×10^{-6}- 1.02×10^{-5})	2.23×10 <sup>-5</sup> (1.79×10 <sup>-5</sup> - 3.44×10 <sup>-5</sup> )	4	P< 0.05	1.31
F5	$5.37 \times 10^{-6}$ (3.88×10 <sup>-6</sup> - 6.60×10 <sup>-6</sup> )	8.66×10 <sup>-6</sup> (7.12×10 <sup>-6</sup> - 1.021×10 <sup>-5</sup> )	2.146×10 <sup>-5</sup> (1.717×10 <sup>-5</sup> - 3.07×10 <sup>-5</sup> )	4	P< 0.05	1.33

Statistical significance (P < 0.05); RR- Resistance Ratio

Table 4.5: Differential activity of detoxifying enzymes in susceptible and SC4 treated *Ae. aegypti* larvae (10 times dilution of  $LC_{50}$  value)

Sam	GST	AChE	Carboxyl estera	ase	Monooxygena	Total
ples	(µmoles/	(nmoles/mi	α- esterase	β- esterase	se	protein
	min/mg	n/mg	(nmoles/min/	(nmoles/min	(Cytochrome	(mg/ml)
	protein)	protein)	mg protein)	/mg protein)	p450)	(Mean±
	(Mean±	(Mean±	(Mean±SD)	(Mean±SD)	(nmoles/min/	SD)
	SD)	SD)			mg protein)	
					(Mean±SD)	
то	1.36×10 <sup>-1</sup>	1.80×10 <sup>-2</sup>	1.21×10 <sup>-1</sup>	$1.65 \times 10^{-1}$	1.24×10 <sup>-1</sup>	1.39×10 <sup>-1</sup>
10	±3.8×10 <sup>-3</sup>	$\pm 8.1 \times 10^{-3}$	$\pm 1.30 \times 10^{-3}$	$\pm 4.2 \times 10^{-3}$	$\pm 1.60 \times 10^{-3}$	$\pm 8.00 \times 10^{-4}$
Т24	4.91×10 <sup>-2</sup>	5.2×10 <sup>-3</sup>	$1.17 \times 10^{-1}$	$1.30 \times 10^{-1}$	1.01×10 <sup>-1</sup>	1.18×10 <sup>-1</sup>
124	±3.4×10 <sup>-3</sup>	$\pm 3.81 \times 10^{-2}$	$\pm 2.40 \times 10^{-3}$	$\pm 1.70 \times 10^{-3}$	$\pm 7.00 \times 10^{-4}$	$\pm 1.60 \times 10^{-3}$
T19	3.95×10 <sup>-2</sup>	$4.40 \times 10^{-3} \pm$	9.89×10 <sup>-2</sup>	$1.25 \times 10^{-1}$	8.56×10 <sup>-2</sup>	9.95×10 <sup>-2</sup>
140	±5.3×10 <sup>-3</sup>	7.40×10 <sup>-3</sup>	$\pm 1.60 \times 10^{-3}$	$\pm 7.00 \times 10^{-3}$	$\pm 2.70 \times 10^{-3}$	$\pm 1.2 \times 10^{-3}$
T72	3.09×10 <sup>-2</sup>	$2.70 \times 10^{-3} \pm$	6.88×10 <sup>-2</sup>	$1.14 \times 10^{-1}$	7.01×10 <sup>-2</sup>	8.24×10 <sup>-2</sup>
1/2	$\pm 6.4 \times 10^{-3}$	1.79×10 <sup>-2</sup>	$\pm 2.00 \times 10^{-3}$	$\pm 1.30 \times 10^{-3}$	±2.0×10 <sup>-3</sup>	$\pm 1.7 \times 10^{-3}$

Table 4.6: Differential activity of detoxifying enzymes in susceptible and CB1 treated strains of *Ae. aegypti* larvae (10 times dilution of  $LC_{50}$  value)

Sam	GST	AChE	Carboxyl est	erase	Monooxyge	Total
ples	(µmoles/min	(nmoles/min	α- esterase	β- esterase	nase	protein
	/mg protein)	/mg protein)	(nmoles/mi	(nmoles/	(Cytochrom	(mg/ml)
	(Mean±SD)	(Mean±SD)	n/mg	min/mg	e p450)	(Mean±
			protein)	protein)	(nmoles/min	SD)
			(Mean±	(Mean±	/mg protein)	
			SD)	SD)	(Mean±SD)	
TO	1.36×10 <sup>-1</sup>	1.80×10 <sup>-2</sup>	1.21×10 <sup>-1</sup>	1.65×10 <sup>-1</sup>	$1.24 \times 10^{-1}$	1.39×10 <sup>-1</sup>
10	±3.8×10 <sup>-3</sup>	$\pm 8.10 \times 10^{-3}$	±1.30×10 <sup>-3</sup>	±4.20×10 <sup>-3</sup>	±1.6×10 <sup>-3</sup>	$\pm 8.00 \times 10^{-4}$
T24	1.16×10 <sup>-1</sup>	1.14×10 <sup>-2</sup>	1.18×10 <sup>-1</sup>	1.42×10 <sup>-1</sup>	1.21×10 <sup>-1</sup>	$1.20 \times 10^{-1}$
124	$\pm 1.45 \times 10^{-2}$	$\pm 2.83 \times 10^{-2}$	±1.2×10 <sup>-3</sup>	±1.4×10 <sup>-3</sup>	$\pm 1.40 \times 10^{-3}$	$\pm 3.00 \times 10^{-4}$
T48	7.36×10 <sup>-2</sup>	9.30×10 <sup>-3</sup>	1.01×10 <sup>-1</sup>	1.31×10 <sup>-1</sup>	$1.08 \times 10^{-1} \pm$	$1.05 \times 10^{-1}$
140	$\pm 1.69 \times 10^{-2}$	$\pm 3.51 \times 10^{-2}$	$\pm 7.10 \times 10^{-3}$	$\pm 1.65 \times 10^{-2}$	$1.60 \times 10^{-3}$	$\pm 6.00 \times 10^{-4}$
т72	5.20×10 <sup>-2</sup>	8.9×10 <sup>-3</sup>	8.04×10 <sup>-2</sup>	1.22×10 <sup>-1</sup>	7.60×10 <sup>-2</sup>	9.35×10 <sup>-2</sup>
1/2	±1.93×10 <sup>-2</sup>	$\pm 1.20 \times 10^{-2}$	±2.30×10 <sup>-3</sup>	±4.20×10 <sup>-3</sup>	$\pm 2.60 \times 10^{-3}$	$\pm 1.60 \times 10^{-3}$

Table 4.7: Results of Mixed-Design analysis (ANOVA) of Total protein, GST, AChE,  $\alpha$ - esterase,  $\beta$ - esterase and Monooxygenase (Cytochrome p450)

Total protein									
Effect	DFn	F value	p-value						
Compound	1	$1.63 \times 10^{1}$	$4.19  imes 10^{-4}$						
Timeperiod	3	$1.98  imes 10^3$	$1.95  imes 10^{-16}$						
Compound: Time.period	3	$2.44  imes 10^1$	$2.13 \times 10^{-5}$						
	GS	ST							
Compound	1	$6.71  imes 10^1$	1.00×10 <sup>-3</sup>						
Time period	3	$7.60  imes 10^1$	$4.48 \times 10^{-8}$						
Compound: Time.period	3	$8.62  imes 10^{0}$	3.00×10 <sup>-3</sup>						
AChE									
Compound	1	$6.79  imes 10^{0}$	6.00×10 <sup>-2</sup>						
Time period	3	$1.95 \times 10^{1}$	6.62×10 <sup>-5</sup>						
Compound: Time.period	3	$1.36 \times 10^{0}$	3.01×10 <sup>-1</sup>						
	α- est	erase							
Compound	1	$9.98 imes10^{0}$	3.40×10 <sup>-2</sup>						
Time period	3	$2.93  imes 10^2$	1.14×10 <sup>-5</sup>						
Compound: Time.period	3	$4.56  imes 10^{0}$	8.40×10 <sup>-2</sup>						
	β- est	erase							
Compound	1	$1.07 \times 10^{1}$	3.10×10 <sup>-2</sup>						
Time period	3	$4.34  imes 10^1$	$1.02 \times 10^{-6}$						
Compound: Time.period	3	$6.60  imes 10^{-1}$	5.92×10 <sup>-1</sup>						
Mono	ooxygenase (O	Cytochrome p450)							
Compound	1	$1.37 \times 10^{2}$	3.03×10 <sup>-4</sup>						
Time period	3	$1.12 \times 10^3$	$6.00 \times 10^{-15}$						
Compound: Time.period	3	$6.87  imes 10^1$	7.95×10 <sup>-8</sup>						

Statistical significance p-value<0.05; Time Period: T0, T24, T48, T72; Compounds: SC4, CB1

Time Period	Effect	Df	F value	p-value	p.adj value						
		Total F	Protein								
T0	Compounds	1	0	1	1						
T24	Compounds	1	$5.90  imes 10^0$	$7.20 \times 10^{-2}$	$2.88 \times 10^{-1}$						
T48	Compounds	1	$5.53 \times 10^1$	$2.00 \times 10^{-3}$	$8.00 \times 10^{-3}$						
T72	Compounds	1	$6.91 \times 10^{1}$	$1.00 \times 10^{-3}$	$4.00 \times 10^{-3}$						
	GST										
T0	Compounds	1	0	1	1						
T24	Compounds	1	$6.02 \times 10^1$	$1.00 \times 10^{-3}$	$4.00 \times 10^{-3}$						
T48	Compounds	1	$1.11 \times 10^{1}$	$2.90 \times 10^{-2}$	$1.16 \times 10^{-1}$						
T72	Compounds	1	$3.22 \times 10^{\circ}$	$1.47  imes 10^{-1}$	$5.88  imes 10^{-1}$						
AChE											
T0	Compounds	1	0	1	1						
T24	Compounds	1	$5.17  imes 10^{0}$	$8.50 \times 10^{-2}$	$3.4 \ 0 \times 10^{-1}$						
T48	Compounds	1	$5.53  imes 10^0$	$7.80 \times 10^{-2}$	$3.12 \times 10^{-1}$						
T72	Compounds	1	$2.52 \times 10^1$	$7.00  imes 10^{-3}$	$2.80 \times 10^{-2}$						
		α- est	erase								
Т0	Compounds	1	0	1	1						
T24	Compounds	1	$8.22 \times 10^{-2}$	$4.16 \times 10^{-1}$	1						
T48	Compounds	1	$3.34 \times 10^{-1}$	$5.94 \times 10^{-1}$	1						
T72	Compounds	1	$4.53 \times 10^1$	$3.00 \times 10^{-3}$	$1.20 \times 10^{-2}$						
		β- est	erase								
T0	Compounds	1	0	1	1						
T24	Compounds	1	$8.99  imes 10^1$	$6.90 \times 10^{-4}$	$2.76 \times 10^{-3}$						
T48	Compounds	1	$2.82 \times 10^{-1}$	$6.23 \times 10^{-1}$	1						
T72	Compounds	1	$9.01 \times 10^{0}$	$4.00 \times 10^{-2}$	$1.6 \times 10^{-1}$						
	Mor	nooxygenase (C	Cytochrome p45	50)							
T0	Compounds	1	0	1							
T24	Compounds	1	$4.87 \times 10^2$	$2.49 \times 10^{-5}$	$9.96 \times 10^{-5}$						
T48	Compounds	1	$1.59 \times 10^2$	$2.28  imes 10^{-4}$	$9.12 \times 10^{-4}$						
T72	Compounds	1	$9.58  imes 10^0$	$3.60 \times 10^{-2}$	$1.44  imes 10^{-1}$						

Table 4.8: Post hoc test of simple main effect of compounds at each time period

Statistical significance p-value<0.05; Time Period: T0, T24, T48, T72; Compounds: SC4, CB1

Time period	Group 1	Group2	n1	n2	P.adj					
		Total P	rotein							
Τ0	SC4	CB1	3	3	1					
T24	SC4	CB1	3	3	$7.21 \times 10^{-2}$					
T48	SC4	CB1	3	3	$1.75 \times 10^{-3}$					
T72	SC4	CB1	3	3	$1.14 \times 10^{-3}$					
GST										
Τ0	SC4	CB1	3	3	1					
T24	SC4	CB1	3	3	$1.49 \times 10^{-3}$					
T48	SC4	CB1	3	3	$2.91 \times 10^{-2}$					
T72	SC4	CB1	3	3	$1.47  imes 10^{-1}$					
AChE										
T0	SC4	CB1	3	3	1					
T24	SC4	CB1	3	3	$8.54 \times 10^{-2}$					
T48	SC4	CB1	3	3	$7.83 \times 10^{-2}$					
T72	SC4	CB1	3	3	$7.41 \times 10^{-3}$					
		α- este	erase							
T0	SC4	CB1	3	3	1					
T24	SC4	CB1	3	3	$4.16 \times 10^{-1}$					
T48	SC4	CB1	3	3	$5.94  imes 10^{-1}$					
T72	SC4	CB1	3	3	$2.53 \times 10^{-3}$					
		β- este	erase							
Τ0	SC4	CB1	3	3	1					
T24	SC4	CB1	3	3	$6.9  imes 10^{-4}$					
T48	SC4	CB1	3	3	$6.23 \times 10^{-1}$					
T72	SC4	CB1	3	3	$3.99 \times 10^{-2}$					
	Mo	onooxygenase (C	Cytochrome p45	0)						
Τ0	SC4	CB1	3	3	1					
T24	SC4	CB1	3	3	$2.49 \times 10^{-5}$					
T48	SC4	CB1	3	3	$2.28  imes 10^{-4}$					
T72	SC4	CB1	3	3	$3.64 \times 10^{-2}$					

Table 4.9 Post hoc Test of simple pairwise comparisons of compounds at each time Period

Statistical significance p-value<0.05; n1, n2, number of test replicates of SC4 and CB1; p.adj=Bonferroni adjusted p-value; Time Period: T0, T24, T48, T72; Compounds: SC4, CB1

Compound	Effect	DF	F value	p-value	p.adj					
Total Protein										
SC4	Time period	3	940.0	$1.58  imes 10^{-10}$	$3.16 \times 10^{-10}$					
CB1	Time period	3	1289.0	$4.47 \times 10^{-11}$	$8.94 \times 10^{-11}$					
		GS	ST							
SC4	Time period	3	249.0	$1.6  imes 10^{-8}$	$3.20 \times 10^{-8}$					
CB1	Time period	3	19.9	$4.54 \times 10^{-4}$	$9.08 \times 10^{-4}$					
AChE										
SC4	Time period	3	13.5	$2 \times 10^{-3}$	$4.00 \times 10^{-3}$					
CB1	Time period	3	4.48	$4 \times 10^{-2}$	$8 \times 10^{-2}$					
		α- est	erase							
SC4	Time period	3	480.0	$2.29 \times 10^{-9}$	$4.58 \times 10^{-9}$					
CB1	Time period	3	70.6	$4.26 \times 10^{-6}$	$8.52 \times 10^{-6}$					
		β-este	erase							
SC4	Time period	3	80.2	$2.60 \times 10^{-6}$	$5.2 \times 10^{-6}$					
CB1	Time period	3	13.5	$2.00 \times 10^{-3}$	$4 \times 10^{-3}$					
	Moi	nooxygenase (	Cytochrome p45	50)						
SC4	Time period	3	452.0	$2.92 \times 10^{-9}$	$5.84 \times 10^{-9}$					
CB1	Time period	3	415.0	$4.07 \times 10^{-9}$	$8.14 \times 10^{-9}$					

Table 4.10: Post hoc test of simple main effect of time periods with different compounds

Statistical significance p-value<0.05; p.adj=Bonferroni adjusted p-value

Table 4.11:	Post	hoc t	test o	of simp	e	pairwise	compa	arisons	of	time	periods	for	each
compound													

Compound	Group1	Group2	n1	n2	p-value	p.adj		
Total Protein								
SC4	TO	T24	3	3	$6.42 \times 10^{-8}$	$3.85 \times 10^{-7}$		
SC4	TO	T48	3	3	$4.67 \times 10^{-10}$	$2.80  imes 10^{-9}$		
SC4	T24	T48	3	3	$2.02 \times 10^{-7}$	$1.21 \times 10^{-6}$		
SC4	TO	T72	3	3	$2.63 \times 10^{-11}$	$1.58  imes 10^{-10}$		
SC4	T24	T72	3	3	$1.10 \times 10^{-9}$	$6.57 \times 10^{-9}$		
SC4	T48	T72	3	3	$3.30 \times 10^{-7}$	$1.98 \times 10^{-6}$		
CB1	TO	T24	3	3	$8.18  imes 10^{-9}$	$4.91 \times 10^{-8}$		
CB1	TO	T48	3	3	$8.47 \times 10^{-11}$	$5.08  imes 10^{-10}$		
CB1	T24	T48	3	3	$5.93 \times 10^{-8}$	$3.56 \times 10^{-7}$		
CB1	TO	T72	3	3	$7.75 \times 10^{-12}$	$4.65 \times 10^{-11}$		
CB1	T24	T72	3	3	$5.70  imes 10^{-10}$	$3.42 \times 10^{-9}$		
GST								
SC4	T0	T24	3	3	$2.18 \times 10^{-8}$	$1.31 \times 10^{-7}$		
SC4	T0	T48	3	3	$9.53 \times 10^{-9}$	$5.72 \times 10^{-8}$		
SC4	T24	T48	3	3	$4.35 \times 10^{-2}$	$2.61 \times 10^{-1}$		
SC4	T0	T72	3	3	$4.83 \times 10^{-9}$	$2.90  imes 10^{-8}$		
SC4	T24	T72	3	3	$1.87 \times 10^{-3}$	$1.12 \times 10^{-2}$		
SC4	T48	T72	3	3	$6.32 \times 10^{-2}$	$3.79 \times 10^{-1}$		
CB1	TO	T24	3	3	$1.37 \times 10^{-1}$	$8.21 \times 10^{-1}$		
CB1	TO	T48	3	3	$9.04 \times 10^{-4}$	$5.42 \times 10^{-3}$		
CB1	T24	T48	3	3	$8.45 \times 10^{-3}$	$5.07 \times 10^{-2}$		
CB1	TO	T72	3	3	$1.23 \times 10^{-4}$	$7.4 imes10^{-4}$		
CB1	T24	T72	3	3	$7.68 \times 10^{-4}$	$4.61 \times 10^{-3}$		
CB1	T48	T72	3	3	$1.12 \times 10^{-1}$	$6.7  imes 10^{-1}$		
AChE								

T0	T24	3	3	$1.47 \times 10^{-3}$	$8.84 \times 10^{-3}$			
T0	T48	3	3	$1.03 \times 10^{-3}$	$6.16 \times 10^{-3}$			
T24	T48	3	3	$7.83 \times 10^{-1}$	1			
T0	T72	3	3	$4.71 \times 10^{-4}$	$2.82 \times 10^{-3}$			
T24	T72	3	3	$3.77 \times 10^{-1}$	1			
T48	T72	3	3	$5.34 \times 10^{-1}$	1			
T0	T24	3	3	$4.78 \times 10^{-2}$	$2.87  imes 10^{-1}$			
T0	T48	3	3	$1.48 \times 10^{-2}$	$8.9  imes 10^{-2}$			
T24	T48	3	3	$4.71 \times 10^{-1}$	1			
T0	T72	3	3	$1.20 \times 10^{-2}$	$7.18  imes 10^{-2}$			
T24	T72	3	3	$3.95 \times 10^{-1}$	1			
T48	T72	3	3	$8.90  imes 10^{-1}$	1			
α- esterase								
T0	T24	3	3	$5.25 \times 10^{-2}$	$3.15 \times 10^{-1}$			
T0	T48	3	3	$6.01 \times 10^{-7}$	$3.61 \times 10^{-6}$			
T24	T48	3	3	$2.30 \times 10^{-6}$	$1.38 \times 10^{-5}$			
T0	T72	3	3	$6.31 \times 10^{-10}$	$3.79 \times 10^{-10}$			
T24	T72	3	3	$1.10 \times 10^{-9}$	$6.58  imes 10^{-9}$			
T48	T72	3	3	$4.58  imes 10^{-8}$	$2.75 \times 10^{-7}$			
T0	T24	3	3	$5.25 \times 10^{-1}$	1			
T0	T48	3	3	$2.81 \times 10^{-4}$	$1.69 \times 10^{-3}$			
T24	T48	3	3	$6.00  imes 10^{-4}$	$3.60 \times 10^{-3}$			
T0	T72	3	3	$1.31 \times 10^{-6}$	$7.86  imes 10^{-6}$			
T24	T72	3	3	$1.97 \times 10^{-6}$	$1.18  imes 10^{-5}$			
T48	T72	3	3	$1.57 \times 10^{-4}$	$9.44 \times 10^{-4}$			
		β- esterase						
T0	T24	3	3	$8.54 \times 10^{-6}$	$5.12 \times 10^{-5}$			
T0	T48	3	3	$3.02 \times 10^{-6}$	$1.81 \times 10^{-5}$			
T24	T48	3	3	$1.77 \times 10^{-1}$	1			
T0	T72	3	3	$4.56 \times 10^{-7}$	$2.74 \times 10^{-6}$			
T24	T72	3	3	$1.57 \times 10^{-3}$	$9.44 \times 10^{-3}$			
T48	T72	3	3	$1.25 \times 10^{-2}$	$7.50 \times 10^{-2}$			
T0	T24	3	3	$1.39 \times 10^{-2}$	$8.32 \times 10^{-2}$			
T0	T48	3	3	$1.44 \times 10^{-3}$	$8.66 \times 10^{-3}$			
T24	T48	3	3	$1.45 \times 10^{-1}$	$8.72 \times 10^{-1}$			
T0	T72	3	3	$3.22 \times 10^{-4}$	$1.93 \times 10^{-3}$			
T24	T72	3	3	$2.09 \times 10^{-2}$	$1.25 \times 10^{-1}$			
T48	T72	3	3	$2.45 \times 10^{-1}$	1			
Monooxygenase (Cytochrome p450)								
	wionooxyge	lase (Cytoelli	ome p430)					
TO	T24	3	3	$3.85 \times 10^{-7}$	$2.31 \times 10^{-6}$			
T0 T0	T24 T48	$\frac{3}{3}$	<u>3</u> 3	$3.85 \times 10^{-7}$ $6.68 \times 10^{-9}$	$\frac{2.31 \times 10^{-6}}{4.01 \times 10^{-8}}$			
T0 T0 T24	T24 T48 T48	$\frac{3}{3}$	3 3 3 3	$\begin{array}{c} 3.85 \times 10^{-7} \\ 6.68 \times 10^{-9} \\ 7.58 \times 10^{-6} \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 2.31 \times 10^{-6} \\ 4.01 \times 10^{-8} \\ 4.55 \times 10^{-5} \end{array}$			
T0 T0 T24 T0	T24 T48 T48 T72	3 3 3 3 3	3 3 3 3 3	$\begin{array}{c} 3.85 \times 10^{-7} \\ 6.68 \times 10^{-9} \\ \overline{7.58 \times 10^{-6}} \\ 4.64 \times 10^{-10} \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{r} 2.31 \times 10^{-6} \\ 4.01 \times 10^{-8} \\ 4.55 \times 10^{-5} \\ 2.78 \times 10^{-9} \end{array}$			
T0 T0 T24 T0 T24	T24 T48 T48 T72 T72 T72	3 3 3 3 3 3 3	3 3 3 3 3 3 3	$\begin{array}{c} 3.85 \times 10^{-7} \\ 6.68 \times 10^{-9} \\ 7.58 \times 10^{-6} \\ 4.64 \times 10^{-10} \\ 3.76 \times 10^{-8} \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{r} 2.31 \times 10^{-6} \\ 4.01 \times 10^{-8} \\ 4.55 \times 10^{-5} \\ 2.78 \times 10^{-9} \\ 2.26 \times 10^{-7} \end{array}$			
T0 T0 T24 T0 T24 T48	T24 T48 T48 T72 T72 T72 T72	3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3	3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3	$\begin{array}{c} 3.85 \times 10^{-7} \\ 6.68 \times 10^{-9} \\ 7.58 \times 10^{-6} \\ 4.64 \times 10^{-10} \\ 3.76 \times 10^{-8} \\ 8.17 \times 10^{-6} \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{r} 2.31 \times 10^{-6} \\ 4.01 \times 10^{-8} \\ 4.55 \times 10^{-5} \\ 2.78 \times 10^{-9} \\ 2.26 \times 10^{-7} \\ 4.90 \times 10^{-5} \end{array}$			
T0       T0       T24       T0       T24       T0       T24       T0       T24	T24 T48 T48 T72 T72 T72 T72 T24	3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3	3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3	$\begin{array}{c} 3.85\times10^{-7}\\ \hline 6.68\times10^{-9}\\ \hline 7.58\times10^{-6}\\ \hline 4.64\times10^{-10}\\ \hline 3.76\times10^{-8}\\ \hline 8.17\times10^{-6}\\ \hline 7.52\times10^{-2} \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{r} 2.31 \times 10^{.6} \\ 4.01 \times 10^{.8} \\ 4.55 \times 10^{.5} \\ 2.78 \times 10^{.9} \\ 2.26 \times 10^{.7} \\ 4.90 \times 10^{.5} \\ 4.51 \times 10^{.1} \end{array}$			
T0       T0       T24       T0       T24       T0       T24       T0       T24       T0       T0       T0       T0	T24 T48 T48 T72 T72 T72 T72 T24 T48	3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3	3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3	$\begin{array}{c} 3.85\times10^{-7}\\ 6.68\times10^{-9}\\ 7.58\times10^{-6}\\ 4.64\times10^{-10}\\ 3.76\times10^{-8}\\ 8.17\times10^{-6}\\ 7.52\times10^{-2}\\ 5.53\times10^{-6}\\ \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 2.31 \times 10^{.6} \\ 4.01 \times 10^{.8} \\ 4.55 \times 10^{.5} \\ 2.78 \times 10^{.9} \\ 2.26 \times 10^{.7} \\ 4.90 \times 10^{.5} \\ 4.51 \times 10^{.1} \\ 3.32 \times 10^{.5} \end{array}$			
T0       T0       T24       T0       T24       T0       T24       T0       T24       T48       T0       T0       T24	T24       T48       T48       T72       T72       T72       T72       T72       T74       T48       T74	3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3	3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3	$\begin{array}{c} 3.85 \times 10^{-7} \\ 6.68 \times 10^{-9} \\ 7.58 \times 10^{-6} \\ 4.64 \times 10^{-10} \\ 3.76 \times 10^{-8} \\ 8.17 \times 10^{-6} \\ 7.52 \times 10^{-2} \\ 5.53 \times 10^{-6} \\ 2.71 \times 10^{-5} \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{r} 2.31 \times 10^{.6} \\ 4.01 \times 10^{.8} \\ 4.55 \times 10^{.5} \\ 2.78 \times 10^{.9} \\ 2.26 \times 10^{.7} \\ 4.90 \times 10^{.5} \\ 4.51 \times 10^{.1} \\ 3.32 \times 10^{.5} \\ 1.62 \times 10^{.4} \end{array}$			
T0 T0 T24 T0 T24 T48 T0 T0 T24 T0 T0	Monooxyge       T24       T48       T48       T72       T72       T72       T72       T74       T48       T72       T72       T24       T48       T72       T72       T72       T72       T72       T72       T72       T748       T48       T48       T72	3   3		$\begin{array}{c} 3.85\times10^{-7}\\ \hline 6.68\times10^{-9}\\ \hline 7.58\times10^{-6}\\ \hline 4.64\times10^{-10}\\ \hline 3.76\times10^{-8}\\ \hline 8.17\times10^{-6}\\ \hline 7.52\times10^{-2}\\ \hline 5.53\times10^{-6}\\ \hline 2.71\times10^{-5}\\ \hline 1.11\times10^{-10}\\ \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 2.31 \times 10^{-6} \\ 4.01 \times 10^{-8} \\ 4.55 \times 10^{-5} \\ 2.78 \times 10^{-9} \\ 2.26 \times 10^{-7} \\ 4.90 \times 10^{-5} \\ 4.51 \times 10^{-1} \\ 3.32 \times 10^{-5} \\ 1.62 \times 10^{-4} \\ 6.68 \times 10^{-10} \end{array}$			
T0       T0       T24       T0       T24       T0       T24       T0       T24       T0       T24       T0       T0       T0       T24	Monooxyge       T24       T48       T48       T72       T72       T72       T72       T24       T48       T72       T72       T24       T48       T72	3   3	$ \begin{array}{r}   3 \\ $	$\begin{array}{c} 3.85\times10^{-7}\\ \hline 6.68\times10^{9}\\ \hline 7.58\times10^{-6}\\ \hline 4.64\times10^{-10}\\ \hline 3.76\times10^{-8}\\ \hline 8.17\times10^{-6}\\ \hline 7.52\times10^{-2}\\ \hline 5.53\times10^{-6}\\ \hline 2.71\times10^{-5}\\ \hline 1.11\times10^{-10}\\ \hline 1.89\times10^{-10} \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 2.31 \times 10^{-6} \\ 4.01 \times 10^{-8} \\ 4.55 \times 10^{-5} \\ 2.78 \times 10^{-9} \\ 2.26 \times 10^{-7} \\ 4.90 \times 10^{-5} \\ 4.51 \times 10^{-1} \\ 3.32 \times 10^{-5} \\ 1.62 \times 10^{-4} \\ 6.68 \times 10^{-10} \\ 1.14 \times 10^{-9} \end{array}$			
	T0       T0       T24       T0       T24       T48       T0       T24       T48       T0       T24       T0	T0     T24       T0     T48       T24     T48       T0     T72       T24     T72       T48     T72       T48     T72       T48     T72       T0     T24       T0     T24       T0     T48       T24     T48       T0     T72       T24     T72       T48     T72       T48     T72       T48     T72       T48     T72       T48     T72       T48     T72       T24     T48       T0     T24       T0     T24       T0     T24       T0     T48       T24     T48       T0     T72       T24     T72       T48     T72       T48     T72       T48     T72       T48     T72       T48     T72       T48     T	T0T243T0T483T24T483T0T723T24T723T48T723T0T243T0T483T0T483T0T723T24T483T0T723T24T483T0T723T24T723T48T723T48T723T0T483T0T743T0T723T24T723T24T723T24T723T48T723T0T243T0T723T48T723T48T723T24T483T0T243T0T243T0T243T0T243T0T243T0T243T0T243T0T243T0T243T0T243T0T243T0T243T0T243T0T243T0T243T0T243T0T243T0T243T0T243<	T0     T24     3     3       T0     T48     3     3       T24     T48     3     3       T0     T72     3     3       T24     T72     3     3       T24     T72     3     3       T0     T24     3     3       T0     T24     3     3       T0     T24     3     3       T0     T24     3     3       T0     T48     3     3       T24     T48     3     3       T24     T72     3     3       T48     T72     3     3       T0     T24     3	T0     T24     3     3 $1.47 \times 10^{-3}$ T0     T48     3     3 $1.03 \times 10^{-3}$ T24     T48     3     3 $7.83 \times 10^{-1}$ T0     T72     3     3 $4.71 \times 10^{-1}$ T48     T72     3     3 $4.71 \times 10^{-1}$ T48     T72     3     3 $5.34 \times 10^{-2}$ T0     T24     3     3 $4.78 \times 10^{-2}$ T0     T48     3     3 $4.78 \times 10^{-2}$ T0     T48     3     3 $4.78 \times 10^{-2}$ T24     T48     3     3 $4.71 \times 10^{-1}$ T0     T72     3     3 $9.5 \times 10^{-1}$ T48     T72     3     3 $8.90 \times 10^{-1}$ T24     T74     3     3 $6.01 \times 10^{-7}$ T24     T72     3     3 $6.01 \times 10^{-7}$ T24     T72     3     3 $1.10 \times 10^{-9}$ T48     3			

Statistical significance p-value<0.05; n1, n2, number of test replicates of SC4 and CB1; p.adj=Bonferroni adjusted p-value



Figure 4.5 Comparison of the effect of CB1 and SC4 individually on the total protein concentration of susceptible (F0) *Ae. aegypti* strain at different time intervals T0, T24, T48 and T72 hours



Figure 4.6 Comparison of the effect of CB1 and SC4 individually on specific enzymatic activity of GST of susceptible (F0) *Ae. aegypti* strain at different time intervals T0, T24, T48 and T72 hours



Figure 4.7 Comparison of the effect of CB1 and SC4 individually on specific enzymatic activity of AChE of susceptible (F0) *Ae. aegypti* strain at different time intervals T0, T24, T48 and T72 hours



Figure 4.8 Comparison of the effect of CB1 and SC4 individually on specific enzymatic activity of  $\alpha$ - esterase of susceptible (F0) *Ae. aegypti* strain at different time intervals T0, T24, T48 and T72 hours



Figure 4.9 Comparison of the effect of CB1 and SC4 individually on specific enzymatic activity of  $\beta$ - esterase of susceptible (F0) *Ae. aegypti* strain at different time intervals T0, T24, T48 and T72 hours



Figure 4.10 Comparison of the effect of CB1 and SC4 individually on specific enzymatic activity of monooxygenase of susceptible (F0) *Ae. aegypti* strain at different time intervals T0, T24, T48 and T72 hours

Enzyme	Susceptible	SC4 Selected	. 1	10	
5	F0 strain	train F5strain		df	p-value
	(Mean±SD)	(Mean±SD)			
Glutathione-s					
transferase	$1.36 \times 10^{-1}$	$4.28 \times 10^{-2}$	16.00	4	n <0.01
(µMoles/min/mg	$\pm 3.80 \times 10^{-3}$	$\pm 8.7 \times 10^{-3}$	10.90	4	p <0.01
protein)					
Acetylcholine					
esterase	$1.80 \times 10^{-2}$	3.70×10 <sup>-3</sup>	4.40	4	n <0.01
(nMoles/min/mg	$\pm 8.1 \times 10^{-3}$	$\pm 2.44 \times 10^{-2}$	4.40	4	p <0.01
protein)					
α- esterase	$1.21 \times 10^{-1}$	$8.07 \times 10^{-2}$			
(nMoles/min/mg	$1.21 \times 10$ +1.20×10 <sup>-3</sup>	$0.97 \times 10$ +1.20×10 <sup>-3</sup>	28.98	4	p <0.01
protein)	1.30×10	±1.30×10			
β- esterase	$1.65 \times 10^{-1}$	$1.18 \times 10^{-1}$			
(nMoles/min/mg	$1.03 \times 10^{-3}$	$1.16 \times 10$	13.59	4	p <0.01
protein)	$\pm$ 4.2×10	±4.2×10			
Monooxygenase					
(Cytochrome	$1.24 \times 10^{-1}$	$7.87 \times 10^{-2}$			
p450)	$1.24 \times 10$	$1.87 \times 10^{-3}$	25.33	4	p <0.01
(nMoles/min/mg	$\pm 1.00 \times 10$	±2.7×10			-
protein)					
Total protein	1.39×10 <sup>-1</sup>	9.19×10 <sup>-2</sup>	47.84	4	m <0.01
(mg/ml)	$\pm 8.00 \times 10^{-4}$	$\pm 1.50 \times 10^{-3}$			p <0.01

Table 4.12: Differential activity of detoxifying enzymes in F0 and SC4 selected F5 strains of *Ae. aegypti* larvae

Statistical significance p-value<0.05



Figure 4.11 Comparison of total protein concentration in susceptible F0 and SC4 selected F5 *Ae. aegypti* strain



Figure 4.12 Comparison of Specific activity of GST in susceptible F0 and SC4 selected F5 *Ae. aegypti* strain



Figure 4.13 Comparison of Specific activity of AChE in susceptible F0 and SC4 selected F5 *Ae. aegypti* strain



Figure 4.14 Comparison of Specific activity of  $\alpha$ - esterase in susceptible F0 and SC4 selected F5 *Ae. aegypti* strain



Figure 4.15 Comparison of Specific activity of  $\beta$ - esterase in susceptible F0 and SC4 selected F5 *Ae. aegypti* strain



Figure 4.16 Comparison of Specific activity of monooxygenase in susceptible F0 and SC4 selected F5 *Ae. aegypti* strain

#### **4.4 Discussion**

The findings of this investigation unveiled the synergistic potential of a bioactive compound extracted from the plant *C. bonplandianum*, CB1, when combined with four different conventional insecticides against *Ae. aegypti*. All four insecticides demonstrated increased effectiveness when synergized with the Phyto-compound, exhibiting a positive cytotoxicity coefficient. The study included two distinct classes of insecticides, namely organophosphates and pyrethroids. The outcomes showed effectiveness in all tested combinations, with lambda-cyhalothrin (SC4) showing the highest efficacy, followed by cypermethrin (SC3), temephos (SC2), and malathion (SC1), with synergistic factors of 8.33, 3.11, 1.9, and 1.75, respectively.

Various studies have documented comparable synergistic effects resulting from combining different plant extracts or integrating plant extracts with insecticides to control pest populations. Considering the exceptional adaptability of mosquitoes, it becomes evident that more than depending solely on a single control strategy is required. While synthetic insecticides are known for their rapid action, high potency, and cost-effectiveness, their prolonged usage has contributed to ongoing environmental degradation. Mosquitoes, particularly species like Ae. aegypti, possess a remarkable ability to develop resistance against synthetic insecticides due to their short life cycle and high reproductive rates. This development has demanded alternate strategies, such as utilising renewable resources like plant extracts, which could offer more durable and less hazardous mosquito control solutions. The combined effects of synthetic pesticides and plant extracts demonstrate synergism, improving the efficacy of pest management techniques (Tyagi, 2016). Synergists are substances that, when combined with insecticides in sublethal concentrations, increase the toxicity and general effectiveness of the insecticides against pest species. According to studies by Brindley and Selim (1984), insecticide synergists like piperonyl butoxide (PBO) can drastically increase the toxicity of insecticides when used in sublethal amounts. Synergists were first used to stabilise pyrethrins to produce a competitive insecticide that could be used to fight mosquitoes, houseflies, and other household pests. The scarcity and high price of natural pyrethrum imported from Kenya led to the development of PBO, the first effective and commercially viable synergist (Wachs, 1947). Synergistic effects were demonstrated through bioassays employing a blend of botanical extracts and various synthetic

insecticides, which had been a recurring observation in several earlier research efforts (Kalyanasundaram and Babu, 1982; Kalyanasundaram and Das, 1985; Thangam and Kathiresan, 1990).

In a comparable investigation by Shaalan et al., 2005a, the synergistic effectiveness of botanical combinations was explored both with and without synthetic insecticides against Cx. annulirostris and Ae. aegypti mosquitoes. The outcomes of the study suggested that these combinations are more potent than using either insecticides or phytochemicals individually. Fakoorziba et al. (2009) reported the synergistic effectiveness of piperonyl butoxide in combination with deltamethrin, a pyrethroid insecticide, against Cx. tritaeniorhynchus and other mosquito species. Aivazi and Vijayan (2010) illustrated the synergistic impact of combining *Ruta graveolens* with cypermethrin to effectively combat An. stephensi larvae in a study conducted at Mysore. In a study conducted by Raghavendra et al. (2013), the synergistic potential of two plant extracts, Solidago canadensis and E. jambolana was investigated against Ae. aegypti mosquito larvae. The research focused on deltamethrin, and the results demonstrated that combining phytochemicals and insecticides exhibited greater efficacy than using insecticides or phytochemicals individually. Bhan et al. (2015) conducted a study to assess the larvicidal efficacy of temephos and extracts of Cuscuta reflexa, individually and combined, against Anopheline and Culicine larvae, revealing synergistic activity within the combinations. In an investigation done by Dhinakaran et al. (2019), four monoterpenes, y-terpinene (T), R-(+)limonene (L), carvacrol (C), and trans-anethole (A), were assessed for their impact on late third instar Ae. aegypti larvae, individually and in combination, revealed promising synergistic mixtures within the two tested binary combinations.

From the outcomes of the current study, it was clear that both SF and CTC demonstrated significant synergistic effects (P<0.01) at  $LC_{50}$  and  $LC_{90}$  levels for all the tested combinations. Additionally, the extent of synergism varied according to the concentration of insecticides used in combination with the plant isolate. The study results revealed that the various insecticides showed varying effectiveness, and SC4 (lambda-cyhalothrin combination) exhibited the most efficient synergistic pairing. Hence, the synergistic combination of SC4 was the focus of the resistance studies against *Ae. aegypti*. This study conducted a sequential selection experiment with five successive generations of *Ae. aegypti* (F0-F5), during which they were

exposed to different concentrations of SC4. The results showed that the  $LC_{50}$  values increased slightly in each generation. However, the RR values were calculated, and the outcomes showed that the increase in the lethal concentration of SC4 remained less than two even after five generations of exposure. This result indicated that the species remained susceptible to the selected synergistic combination despite the selective pressure exerted over the experimental generations.

Recognising the mechanism of action of plant extracts and insecticides is critical because it allows the evaluation of possible risks to human health and the probability of resistance evolution. Moreover, this knowledge enables researchers to formulate novel compounds with diverse modes of action. Additionally, it provides knowledge about the emergence of resistance among pests, particularly in situations involving target insensitivity (Karunaratne et al., 2018). In this present study, four detoxifying enzymes, namely Esterases ( $\alpha$  and  $\beta$ ), AChE, Monooxygenase (Cytochrome P450), and GST, were analysed to determine any potential elevation in the selected strain compared to the susceptible F0 strain, as part of the investigation into resistance development. The same enzymes were also tested with the susceptible F0 strain of *Ae. aegypti* larvae using a 10-fold dilution of its original LC<sub>50</sub> to assess the impact of the synergistic combination SC4 on the detoxifying enzyme mechanism. The findings revealed no significant elevations in quantifying these enzymes between the selected F5 strain and the susceptible F0 strain, suggesting the absence of resistance development.

The insecticide sequestration or biodegradation catalysed by insect enzymes is a significant reason behind the emergence of metabolic resistance (Hemingway et al., 1985; Chen et al., 2003; Das and Dutta, 2014). Many studies suggested that insecticide metabolism primarily relies on the activities of three prominent enzyme families: cytochrome P450 monooxygenases, GST, and carboxy/cholinesterases. These enzymes play a principal role in coordinating a wide array of detoxification reactions, serving as the primary line of enzymatic defence against xenobiotic substances and supporting the elimination of diverse metabolic byproducts (Feyereisen, 2005; Oakeshott et al., 2010). Among the various mechanisms of resistance found in mosquitoes, metabolic resistance is a prevailing and most challenging one. Esterases, monooxygenases, and GST constitute the primary enzyme groups responsible for the metabolism of mosquitoes. There have been

documented instances of heightened esterase levels, increased cytochrome P450 activity, and their correlation with insecticide resistance across diverse mosquito species (Wan-Norafikah et al., 2013; Muthusamy and Shivakumar, 2015b).

In mosquitoes, esterases take an essential role as the primary mechanism responsible for conferring resistance to insecticides like organophosphates, carbamates, and pyrethroids (Polson et al., 2011; Marcombe et al., 2012). Multiple studies have presented compelling evidence that GST enzymes also play a significant role in conferring resistance to these categories of insecticides (Enayati et al., 2005). In addition, AChE, a serine esterase found at nerve synapses, constitutes the primary target for insecticides (Osta et al., 2012). In the endless struggle against diseases spread by mosquitoes, researchers have been exploring the complex mechanisms that constitute insecticide resistance in these insects. These studies aimed to understand how mosquitoes become resistant to insecticides and adapt to them, as is an essential element limiting vector control strategies. The detoxifying enzymes break down insecticides into less toxic or non-toxic compounds. Increased detoxification is a typical resistance mechanism that causes the inhibition of the target sites of the insecticides. This increase in detoxifying enzymes may be triggered by changes in the catalytic characteristics of the enzymes, an increase in the production of enzymes, or a combination of these two. Sometimes, amplification of a gene results in increased production of an enzyme (Oppenoorth, 1985). In this study, compared to the susceptible strain, which was not exposed to insecticides, the activity of each tested detoxifying enzyme in the mosquitoes decreased in both the generations treated with CB1 and those treated with the SC4. As the scientific literature in this area suggests that mosquito strains that have developed pesticide resistance have higher concentrations of these enzymes, this observation may indicate that the compounds under test effectively reduce the rate at which insecticide resistance develops.

The results of this study align with other research findings conducted in this area. In a research investigation carried out by Parthiban et al. in 2020, where they evaluated the larvicidal effectiveness of *A. muricata*, it was observed that the levels of AChE, GST, and esterase enzymes steadily declined in the tested mosquito strains, in contrast to the control strain that remained untreated with the extract. This decline indicated the susceptibility of the mosquito species to the plant extract under examination. Another research focused on the larvicidal activity of *Artemisia absinthium* extracts, particularly regarding the inhibition of detoxifying enzymes in *Ae. aegypti* larvae, the ethanolic extract demonstrated significant inhibitory effects on detoxifying enzymes, including AChE and  $\alpha$  and  $\beta$ -carboxylesterases. Additionally, exposure to the ethanolic extract for 24 hours led to a notable reduction in protein levels in fourth-instar larvae. The authors proposed that these results strongly imply that the active ethanolic extract derived from this plant holds promise as a potent solution for pest and vector control (Sofi et al., 2022).

#### 4.5 Conclusion

While synthetic insecticides offer rapid and potent effects, their uncontrolled use often causes resistance, allowing vector populations to resurge along with disease. Conversely, botanical insecticides are increasingly favoured for their eco-friendly attributes, yet their application can be time-consuming, quantity-intensive, and harmful to non-target organisms. An integrated approach is essential for efficient, eco-friendly, and cost-effective management to optimise the efficacy of botanical insecticides and minimise resource demands. Synergistic interactions between synthetic insecticides and botanical agents can offer a potent and low-risk approach, offering effectiveness and less environmental impact. This chapter focused on examining the synergistic activity of the bioactive compound CB1 when combined with chemical insecticides, including malathion, temephos, cypermethrin, and lambda-cyhalothrin. The aim was to analyse the synergistic impact of these combinations on Ae. aegypti larvae. Significantly, all the examined combinations exhibited synergistic effects, established to be relevant in managing the vector population. Furthermore, the chapter explored the impacts of SC4 on the detoxifying enzymes of the Ae. aegypti mosquito. The potential for resistance development within the mosquito population against this synergistic compound was also investigated by assessing the detoxifying enzyme activity over five consecutive generations exposed to the treatment. The consistent decline in the activity of these tested enzymes across all treated generations suggested a possible hindrance to the rapid development of resistance against this compound. In summary, the identified synergistic interactions between CB1 and chemical insecticides offered a prevailing approach to enhance vector control efficacy while slowing down the development of resistance in mosquito populations.

### SUMMARY

Mosquitoes, tiny but potent disease vectors, have played a significant role in influencing public health outcomes worldwide. These blood-feeding insects can transmit a variety of deadly pathogens to humans and animals in addition to being an annoyance. The list of diseases that mosquitoes are able to transmit includes a number of severe public health problems, such as dengue fever, malaria, Zika virus, West Nile virus, chikungunya, and many more. Each of these diseases can have devastating effects on individuals and communities, leading to illness, disability, and even death. Mosquito-borne diseases are particularly prevalent in tropical and subtropical regions, where the environmental conditions favour both the mosquito vectors and the pathogens they carry. In the continuous worldwide effort to protect public health, it is essential to understand the intricate relationships between mosquitoes and the diseases they transmit.

In the first chapter of this study, molecular identification and diversity analyses were conducted on vector mosquitoes, yielding valuable information on the genetic composition and diversity of disease-transmitting vectors. The collection data revealed a diverse range of mosquito vector species, spanning *Anopheles*, *Aedes*, *Culex*, and *Armigeres* genera, emphasizing the complexity of vector-borne diseases. These species were accurately identified and categorized using molecular techniques, providing information about their vectorial capacities. The diversity indices of the collected species with respect to their collection sites were also discussed in this chapter.

Chapter two shifted focus towards screening diverse plant species to evaluate their effectiveness in controlling the dengue fever vector, *Ae. aegypti*. Notably, *C. bonplandianus*, when subjected to hexane extraction, demonstrated remarkable larvicidal efficacy, emphasizing its potential as a natural solution. Further investigation identified Eicosane as the bioactive compound responsible for this efficacy in controlling *Ae. aegypti* populations. These findings determined the significance of botanical insecticides as eco-friendly resources in the battle against mosquito vectors, offering practical and sustainable alternatives for vector control.

213

In the third chapter, a thorough assessment was conducted to determine the larvicidal effectiveness of four conventional insecticides when applied against the *Ae. aegypti* mosquito species. Among these insecticides, Lambda-cyhalothrin demonstrated the highest potency, effectively controlling *Ae. aegypti* larvae. It was followed by Cypermethrin, Temephos, and Malathion in decreasing order of effectiveness. These findings highlighted the importance of using a balanced strategy in mosquito control efforts, combining chemical insecticides with natural substitutes like eicosane. This multilayered approach is vital for the effective management of mosquito-borne diseases while simultaneously minimizing potential ecological repercussions. This equilibrium could minimize environmental harm and optimize the effectiveness of vector control methods.

The final chapter examined the synergistic interactions between chemical insecticides and the bioactive compound extracted from C. bonplandianus. These combinations showed remarkable outcomes, as they displayed strong synergistic effects against Ae. aegypti. This result provided a promising path for more effective management of mosquitoes by suggesting a relatively safe but highly effective vector control strategy. The chapter also covered the effectiveness of the most effective synergistic compound and plant isolate on the detoxifying enzymes of Ae. *aegypti*. This aspect of the study suggested that these synergistic compounds might hinder the rapid development of resistance within the selected Ae. aegypti populations. This is a significant finding because resistance development is a pressing concern in the field of mosquito control. The objective outlined in this chapter demonstrated important alternatives for potential mosquito management strategies that would provide efficiency and prioritize environmental sustainability and cost-effectiveness. Combining the strengths of natural compounds like the one found in C. bonplandianus with chemical insecticides can potentially revolutionize vector control strategies. This approach maximizes the impact of mosquito vector management while minimizing the ecological footprint, making it a valuable contribution to the ongoing battle against mosquito-borne diseases.

## RECOMMENDATIONS

Effective disease control requires understanding and managing mosquito vectors, which can provide information regarding ecosystems, early detection of emerging diseases, and targeted interventions. Combining molecular techniques with classical taxonomy enables high accuracy in rapid and species-specific identification.

- **Targeted disease control**: Mosquito vector identification and diversity studies enable the implementation of precise and targeted control measures, reducing the spread of mosquito-borne diseases. It also reduces excessive use of insecticides hence minimizing environmental hazards.
- Early detection of emerging diseases: These studies provide early warning signs of emerging mosquito-borne diseases by monitoring their vectors, allowing for proactive public health responses and the development of preventive strategies.
- **High Precision**: Molecular techniques allow for precise identification of mosquito species, including species that may be difficult to distinguish based on morphology alone, enhancing the accuracy of vector surveillance.
- **Rapid detection of vector**: Molecular methods enable quick and reliable identification of mosquito vectors, accelerating disease surveillance and response efforts in areas prone to vector-borne diseases.
- **Species-level vector monitoring**: Barcoding and molecular studies provide species-level information, helping researchers and public health officials understand the specific vector species involved in disease transmission, which is crucial for targeted control measures. By detecting the presence of potential disease vectors before outbreaks occur, these studies contribute to the establishment of early warning systems, improving vigilance and reducing the impact of disease epidemics.
- **Research opportunities**: These techniques provide opportunities for progressive research, such as the discovery of novel mosquito-borne vectors, genetic adaptations, and vector behavior, advancing the understanding of vector-borne diseases.

• **Global health impact**: Accurate molecular identification and monitoring of mosquito vectors have a direct impact on global health by facilitating more effective disease control and prevention strategies.

Exploring the diverse aspects of mosquito control, from enhanced efficacy through the synergistic approach to reduce resistance development and its cost-efficiency, highlights the potential for environmentally friendly and sustainable strategies.

- Enhanced efficacy: When plant extracts are combined with conventional insecticides, their efficacy is enhanced, leading to more effective mosquito control and a reduction in disease transmission.
- **Delaying resistance development:** Synergistic combinations have the potential to slow down the development of insecticide resistance among mosquito populations, thereby extending the period of control methods.
- Environmentally friendly approach: Plant extracts are often biodegradable and pose fewer risks to non-target organisms and the environment than synthetic chemicals and thus helps to attain environmentally sustainable mosquito control.
- **Reduced health hazards:** Decreasing reliance exclusively on synthetic insecticides can lower the potential health risks associated with exposure to these chemicals for both humans and animals.
- **Cost-efficiency:** The Synergistic approach can be cost-effective as it requires lower concentrations of plant products. This makes them a practical and affordable option for mosquito control, especially in resource-limited regions.
- **Community involvement:** Including resident people in the production and application of plant extracts would promote community involvement in vector control programs.
- **Conservation of biodiversity:** Minimizing the use of synthetic chemicals contributes to the protection of local ecosystems and the preservation of biodiversity.
- Long-term sustainability: The development of synergistic combinations represents a sustainable and enduring approach to the prevention of mosquitoborne diseases.

• **Prospects for research:** There are many opportunities for research on synergistic mosquito control methods, providing ways to investigate the efficiency, environmental effects, and long-term approaches of combining different chemical and botanical insecticide combinations.

### REFERENCES

Abbott, W. S. (1925). A method of computing the effectiveness of an insecticide. *J. econ. Entomol*, *18*(2), 265-267.

Abubakar, Y., Tijjani, H., Egbuna, C., Adetunji, C. O., Kala, S., Kryeziu, T. L., ... & Patrick-Iwuanyanwu, K. C. (2020). Pesticides, history, and classification. In *Natural remedies for pest, disease and weed control*, Academic press, 29-42.

Adeleke, M. A., Mafiana, C. F., Idowu, A. B., Adekunle, M. F., & Sam-Wabo, S. O. (2008). Mosquito larval habitats and public health implications in Abeokuta, Ogun State, Nigeria. *Tanzania Journal of Health Research*, *10*(2), 103-107.

Adhikari, K., Khanikor, B., & Sarma, R. (2022). Persistent susceptibility of *Aedes aegypti* to eugenol. *Scientific reports*, *12*(1), 2277.

Agarwal, R., Kapoor, S., Nagar, R., Misra, A., Tandon, R., Mathur, A., ... & Chaturvedi, U. C. (1999). A clinical study of the patients with dengue hemorrhagic fever during the epidemic of 1996 at Lucknow, India. *Southeast Asian journal of tropical medicine and public health*, *30*(4), 735-740.

Agrawal, V. K., & Sashindran, V. K. (2006). Lymphatic filariasis in India: problems, challenges and new initiatives. *Medical Journal Armed Forces India*, 62(4), 359-362.

Ahmed, A., Pignatelli, P., Elaagip, A., Hamid, M. M. A., Alrahman, O. F., & Weetman, D. (2021). Invasive malaria vector *Anopheles stephensi* mosquitoes in Sudan, 2016–2018. *Emerging infectious diseases*, 27(11), 2952.

Aivazi, A. A., & Vijayan, V. A. (2009). Larvicidal activity of oak Quercus infectoria Oliv.(Fagaceae) gall extracts against *Anopheles stephensi* Liston. *Parasitology research*, *104*, 1289-1293.

Aivazi, A. A., & Vijayan, V. A. (2010). Efficacy of Ruta graveolens extract and its synergistic effect with cypermethrin against *Anopheles stephensi* Liston larvae. *Toxicological & Environ Chemistry*, 92(5), 893-901.

Akpuaka, A., Ekwenchi, M. M., Dashak, D. A., & Dildar, A. (2013). Biological activities of characterized isolates of n-hexane extract of *Azadirachta indica* A. Juss (Neem) leaves. *Nature and science*, *11*(5), 141-147.

Alam, M. S., Khan, M. G. M., Chaudhury, N., Deloer, S., Nazib, F., Bangali, A. M., & Haque, R. (2010). Prevalence of anopheline species and their *Plasmodium* infection status in epidemic-prone border areas of Bangladesh. *Malaria journal*, 9(1), 1-8.

Alam, M., Niaz Arifin, S. M., Al-Amin, H. M., Alam, M. S., & Rahman, M. S. (2017). A spatial agent-based model of *Anopheles vagus* for malaria epidemiology: examining the impact of vector control interventions. *Malaria journal*, *16*(1), 1-20.

Allander, T., Emerson, S. U., Engle, R. E., Purcell, R. H., & Bukh, J. (2001). A virus discovery method incorporating DNase treatment and its application to the identification of two bovine parvovirus species. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 98(20), 11609-11614.

Altschul, S. F., Gish, W., Miller, W., Myers, E. W., & Lipman, D. J. (1990). Basic local alignment search tool. *Journal of molecular biology*, *215*(3), 403-410.

Alvarez, L. C., Ponce, G., Oviedo, M., Lopez, B., & Flores, A. E. (2014). Susceptibility status of *Aedes aegypti* (L.) (Diptera: Culicidae) to temephos in Venezuela. *Pest management science*, 70(8), 1262-1266.

Alyokhin, A. (2009). Colorado potato beetle management on potatoes: current challenges and future prospects. *Fruit, vegetable and cereal science and biotechnology*, *3*(1), 10-19.

Ameen, M., Shahjahan, R. M., Khan, H. R., & Chowdhury, A. K. A. (1983). Toxicity of rotenone extracted from indigenous *Derris* roots on mosquito larvae. *J Bangladesh Acad Sci*, 7, 39-47.

Amer, A., & Mehlhorn, H. (2006). Larvicidal effects of various essential oils against *Aedes*, *Anopheles*, and *Culex* larvae (Diptera, Culicidae). *Parasitology research*, *99*, 466-472.

Amusan, A. A. S., Idowu, A. B., & Arowolo, F. S. (2005). Comparative toxicity effect of bush tea leaves (Hyptis suaveolens) and orange peel (Citrus sinensis) oil extract on larvae of the yellow fever mosquito *Aedes aegypti. Tanzania Journal of Health Research*, 7(3), 174-178.

Anadon, A., Martinez, M., Martinez, M. A., Diaz, M. J., & Martinez-Larranaga, M. R. (2006). Toxicokinetics of lambda-cyhalothrin in rats. *Toxicology Letters*, *165*(1), 47-56.

Arunachalam, N., Murty, U. S. N., Narahari, D., Balasubramanian, A., Samuel, P. P., Thenmozhi, V., ... & Tyagi, B. K. (2014). Longitudinal studies of Japanese encephalitis virus infection in vector mosquitoes in Kurnool district, Andhra Pradesh, South India. *Journal of medical entomology*, *46*(3), 633-639.

Ashfaq, M. and Hebert, P.D. (2016). DNA barcodes for bio-surveillance: regulated and economically important arthropod plant pests. *Genome*, *59*(11), 933-945.

Atoni, E., Zhao, L., Hu, C., Ren, N., Wang, X., Liang, M., ... & Xia, H. (2020). A dataset of distribution and diversity of mosquito-associated viruses and their mosquito vectors in China. *Scientific data*, 7(1), 342.

Atoni, E., Zhao, L., Karungu, S., Obanda, V., Agwanda, B., Xia, H., & Yuan, Z. (2019). The discovery and global distribution of novel mosquito-associated viruses in the last decade (2007-2017). *Reviews in Medical Virology*, *29*(6), e2079.

Attia, S., Grissa, K. L., Lognay, G., Bitume, E., Hance, T., & Mailleux, A. C. (2013). A review of the major biological approaches to control the worldwide pest *Tetranychus urticae* (Acari: Tetranychidae) with special reference to natural pesticides: Biological approaches to control *Tetranychus urticae*. *Journal of Pest Science*, 86, 361-386.

Avise, J. C., & Zink, R. M. (1988). Molecular genetic divergence between avian sibling species: King and Clapper rails, Long-billed and Short-billed dowitchers, Boat-tailed and Great-tailed grackles, and Tufted and Black-crested titmice. *The Auk*, *105*(3), 516-528.

Avise, J. C., Arnold, J., Ball, R. M., Bermingham, E., Lamb, T., Neigel, J. E., ... & Saunders, N. C. (1987). Intraspecific phylogeography: the mitochondrial DNA bridge between population genetics and systematics. *Annual review of ecology and systematics*, 489-522.

Aziz, M., Hashan Arif, E. I., Muhammad Dimyati, N. I., Ishak, I. H., Hamdan, R. H., Syazwan, S. A., & Peng, T. L. (2021). Larvicidal effect of *Vitex ovata* Thunb.(lamiales: Lamiaceae) leaf extract towards *Aedes* (stegomyia) *aegypti* (Linnaeus, 1762)(Diptera: Culicidae). *Parasitologia*, 1(4), 210-217.

Bagavan, A., & Rahuman, A. A. (2011). Evaluation of larvicidal activity of medicinal plant extracts against three mosquito vectors. *Asian Pacific journal of tropical medicine*, 4(1), 29-34.

Bajpai, V. K., Majumder, R., & Park, J. G. (2016). Isolation and purification of plant secondary metabolites using column-chromatographic technique. *Bangladesh Journal of Pharmacology*, *11*(4), 844-848.

Bakhsh, A., Khabbazi, S. D., Baloch, F. S., Demirel, U., ÇALIŞKAN, M. E., Hatipoğlu, R., ... & Özkan, H. (2015). Insect-resistant transgenic crops: retrospect and challenges. *Turkish Journal of Agriculture and Forestry*, *39*(4), 531-548.

Balandrin, M. F., & Klocke, J. A. (1988). Medicinal, aromatic, and industrial materials from plants. *Medicinal and aromatic plants I*, 3-36.

Balasubramanian, D., Mohan Rao, C., & Panijpan, B. (1984). The malaria parasite monitored by photoacoustic spectroscopy. *Science*, *223*(4638), 828-830.

Balasubramanian, R., & Nikhil, T. L. (2013). Mosquito (Diptera: Culicidae) fauna in Alappuzha and Kottayam district of the Kerala state, south India. *Journal of Entomology and Zoology studies*, 1(16), 134-137.

Baldacchino, F., Caputo, B., Chandre, F., Drago, A., della Torre, A., Montarsi, F., & Rizzoli, A. (2015). Control methods against invasive *Aedes* mosquitoes in Europe: a review. *Pest management science*, *71*(11), 1471-1485.

Ball, S. L., & Armstrong, K. F. (2006). DNA barcodes for insect pest identification: a test case with tussock moths (Lepidoptera: Lymantriidae). *Canadian Journal of Forest Research*, *36*(2), 337-350.

Banerji, A., Luthria, D. L., & Kokate, S. D. (1990). Toxicity of capillin, the insecticidal principle of *Artemisia nilagirica* Clarke. *Indian journal of experimental biology*, 28(6), 588-589.

Baraza, L. D., Joseph, C. C., Munissi, J. J., Nkunya, M. H., Arnold, N., Porzel, A., & Wessjohann, L. (2008). Antifungal rosane diterpenes and other constituents of *Hugonia castaneifolia*. *Phytochemistry*, 69(1), 200-205.

Barr, D. B., & Buckley, B. (2011). In vivo biomarkers and biomonitoring in reproductive and developmental toxicity. In *Reproductive and developmental toxicology*. Academic press, 253-265

Barraud, P. J. (1934). The Fauna of British India, including Ceylon and Burma. Diptera. Vol. 5. Family Culieldae. Tribes Megarhinini and Culicini. The Fauna of British India, including Ceylon and Burma. Diptera. Vol. 5. Family Culieldae. Tribes Megarhinini and Culicini.

Barrett, A. D., & Higgs, S. (2007). Yellow fever: a disease that has yet to be conquered. *Annu. Rev. Entomol.*, 52, 209-229.

Bashar, K., & Tuno, N. (2014). Seasonal abundance of *Anopheles* mosquitoes and their association with meteorological factors and malaria incidence in Bangladesh. *Parasites & vectors*, 7(1), 1-10.

Bate R. (2007). The rise, fall, rise, and imminent fall of DDT. *American Enterprise Institute for Public Policy Research 14* (4): 1–9.

Batovska, J., Blacket, M. J., Brown, K., & Lynch, S. E. (2016). Molecular identification of mosquitoes (Diptera: Culicidae) in southeastern Australia. *Ecology* and *Evolution*, 6(9), 3001-3011.

Becker, N., Petric, D., Zgomba, M., Boase, C., Madon, M., Dahl, C., & Kaiser, A. (2010a). Mosquitoes and their control. *Springer Science & Business Media*, 1-21.

Becker, N., Petric, D., Zgomba, M., Boase, C., Madon, M., Dahl, C., ... & Kaiser, A. (2010b). Chemical control. *Mosquitoes and their control*, 441-475.

Beebe, N. W. (2018). DNA barcoding mosquitoes: advice for potential prospectors. *Parasitology*, *145*(5), 622-633.

Benelli, G. (2015). Research in mosquito control: current challenges for a brighter future. *Parasitology research*, *114*(8), 2801-2805.

Benelli, G., Jeffries, C. L., & Walker, T. (2016). Biological control of mosquito vectors: past, present, and future. *Insects*, 7(4), 52.

Benelli, G., Pavela, R., Giordani, C., Casettari, L., Curzi, G., Cappellacci, L., ... & Maggi, F. (2018). Acute and sub-lethal toxicity of eight essential oils of commercial interest against the filariasis mosquito *Culex quinquefasciatus* and the *housefly Musca* domestica. *Industrial crops and products*, *112*, 668-680.

Bernard, C. B., & Philogène, B.J., (1993). Insecticide synergists: role, importance, and perspectives. *Journal of Toxicology and Environmental Health, Part A Current Issues*, *38*(2), 199-223.

Beula, J. M., Ravikumar, S., & Ali, M. S. (2011). Mosquito larvicidal efficacy of seaweed extracts against dengue vector of *Aedes aegypti*. *Asian Pacific journal of tropical biomedicine*, 1(2), S143-S146.

Bhan, S., Mohan, L., & Srivastava, C. N. (2015). Efficacy of *Cuscuta reflexa* extract and its synergistic activity with Temephos against mosquito larvae. *Int J Mosq Res*, 2, 34-41.

Bhardwaj, S., Gokhale, M. D., & Mourya, D. T. (2017). Zika virus: Current concerns in India. *The Indian journal of medical research*, 146(5), 572.

Bhatt, S., Gething, P. W., Brady, O. J., Messina, J. P., Farlow, A. W., Moyes, C. L., ... & Hay, S. I. (2013). The global distribution and burden of dengue. *Nature*, 496(7446), 504-507.

Bhattacharya, S., & Basu, P. (2014). Japanese Encephalitis Virus (JEV) infection in different vertebrates and its epidemiological significance: a Review. *International Journal of Fauna and Biological Studies*, 1(6), 32-37.

Bhattacharya, S., Basu, P., & Sajal Bhattacharya, C. (2016). The southern house mosquito, *Culex quinquefasciatus*: profile of a smart vector. *J Entomol Zool Stud*, 4(2), 73-81.

Bindu, P. U., & Sebastian, C. D. (2014). Genetic structure of mitochondrial cytochrome oxidase subunit I gene of the mosquito, *Armigeres subalbatus*. *International Journal of Research*, 1(10), 49-56.

Bisset, J. A., Rodriguez, M. M., Hemingway, J., Diaz, C., Small, G. J., & Ortiz, E. (1991). Malathion and pyrethroid resistance in *Culex quinquefasciatus* from Cuba: efficacy of pirimiphos-methyl in the presence of at least three resistance mechanisms. *Medical and Veterinary Entomology*, *5*(2), 223-228.

Black, R. H. (1968). Manual of epidemiological services in malaria control programmes. *World Health Organization. Geneva*, 22(1).

Bloomquist, J. R. (2003). Chloride channels as tools for developing selective insecticides. *Archives of Insect Biochemistry and Physiology: Published in Collaboration with the Entomological Society of America*, 54(4), 145-156.

Bodenmann, P., & Genton, B. (2006). Chikungunya: an epidemic in real time. *The Lancet*, *368*(9531), 258.

Borah, R., Kalita, M. C., Kar, A., & Talukdar, A. K. (2010). Larvicidal efficacy of *Toddalia asiatica* (Linn.) Lam against two mosquito vectors *Aedes aegypti* and *Culex quinquefasciatus*. *African Journal of Biotechnology*, 9(17), 2527-2530.

Bortolus, A. (2008). Error cascades in the biological sciences: the unwanted consequences of using bad taxonomy in ecology. *AMBIO: A journal of the human environment*, 37(2), 114-118.

Bova, J., Paulson, S., & Paulson, G. (2016). Morphological differentiation of the eggs of North American container-inhabiting *Aedes* mosquitoes. *Journal of the American Mosquito Control Association*, *32*(3), 244-246.

Bradbury, S. P., & Coats, J. R. (1989). Comparative toxicology of the pyrethroid insecticides. *Reviews of environmental contamination and toxicology*, 133-177.

Brady, O. J., Gething, P. W., Bhatt, S., Messina, J. P., Brownstein, J. S., Hoen, A. G., ... & Hay, S. I. (2012). Refining the global spatial limits of dengue virus transmission by evidence-based consensus. *PLoS Neglected Tropical Dideasess*, *6*(8), e1760.

Brattsten, L. B., Holyoke Jr, C. W., Leeper, J. R., & Raffa, K. F. (1986). Insecticide resistance: challenge to pest management and basic research. *Science*, *231*(4743), 1255-1260.

Breytenbach, J. C., & Rall, G. J. (1980). Structure and synthesis of isoflavonoid analogues from *Neorautanenia amboensis* Schinz. *Journal of the Chemical Society, Perkin Transactions 1*, 1804-1809.

Brindley, W. A., & Selim, A. A. (1984). Synergism and antagonism in the analysis of insecticide resistance. *Environmental Entomology*, *13*(2), 348-354.

Brown, A. W. (1986). Insecticide resistance in mosquitoes: a pragmatic review. *Journal of the American Mosquito Control Association*, 2(2), 123-140.

Brown, B., Emberson, R. M., & Paterson, A. M. (1999). Mitochondrial COI and II provide useful markers for Wiseana (Lepidoptera: Hepialidae) species identification. *Bulletin of Entomological Research*, 89(4), 287-293.

Cameron, S. L. (2014). Insect mitochondrial genomics: implications for evolution and phylogeny. *Annual review of entomology*, *59*, 95-117.

Campbell, F. L., Sullivan, W. N., & Smith, C. R. (1933). The relative toxicity of nicotine, anabasine, methyl anabasine, and lupinine for culicine mosquito larvae. *Journal of Economic entomology*, 26(2), 500-509.

Caravas, J., & Friedrich, M. (2013). Shaking the Diptera tree of life: performance analysis of nuclear and mitochondrial sequence data partitions. *Systematic Entomology*, *38*(1), 93-103.

Carey, D. E., Myers, R. M., Reuben, R., & Rodrigues, F. M. (1966). Studies on dengue in Vellore, South India. *Bulletin of the World Health Organization*, 35(1), 61-61.

Casida, J. E. (1980). Pyrethrum flowers and pyrethroid insecticides. *Environmental health perspectives*, *34*, 189-202.

Casida, J. E., & Quistad, G. B. (1998). Golden age of insecticide research: past, present, or future?. *Annual review of entomology*, 43(1), 1-16.

Cauich-Kumul, R., Coronado-Blanco, J. M., Ruiz-Ruiz, J., Segura-Campos, M., Koyoc-Cardeña, E., Navarrete-Carballo, J., ... & Manrique-Saide, P. (2018). A survey of the mosquito species in Maxcanu, Yucatan, Mexico. *Journal of the American Mosquito Control Association*, *34*(2), 128-130.

Cecilia, D. (2014). Current status of dengue and chikungunya in India. WHO South-East Asia Journal of Public Health, 3(1), 22-27.

Chaiphongpachara, T. (2018). Comparison of landmark-and outline-based geometric morphometrics for discriminating mosquito vectors in Ratchaburi Province, Thailand. *BioMed Research International*, 2018.

Chaiphongpachara, T., & Moolrat, L. (2017). Insecticide resistance of temephos on *Aedes aegypti* as dengue vector in Samut Songkhram, Thailand. *Annals of Tropical Medicine and Public Health*, *10*(6), 1439-1439.

Chaiphongpachara, T., Changbunjong, T., Laojun, S., Nutepsu, T., Suwandittakul, N., Kuntawong, K., ... & Ruangsittichai, J. (2022). Mitochondrial DNA barcoding of mosquito species (Diptera: Culicidae) in Thailand. *PLoS One*, *17*(9), e0275090.

Chaithong, U., Choochote, W., Kamsuk, K., Jitpakdi, A., Tippawangkosol, P., Chaiyasit, D., ... & Pitasawat, B. (2006). Larvicidal effect of pepper plants on *Aedes aegypti* (L.)(Diptera: Culicidae). *Journal of Vector Ecology*, *31*(1), 138-144.

Chaiyasit, D., Choochote, W., Rattanachanpichai, E., Chaithong, U., Chaiwong, P., Jitpakdi, A., ... & Pitasawat, B. (2006). Essential oils as potential adulticides against two populations of *Aedes aegypti*, the laboratory and natural field strains, in Chiang Mai province, northern Thailand. *Parasitology research*, *99*, 715-721.

Chan, A., Chiang, L. P., Hapuarachchi, H. C., Tan, C. H., Pang, S. C., Lee, R., ... & Lam-Phua, S. G. (2014). DNA barcoding: complementing morphological identification of mosquito species in Singapore. *Parasites & vectors*, 7(1), 1-12.

Chandra, G., Bhattacharjee, I., & Chatterjee, S. (2010). A review on Anopheles subpictus Grassi—a biological vector. Acta tropica, 115(1-2), 142-154.

Chansang, U., Zahiri, N. S., Bansiddhi, J., Boonruad, T., Thongsrirak, P., Mingmuang, J., ... & Mulla, M. S. (2005). Mosquito larvicidal activity of aqueous extracts of long pepper (*Piper retrofractum* Vahl) from Thailand. *Journal of Vector Ecology*, *30*(2), 195.

Chapagain, B., & Wiesman, Z. (2005). Larvicidal effects of aqueous extracts of *Balanites aegyptiaca* (desert date) against the larvae of *Culex pipiens* mosquitoes. *African Journal of Biotechnology*, 4(11), 1351-1354.
Chareonviriyaphap, T., Aum-Aung, B., & Ratanatham, S. (1999). Current insecticide resistance patterns in mosquito vectors in Thailand. *Southeast Asian Journal of Tropical Medicine and Public Health*, *30*, 184-194.

Chatterjee, S., Chakraborty, A., & Sinha, S. K. (2015). Spatial distribution & physicochemical characterization of the breeding habitats of *Aedes aegypti* in & around Kolkata, West Bengal, India. *The Indian Journal of Medical Research*, 142(Suppl 1), S79.

Chaturvedi, U. C., & Nagar, R. (2008). Dengue and dengue haemorrhagic fever: Indian perspective. *Journal of biosciences*, *33*, 429-441.

Chauret, D. C., Bernard, C. B., Arnason, J. T., Durst, T., Krishnamurty, H. G., Sanchez-Vindas, P., ... & Poveda, L. (1996). Insecticidal neolignans from *Piper decurrens*. *Journal of Natural Products*, *59*(2), 152-155.

Chen, L., Hall, P. R., Zhou, X. E., Ranson, H., Hemingway, J., & Meehan, E. J. (2003). Structure of an insect  $\delta$ -class glutathione S-transferase from a DDT-resistant strain of the malaria vector *Anopheles gambiae*. *Acta Crystallographica Section D: Biological Crystallography*, 59(12), 2211-2217.

Chen, W. J., Dong, C. F., Chiou, L. Y., & Chuang, W. L. (2000). Potential role of *Armigeres subalbatus* (Diptera: Culicidae) in the transmission of Japanese encephalitis virus in the absence of rice culture on Liu-chiu islet, Taiwan. *Journal of medical entomology*, *37*(1), 108-113.

Cheng, S. S., Chang, H. T., Chang, S. T., Tsai, K. H., & Chen, W. J. (2003). Bioactivity of selected plant essential oils against the yellow fever mosquito *Aedes aegypti* larvae. *Bioresource Technology*, *89*(1), 99-102.

Chenniappan, K., & Kadarkarai, M. (2008). Synergistic activity of Andrographis paniculata nees extracts against the larvae of the malarial vector Anopheles stephensi liston (Diptera: Culicidae). Journal of the Entomological Research Society, 10(2), 13-22.

Chockalingam, S., Thenmozhi, S., & Nalina, S. (1990). Larvicidal activity of different products against mosquito larvae. *Journal of Environmental Biology*, *11*(2), 101-104.

Choochote, W., Chaiyasit, D., Kanjanapothi, D., Rattanachanpichai, E., Jitpakdi, A., Tuetun, B., & Pitasawat, B. (2005). Chemical composition and anti-mosquito potential of rhizome extract and volatile oil derived from *Curcuma aromatica* against *Aedes aegypti* (Diptera: Culicidae). *Journal of vector ecology*, *30*(2), 302.

Choochote, W., Tuetun, B., Kanjanapothi, D., Rattanachanpichai, E., Chaithong, U., Chaiwong, P., ... & Pitasawat, B. (2004). Potential of crude seed extract of celery, *Apium graveolens* L., against the mosquito *Aedes aegypti* (L.) (Diptera: Culicidae). *J Vector Ecol*, *29*(2), 340-346.

Chowdhury, N., Ghosh, A., & Chandra, G. (2008). Mosquito larvicidal activities of *Solanum villosum* berry extract against the dengue vector *Stegomyia aegypti*. *BMC Complementary and Alternative Medicine*, 8(1), 1-8.

Christophers, S. R. (1933). The Fauna of British India, including Ceylon and Burma. Diptera. Vol. IV. Family Culicidae. Tribe Anophelini. *Taylor & Francis, London, United Kingdom*.

Clements, A. N. (1999). *The biology of mosquitoes*. Volume 2: sensory reception and behaviour. CABI publishing, 612.

Clemons, A., Haugen, M., Flannery, E., Tomchaney, M., Kast, K., Jacowski, C., ... & Duman-Scheel, M. (2010). *Aedes aegypti*: an emerging model for vector mosquito development. *Cold Spring Harbor Protocols*, 2010, pdb-emo141.

Coats, J., Karr, L., & Drewes, C. (1991). Toxicity and neurotoxic effects of monoterpenoids in insects and earthworms. *Am. Chem. Soc. Symp. Ser.* 449, 306-316

Cook, S., Diallo, M., Sall, A. A., Cooper, A., & Holmes, E. C. (2005). Mitochondrial markers for molecular identification of *Aedes* mosquitoes (Diptera: Culicidae) involved in transmission of arboviral disease in West Africa. *Journal of Medical Entomology*, 42(1), 19-28.

Cox, C. (2003). Insecticide fact sheet malathion. J. Pest. Reform, 23, 10-15.

Cremlyn, R. (1978). *Pesticides. Preparation and mode of action*. John Wiley & Sons.

Cui, F., Raymond, M., & Qiao, C. L. (2006). Insecticide resistance in vector mosquitoes in China. *Pest Management Science: formerly Pesticide Science*, 62(11), 1013-1022.

Curtis, C. F. (1985). Theoretical models of the use of insecticide mixtures for the management of resistance. *Bulletin of entomological research*, 75(2), 259-266.

Cywinska, A., Hunter, F. F., & Hebert, P. D. (2006). Identifying Canadian mosquito species through DNA barcodes. *Medical and veterinary entomology*, 20(4), 413-424.

Da-Cunha, M. P., Lima, J. B. P., Brogdon, W. G., Moya, G. E., & Valle, D. (2005). Monitoring of resistance to the pyrethroid cypermethrin in Brazilian *Aedes aegypti* (Diptera: Culicidae) populations collected between 2001 and 2003. *Memórias do Instituto Oswaldo Cruz*, *100*, 441-444.

Dale, P. E., Ritchie, S. A., Territo, B. M., Morris, C. D., Muhar, A., & Kay, B. H. (1998). An overview of remote sensing and GIS for surveillance of mosquito vector habitats and risk assessment. *Journal of vector ecology: journal of the Society for Vector Ecology*, 23(1), 54-61.

Damalas, C. A., & Koutroubas, S. D. (2020). Botanical pesticides for eco-friendly pest management: Drawbacks and limitations. *Pesticides in Crop Production: Physiological and Biochemical Action*, 181-193.

Dar, L., Broor, S., Sengupta, S., Xess, I., & Seth, P. (1999). The first major outbreak of dengue hemorrhagic fever in Delhi, India. *Emerging infectious diseases*, 5(4), 589.

Das, B. P., & Kaul, S. M. (1998). Pictorial key to the common Indian species of *Aedes (Stegomyia)* mosquitoes. *The Journal of Communicable Diseases*, *30*(2), 123-128.

Das, M., & Dutta, P. (2014). Status of insecticide resistance and detoxifying enzyme activity of *Aedes albopictus* population in Sonitpur district of Assam, India. *International Journal of Mosquito Research*, 1(4), 35-41.

Das, N. G., Goswami, D., & Rabha, B. (2007). Preliminary evaluation of mosquito larvicidal efficacy of plant extracts. *Journal of vector borne diseases*, *44*(2), 145.

Das, P., Bhattacharya, S., Chakraborty, S., Palit, A., Das, S., Ghosh, K. K., & Hati, A. K. (1983). Diurnal man-biting activity of *Armigeres subalbatus* (Coquillett, 1898) in a village in West Bengal.

Dávalos-Becerril, E., Correa-Morales, F., González-Acosta, C., Santos-Luna, R., Peralta-Rodríguez, J., Pérez-Rentería, C., ... & Moreno-García, M. (2019). Urban and semi-urban mosquitoes of Mexico City: A risk for endemic mosquito-borne disease transmission. *PLoS One*, *14*(3), e0212987.

Davies, T. G. E., Field, L. M., Usherwood, P. N. R., & Williamson, M. S. (2007). DDT, pyrethrins, pyrethroids and insect sodium channels. *IUBMB life*, 59(3), 151-162.

de Araújo, A. P., Paiva, M. H. S., Cabral, A. M., Cavalcanti, A. E. H. D., Pessoa, L. F. F., Diniz, D. F. A., ... & Ayres, C. F. J. (2019). Screening *Aedes aegypti* (Diptera: Culicidae) populations from Pernambuco, Brazil for resistance to temephos, diflubenzuron, and cypermethrin and characterization of potential resistance mechanisms. *Journal of Insect Science*, *19*(3), 16.

Deen, J. L., Harris, E., Wills, B., Balmaseda, A., Hammond, S. N., Rocha, C., ... & Farrar, J. J. (2006). The WHO dengue classification and case definitions: time for a reassessment. *The Lancet*, *368*(9530), 170-173.

Dejenie, T., Yohannes, M., & Assmelash, T. (2011). Characterization of mosquito breeding sites in and in the vicinity of Tigray microdams. *Ethiopian journal of health sciences*, 21(1), 57-66.

Desneux, N., Decourtye, A., & Delpuech, J. M. (2007). The sublethal effects of pesticides on beneficial arthropods. *Annu. Rev. Entomol.*, *52*, 81-106.

Després, L., David, J. P., & Gallet, C. (2007). The evolutionary ecology of insect resistance to plant chemicals. *Trends in ecology & evolution*, 22(6), 298-307.

Dev, V., & Sharma, V. P. (2013). The dominant mosquito vectors of human malaria in India. In *Anopheles mosquitoes- New insights into malaria vectors*. IntechOpen.

Dev, V., Khound, K., & Tewari, G. G. (2014). Dengue vectors in urban and suburban Assam, India: entomological observations. *WHO South-East Asia journal of public health*, *3*(1), 51-59.

Dev, V., Sharma, V. P., & Barman, K. (2015). Mosquito-borne diseases in Assam, north-east India: current status and key challenges. *WHO South-East Asia journal of public health*, 4(1), 20-29.

Dhiman, S., Yadav, K., Rabha, B., Goswami, D., Hazarika, S., & Tyagi, V. (2016). Evaluation of insecticides susceptibility and malaria vector potential of *Anopheles annularis* sl and *Anopheles vagus* in Assam, India. *PLoS one*, *11*(3), e0151786.

Dhinakaran, S. R., Mathew, N., & Munusamy, S. (2019). Synergistic terpene combinations as larvicides against the dengue vector *Aedes aegypti* Linn. *Drug development research*, 80(6), 791-799.

Díaz-González, E. E., Kautz, T. F., Dorantes-Delgado, A., Malo-García, I. R., Laguna-Aguilar, M., Langsjoen, R. M., ... & Fernández-Salas, I. (2015). First report

of Aedes aegypti transmission of chikungunya virus in the Americas. The American journal of tropical medicine and hygiene, 93(6), 1325.

Dick, G. W., Kitchen, S. F., & Haddow, A. J. (1952). Zika virus (I). Isolations and serological specificity. *Transactions of the royal society of tropical medicine and hygiene*, 46(5), 509-520.

Díez-Fernández, A., Martínez-de la Puente, J., Ruiz, S., Gutiérrez-López, R., Soriguer, R., & Figuerola, J. (2018). *Aedes vittatus* in Spain: current distribution, barcoding characterization and potential role as a vector of human diseases. *Parasites & vectors*, 11(1), 1-6.

Dom, N. C., Ahmad, A. H., & Ismail, R. (2013). Habitat characterization of *Aedes* sp. breeding in urban hotspot area. *Procedia-Social and Behavioral Sciences*, 85, 100-109.

Dorta, D. M., Vasuki, V., & Rajavel, A. (1993). Evaluation of organophosphorus and synthetic pyrethroid insecticides against six vector mosquitoes species. *Revista de Saúde Pública*, 27, 391-391.

Dua, V. K., Pandey, A. C., & Dash, A. P. (2010). Adulticidal activity of essential oil of *Lantana camara* leaves against mosquitoes. *Indian Journal of Medical Research*, 131(3), 434.

Ecobichon, D. J., & Joy, R. M. (1993). *Pesticides and neurological diseases*. Crc Press.

Elliott, M. (1980). Established pyrethroid insecticides. *Pesticide science*, *11*(2), 119-128.

Elliott, M. (1989). The pyrethroids: early discovery, recent advances and the future. *Pesticide Science*, 27(4), 337-351.

Elliott, M., Farnham, A. W., Janes, N. F., Needham, P. H., Pulman, D. A., and Stevenson, J. H. (1973). A photostable pyrethroid. *Nature*, 246, 169-170.

Elumalai, D., Hemalatha, P., & Kaleena, P. K. (2017). Larvicidal activity and GC–MS analysis of *Leucas aspera* against *Aedes aegypti Anopheles stephensi* and *Culex* quinquefasciatus. *Journal of the Saudi society of agricultural sciences*, *16*(4), 306-313.

Enan, E. E. (2005). Molecular response of *Drosophila melanogaster* tyramine receptor cascade to plant essential oils. *Insect biochemistry and molecular biology*, *35*(4), 309-321.

Enayati, A. A., Ranson, H., & Hemingway, J. (2005). Insect glutathione transferases and insecticide resistance. *Insect molecular biology*, *14*(1), 3-8.

Ensley, S. M. (2018). Pyrethrins and pyrethroids. In *Veterinary toxicology*, Academic press, 515-520.

Evans, D. A., & Raj, R. K. (1991). Larvicidal efficacy of Quassin against *Culex quinquefasciatus*. *The Indian journal of medical research*, 93, 324-327.

Fakoorziba, M. R., Eghbal, F., & Vijayan, V. A. (2009). Synergist efficacy of piperonyl butoxide with deltamethrin as pyrethroid insecticide on *Culex tritaeniorhynchus* (Diptera: Culicidae) and other mosquitoe species. *Environmental Toxicology: An International Journal*, 24(1), 19-24.

Farajollahi, A., & Price, D. C. (2013). A rapid identification guide for larvae of the most common North American container-inhabiting *Aedes* species of medical importance. *Journal of the American Mosquito Control Association*, 29(3), 203-221.

Farajollahi, A., Fonseca, D. M., Kramer, L. D., & Kilpatrick, A. M. (2011). "Bird biting" mosquitoes and human disease: a review of the role of *Culex pipiens* complex mosquitoes in epidemiology. *Infection, genetics and evolution*, 11(7), 1577-1585.

Farrar, J., Focks, D., Gubler, D., Barrera, R., Guzman, M. G., Simmons, C., ... & Kroeger, A. (2007). Towards a global dengue research agenda. *Tropical medicine & international health: TM & IH*, *12*(6), 695.

Fathian, M., Vatandoost, H., Moosa-Kazemi, S. H., Raeisi, A., Yaghoobi-Ershadi, M. R., Oshaghi, M. A., & Sedaghat, M. M. (2015). Susceptibility of Culicidae mosquitoes to some insecticides recommended by WHO in a malaria endemic area of southeastern Iran. *Journal of arthropod-borne diseases*, 9(1), 22.

Fatimah, G., & Hasmiwati, R. R. (2020). Lethal concentration (LC50, 90, and 98) and lethal time (LT50, 90, and 98) at various temphos concentrations of *Aedes aegypti* L. larvae. *International Journal of Mosquito Research*, 7(1 Part A), 1-3.

Fay, R. W., & Perry, A. S. (1965). Laboratory Studies of Oviposilional Preferences of *Aedes aegypti. Mosquito News*, 25(3), 276-81.

Fetoui, H., Feki, A., Salah, G. B., Kamoun, H., Fakhfakh, F., & Gdoura, R. (2015). Exposure to lambda-cyhalothrin, a synthetic pyrethroid, increases reactive oxygen species production and induces genotoxicity in rat peripheral blood. *Toxicology and industrial health*, *31*(5), 433-441.

Feyereisen, R. (2005). Insect cytochrome P450. Comprehensive molecular insect science, 1-77.

Finney, D. J. (1971). Probit Analysis. London, Cambridge Univ. Press, 333.

Flessel, P., Quintana, P. J. E., & Hooper, K. (1993). Genetic toxicity of malathion: a review. *Environmental and molecular mutagenesis*, 22(1), 7-17.

Floyd, R., Abebe, E., Papert, A., & Blaxter, M. (2002). Molecular barcodes for soil nematode identification. *Molecular ecology*, *11*(4), 839-850.

Foley, D. H., Rueda, L. M., & Wilkerson, R. C. (2007). Insight into global mosquito biogeography from country species records. *Journal of Medical Entomology*, *44*(4), 554-567.

Folmer, O., Hoeh, W. R., Black, M. B., & Vrijenhoek, R. C. (1994). Conserved primers for PCR amplification of mitochondrial DNA from different invertebrate phyla. *Molecular Marine Biology and Biotechnology*, *3*(5), 294-299.

Foster, W. A., & Walker, E. D. (2019). mosquitoes (Culicidae). In *Medical and veterinary entomology*, Academic press, 261-325.

Fournier, D., Bride, J. M., Hoffmann, F., & Karch, F. (1992). Acetylcholinesterase. Two types of modifications confer resistance to insecticide. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 267(20), 14270-14274.

Fox, J., & Weisberg, S. (2019). An R Companion to Applied Regression, Third edition. Sage, Thousand Oaks CA.https://socialsciences.mcmaster.ca/jfox/ Books/ Companion/.

Francois, G., Van Looveren, M., Timperman, G., Chimanuka, B., AkeAssi, L., Holenz, J., & Bringmann, G. (1996). Larvicidal activity of the naphthylisoquinoline alkaloid dioncophylline A against the malaria vector *Anopheles stephensi*. *Journal of ethnopharmacology*, *54*(2-3), 125-130.

Fukami, J. (1961). Effect of rotenone on respiratory enzyme system of insect muscle. Bulletin of the National Institute of Agricultural Sciences Series C (Plant Pathology and Entomology), 13, 33-45.

Gajendiran, A., & Abraham, J. (2018). An overview of pyrethroid insecticides. *Frontiers in Biology*, *13*, 79-90.

Gan, S. J., Leong, Y. Q., bin Barhanuddin, M. F. H., Wong, S. T., Wong, S. F., Mak, J. W., & Ahmad, R. B. (2021). Dengue fever and insecticide resistance in *Aedes* mosquitoes in Southeast Asia: a review. *Parasites & vectors*, *14*(1), 1-19.

Garcia, G. D. A., David, M. R., Martins, A. D. J., Maciel-de-Freitas, R., Linss, J. G. B., Araújo, S. C., ... & Valle, D. (2018). The impact of insecticide applications on the dynamics of resistance: The case of four *Aedes aegypti* populations from different Brazilian regions. *PLoS neglected tropical diseases*, *12*(2), e0006227.

Gaston, K. J., & Hudson, E. (1994). Regional patterns of diversity and estimates of global insect species richness. *Biodiversity & Conservation*, *3*(6), 493-500.

George, S., & Vincent, S. (2005). Comparative efficacy of *Annona squamosa* Linn. and *Pongamia glabra* Vent. to *Azadirachta indica* A. Juss against mosquitoes. *Journal of vector borne diseases*, 42(4), 159.

Gershenzon, J., & Dudareva, N. (2007). The function of terpene natural products in the natural world. *Nature chemical biology*, *3*(7), 408-414.

Ghosh, A., Chowdhury, N., & Chandra, G. (2012). Plant extracts as potential mosquito larvicides. *The Indian journal of medical research*, 135(5), 581.

Ghosh, T., Biswas, M., Roy, P., & Guin, C. (2018). A review on traditional and pharmacological uses of *Croton bonplandianum* with special reference to phytochemical aspect. *European Journal of Medicinal Plants*, 22(4), 1-10.

Gilles, H. R. (1993). Epidemiology of mararia. *Bruce-Chwatt's essential malariology*, 124.

Girard, M., Nelson, C. B., Picot, V., & Gubler, D. J. (2020). Arboviruses: A global public health threat. *Vaccine*, *38*(24), 3989-3994.

Glynne-Jones, A. (2001). Pyrethrum. Pesticide Outlook, 12(5), 195-198.

Goddard, L. B., Roth, A. E., Reisen, W. K., & Scott, T. W. (2002). Vector competence of California mosquitoes for West Nile virus. *Emerging infectious diseases*, 8(12), 1385.

Gold, L. S., Slone, T. H., Ames, B. N., & Manley, N. B. (2001). Pesticide residues in food and cancer risk: A critical analysis. *Handbook of pesticide toxicology*, *1*, 799-843.

Golding, N., Wilson, A. L., Moyes, C. L., Cano, J., Pigott, D. M., Velayudhan, R., ... & Lindsay, S. W. (2015). Integrating vector control across diseases. *BMC medicine*, *13*(1), 1-6.

Gomes, A. D. C., de Souza, J. M., Bergamaschi, D. P., Dos Santos, J. L., Andrade, V. R., Leite, O. F., ... & de Lima, V. L. (2005). Anthropophilic activity of *Aedes aegypti* and of *Aedes albopictus* in area under control and surveillance. *Revista de saude publica*, *39*, 206-210.

Gopalakrishnan, R., Das, M., Baruah, I., Veer, V., & Dutta, P. (2013). Physicochemical characteristics of habitats in relation to the density of containerbreeding mosquitoes in Asom, India. *Journal of vector borne diseases*, 50(3), 215.

Gopalan, N., Prakash, S., Bhattacharya, B. K., Anand, O. P., & Rao, K. M. (1996). Development of malathion resistance in *Culex quinquefasciatus* say (Diptera: Culicidae). *The Indian Journal of Medical Research*, *103*, 84-90.

Gould, D. J., Edelman, R., Grossman, R. A., Nisalak, A., & Sullivan, M. F. (1974). Study of Japanese encephalitis virus in ChiangMai valley, Thailand IV. Vector studies. *American Journal of Epidemiology*, *100*(1), 49-56.

Gubler, D. J. (1991). Insects in disease transmission. Hunter tropical medicine.

Gubler, D. J. (1996). The global resurgence of arboviral diseases. *Transactions of the Royal Society of Tropical Medicine and Hygiene*, 90(5), 449-451.

Gubler, D. J. (2010). The global threat of emergent/re-emergent vector-borne diseases. In *Vector biology, ecology and control*, Springer, Dordrecht, 39-62.

Gubler, D. J., Nalim, S., Tan, R., & Saipan, H. (1979). Variation in susceptibility to oral infection with dengue viruses among geographic strains of *Aedes aegypti*. *The American journal of tropical medicine and hygiene*, 28(6), 1045-1052.

Gubler, D. J., Ooi, E. E., Vasudevan, S., & Farrar, J. (Eds.). (2014). Dengue and dengue hemorrhagic fever. Cabi.

Gunther, F. A., Westlake, W. E., & Jaglan, P. S. (1968). *Reported solubilities of 738 pesticide chemicals in water*. Springer New York, 1-148.

Gupta, N., Srivastava, S., Jain, A., & Chaturvedi, U. C. (2012). Dengue in india. *The Indian journal of medical research*, *136*(3), 373.

Guzman, M. G., Halstead, S. B., Artsob, H., Buchy, P., Farrar, J., Gubler, D. J., ... & Peeling, R. W. (2010). Dengue: a continuing global threat. *Nature reviews microbiology*, 8(12), S7-S16.

Habig, W. H., Pabst, M. J., & Jakoby, W. B. (1974). Glutathione S-transferases: the first enzymatic step in mercapturic acid formation. *Journal of biological Chemistry*, 249(22), 7130-7139.

Hall, M., & Tamïr, D. (2022). Mosquitopia: The Place of Pests in a Healthy World. *Taylor & Francis*, 312.

Haller, H. L., McGovran, E. R., Goodhue, L. D., & Sullivan, W. N. (1942). The synergistic action of sesamin with pyrethrum insecticides. *The Journal of Organic Chemistry*, 7(2), 183-184.

Halstead, S. B. (2008a). Dengue virus-mosquito interactions. Annu. Rev. Entomol., 53, 273-291.

Halstead, S. B. (Ed.). (2008b). Dengue. World Scientific, 5, 29-31.

Hamels, S., Gala, J. L., Dufour, S., Vannuffel, P., Zammatteo, N., & Remacle, J. (2001). Consensus PCR and microarray for diagnosis of the genus *Staphylococcus*, species, and methicillin resistance. *Biotechniques*, *31*(6), 1364-1372.

Hammon, W. M. (1966). History of mosquito-borne haemorrhagic fever. *Bulletin of the World Health Organization*, *35*(1), 35-37.

Harbach, R. E. (2023). Mosquito taxonomic inventory. 2013. Avaliable on:<http://mosquito-taxonomicinventory. info/sites/ mosquito-taxonomicinventory.info/files/Valid, 20.

Harbach, R. E., & Besansky, N. J. (2014). Mosquitoes. *Current Biology*, 24(1), R14-R15.

Harbach, R. E., & Kitching, I. J. (2016). The phylogeny of Anophelinae revisited: inferences about the origin and classification of *Anopheles* (Diptera: Culicidae). *Zoologica Scripta*, 45(1), 34-47.

Harrington, L. C., Ponlawat, A., Edman, J. D., Scott, T. W., & Vermeylen, F. (2008). Influence of container size, location, and time of day on oviposition patterns of the dengue vector, *Aedes aegypti*, in Thailand. *Vector-Borne and Zoonotic Diseases*, 8(3), 415-424.

Harve, G., & Kamath, V. (2004). Larvicidal activity of plant extracts used alone and in combination with known synthetic larvicidal agents against *Aedes aegypti*. *Indian Journal of Experimental Biology*,42, 1216-1219

Hazra, D. K., Samanta, A., Karmakar, R., Sen, K., & Bakshi, P. (2017). Mosquito vector management knowledge, attitude, practices and future of user & environment friendly new generation botanical mosquitocide formulations: A review. *Int J Chem Stud*, *5*(3), 32-7.

He, L. M., Troiano, J., Wang, A., & Goh, K. (2008). Environmental chemistry, ecotoxicity, and fate of lambda-cyhalothrin. *Reviews of environmental contamination and toxicology*, 71-91.

Heathcote, O. H. U. (1970). Japanese encephalitis in Sarawak: Studies on juvenile mosquito populations. *Transactions of the Royal Society of Tropical Medicine and Hygiene*, 64(4), 483-488.

Hebert, P. D., & Gregory, T. R. (2005). The promise of DNA barcoding for taxonomy. *Systematic biology*, 54(5), 852-859.

Hebert, P. D., Cywinska, A., Ball, S. L., & DeWaard, J. R. (2003a). Biological identifications through DNA barcodes. *Proceedings of the Royal Society of London. Series B: Biological Sciences*, 270(1512), 313-321.

Hebert, P. D., Ratnasingham, S., & De Waard, J. R. (2003b). Barcoding animal life: cytochrome c oxidase subunit 1 divergences among closely related species. *Proceedings of the Royal Society of London. Series B: Biological Sciences*, 270(suppl\_1), S96-S99.

Heinz, F. X., & Stiasny, K. (2012). Flaviviruses and their antigenic structure. *Journal of Clinical Virology*, 55(4), 289-295.

Hemingway, J., & Ranson, H. (2000). Insecticide resistance in insect vectors of human disease. *Annual review of entomology*, 45(1), 371-391.

Hemingway, J., Hawkes, N. J., McCarroll, L., & Ranson, H. (2004). The molecular basis of insecticide resistance in mosquitoes. *Insect biochemistry and molecular biology*, *34*(7), 653-665.

Hemingway, J., Malcolm, C. A., Kissoon, K. E., Boddington, R. G., Curtis, C. F., & Hill, N. (1985). The biochemistry of insecticide resistance in *Anopheles sacharovi*: comparative studies with a range of insecticide susceptible and resistant *Anopheles* and *Culex* species. *Pesticide Biochemistry and Physiology*, 24(1), 68-76.

Hermanowicz, A., & Kossman, S. (1984). Neutrophil function and infectious disease in workers occupationally exposed to phosphoorganic pesticides: role of mononuclear-derived chemotactic factor for neutrophils. *Clinical Immunology and Immunopathology*, 33(1), 13-22.

Hernández-Triana, L. M., Brugman, V. A., Nikolova, N. I., Ruiz-Arrondo, I., Barrero, E., Thorne, L., ... & Fooks, A. R. (2019). DNA barcoding of British mosquitoes (Diptera, Culicidae) to support species identification, discovery of cryptic genetic diversity and monitoring invasive species. *ZooKeys*, 832, 57.

Hidayati, H., Nazni, W. A., Lee, H. L., & Sofian-Azirun, M. (2011). Insecticide resistance development in *Aedes aegypti* upon selection pressure with malathion. *Tropical Biomedicine*, 28(2), 425-437.

Hikal, W. M., Baeshen, R. S., & Said-Al Ahl, H. A. (2017). Botanical insecticide as simple extractives for pest control. *Cogent Biology*, *3*(1), 1404274.

Hodgson, E., & Levi, P. E. (1996). Pesticides: an important but underused model for the environmental health sciences. *Environmental Health Perspectives*, *104*(suppl 1), 97-106.

Höld, K. M., Sirisoma, N. S., Ikeda, T., Narahashi, T., & Casida, J. E. (2000).  $\alpha$ -Thujone (the active component of absinthe):  $\gamma$ -aminobutyric acid type A receptor modulation and metabolic detoxification. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 97(8), 3826-3831.

Hubálek, Z. (2008). Mosquito-borne viruses in Europe. *Parasitology research*, 103, 29-43.

Hubálek, Z., & Halouzka, J. (1999). West Nile fever--a reemerging mosquito-borne viral disease in Europe. *Emerging infectious diseases*, 5(5), 643.

Huong, V. D., Bach Ngoc, N. T., Hien, D. T., & Bich Lien, N. T. (2004). Susceptibility of *Aedes aegypti* to insecticides in Viet Nam. *Dengue Bulletin*, 28,179-183.

Husham, A. O., Abdalmagid, M. A., & Brair, M. (2010). Status susceptibility of dengue vector; *Aedes aegypti* to different groups of insecticides in Port Sudan City-Red Sea State. *Sudanese Journal of Public Health*, 5(4), 199-202.

Ilkal, M. A., Mavale, M. S., Prasanna, Y., Jacob, P. G., Geevarghese, G., & Banerjee, K. (1997). Experimental studies on the vector potential of certain *Culex* species to West Nile virus. *The Indian Journal of Medical Research*, *106*, 225-228.

Islam, M. S., Rahman, M. M., Rahman, M. A., Qayum, M. A., & Alam, M. F. (2010). In vitro evaluation of *Croton bonplandianum* Baill. as potential antitumor properties using Agrobacterium tumefaciens. *Journal of Agricultural Technology*, *6*(1), 79-86.

Isman, M. B. (2006). Botanical insecticides, deterrents, and repellents in modern agriculture and an increasingly regulated world. *Annu. Rev. Entomol.*, *51*, 45-66.

Isman, M. B. (2014). Botanical insecticides: a global perspective. In *Biopesticides: State of the art and future Opportunities*. American Chemical Society, 21-30.

Isman, M. B. (2020). Commercial development of plant essential oils and their constituents as active ingredients in bioinsecticides. *Phytochemistry reviews*, 19, 235-241.

Isman, M. B., & Akhtar, Y. (2007). Plant natural products as a source for developing environmentally acceptable insecticides. In *Insecticides design using advanced technologies* (pp. 235-248). Berlin, Heidelberg: Springer Berlin Heidelberg.

Isman, M. B., & Grieneisen, M. L. (2014). Botanical insecticide research: many publications, limited useful data. *Trends in plant science*, *19*(3), 140-145.

Isman, M. B., & Machial, C. M. (2006). Pesticides based on plant essential oils: from traditional practice to commercialization. *Advances in phytomedicine*, *3*, 29-44.

Jackman, J. A., & Olson, J. K. (2002). Mosquitoes and the Diseases they Transmit. *Texas FARMER Collection*.

Jahan, N., & Shahid, A. (2013). Evaluation of resistance against deltamethrin and cypermethrin in dengue vector from Lahore, Pakistan. J. Anim. Plant Sci, 23(5), 1321-1326.

Jang, Y. S., Baek, B. R., Yang, Y. C., Kim, M. K., & Lee, H. S. (2002). Larvicidal activity of leguminous seeds and grains against *Aedes aegypti* and *Culex pipiens* pallens. *Journal of the American Mosquito Control Association*, 18(3), 210-213.

Jangir, P. K., & Prasad, A. (2022). Spatial distribution of insecticide resistance and susceptibility in *Aedes aegypti* and *Aedes albopictus* in India. *International Journal of Tropical Insect Science*, 42(2), 1019-1044.

Jantan, I. B., Yalvema, M. F., Ahmad, N. W., & Jamal, J. A. (2005). Insecticidal Activities of the Leaf Oils of Eight *Cinnamomum*. species against *Aedes aegypti*. and *Aedes albopictus*. *Pharmaceutical Biology*, *43*(6), 526-532.

Jarman, S. N., & Elliott, N. G. (2000). DNA evidence for morphological and cryptic Cenozoic speciations in the Anaspididae,'living fossils' from the Triassic. *Journal of Evolutionary Biology*, *13*(4), 624-633.

Jawale, C., Kirdak, R., & Dama, L. (2010). Larvicidal activity of *Oestrum* nocturnum on Aedes aegypti. Bangladesh Journal of Pharmacology, 5(1), 39-40

Jeeshna, M. V., Mallikadevi, T., & Paulsamy, S. (2010). Screening of the weed plant species, *Croton bonplandianum* Baill. for larvicidal activity of *Aedes aegypti. Journal of Biopesticides*, *3*(Special Issue), 192.

Jensen, H. R., Scott, I. M., Sims, S. R., Trudeau, V. L., & Arnason, J. T. (2006). The effect of a synergistic concentration of a *Piper nigrum* extract used in conjunction with pyrethrum upon gene expression in *Drosophila melanogaster*. *Insect Molecular Biology*, *15*(3), 329-339.

Jirakanjanakit, N., Leemingsawat, S., Thongrungkiat, S., Apiwathnasorn, C., Singhaniyom, S., Bellec, C., & Dujardin, J. P. (2007). Influence of larval density or food variation on the geometry of the wing of *Aedes* (Stegomyia) aegypti. Tropical *Medicine & International Health*, *12*(11), 1354-1360.

Jupp, P. G., & McIntosh, B. M. (1990). *Aedes furcifer* and other mosquitoes as vectors of chikungunya virus at Mica, northeastern Transvaal, South Africa. *J Am Mosq Control Assoc*, 6(3), 415-20.

Jupp, P. G., McIntosh, B. M., Dos Santos, I., & De Moor, P. (1981). Laboratory vector studies on six mosquito and one tick species with chikungunya virus. *Transactions of the Royal Society of Tropical Medicine and Hygiene*, 75(1), 15-19.

Kabaru, J. M., & Gichia, L. (2001). Insecticidal activity of extracts derived from different parts of the mangrove tree *Rhizophora mucronata* (Rhizophoraceae) Lam. against three arthropods. *African Journal of Science and Technology*, 2(2).

Kabir, K. E., Khan, A. R., & Mosaddik, M. A. (2003). Goniothalamin–a potent mosquito larvicide from *Bryonopsis laciniosa* L. *Journal of Applied Entomology*, *127*(2), 112-115.

Kalman, B. (2004). *The life cycle of a mosquito*. Crabtree Publishing Company.

Kalyanasundaram, M., & Babu, C. J. (1982). Biologically active plant extracts as mosquito larvicides. *Indian J Med Res*, 76(Suppl), 102-106.

Kalyanasundaram, M., & Das, P. K. (1985). Larvicidal and synergistic activity of plant extracts for mosquito control. *Indian J Med Res*, 82(1), 19-23.

Kamaraj, C., Bagavan, A., Elango, G., Zahir, A. A., Rajakumar, G., Marimuthu, S., ... & Rahuman, A. A. (2011). Larvicidal activity of medicinal plant extracts against *Anopheles subpictus & Culex tritaeniorhynchus. The Indian journal of medical research*, 134(1), 101.

Kamiabi, F., Jaal, Z., & Keng, C. L. (2013). Bioefficacy of crude extract of *Cyperus aromaticus* (Family: Cyperaceae) cultured cells, against *Aedes aegypti* and *Aedes albopictus* mosquitoes. *Asian Pacific Journal of Tropical Biomedicine*, *3*(10), 767-775.

Kannathasan, K., Senthilkumar, A., & Venkatesalu, V. (2011). Mosquito larvicidal activity of methyl-p-hydroxybenzoate isolated from the leaves of *Vitex trifolia* Linn. *Acta Tropica*, *120*(1-2), 115-118.

Kanojia, P. C. (2007). Ecological study on mosquito vectors of Japanese encephalitis virus in Bellary district, Karnataka. *Indian Journal of Medical Research*, *126*(2), 152-157.

Karalliedde, L., & Senanayake, N. (1989). Organophosphorus insecticide poisoning. *British journal of anaesthesia*, 63(6), 736-750.

Karthi, S., Vinothkumar, M., Karthic, U., Manigandan, V., Saravanan, R., Vasantha-Srinivasan, P., ... & Senthil-Nathan, S. (2020). Biological effects of *Avicennia marina* (Forssk.) vierh. extracts on physiological, biochemical, and antimicrobial activities against three challenging mosquito vectors and microbial pathogens. *Environmental Science and Pollution Research*, 27, 15174-15187.

Karthika, P., Vadivalagan, C., Thirumurugan, D., Kumar, R. R., Murugan, K., Canale, A., & Benelli, G. (2018). DNA barcoding of five Japanese encephalitis mosquito vectors (*Culex fuscocephala, Culex gelidus, Culex tritaeniorhynchus, Culex pseudovishnui* and *Culex vishnui*). Acta tropica, 183, 84-91.

Karunakaran, A., Ilyas, W. M., Sheen, S. F., Jose, N. K., & Nujum, Z. T. (2014). Risk factors of mortality among dengue patients admitted to a tertiary care setting in Kerala, India. *Journal of infection and public health*, 7(2), 114-120.

Karunaratne, S. H. P. P., De Silva, W. A. P. P., Weeraratne, T. C., & Surendran, S. N. (2018). Insecticide resistance in mosquitoes: development, mechanisms and monitoring. *Ceylon J Sci*, *47*(4), 299-309.

Kassambara A (2023). rstatix: Pipe-Friendly Framework for Basic Statistical Tests. R package version 0.7.2, https://CRAN.R-project.org/package=rstatix. -R version 4.3.0

Katsuda, Y. (1999). Development of and future prospects for pyrethroid chemistry. *Pesticide science*, 55(8), 775-782.

Kelm, M. A., Nair, M. G., & Schutzki, R. A. (1997). Mosquitocidal compounds from *Magnolia salicifolia*. *International Journal of Pharmacognosy*, *35*(2), 84-90.

Kettle, A., Scientific, T. F., & Sunnyvale, C. (2016). Natural products extraction using accelerated solvent extraction. *Thermo Fish Sci Brand*, 70632, 1-6.

Khan, M. M., Kaleem-Ullah, R. M., Siddiqui, J. A., & Ali, S. (2020). Insecticide resistance and detoxification enzymes activity in *Nilaparvata lugens* Stål against neonicotinoids. *Journal of Agricultural Science*, *12*(5), 24.

Khare, P. K., & Manjusha, S. (2007). Ethnomedicinal study for human healthcare among the people of Chhatarpur District, Madhya Pradesh, India. *Plant Archives*, 7(2), 899-901.

Kilpatrick, A. M. (2011). Globalization, land use, and the invasion of West Nile virus. *Science*, *334*(6054), 323-327.

Kioulos, I., Kampouraki, A., Morou, E., Skavdis, G., & Vontas, J. (2014). Insecticide resistance status in the major West Nile virus vector *Culex pipiens* from Greece. *Pest management science*, *70*(4), 623-627.

Kishore, N., Mishra, B. B., Tiwari, V. K., & Tripathi, V. (2011). A review on natural products with mosquitosidal potentials. *Opportunity, challenge and scope of natural products in medicinal chemistry. Kerala: Research Signpost, 11*, 335-65.

Knowlton, N. (1993). Sibling species in the sea. Annual review of ecology and systematics, 24(1), 189-216.

Knowlton, N., & Weigt, L. A. (1998). New dates and new rates for divergence across the Isthmus of Panama. *Proceedings of the Royal Society of London. Series B: Biological Sciences*, 265(1412), 2257-2263.

Kolli, G. R., & Sundararajan, R. (2013). Evaluation of larvicidal activity of *Pongamia pinnata* extracts against three mosquito vectors. *Asian Pacific Journal of Tropical Biomedicine*, *3*(11), 853-858.

Komalamisra, N., Trongtokit, Y., Rongsriyam, Y., & Apiwathnasorn, C. (2005). Screening for larvicidal activity in some Thai plants against four mosquito vector species. *Southeast Asian Journal of Tropical Medicine and Public Health*, *36*(6), 1412.

Koppenhöfer, A. M., & Fuzy, E. M. (2003). Biological and chemical control of the Asiatic garden beetle, *Maladera castanea* (Coleoptera: Scarabaeidae). *Journal of economic entomology*, 96(4), 1076-1082.

Kraemer, M. U., Sinka, M. E., Duda, K. A., Mylne, A. Q., Shearer, F. M., Barker, C. M., ... & Hay, S. I. (2015). The global distribution of the arbovirus vectors *Aedes aegypti* and *Ae. albopictus. elife*, *4*, e08347.

Kranthi, K. R. (2005). Insecticide resistance monitoring, mechanisms and management manual; *Central Institute for Cotton Research*, India, 78-82.

Kraujalis, P., Venskutonis, P. R., Pukalskas, A., & Kazernavičiūtė, R. (2013). Accelerated solvent extraction of lipids from Amaranthus spp. seeds and characterization of their composition. *LWT-Food Science and Technology*, *54*(2), 528-534.

Kumar, A., Valecha, N., Jain, T., & Dash, A. P. (2007). Burden of malaria in India: retrospective and prospective view. *American Journal of Tropical Medicine and Hygiene*, 77, 69-78

Kumar, K. R., & Nattuthurai, N. (2011). Diversity of mosquito fauna in three selected sites of athoor taluk, Dindigul district, TamilNadu. *Elixir Bio Diversity*, *38*, 4057-4059.

Kumar, N. P., Jayakumar, P. R., George, K., Kamaraj, T., Krishnamoorthy, K., Sabesan, S., & Jambulingam, P. (2013). Genetic characterization of dengue viruses prevalent in Kerala State, India. *Journal of medical microbiology*, *62*(4), 545-552.

Kumar, N. P., Rajavel, A. R., Natarajan, R., & Jambulingam, P. (2007). DNA barcodes can distinguish species of Indian mosquitoes (Diptera: Culicidae). *Journal of medical entomology*, 44(1), 01-07.

Kuno, G., & Chang, G. J. J. (2005). Biological transmission of arboviruses: reexamination of and new insights into components, mechanisms, and unique traits as well as their evolutionary trends. *Clinical microbiology reviews*, *18*(4), 608-637.

Kurtzman, C. P. (1994). Molecular taxonomy of the yeasts. Yeast, 10(13), 1727-1740.

Lakshmi, K. V., Sudhikumar, A. V., & Aneesh, E. M. (2021). Synergistic effect of *Croton bonplandianum* Baill. with Cypermethrin and Lambda-cyhalothrin against *Aedes aegypti* Linn, a Dengue fever vector. *South African Journal of Botany*, *140*, 103-109.

Lal Kalra, N., & Prasittisuk, C. (2004). Sporadic Prevalence of DF/DHF in the Nilgiri and Cardamom Hills of Western Ghats in South India: Is it a Seeding from Sylvatic Dengue Cycle-Hypothesis. *Dengue Bulletin*, 28,44-50.

Lam, S. K., Chua, K. B., Hooi, P. S., Rahimah, M. A., Kumari, S., Tharmaratnam, M., ... & Sampson, I. A. (2001). Chikungunya infection-an emerging disease in Malaysia. *Southeast Asian journal of tropical medicine and public health*, *32*(3), 447-451.

Lanciotti, R. S., Kosoy, O. L., Laven, J. J., Velez, J. O., Lambert, A. J., Johnson, A. J., ... & Duffy, M. R. (2008). Genetic and serologic properties of Zika virus associated with an epidemic, Yap State, Micronesia, 2007. *Emerging infectious diseases*, *14*(8), 1232.

Laporta, G. Z., Potter, A. M., Oliveira, J. F., Bourke, B. P., Pecor, D. B., & Linton, Y. M. (2023). Global distribution of *Aedes aegypti* and *Aedes albopictus* in a climate change scenario of regional rivalry. *Insects*, *14*(1), 49.

Lawler, S. P., Dritz, D. A., Christiansen, J. A., & Cornel, A. J. (2007). Effects of lambda-cyhalothrin on mosquito larvae and predatory aquatic insects. *Pest Management Science: formerly Pesticide Science*, 63(3), 234-240.

Lazcano, J. A., Rodriguez, M. M., San Martin, J. L., Romero, J. E., & Montoya, R. (2009). Assessing the insecticide resistance of an *Aedes aegypti* strain in El Salvador. *Revista Panamericana de Salud Publica= Pan American Journal of Public Health*, 26(3), 229-234.

Lee, C. Y., & Yap, H. H. (2003). Overview on urban pests: a Malaysian perspective. Urban Pest Control-A Malaysian Perspective. 2nd ed. Penang, Malaysia: Vector Control Research Unit, Universiti Sains Malaysia.

Lee, S. E. (2000). Mosquito larvicidal activity of pipernonaline, a piperidine alkaloid derived from long pepper, *Piper longum. Journal of the American Mosquito Control Association-Mosquito News*, *16*(3), 245-247.

Lee, S. E., Kim, H. C., Chong, S. T., Klein, T. A., & Lee, W. J. (2007). Molecular survey of *Dirofilaria immitis* and *Dirofilaria repens* by direct PCR for wild caught mosquitoes in the Republic of Korea. *Veterinary parasitology*, *148*(2), 149-155.

Leng, G., Kühn, K. H., & Idel, H. (1997). Biological monitoring of pyrethroids in blood and pyrethroid metabolites in urine: applications and limitations. *Science of the total environment*, *199*(1-2), 173-181.

Liang, G., Gao, X., & Gould, E. A. (2015). Factors responsible for the emergence of arboviruses; strategies, challenges and limitations for their control. *Emerging* microbes & infections, 4(1), 1-5.

Liew, C., Lam-Phua, S. G., Curtis, C. F., & Sinniah, B. (1994). The susceptibility status of Singapore *Aedes* vectors to temephos and pirimiphos-methyl. In *First International Congress of the Parasitology and Tropical Medicine*, 24-27.

Ligsay, A., Telle, O., & Paul, R. (2021). Challenges to mitigating the urban health burden of mosquito-borne diseases in the face of climate change. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, *18*(9), 5035.

Liu, H., Lu, H. J., Liu, Z. J., Jing, J., Ren, J. Q., Liu, Y. Y., ... & Jin, N. Y. (2013). Japanese encephalitis virus in mosquitoes and swine in Yunnan province, China 2009–2010. *Vector-Borne and Zoonotic Diseases*, *13*(1), 41-49.

Liu, N., Xu, Q., Zhu, F., & Zhang, L. E. E. (2006). Pyrethroid resistance in mosquitoes. *Insect Science*, 13(3), 159-166.

Lounibos, L. P., & Kramer, L. D. (2016). Invasiveness of *Aedes aegypti* and *Aedes albopictus* and vectorial capacity for chikungunya virus. *The Journal of infectious diseases*, 214(suppl\_5), S453-S458.

Lowry, O., Rosebrough, N., Farr, A. L., & Randall, R. (1951). Protein measurement with the Folin phenol reagent. *Journal of biological chemistry*, *193*(1), 265-275.

Luna, J. E. D., Martins, M. F., Anjos, A. F. D., Kuwabara, E. F., & Navarro-Silva, M. A. (2004). Susceptibility of *Aedes aegypti* to temephos and cypermethrin insecticides, Brazil. *Revista de saude publica*, *38*, 842-843.

Lund, A. E., & Narahashi, T. (1983). Kinetics of sodium channel modification as the basis for the variation in the nerve membrane effects of pyrethroids and DDT analogs. *Pesticide Biochemistry and Physiology*, 20(2), 203-216.

Lwande, O. W., Obanda, V., Lindström, A., Ahlm, C., Evander, M., Näslund, J., & Bucht, G. (2020). Globe-trotting *Aedes aegypti* and *Aedes albopictus*: risk factors for arbovirus pandemics. *Vector-Borne and Zoonotic Diseases*, 20(2), 71-81.

Macêdo, M. E., Consoli, R. A., Grandi, T. S., dos Anjos, A. M., de Oliveira, A. B., Mendes, N. M., ... & Zani, C. L. (1997). Screening of Asteraceae (Compositae) plant extracts for larvicidal activity against *Aedes fluviatilis* (Diptera: Culicidae). *Memórias do Instituto Oswaldo Cruz*, 92, 565-570.

Mackenzie, J. S., Gubler, D. J., & Petersen, L. R. (2004). Emerging flaviviruses: the spread and resurgence of Japanese encephalitis, West Nile and dengue viruses. *Nature medicine*, *10* (Suppl 12), S98-S109.

Macoris, M. D. L. D. G., Andrighetti, M. T. M., Otrera, V. C. G., Carvalho, L. R. D., Caldas Júnior, A. L., & Brogdon, W. G. (2007). Association of insecticide use and alteration on *Aedes aegypti* susceptibility status. *Memorias do Instituto Oswaldo Cruz*, *102*, 895-900.

Maekawa, Y. O. S. H. I. H. I. D. E., Ogawa, K. O. H. E. I., Komagata, O. S. A. M. U., Tsuda, Y. O. S. H. I. O., & Sawabe, K. Y. O. K. O. (2016). DNA barcoding for molecular identification of Japanese mosquitoes. *Medical Entomology and Zoology*, 67(3), 183-198.

Maestre-Serrano, R., Gomez-Camargo, D., Ponce-Garcia, G., & Flores, A. E. (2014). Susceptibility to insecticides and resistance mechanisms in *Aedes aegypti* from the Colombian Caribbean Region. *Pesticide Biochemistry and Physiology*, *116*, 63-73.

Magurran, A. E. (1988). *Ecological diversity and its measurement*. Princeton university press.

Mahalingam, S., Herring, B. L., & Halstead, S. B. (2013). Call to action for dengue vaccine failure. *Emerging Infectious Diseases*, *19*(8), 1335.

Mahesh, K., Ch, K. K., Ravi Kanth, K., Laxmi Addala, V. V., & Murthy, S. (2012). Differences in gene expression profiles between human breast tissue and peripheral blood samples for breast cancer detection. *J Cancer Sci Ther*, *4*, 379-85.

Maheswary, N. P., Majumdar, S., Chowdhury, A. R., & Faruque, M. S. (1994). Incrimination of *Anopheles vagus* Donitz, 1902 as an Epidemic Malaria Vector in. *Diseases Bulletin'*, 31(1), 35-38.

Maia, M. F., & Moore, S. J. (2011). Plant-based insect repellents: a review of their efficacy, development and testing. *Malaria journal*, 10(1), 1-15.

Majori, G. (2012). Short history of malaria and its eradication in Italy. *Mediterranean journal of hematology and infectious diseases*, 4(1), e2012016-e2012016.

Mandal, S. (2010). Exploration of larvicidal and adult emergence inhibition activities of *Ricinus communis* seed extract against three potential mosquito vectors in Kolkata, India. *Asian Pacific Journal of Tropical Medicine*, *3*(8), 605-609.

Mandal, S. (2012). Mosquito vector management with botanicals-the most effective weapons in controlling mosquito-borne diseases. *Asian Pacific Journal of Tropical Biomedicine*, 2(4), 336.

Maniafu, B. M., Wilber, L., Ndiege, I. O., Wanjala, C. C., & Akenga, T. A. (2009). Larvicidal activity of extracts from three *Plumbago* spp against *Anopheles gambiae*. *Memórias do Instituto Oswaldo Cruz*, *104*, 813-817.

Manikandan, S., Mathivanan, A., Bora, B., Hemaladkshmi, P., Abhisubesh, V., & Poopathi, S. (2022). A review on vector borne disease transmission: Current strategies of mosquito vector control. *Indian Journal of Entomology*, 1-11.

Mansour, S. A., Messeha, S. S., & El-Gengaihi, S. E. (2000). Botanical biocides. 4. Mosquitocidal activity of certain *Thymus capitatus* constituents. *Journal of Natural Toxins*, 9(1), 49-62.

Maradufu, A., Lubega, R., & Dorn, F. (1978). Isolation of (5E) Ocimenone, a mosquito larvicide from *Tagetes minuta*. *Lloydia*.

Marcard, M., Zebitz, CPW., Schmutterer, H. (1986). The effect of crude methanol extracts of *Ajuga* spp on postembryonic development of different mosquito species. *J Appl Entomol*, *101*, 146 – 54.

Marcombe, S., Mathieu, R. B., Pocquet, N., Riaz, M. A., & Poupardin, R. (2012). Insecticide Resistance in the Dengue Vector *Aedes aegypti* from Martinique.

Marcombe, S., Poupardin, R., Darriet, F., Reynaud, S., Bonnet, J., Strode, C., ... & David, J. P. (2009). Exploring the molecular basis of insecticide resistance in the dengue vector *Aedes aegypti*: a case study in Martinique Island (French West Indies). *BMC genomics*, 10, 1-14.

Matasyoh, J. C., Wathuta, E. M., Kariuki, S. T., Chepkorir, R., & Kavulani, J. (2008). *Aloe* plant extracts as alternative larvicides for mosquito control. *African Journal of Biotechnology*, 7(7), 912-915.

Mathur, M., Yadav, S., Katariya, P. K., & Kamal, R. (2014). In vitro propagation and biosynthesis of steroidal sapogenins from various morphogenetic stages of *Moringa oleifera* Lam., and their antioxidant potential. *Acta physiologiae plantarum*, *36*, 1749-1762.

Matsumura, F. (1975). Entry of insecticides into animal systems. In *Toxicology of insecticides* Boston, MA: Springer US, 253-274.

McLaughlin, G.A. (1973) *History of pyrethrum. In Pyrethrum: The Natural Insecticide* (Casida, J.E., ed.), Academic press, 3–15.

Meena, S. (2017). Pyrethroid resistance in adult mosquitoes, *Aedes aegypti* from Jaipur city, Rajasthan. *Journal of Entomology and Zoology Studies*, 5(4), 772-774.

Meena, S., & Kachhwaha, N. (2016). Evaluation of pyrethroids efficacy in *Aedes aegypti* (Diptera-Culicidae) from semi-arid zone, Jaipur. *Evaluation*, 1(6).

Meier, C. J., Rouhier, M. F., & Hillyer, J. F. (2022). Chemical Control of Mosquitoes and the Pesticide Treadmill: A Case for Photosensitive Insecticides as Larvicides. *Insects*, *13*(12), 1093.

Metcalf, R. L. (1967). Mode of action of insecticide synergists. Annual Review of Entomology, 12(1), 229-256.

Mgbemena, I. C. (2010). Comparative evaluation of larvicidal potentials of three plant extracts on *Aedes aegypti*. *Journal of American Science*, 6(10), 435-440.

Mindell, D. P. (1997). Phylogenetic relationships among and within select avian orders based on mitochondrial DNA. *Avian molecular evolution and systematics*, 214-247.

Miresmailli, S., & Isman, M. B. (2014). Botanical insecticides inspired by plant-herbivore chemical interactions. *Trends in plant science*, *19*(1), 29-35.

Mischke, T. (1985). Agricultural Sources of DDT Residues in California's Environment: A Report Prepared in Response to House Resolution No. 53 (1984). Environmental Hazards Assessment Program, *California Department of Food and Agriculture*, 42.

Mithöfer, A., & Boland, W. (2012). Plant defense against herbivores: chemical aspects. *Annual review of plant biology*, 63, 431-450.

Mohammed, S. I., Chopda, M. Z., Patil, R. H., Vishwakarma, K. S., & Maheshwari, V. L. (2016). In vivo antidiabetic and antioxidant activities of *Coccinia grandis* leaf extract against streptozotocin induced diabetes in experimental rats. *Asian Pacific Journal of Tropical Disease*, *6*(4), 298-304.

Mohan, D. R., & Ramaswamy, M. (2007). Evaluation of larvicidal activity of the leaf extract of a weed plant, *Ageratina adenophora*, against two important species of mosquitoes, *Aedes aegypti* and *Culex quinquefasciatus*. *African Journal of Biotechnology*, 6(5), 631.

Mohan, L., Sharma, P., & Srivastava, C. N. (2006). Evaluation of *Solanum xanthocarpum* extract as a synergist for cypermethrin against larvae of the filarial vector *Culex quinquefasciatus* (Say). *Entomological research*, *36*(4), 220-225.

Mohan, L., Sharma, P., & Srivastava, C. N. (2007). Comparative efficacy of *Solanum xanthocarpum* extracts alone and in combination with a synthetic pyrethroid, cypermethrin, against malaria vector *Anopheles stephensi*. *Southeast Asian journal of tropical medicine and public health*, 38(2), 256.

Mohan, L., Sharma, P., & Srivastava, C. N. (2010). Combination larvicidal action of *Solanum xanthocarpum* extract and certain synthetic insecticides against filarial vector, *Culex quinquefasciatus* (Say). *Southeast Asian J Trop Med Public Health*, 41(2), 311-319.

Moirangthem, B. D., & Singh, D. C. (2018). Two Armigeres species of Manipur, the easternmost Northeast India. *International Journal of Mosquito Research*, 5(4), 39-43.

Momin, R. A., & Nair, M. G. (2002). Pest-managing efficacy of trans-asarone isolated from *Daucus carota* L. seeds. *Journal of Agricultural and food Chemistry*, 50(16), 4475-4478.

Monath, T. P., & Vasconcelos, P. F. (2015). Yellow fever. *Journal of clinical virology*, 64, 160-173.

Moore, W. S. (1995). Inferring phylogenies from mtDNA variation: mitochondrialgene trees versus nuclear-gene trees. *Evolution*, 49(4), 718-726. Morales-Rodriguez, A., & Peck, D. C. (2009). Synergies between biological and neonicotinoid insecticides for the curative control of the white grubs *Amphimallon majale* and *Popillia japonica*. *Biological control*, *51*(1), 169-180.

Morens, D. M., Folkers, G. K., & Fauci, A. S. (2013). Dengue: the continual reemergence of a centuries-old disease. *EcoHealth*, *10*, 104-106.

Morgan, E. D. (2004). The place of neem among modern natural pesticides. *Neem: today and in the new millennium*, 21-32.

Morra, M. E., Altibi, A. M., Iqtadar, S., Minh, L. H. N., Elawady, S. S., Hallab, A., ... & Huy, N. T. (2018). Definitions for warning signs and signs of severe dengue according to the WHO 2009 classification: Systematic review of literature. *Reviews in medical virology*, 28(4), e1979.

Mourya, D. T., Thakare, J. R., Gokhale, M. D., Powers, A. M., Hundekar, S. L., Jayakumar, P. C., ... & Padbidri, V. S. (2001). Isolation of chikungunya virus from *Aedes aegypti* mosquitoes collected in the town of Yawat, Pune District, Maharashtra State, India. *Acta Virologica*, 45(5-6), 305-309.

Mulwa, F., Lutomiah, J., Chepkorir, E., Okello, S., Eyase, F., Tigoi, C., ... & Sang, R. (2018). Vector competence of *Aedes bromeliae* and *Aedes vitattus* mosquito populations from Kenya for chikungunya virus. *PLoS neglected tropical diseases*, *12*(10), e0006746.

Mungkornasawakul, P., Chaiyong, S., Sastraruji, T., Jatisatienr, A., Jatisatienr, C., Pyne, S. G., ... & Lie, W. (2009). Alkaloids from the roots of *Stemona* aphylla. Journal of natural products, 72(5), 848-851.

Munstermann, L. E. (1997). Care and maintenance of *Aedes* mosquito colonies. In *The molecular biology of insect disease vectors: a methods manual*, Dordrecht: Springer Netherlands, 13-20.

Murray, P. R. Baron, E. J. Pfaller, M. A. Tenover, F. C. Yolken, H. R. (1995). Manual of Clinical Microbiology, 6th Ed. ASM Press, Washington DC. 15-18.

Murty, U. S., Rao, M. S., & Arunachalam, N. (2010). The effects of climatic factors on the distribution and abundance of Japanese encephalitis vectors in Kurnool district of Andhra Pradesh, India. *Journal of Vector Borne Diseases*, 47(1), 26.

Murugan, K., Vadivalagan, C., Karthika, P., Panneerselvam, C., Paulpandi, M., Subramaniam, J., ... & Benelli, G. (2016). DNA barcoding and molecular evolution of mosquito vectors of medical and veterinary importance. *Parasitology research*, *115*, 107-121.

Muslim, A., Fong, M. Y., Mahmud, R., Lau, Y. L., & Sivanandam, S. (2013). *Armigeres subalbatus* incriminated as a vector of zoonotic *Brugia pahangi* filariasis in suburban Kuala Lumpur, Peninsular Malaysia. *Parasites & vectors*, 6, 1-5.

Mutheneni, S. R., Morse, A. P., Caminade, C., & Upadhyayula, S. M. (2017). Dengue burden in India: recent trends and importance of climatic parameters. *Emerging microbes & infections*, 6(1), 1-10.

Muthukrishnan, J., Seifert, K., Hoffmann, K. H., & Lorenz, M. W. (1999). Inhibition of juvenile hormone biosynthesis in *Gryllus bimaculatus* by *Glycosmis pentaphylla* leaf compounds. *Phytochemistry*, 50(2), 249-254.

Muthusamy, R., & Shivakumar, M. S. (2015a). Effect of lambda cyhalothrin and temephos on detoxification enzyme systems in *Culex quinquefasciatus* (Diptera: Culicidae). *Journal of Environmental Biology*, *36*(1), 235.

Muthusamy, R., & Shivakumar, M. S. (2015b). Susceptibility status of *Aedes aegypti* (L.) (Diptera: Culicidae) to temephos from three districts of Tamil Nadu, India. *Journal of vector borne diseases*, 52(2), 159.

Muthusamy, R., Ramkumar, G., Karthi, S., & Shivakumar, M. S. (2014). Biochemical mechanisms of insecticide resistance in field population of Dengue vector *Aedes aegypti* (Diptera: Culicidae). *International Journal of Mosquito Research*, 1(2), 1-4.

Naddaf, S. R., Oshaghi, M. A., & Vatandoost, H. (2012). Confirmation of two sibling species among *Anopheles fluviatilis* mosquitoes in south and southeastern Iran by analysis of cytochrome oxidase I gene. *Journal of arthropod-borne diseases*, 6(2), 144.

Nagpal, B. N., & Sharma, V. P. (1995). Indian anophelines. Science Publishers, Inc.

Naqqash, M. N., Gökçe, A., Bakhsh, A., & Salim, M. (2016). Insecticide resistance and its molecular basis in urban insect pests. *Parasitology research*, *115*(4), 1363-1373.

Narahashi, T. (1976). Nerve membrane as a target of pyrethroids. *Pesticide science*, 7(3), 267-272.

Nararak, J., Sanguanpong, U., Sukkanon, C., Manguin, S., & Chareonviriyaphap, T. (2023). Synergistic Repellent and Irritant Effects of a Mixture of  $\beta$ -Caryophyllene Oxide and Vetiver Oil against Mosquito Vectors. *Insects*, *14*(9), 773.

Naresh Kumar, C. V. M., & Sai Gopal, D. V. R. (2010). Re-emergence of chikungunya virus in Indian subcontinent. *Indian Journal of Virology*, 21, 8-17.

Nathan, S. S., Kalaivani, K., & Murugan, K. (2005). Effects of neem limonoids on the malaria vector *Anopheles stephensi* Liston (Diptera: Culicidae). *Acta tropica*, 96(1), 47-55.

Nauen, R., & Denholm, I. (2005). Resistance of insect pests to neonicotinoid insecticides: current status and future prospects. *Archives of insect biochemistry and physiology: Published in Collaboration with the Entomological Society of America*, 58(4), 200-215.

Nazar, S., Ravikumar, S., Williams, G. P., Ali, M. S., & Suganthi, P. (2009). Screening of Indian coastal plant extracts for larvicidal activity of *Culex quinquefasciatus*. *Indian journal of science and technology*, 2(3), 24-27.

Nelson, M. J. (1986). *Aedes aegypti: Biology and Ecology*. Pan American Health Organization, 1-50.

Nerio, L. S., Olivero-Verbel, J., & Stashenko, E. (2010). Repellent activity of essential oils: a review. *Bioresource technology*, *101*(1), 372-378.

Nikookar, S. H., Moosa-Kazemi, S. H., Oshaghi, M. A., Vatandoost, H., Yaghoobi-Ershadi, M. R., Enayati, A. A., ... & Fazeli-Dinan, M. (2015). Biodiversity of culicid mosquitoes in rural Neka township of Mazandaran province, northern Iran. *Journal of vector borne diseases*, 52(1), 63. O'Brien, R.D. (1967). *Insecticides: Action and Metabolism*. New York: Academic, 332.

Oakeshott, J., Claudianos, C., Campbell, P. M., Newcomb, R. D., & Russell, R. (2010). Biochemical genetics and genomics of insect esterases. *Comprehensive molecular insect science. Volume*, *5*, 229-301

Obomanu, F., Ogbalu, O. K., Gabriel, U. U., Fekarurhobo, G. K., & Adediran, B. I. (2006). Larvicidal properties of *Lepidagathis alopecuroides* and *Azadirachta indica* on *Anopheles gambiae* and *Culex quinquefasciatus*. *African Journal of Biotechnology*, 5(9). 761-765

Ocampo, C. B., Salazar-Terreros, M. J., Mina, N. J., McAllister, J., & Brogdon, W. (2011). Insecticide resistance status of *Aedes aegypti* in 10 localities in Colombia. *Acta tropica*, *118*(1), 37-44.

Oliveira, P. V., Ferreira, J. C., Moura, F. S., Lima, G. S., de Oliveira, F. M., Oliveira, P. E. S., ... & Lemos, R. P. L. (2010). Larvicidal activity of 94 extracts from ten plant species of northeastern of Brazil against *Aedes aegypti* L. (Diptera: Culicidae). *Parasitology Research*, *107*, 403-407.

Olurinola, P. F. (1996). A laboratory manual of pharmaceutical microbiology, Idu, Abuja, Nigeria. 69-105

Oppenoorth, F. J. (1985). Biochemistry and genetics of insecticide resistance. *Comprehensive Insect Physiology, Biochemistry and Pharmacology: Insect Control*, 12, 731-773.

Osman, K. A. (2011). Pesticides and human health. *Pesticides in the modern world-Effects of pesticides exposure. InTech, Rijeka*, 205-230.

Osta, M. A., Rizk, Z. J., Labbé, P., Weill, M., & Knio, K. (2012). Insecticide resistance to organophosphates in *Culex pipiens* complex from Lebanon. *Parasites & vectors*, *5*, 1-6.

Pace, N. R. (1997). A molecular view of microbial diversity and the biosphere. *Science*, 276(5313), 734-740.

Paeporn, P., Komalamisra, N., Deesin, V., Rongsriyam, Y., Eshita, Y., & Thongrungkiat, S. (2003). Temephos resistance in two forms of *Aedes* aegypti and its significance for the resistance mechanism. *Southeast Asian journal of tropical medicine and public health*, *34*(4), 786-792.

Paeporn, P., Supaphathom, K., Srisawat, R., Komalamisra, N., Deesin, V., & Yaumphan, P. (2004a). Biochemical detection of pyrethroid resistance mechanism in *Aedes* aegypti in Ratchaburi province, Thailand. *Tropical Biomedicine*, 21(2), 145-151.

Paeporn, P., Ya-umphan, P., Supaphathom, K., Savanpanyalert, P., Wattanachai, P., & Patimaprakorn, R. (2004b). Insecticide susceptibility and selection for resistance in a population of *Aedes* aegypti from Ratchaburi province, Thailand. *Tropical Biomedicine*, 21(2), 1-6.

Palaniyandi, M. (2012). The role of remote sensing and GIS for spatial prediction of vector-borne diseases transmission: a systematic review. *Journal of vector borne diseases*, 49(4), 197.

Pamplona, A., Hanscheid, T., Epiphanio, S., Mota, M. M., & Vigário, A. M. (2009). Cerebral malaria and the hemolysis/methemoglobin/heme hypothesis: shedding new light on an old disease. *The international journal of biochemistry & cell biology*, *41*(4), 711-716.

Pandya, G. (1982). Prevalence of dengue infections in India. *DEFENCE SCI.* J., 32(4), 359-370.

Panicker, K. N. (1981). *Anopheles subpictus*: vector of malaria in costal villages of southeast India. *Curr Sci*, *50*(15), 694-695.

Paramasivan, R., Dhananjeyan, K. J., & Pandian, R. S. (2013). A preliminary report on DNA barcoding and phylogenetic relationships of certain public health important mosquito species recorded in rural areas of south India. *Journal of Vector Borne Diseases*, 50(2), 144.

Paramasivan, R., Mishra, A. C., & Mourya, D. T. (2003). West Nile virus: the Indian scenario. *Indian Journal of Medical Research*, 118, 101-108.

Parthiban, E., Arokiyaraj, C., & Ramanibai, R. (2020). *Annona muricata*: An alternate mosquito control agent with special reference to inhibition of detoxifying enzymes in *Aedes aegypti*. *Ecotoxicology and environmental safety*, *189*, 110050.

Pasay, C., Arlian, L., Morgan, M., Gunning, R., Rossiter, L., Holt, D., ... & McCarthy, J. (2009). The effect of insecticide synergists on the response of scabies mites to pyrethroid acaricides. *PLoS neglected tropical diseases*, *3*(1), e354.

Patel, D., Patel, R. N., Bhandari, R., & Homkar, U. (2000). Screening of the weed plant species, *Croton bonplandianum* Baill, for larvicidal activity of *Aedes aegypti. management*, 19, 603-608.

Pates, H., & Curtis, C. (2005). Mosquito behavior and vector control. Annu. Rev. Entomol., 50, 53-70.

Patsoula, E., Samanidou-Voyadjoglou, A., Spanakos, G., Kremastinou, J., Nasioulas, G., & Vakalis, N. C. (2006). Molecular and morphological characterization of *Aedes albopictus* in northwestern Greece and differentiation from *Aedes cretinus* and *Aedes aegypti. Journal of medical entomology*, 43(1), 40-54.

Patterson, B. D., Khalil, S. K., Schermeister, L. J., & Quraishi, M. S. (1975). Plantinsect interactions. I. Biological and phytochemical evaluation of selected plants. *Lloydia*, *38*(5), 391-403.

Paul, A., Raj, V. S., Vibhuti, A., & Pandey, R. P. (2020). Larvicidal efficacy of *Andrographis paniculata* and *Tinospora cordifolia* against *Aedes aegypti*: A Dengue vector. *Pharmacognosy Research*, 12(4).

Paul, S. D., Dandawate, C. N., Banerjee, K., & Krishnamurthy, K. (1965). Virological and serological studies on an outbreak of dengue-like illness in Visakhapatnam, Andhra Pradesh. *Indian Journal of Medical Research*, *53*(8), 777-89.

Paupy, C., Brengues, C., Ndiath, O., Toty, C., Hervé, J. P., & Simard, F. (2010). Morphological and genetic variability within *Aedes aegypti* in Niakhar, Senegal. *Infection, Genetics and Evolution*, 10(4), 473-480. Paupy, C., Delatte, H., Bagny, L., Corbel, V., & Fontenille, D. (2009). Aedes albopictus, an arbovirus vector: from the darkness to the light. *Microbes and infection*, 11(14-15), 1177-1185.

Pavela, R. (2014). Acute, synergistic and antagonistic effects of some aromatic compounds on the *Spodoptera littoralis* Boisd.(Lep., Noctuidae) larvae. *Industrial crops and products*, 60, 247-258.

Pavela, R. (2016). History, presence and perspective of using plant extracts as commercial botanical insecticides and farm products for protection against insects–a review. *Plant Protection Science*, *52*(4), 229-241.

Pavela, R., & Benelli, G. (2016). Ethnobotanical knowledge on botanical repellents employed in the African region against mosquito vectors–a review. *Experimental parasitology*, *167*, 103-108.

Pavela, R., & Vrchotová, N. (2013). Insecticidal effect of furanocoumarins from fruits of *Angelica archangelica* L. against larvae *Spodoptera littoralis* Boisd. *Industrial crops and products*, 43, 33-39.

Pearce, J. C., Learoyd, T. P., Langendorf, B. J., & Logan, J. G. (2018). Japanese encephalitis: the vectors, ecology and potential for expansion. *Journal of travel medicine*, 25(Suppl\_1), S16-S26.

Penner, R. (2005). *Mosquito Control With Malathion: Are There Public Health Consequences?*. Frontier Centre for Public Policy.

Peters, J., Fowler, E., Gatton, M., Chen, N., Saul, A., & Cheng, Q. (2002). High diversity and rapid changeover of expressed var genes during the acute phase of *Plasmodium falciparum* infections in human volunteers. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 99(16), 10689-10694.

Pialoux, G., Gaüzère, B. A., Jauréguiberry, S., & Strobel, M. (2007). Chikungunya, an epidemic arbovirosis. *The Lancet infectious diseases*, 7(5), 319-327.

Picollo, M. I., Vassena, C. V., Cueto, G. M., Vernetti, M., & Zerba, E. N. (2000). Resistance to insecticides and effect of synergists on permethrin toxicity in *Pediculus capitis* (Anoplura: Pediculidae) from Buenos Aires. *Journal of Medical Entomology*, *37*(5), 721-725.

Piedra, L. A., Rodríguez, M. M., Martínez, L. C., Ruiz, A., García, I., Rey, J., & Bisset, J. A. (2022). Characterization of insecticide resistance in *Aedes aegypti* from the zoological garden of Havana, Cuba. *Journal of the American Mosquito Control Association*, *38*(3), 208-215.

Pilaquinga, F., Morejón, B., Ganchala, D., Morey, J., Piña, N., Debut, A., & Neira, M. (2019). Green synthesis of silver nanoparticles using *Solanum mammosum* L.(Solanaceae) fruit extract and their larvicidal activity against *Aedes aegypti* L.(Diptera: Culicidae). *PLoS One*, *14*(10), e0224109.

Piovezan, R., Rosa, S. L., Rocha, M. L., de Azevedo, T. S., & Von Zuben, C. J. (2013). Entomological surveillance, spatial distribution, and diversity of Culicidae (Diptera) immatures in a rural area of the Atlantic Forest biome, State of São Paulo, Brazil. *Journal of Vector Ecology*, *38*(2), 317-325.

Pitasawat, B., Champakaew, D., Choochote, W., Jitpakdi, A., Chaithong, U., Kanjanapothi, D., ... & Chaiyasit, D. (2007). Aromatic plant-derived essential oil: an alternative larvicide for mosquito control. *Fitoterapia*, 78(3), 205-210.

Plourde, A. R., & Bloch, E. M. (2016). A literature review of Zika virus. *Emerging infectious diseases*, 22(7), 1185.

Polson, K. A., Curtis, C., Seng, C. M., Olson, J. G., Chantha, N., & Rawlins, S. C. (2001). Susceptibility of Two Canbodian Population of *Aedes aegypti* Mosquito Larvae to Temephos During 2001.*Dengue Bulletin*,25, 79-84

Polson, K. A., Rawlins, S. C., Brogdon, W. G., & Chadee, D. D. (2011). Characterisation of DDT and pyrethroid resistance in Trinidad and Tobago populations of *Aedes aegypti. Bulletin of entomological research*, *101*(4), 435-441.

Ponlawat, A., Scott, J. G., & Harrington, L. C. (2005). Insecticide susceptibility of *Aedes aegypti* and *Aedes albopictus* across Thailand. *Journal of Medical Entomology*, 42(5), 821-825.

Ponnusamy, L., Xu, N., Nojima, S., Wesson, D. M., Schal, C., & Apperson, C. S. (2008). Identification of bacteria and bacteria-associated chemical cues that mediate oviposition site preferences by *Aedes aegypti*. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 105(27), 9262-9267.

Poopathi, S., Arunachalam, N., Gopalan, N., Baskaran, G., & Mani, T. R. (2000). Development of high level resistance to organophosphate in a field population of Japanese encephalitis vector *Culex tritaeniorhynchus* in Madurai, South India. *Tropical Biomedicine*, 17(2), 81-86.

Popov, M., Zemanová, V., Sácký, J., Pavlík, M., Leonhardt, T., Matoušek, T., ... & Kotrba, P. (2021). Arsenic accumulation and speciation in two cultivars of *Pteris cretica* L. and characterization of arsenate reductase PcACR2 and arsenite transporter PcACR3 genes in the hyperaccumulating cv. Albo-lineata. *Ecotoxicology and Environmental Safety*, *216*, 112196

Prajapati, V., Tripathi, A. K., Aggarwal, K. K., & Khanuja, S. P. S. (2005). Insecticidal, repellent and oviposition-deterrent activity of selected essential oils against *Anopheles stephensi*, *Aedes aegypti* and *Culex quinquefasciatus*. *Bioresource technology*, *96*(16), 1749-1757.

Prakash, A., Jambulingam, P., Rajavel, A., Bhattacharyya, D., Mahanta, J., & Mohapatra, P. (2014). Faunal richness and the checklist of Indian mosquitoes (Diptera: Culicidae). *Check List*, *10*(6), 1342-1358.

Prato, M., Khadjavi, A., Mandili, G., Minero, V. G., & Giribaldi, G. (2012). Insecticides as strategic weapons for malaria vectorcontrol. *Insecticides-Advances in Integrated Pest Management*, 91-114.

Prempree, P., & Sukhapanth, N. O. U. W. A. R. A. T. N. (1990). Phytochemical toxicity of the crude extract from *Derris elliptica* Bentham on mosquito larvae. *Journal of the Science Society Thailand*, *16*, 133-139.

Price, D. N., & Berry, M. S. (2006). Comparison of effects of octopamine and insecticidal essential oils on activity in the nerve cord, foregut, and dorsal unpaired median neurons of cockroaches. *Journal of insect physiology*, *52*(3), 309-319.

Proudfoot, A. T. (2005). Poisoning due to pyrethrins. *Toxicological reviews*, 24(2), 107-113.

Pruett, S. B., Chambers, H. W., & Chambers, J. E. (1994). A comparative study of inhibition of acetylcholinesterase, trypsin, neuropathy target esterase, and spleen cell activation by structurally related organophosphorus compounds. *Journal of Biochemical Toxicology*, 9(6), 319-327.

Puntasecca, C. J., King, C. H., & LaBeaud, A. D. (2021). Measuring the global burden of chikungunya and Zika viruses: A systematic review. *PLoS neglected tropical diseases*, 15(3), e0009055.

Pushpanathan, T., Jebanesan, A., & Govindarajan, M. (2006). Larvicidal, ovicidal and repellent activities of Cymbopogan citratus Stapf (Graminae) essential oil against the filarial mosquito Culex quinquefasciatus (Say)(Diptera: Culicidae). *Trop Biomed*, *23*(2), 208-212.

Pushpanathan, T., Jebanesan, A., & Govindarajan, M. (2008). The essential oil of *Zingiber officinalis* Linn (Zingiberaceae) as a mosquito larvicidal and repellent agent against the filarial vector *Culex quinquefasciatus* Say (Diptera: Culicidae). *Parasitology research*, *102*, 1289-1291.

R Core Team (2023). R: A Language and Environment for Statistical Computing. R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria. https://www.R-project.org/. 0 car package version 3.1-2: Fox

Radhakrishnan, A. (2019). Study on mosquito (Diptera: Culicidae) diversity in Ernakulam district of the Kerala state, South India. *International Journal of Mosquito Research*, 6(1), 01-05.

Raffa, K. F., & Priester, T. M. (1985). Synergists as research tools and control agents in agriculture. *Journal of Agricultural Entomology*, 2(1), 27-45.

Raghavendra, B. S., Prathibha, K. P., & Vijayan, V. A. (2011). Larvicidal efficacy of *Eugenia jambolana* Linn. extracts in three mosquito species at Mysore. *J Entomol*, 8(5), 491-496.

Raghavendra, B. S., Prathibha, K. P., & Vijayan, V. A. (2013). Synergistic effect of *Eugenia jambolana* Linn. and *Solidago canadensis* Linn. leaf extracts with deltamethrin against the dengue vector *Aedes aegypti* Linn. at Mysore. *Environmental Science and Pollution Research*, 20, 3830-3835.

Raghavendra, K., Singh, S. P., Subbarao, S. K., & Dash, A. P. (2009). Laboratory studies on mosquito larvicidal efficacy of aqueous & hexane extracts of dried fruit of *Solanum nigrum* Linn. *Indian Journal of Medical Research*, *130*(1), 74-77.

Raheel, U., Faheem, M., Riaz, M. N., Kanwal, N., Javed, F., & Qadri, I. (2011). Dengue fever in the Indian subcontinent: an overview. *The Journal of Infection in Developing Countries*, 5(04), 239-247.

Rahuman, A. A., & Venkatesan, P. (2008). Larvicidal efficacy of five cucurbitaceous plant leaf extracts against mosquito species. *Parasitology research*, *103*, 133-139.

Rajasekariah, G. R., Parab, P. B., Chandrashekar, R., Deshpande, L., & Subrahmanyam, D. (1991). Pattern of *Wuchereria bancrofti* microfilaraemia in

young and adolescent school children in Bassein, India, an endemic area for lymphatic filariasis. *Annals of Tropical Medicine & Parasitology*, 85(6), 663-665.

Rajavel, A. R., Munirathinam, A., Natarajan, R., & Vaidyanathan, K. (2001). Species diversity of mosquitoes (Diptera: Culicidae) in mangrove ecosystem in South India. *ENTOMON-TRIVANDRUM-*, *26*(3/4), 271-278.

Rajesh, K., Padmavathi, K. C., Ranjani, A., Gopinath, P. M., Dhanasekaran, D., & Archunan, G. (2013). Green synthesis, characterization and larvicidal activity of AgNPs against *Culex quinquefasciatus* and *Aedes aegypti* larvae. *Am J Drug Disc Develop*, *3*(4), 245-253.

Rajkumar, S., & Jebanesan, A. (2004). Mosquitocidal activities of octacosane from *Moschosma polystachyum* Linn.(Lamiaceae). *Journal of ethnopharmacology*, 90(1), 87-89.

Ramadhani, R. Z., Ishak, H., Zulkifli, A., Rusman, A. D. P., Majid, M., & Hengky, H. K. (2020). Susceptibility status of *Aedes aegypti*, *Aedes albopictus*, *Culex quinquefasciatus* and *Anopheles subpictus* to insecticide cypermethrin. In *IOP Conference Series: Earth and Environmental Science*, (575)1, 012003.

Ramzi, A., El Ouali Lalami, A., Annemer, S., Ez zoubi, Y., Assouguem, A., Almutairi, M. H., ... & Farah, A. (2022). Synergistic Effect of Bioactive Monoterpenes against the Mosquito, *Culex pipiens* (Diptera: Culicidae). *Molecules*, 27(13), 4182.

Ranson, H., & Hemingway, J. (2005). Mosquito glutathione transferases. *Methods in enzymology*, 401, 226-241.

Ranson, H., Burhani, J., Lumjuan, N., & Black IV, W. C. (2010). Insecticide resistance in dengue vectors. *TropIKA. net [online]*, *1*(1),1-12.

Ratnasingham, S., & Hebert, P. D. (2007). BOLD: The Barcode of Life Data System (http://www.barcodinglife.org). *Molecular ecology notes*, 7(3), 355-364.

Rattan, R. S. (2010). Mechanism of action of insecticidal secondary metabolites of plant origin. *Crop protection*, 29(9), 913-920.

Rattan, R. S., & Sharma, A. (2011). Plant secondary metabolites in the sustainable diamondback moth (*Plutella xylostella* L.) management. *Indian Journal of Fundamental and Applied Life Sciences*, 1(3), 295-309.

Ravi Kiran, S., & Sita Devi, P. (2007). Evaluation of mosquitocidal activity of essential oil and sesquiterpenes from leaves of *Chloroxylon swietenia* DC. *Parasitology research*, *101*, 413-418.

Regnault-Roger, C. (1997). The potential of botanical essential oils for insect pest control. *Integrated Pest Management Reviews*, 2, 25-34.

Regu, K., Rajendran, R., Ali, M. K., Koya, S. M., Dhariwal, A. C., & Lal, S. (2005). Decline of brugian filariasis in Cherthala taluk, Alappuzha district, Kerala. *The Journal of Communicable Diseases*, *37*(3), 209-218.

Reisen, W. K. (2010). Landscape epidemiology of vector-borne diseases. *Annual review of entomology*, 55, 461-483.

Reiter, P. (2001). Climate change and mosquito-borne disease. *Environmental health perspectives*, *109*(1), 141-161.

Reiter, P. (2007). Oviposition, dispersal, and survival in *Aedes aegypti*: implications for the efficacy of control strategies. *Vector-Borne and Zoonotic Diseases*, 7(2), 261-273.

Remia, K. M., & Logaswamy, S. (2010). Larvicidal efficacy of leaf extract of two botanicals against the mosquito vector *Aedes aegypti* (Diptera: Culicidae).

Resh, V. H., & Cardé, R. T. (Eds.). (2009). Encyclopedia of insects. Academic press.

Reuben, R. (1978). A report on mosquitoes collected in the Krishna-Godavari delta, Andhra Pradesh. *The Indian Journal of Medical Research*, 68, 603-609.

Reuben, R., & Gajanana, A. (1997). Japanese encephalitis in India. *The Indian Journal of Pediatrics*, 64, 243-251.

Reynolds, S. E. (1987). The cuticle, growth and moulting in insects: the essential background to the action of acylurea insecticides. *Pesticide Science*, 20(2), 131-146.

Richards Jr, A. G., & Cutkomp, L. K. (1945). The cholinesterase of insect nerves. *Journal of Cellular and Comparative Physiology*, 26(1), 57-61.

Rigau-Pérez, J. G., Clark, G. G., Gubler, D. J., Reiter, P., Sanders, E. J., & Vorndam, A. V. (1998). Dengue and dengue haemorrhagic fever. *The lancet*, *352*(9132), 971-977.

Roark, R. C. (1947). Some promising insecticidal plants. *Economic Botany*, 1(4), 437-445.

Roark, R. C., & McIndoo, N. E. (1945). A Second List of Publications on DDT. Bulletin. United States Department of Agriculture, Bureau of Entomology and Plant Quarantine,27.

Robson MJ & Crosby J (1984). *Insecticidal product and preparation thereof*. European Patent Office. Patent Number EU 106469. The UK.

Rocklöv, J., & Dubrow, R. (2020). Climate change: an enduring challenge for vector-borne disease prevention and control. *Nature immunology*, *21*(5), 479-483.

Rodrigues, A. M. S., De Paula, J. E., Roblot, F., Fournet, A., & Espíndola, L. S. (2005). Larvicidal activity of *Cybistax antisyphilitica* against *Aedes aegypti* larvae. *Fitoterapia*, 76(7-8), 755-757.

Rodríguez, M. M., Bisset, J. A., & Fernández, D. (2007). Levels of insecticide resistance and resistance mechanisms in *Aedes aegypti* from some Latin American countries. *Journal of the American Mosquito Control Association*, 23(4), 420-429.

Rodríguez, M. M., Crespo, A., Hurtado, D., Fuentes, I., Rey, J., & Bisset, J. A. (2017). Diagnostic doses of insecticides for adult *Aedes aegypti* to assess insecticide resistance in Cuba. *Journal of the American Mosquito Control Association*, 33(2), 142-144.

Rohani, A., Chu, W. L., Saadiyah, I., Lee, H. L., & Phang, S. M. (2001). Insecticide resistance status of *Aedes albopictus* and *Aedes aegypti* collected from urban and rural areas in major towns of Malaysia. *Tropical biomedicine*, *18*(1), 29-39.

Roth, G. N., Chandra, A., & Nair, M. G. (1998). Novel bioactivities of Curcuma longa constituents. *Journal of natural products*, *61*(4), 542-545.

Rudnick, A. (1967). *Aedes aegypti* and haemorrhagic fever. *Bulletin of the World Health Organization*, 36(4), 528.

Rueda, L. M., Pecor, J. E., & Harrison, B. A. (2011). Research Note Updated distribution records for *Anopheles vagus* (Diptera: Culicidae) in the Republic of Philippines, and considerations regarding its secondary vector roles in Southeast Asia. *Tropical biomedicine*, 28(1), 181-187.

Rueda, L. M., Pecor, J. E., Lowen, R. G., & Carder, M. (2008). New record and updated checklists of the mosquitoes of Afghanistan and Iraq. *Journal of Vector Ecology*, *33*(2), 397-402.

RUIGT, G. (1985). 7 Pyrethroids. Comprehensive Insect Physiology, Biochemistry, and Pharmacology: Insect control, 12, 183.

Russell, B. M., Kay, B. H., & Shipton, W. (2001). Survival of *Aedes aegypti* (Diptera: Culicidae) eggs in surface and subterranean breeding sites during the northern Queensland dry season. *Journal of medical entomology*, *38*(3), 441-445.

Ryan, M.F., & Byrne, O. (1988). Plant-insect coevolution and inhibition of acetylcholinesterase. *Journal of chemical ecology*, 14, 1965-1975.

Sabesan, S., Palaniyandi, M., Das, P. K., & Michael, E. (2000). Mapping of lymphatic filariasis in India. *Annals of Tropical Medicine & Parasitology*, 94(6), 591-606.

Saccone, C., De Giorgi, C., Gissi, C., Pesole, G., & Reyes, A. (1999). Evolutionary genomics in Metazoa: the mitochondrial DNA as a model system. *Gene*, 238(1), 195-209.

Saeung, M., Ngoen-Klan, R., Thanispong, K., Muenworn, V., Bangs, M. J., & Chareonviriyaphap, T. (2020). Susceptibility of *Aedes aegypti* and *Aedes albopictus* (Diptera: Culicidae) to temephos in Thailand and surrounding countries. *Journal of medical entomology*, *57*(4), 1207-1220.

Saitou, N., & Nei, M. (1987). The neighbor-joining method: a new method for reconstructing phylogenetic trees. *Molecular biology and evolution*, 4(4), 406-425.

Sajith, U., Rathy, M. C., & Harilal, C. C. (2015). Diversity assessment of mosquitoes with reference to the occurrence of vector borne diseases in Thalassery municipal area of Malabar Coast, Kerala, India. *International Journal of Development Research*, 5(6), 4592-4594.

Samal, R. R., & Kumar, S. (2018). Susceptibility Status of *Aedes aegypti* L. Against Different Classes of Insecticides in New Delhi, India to Formulate Mosquito Control Strategy in Fields. *The Open Parasitology Journal*, 6(1), 52-62.

Samb, B., Konate, L., Irving, H., Riveron, J. M., Dia, I., Faye, O., & Wondji, C. S. (2016). Investigating molecular basis of lambda-cyhalothrin resistance in an *Anopheles* funestus population from Senegal. *Parasites & vectors*, 9(1), 1-10.

Sambrook, J., & Russell, D. W. (2001). Molecular Cloning-Sambrook & Russel-Vol. 1, 2, 3. *Cold Springs Harbor Lab Press: Long Island, NY, USA*.

Sanisuriwong, J., Yurayart, N., Thontiravong, A., & Tiawsirisup, S. (2021). Vector competence of *Culex tritaeniorhynchus* and *Culex quinquefasciatus* (Diptera: Culicidae) for duck Tembusu virus transmission. *Acta Tropica*, *214*, 105785.

Sarkar, M., Bhattacharyya, I. K., Borkotoki, A., Goswami, D., Rabha, B., Baruah, I., & Srivastava, R. B. (2009). Insecticide resistance and detoxifying enzyme activity in the principal bancroftian filariasis vector, *Culex quinquefasciatus*, in northeastern India. *Medical and Veterinary Entomology*, 23(2), 122-131.

Sarup, P., Dhingra, S., & Agarwal, K. N. (1980). Newer dimensions for evaluating the synergistic effect of non-toxic chemicals in the mixed formulations against the adults of *Cylas formicarius* Fabricius. *Journal of Entomological research*, 4(1), 1-14.

Sarwar, M. (2016). Potential uses of synergists in insecticides resistance management accompanied by their contributions as control agents and research tools. *Chemistry Research Journal*, 1(3), 21-26.

Sarwar, M., & Salman, M. (2015). Insecticides resistance in insect pests or vectors and development of novel strategies to combat its evolution. *International Journal of Bioinformatics and Biomedical Engineering*, 1(3), 344-351.

Sasi, M. S., Rajendran, R., Meenakshy, V., Suresh, T., Heera Pillai, R., & Dilip Kumar, T. (2021). Study on vector dynamics of Zika virus outbreak in Thiruvananthapuram, Kerala, India. *Int J Curr Microbiol App Sci*, *10*, 54-71.

Schindel, D. E., & Miller, S. E. (2005). DNA barcoding a useful tool for taxonomists. *Nature*, 435,17.

Schleier III, J. J., & Peterson, R. K. (2011). Pyrethrins and pyrethroid insecticides. *Green trends in insect control*, 11, 94-131.

Schmutterer, H. (1981). Some properties of components of the neem tree (*Azadirachta indica*) and their use in pest control in developing countries. *Meded. Fac. Landbouwwet., Rijksuniv. Gent,46*(1), 39-47

Schmutterer, H. (1990). Properties and potential of natural pesticides from the neem tree, *Azadirachta indica. Annual review of entomology*, *35*(1), 271-297.

Scott, J. G., Yoshimizu, M. H., & Kasai, S. (2015). Pyrethroid resistance in *Culex* pipiens mosquitoes. *Pesticide biochemistry and physiology*, 120, 68-76.

Selvi, S., Edah, M. A., Nazni, W. A., Lee, H. L., Tyagi, B. K., Sofian-Azirun, M., & Azahari, A. H. (2010). Insecticide susceptibility and resistance development in malathion selected *Aedes albopictus* (Skuse). *Tropical biomedicine*, 27(3), 534-550.

Şengül Demirak, M. Ş., & Canpolat, E. (2022). Plant-based bioinsecticides for mosquito control: Impact on insecticide resistance and disease transmission. *Insects*, *13*(2), 162.

Settimi, L., Masina, A., Andrion, A., & Axelson, O. (2003). Prostate cancer and exposure to pesticides in agricultural settings. *International journal of cancer*, *104*(4), 458-461.

Shaalan, E. A. S., Canyon, D. V., Younes, M. W. F., Abdel-Wahab, H., & Mansour, A. H. (2005a). Synergistic efficacy of botanical blends with and without synthetic insecticides against *Aedes aegypti* and *Culex annulirostris* mosquitoes. *Journal of vector ecology*, *30*, 284-288.

Shaalan, E. A. S., Canyon, D., Younes, M. W. F., Abdel-Wahab, H., & Mansour, A. H. (2005b). A review of botanical phytochemicals with mosquitocidal potential. *Environment international*, *31*(8), 1149-1166.

Shah, I., Deshpande, G. C., & Tardeja, P. (2004). Outbreak of dengue in Mumbai and predictive markers for dengue shock syndrome. *Journal of Tropical Pediatrics*, *50*(5), 301-305.

Shah, K. V., Gilotra, S. K., Gibbs Jr, C. J., & Rozeboom, L. E. (1964). Laboratory studies of transmission of Chikungunya virus by mosquitoes: a preliminary report. *Indian Journal of Medical Research*, *52*(7).

Sharma, A., Kumar, S., & Tripathi, P. (2016). Evaluation of the larvicidal efficacy of five indigenous weeds against an Indian strain of dengue vector, *Aedes aegypti* L. (Diptera: Culicidae). *Journal of parasitology research*, 2016, 1-8.

Sharma, R. K., Upadhyay, G., Siddiqi, N. J., & Sharma, B. (2013). Pesticidesinduced biochemical alterations in occupational North Indian suburban population. *Human & experimental toxicology*, *32*(11), 1213-1227.

Sharma, S. N., Saxena, V. K., & Lal, S. (2004). Study on susceptibility status in aquatic and adult stages of *Aedes aegypti* and *Ae. albopictus* against insecticides at international airports of south India. *The Journal of communicable diseases*, *36*(3), 177-181.

Sharma, V. P. (2002). Determinants of malaria in South Asia. *The contextual determinants of malaria*, 1092, 110-32.

Shere-Kharwar, A. S., Magdum, S., Khedkar, G. D., Gupta, S., & Zambare, V. (2013). Moth Legs: Excellent source of tissue for DNA extraction (Lepidoptera: Noctuidae). *Indian Journal of Life Sciences*, 2(2), 35.

Shi, Z., Wei, J., Deng, X., Li, S., Qiu, Y., Shao, D., ... & Ma, Z. (2014). Nitazoxanide inhibits the replication of Japanese encephalitis virus in cultured cells and in a mouse model. *Virology journal*, 11, 1-10.

Shivakumar, M. S., Srinivasan, R., & Natarajan, D. (2013). Larvicidal potential of some Indian medicinal plant extracts against *Aedes aegypti* (L.). *Asian Journal of Pharmaceutical and Clinical Research*, 6(3), 77-80.

Siegwart, M., Graillot, B., Blachere Lopez, C., Besse, S., Bardin, M., Nicot, P. C., & Lopez-Ferber, M. (2015). Resistance to bio-insecticides or how to enhance their sustainability: a review. *Frontiers in plant science*, *6*, 381.

Silman, I., & Sussman, J. L. (2005). Acetylcholinesterase: 'classical' and 'nonclassical' functions and pharmacology. *Current opinion in pharmacology*, 5(3), 293-302.

Simonsen, P. E., & Mwakitalu, M. E. (2013). Urban lymphatic filariasis. *Parasitology research*, *112*, 35-44.

Singh, R. K., Dhiman, R. C., & Mittal, P. K. (2006). Mosquito larvicidal properties of *Momordica charantia* Linn (family: Cucurbitaceae). *Journal of Vector Borne Diseases*, 43(2), 88.

Singh, R. K., Kumar, G., Mittal, P. K., & Dhiman, R. C. (2014). Bionomics and vector potential of *Anopheles subpictus* as a malaria vector in India: An overview. *Int J Mosq Res*, 1(1), 29-37.

Sisodia, S., & Siddiqui, M. B. (2010). Allelopathic effect by aqueous extracts of different parts of *Croton bonplandianum* Baill. on some crop and weed plants. *Journal of Agricultural Extension and Rural Development*, 2(1), 22-28.

Sivagnaname, N., & Kalyanasundaram, M. (2004). Laboratory evaluation of methanolic extract of *Atlantia monophylla* (Family: Rutaceae) against immature stages of mosquitoes and non-target organisms. *Memórias do Instituto Oswaldo Cruz*, 99, 115-118.

Smirle, M. J., Zurowski, C. L., Thomas Lowery, D., & Foottit, R. G. (2010). Relationship of insecticide tolerance to esterase enzyme activity in *Aphis pomi* and *Aphis spiraecola* (Hemiptera: Aphididae). *Journal of economic entomology*, *103*(2), 374-378.

Smith, C. G. (1956). The history of dengue in tropical Asia and its probable relationship to the mosquito *Aedes aegypti. Journal of tropical medicine and hygiene*, 59(10), 243-51.

Smithburn, K. C., Kerr, J. A., & Gatne, P. B. (1954). Neutralizing antibodies against certain viruses in the sera of residents of India. *The Journal of Immunology*, 72(4), 248-257.

SNR, S., Norma-Rashid, Y., & Sofian–Azirun, M. (2011). Mosquitoes larval breeding habitat in urban and suburban areas, Peninsular Malaysia. *International Journal of Bioengineering and Life Sciences*, 5(10), 599-603.

Sofi, M. A., Nanda, A., Sofi, M. A., Maduraiveeran, R., Nazir, S., Siddiqui, N., ... & Rehman, M. U. (2022). Larvicidal activity of *Artemisia absinthium* extracts with special reference to inhibition of detoxifying enzymes in larvae of *Aedes aegypti* L. *Journal of King Saud University-Science*, *34*(7), 102248.

Sogorb, M. A., & Vilanova, E. (2002). Enzymes involved in the detoxification of organophosphorus, carbamate and pyrethroid insecticides through hydrolysis. *Toxicology letters*, *128*(1-3), 215-228.

Stoytcheva, M. (Ed.). (2011). Pesticides: formulations, effects, fate. *InTech Janeza Trdine 9, 51000 Rijeka, Croatia.* 

Strode, C., Wondji, C. S., David, J. P., Hawkes, N. J., Lumjuan, N., Nelson, D. R., ... & Ranson, H. (2008). Genomic analysis of detoxification genes in the mosquito *Aedes aegypti. Insect biochemistry and molecular biology*, *38*(1), 113-123.

Sudeep, A. B. (2014). *Culex gelidus*: An emerging mosquito vector with potential to transmit multiple virus infections. *Journal of Vector Borne Diseases*, *51*(4), 251.

Sudeep, A. B., & Shil, P. (2017). *Aedes vittatus* (Bigot) mosquito: An emerging threat to public health. *J Vector Borne Dis*, 54(4), 295-300.

Sudeep, A. B., Ghodke, Y. S., George, R. P., Ingale, V. S., Dhaigude, S. D., & Gokhale, M. D. (2015). Vectorial capacity of *Culex gelidus* (Theobald) mosquitoes to certain viruses of public health importance in India. *Journal of Vector Borne Diseases*, *52*(2), 153.

Sudomo, M., Chayabejara, S., Duong, S., Hernandez, L., Wu, W. P., & Bergquist, R. (2010). Elimination of lymphatic filariasis in Southeast Asia. *Advances in parasitology*, *72*, 205-233.

Sukumar, K., Perich, M. J., & Boobar, L. R. (1991). Botanical derivatives in mosquito control: a review. *Journal of the American Mosquito Control Association*, 7(2), 210-237.

Sumodan, P. K. (2012). Species diversity of mosquito breeding in rubber plantations of Kerala, India. *Journal of the American Mosquito Control Association*, 28(2), 114-115.

Sumruayphol, S., Chaiphongpachara, T., Samung, Y., Ruangsittichai, J., Cui, L., Zhong, D., ... & Sriwichai, P. (2020). Seasonal dynamics and molecular differentiation of three natural *Anopheles* species (Diptera: Culicidae) of the Maculatus group (Neocellia series) in malaria hotspot villages of Thailand. *Parasites & Vectors*, 13(1), 1-11.

Sun, Y. P., & Johnson, E. R. (1960). Synergistic and antagonistic actions of insecticide-synergist combinations and their mode of action. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 8(4), 261-266.

Sun, Y. P., & Johnson, E. R. (1972). Quasi-synergism and penetration of insecticides. *Journal of economic entomology*, 65(2), 349-353.

Supabphol, R., & Tangjitjareonkun, J. (2014). Chemical constituents and biological activities of *Zanthoxylum limonella* (Rutaceae): A review. *Tropical Journal of Pharmaceutical Research*, *13*(12), 2119-2130.

Surendran, S. N., Sivabalakrishnan, K., Sivasingham, A., Jayadas, T. T., Karvannan, K., Santhirasegaram, S., ... & Ramasamy, R. (2019). Anthropogenic factors driving recent range expansion of the malaria vector *Anopheles stephensi*. *Frontiers in public health*, *7*, 53.

Suresh, A., Sreedhar, K. V., Mathew, J., Vijayakumar, K. N., Ajithlal, P. M., Saini, P., ... & Kumar, A. (2021). Seroprevalence of dengue in urban and rural settings in Kerala, India. *Current Science*, *121*, 233-238.

Sutherst, R. W. (2004). Global change and human vulnerability to vector-borne diseases. *Clinical microbiology reviews*, *17*(1), 136-173.

Suwannayod, S., Sukontason, K. L., Pitasawat, B., Junkum, A., Limsopatham, K., Jones, M. K., ... & Sukontason, K. (2019). Synergistic toxicity of plant essential oils combined with pyrethroid insecticides against blow flies and the house fly. *Insects*, *10*(6), 178.

Symes, C. B. (1952). Some Recent Progress in the Study of Instituction and Their Application for the Control of Vectors of Disease. *Journal of the Royal Sanitary Institute*, 72(5), 498-514.

Tabachnick, W. J., Munstermann, L. E., & Powell, J. R. (1979). Genetic distinctness of sympatric forms of *Aedes aegypti* in East Africa. *Evolution*, 287-295.

Tamura, K., Stecher, G., Peterson, D., Filipski, A., & Kumar, S. (2013). MEGA6: molecular evolutionary genetics analysis version 6.0. *Molecular biology and evolution*, *30*(12), 2725-2729.

Tehri, K., & Singh, N. (2015). The role of botanicals as green pesticides in integrated mosquito management–A review. *International Journal of Mosquito Research*, 2(1), 18-23.

Terriere, L. C. (1984). Induction of detoxication enzymes in insects. *Annual review* of *Entomology*, 29(1), 71-88.

Thangam, T. S., & Kathiresan, K. (1990). Synergistic effects of insecticides with plant extracts on mosquito larvae. *Tropical biomedicine*, *7*(2), 135-137.

Thangam, T. S., & Kathiresan, K. (1991). Mosquito larvicidal activity of marine plant extracts with synthetic insecticides. *Botanica Marina*, 34, 537-539.

Thankachan, M., Sreevidhya, P., & Sebastian, C. D. (2021). Survey, DNA barcoding and phylogenetic analysis of mosquito vectors of Japanese encephalitis from Mananthavady Taluk of Wayanad district, Kerala. *International Journal of Entomology Research*,6(6), 198-201.

Thatheyus, A. J., & Selvam, A. G. (2013). Synthetic pyrethroids: toxicity and biodegradation. *Appl Ecol Environ Sci*, 1(3), 33-36.

Thenmozhi, V., Hiriyan, J. G., Tewari, S. C., Samuel, P. P., Paramasivan, R., Rajendran, R., ... & Tyagi, B. K. (2007). Natural vertical transmission of dengue virus in *Aedes albopictus* (Diptera: Culicidae) in Kerala, a southern Indian state. *Japanese journal of infectious diseases*, 60(5), 245.

Thenmozhi, V., Rajendran, R., Ayanar, K., Manavalan, R., & Tyagi, B. K. (2006). Long-term study of Japanese encephalitis virus infection in *Anopheles subpictus* in Cuddalore district, Tamil Nadu, South India. *Tropical Medicine & International Health*, 11(3), 288-293.

Thiyagarajan, P., Kumar, P. M., Kovendan, K., & Murugan, K. (2014). Effect of medicinal plant and microbial insecticides for the sustainable mosquito vector control. *Acta Biologica Indica*, *3*(1), 527-535.

Thompson, J. D., Higgins, D. G., & Gibson, T. J. (1994). CLUSTAL W: improving the sensitivity of progressive multiple sequence alignment through sequence weighting, position-specific gap penalties and weight matrix choice. *Nucleic acids research*, 22(22), 4673-4680.

Tikar, S. N., Kumar, A., Prasad, G. B. K. S., & Prakash, S. (2009). Temephosinduced resistance in *Aedes aegypti* and its cross-resistance studies to certain insecticides from India. *Parasitology Research*, 105, 57-63.

Tiwari, T. N., Varma, J., Dubey, N. K., Chansouria, J. P., & Ali, Z. (1998). Pharmacological evaluation of some bioactive plant products on albino rats. *Hindustan Antibiotics Bulletin*, 40(1-4), 38-41.

Tiwary, M., Naik, S. N., Tewary, D. K., Mittal, P. K., & Yadav, S. (2007). Chemical composition and larvicidal activities of the essential oil of *Zanthoxylum armatum* DC (Rutaceae) against three mosquito vectors. *Journal of vector borne diseases*, *44*(3), 198.

Tong, F., & Bloomquist, J. R. (2013). Plant essential oils affect the toxicities of carbaryl and permethrin against *Aedes aegypti* (Diptera: Culicidae). *Journal of Medical Entomology*, 50(4), 826-832.

Tong, Y., Jiang, H., Xu, N., Wang, Z., Xiong, Y., Yin, J., ... & Zhou, Y. (2023). Global Distribution of *Culex tritaeniorhynchus* and Impact Factors. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 20(6), 4701.

Triana, D., Umniyati, S. R., & Mulyaningsih, B. (2019). Resistance status of *Aedes aegypti* to malathion and cypermethrin in Bengkulu city, Indonesia. *Southeast Asian J Trop Med Public Health*, *50*(3), 461-8.

Tyagi, B. K. (2016). Advances in vector mosquito control technologies, with particular reference to herbal products. *Herbal insecticides, repellents and biomedicines: effectiveness and commercialization*, 1-9.

Tyagi, B. K., Munirathinam, A., & Venkatesh, A. (2015). A catalogue of Indian mosquitoes. *International Journal of Mosquito Research*, 2(2), 50-97.

Udonsi, J. K. (1986). The status of human filariasis in relation to clinical signs in endemic areas of the Niger Delta. *Annals of Tropical Medicine & Parasitology*, 80(4), 425-432.

Ullah, S., Zuberi, A., Alagawany, M., Farag, M. R., Dadar, M., Karthik, K., ... & Iqbal, H. M. (2018). Cypermethrin induced toxicities in fish and adverse health outcomes: Its prevention and control measure adaptation. *Journal of Environmental Management*, 206, 863-871.

Vais, H., Williamson, M. S., Devonshire, A. L., & Usherwood, P. N. R. (2001). The molecular interactions of pyrethroid insecticides with insect and mammalian sodium channels. *Pest management science*, *57*(10), 877-888.

Valentine, W. M. (1990). Pyrethrin and pyrethroid insecticides. *Veterinary Clinics* of North America: small animal practice, 20(2), 375-382.

Valentini, A., Pompanon, F., & Taberlet, P. (2009). DNA barcoding for ecologists. *Trends in ecology & evolution*, 24(2), 110-117.

Vanaja, C., & Sumodan, P. K. (2019). Mosquito-borne diseases in Kerala, India: an update. *Int J Mosquito Res*, 7(4), 45-48.

Varma, M. G. R. (1960). Preliminary Studies on the Infection of Culicine Mosquitoes with the Tamilnad Strain of West Nile Virus. *Indian Journal of Medical Research*, 48(5), 537-48.

Velisek, J., Wlasow, T., Gomulka, P., Svobodova, Z., Dobsikova, R., Novotny, L., & Dudzik, M. (2006). Effects of cypermethrin on rainbow trout (Oncorhynchus mykiss). *VETERINARNI MEDICINA-PRAHA-*, *51*(10), 469.

Verhaeghen, K., Van Bortel, W., Trung, H. D., Sochantha, T., Keokenchanh, K., & Coosemans, M. (2010). Knockdown resistance in *Anopheles vagus, An. sinensis, An. paraliae* and *An. peditaeniatus* populations of the Mekong region. *Parasites & Vectors, 3*(1), 1-12.

Verna, T. N., & Munstermann, L. E. (2011). Morphological variants of *Aedes aegypti* collected from the leeward island of Antigua. *Journal of the American Mosquito Control Association*, 27(3), 308.

Versteirt, V., Nagy, Z. T., Roelants, P., Denis, L., Breman, F. C., Damiens, D., ... & Van Bortel, W. (2015). Identification of Belgian mosquito species (Diptera: Culicidae) by DNA barcoding. *Molecular Ecology Resources*, *15*(2), 449-457.

Versteirt, V., Pecor, J. E., Fonseca, D. M., Coosemans, M., & Van Bortel, W. (2012). Confirmation of *Aedes koreicus* (Diptera: Culicidae) in Belgium and description of morphological differences between Korean and Belgian specimens validated by molecular identification. *Zootaxa*, *3191*(1), 21-32.

Vezzani, D., & Carbajo, A. E. (2008). Aedes aegypti, Aedes albopictus, and dengue in Argentina: current knowledge and future directions. *Memórias do Instituto Oswaldo Cruz, 103*, 66-74.

Vincent, S., Vian, J. M., & Carlotti, M. P. (2000). Partial sequencing of the cytochrome oxydase b subunit gene I: a tool for the identification of European species of blow flies for postmortem interval estimation. *Journal of Forensic Sciences*, 45(4), 820-823.

Vontas, J., Kioulos, E., Pavlidi, N., Morou, E., Della Torre, A., & Ranson, H. (2012). Insecticide resistance in the major dengue vectors *Aedes albopictus* and *Aedes aegypti. Pesticide Biochemistry and Physiology*, *104*(2), 126-131.

Wachs, H. (1947). Synergistic insecticides. Science, 105(2733), 530-531.

Wang, G., Li, C., Guo, X., Xing, D., Dong, Y., Wang, Z., ... & Zhao, T. (2012). Identifying the main mosquito species in China based on DNA barcoding. *PLoS ONE*, 7(10), e47051.

Wanji, S., Mafo, F. F., Tendongfor, N., Tanga, M. C., Tchuente, F., Bilong, C. B., & Njine, T. (2009). Spatial distribution, environmental and physicochemical characterization of *Anopheles* breeding sites in the Mount Cameroon region. *Journal of Vector Borne Diseases*, *46*(1), 75.

Wan-Norafikah, O., Nazni, W. A., Lee, H. L., Zainol-Ariffin, P., & Sofian-Azirun, M. (2013). Development of permethrin resistance in *Culex quinquefasciatus* Say in Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia. *Saudi journal of biological sciences*, 20(3), 241-250.

Weaver, S. C., & Reisen, W. K. (2010). Present and future arboviral threats. *Antiviral research*, 85(2), 328-345.

Whittaker, R. H. (1972). Evolution and measurement of species diversity. *Taxon*, 21(2-3), 213-251.

Wilkerson, R. C., Linton, Y. M., & Strickman, D. (2021). *Mosquitoes of the World* (Vol. 1). Johns Hopkins University Press.

Williams, D. T., Wang, L. F., Daniels, P. W., & Mackenzie, J. S. (2000). Molecular characterization of the first Australian isolate of Japanese encephalitis virus, the FU strain. *Journal of General Virology*, *81*(10), 2471-2480.

Wilson, K. H. (1995). Molecular biology as a tool for taxonomy. *Clinical infectious diseases*, 20(2),117-121.

Wink, M. (2000). Interference of alkaloids with neuroreceptors and ion channels. *Studies in natural products chemistry*, 21, 3-122.

Wirth, M. C., & Georghiou, G. P. (1999). Selection and characterization of temephos resistance in a population of *Aedes aegypti* from Tortola, British Virgin Islands. *Journal of the American Mosquito Control Association*, 15(3), 315-320.

Wolff, M. S., Toniolo, P. G., Lee, E. W., Rivera, M., & Dubin, N. (1993). Blood levels of organochlorine residues and risk of breast cancer. *JNCI: Journal of the National Cancer Institute*, 85(8), 648-652.

World Health Organization. (1989). *Cypermethrin*. World Health Organization. Geneva, Environ. Health Criteria 82, 85–92.

World Health Organization. (2005a). *Guidelines for laboratory and field testing of mosquito larvicides* (No. WHO/CDS/WHOPES/GCDPP/2005.13). World Health Organization.

World Health Organization. (2005b). *Monitoring and epidemiological assessment of the programme to eliminate lymphatic filariasis at implementation unit level* (No. WHO/CDS/CPE/CEE/2005.50). World Health Organization.

World Health Organization. (2006). *Pesticides and their application: for the control* of vectors and pests of public health importance (No. WHO/CDS/NTD/WHOPES/GCDPP/2006.1). World Health Organization.

World Health Organization. (2009). *Temephos in drinking-water: Use for vector control in drinking-water sources and containers*. Background document for development of WHO Guidelines for Drinking-water Quality.

World Health Organization. (2014). WHO Factsheet Vector-borne diseases. *World health organization*, 387.

World Health Organization. (2016a). Monitoring and managing insecticide resistance in *Aedes* mosquito populations: interim guidance for entomologists.

World Health Organization. (2016b). Test procedures for insecticide resistance monitoring in malaria vector mosquitoes.

World Health Organization. Cypermethrin (1989). Environmental Health Criteria 82. *Geneva: World Health Organization*.

Yamamoto, C., & Kurokawa, M. (1970). Synaptic potentials recorded in brain slices and their modification by changes in the level of tissue ATP. *Experimental Brain Research*, *10*(2), 159-170.

Yang, Y. C., Lim, M. Y., & Lee, H. S. (2003). Emodin isolated from *Cassia* obtusifolia (Leguminosae) seed shows larvicidal activity against three mosquito species. *Journal of agricultural and food chemistry*, *51*(26), 7629-7631.

Zahiri, N., Rau, M. E., & Lewis, D. J. (1997). Oviposition responses of *Aedes aegypti* and *Ae. atropalpus* (Diptera: Culicidae) females to waters from conspecific and heterospecific normal larvae and from larvae infected with Plagiorchis elegans (Trematoda: Plagiorchiidae). *Journal of medical entomology*, *34*(5), 565-568.

Zettel, C., & Kaufman, P. (2009). Yellow fever mosquito *Aedes aegypti* (Linnaeus) (Insecta: Diptera: Culicidae): EENY-434/IN792, 2/2009. *EDIS*, 2009(2), 1-8.

**PUBLICATIONS & PARTICIPATIONS**
#### **Publications**

• Synergistic effect of *Croton bonplandianum* Baill. With Cypermethrin and Lambda-cyhalothrin against *Aedes aegypti* Linn, a Dengue fever vector.

Authors: Kalarikkal Venugopalan Lakshmi, Ambalaparambil, VasuSudhikumar, Embalil Mathachan Aneesh.South African Journal of Botany, 140, 103-109.

• Larvicidal activity of phytoextracts against dengue fever vector, *Aedes aegypti-* A Review

Authors: **Kalarikkal Venugopalan Lakshmi**, Ambalaparambil Vasu Sudhikumar, Embalil Mathachan Aneesh. Plant Science Today, 5(4), 167-174.

 Mosquitoes as Pesticide Pollution Indicators- A Comparative Susceptibility Analysis of Field and Laboratory Strains of Mosquitoes Against Different Conventional Insecticides.

Authors: Ambadath Velayudhan Asha, Kalarikkal Venugopalan Lakshmi,Ambalaparambil Vasu Sudhikumar, Embalil Mathachan Aneesh.Journal of Applied Biology and Biotechnology, 9(6), 115-121.

#### **Presentations and Participations**

- Presented a paper on "Molecular Identification through the amplification and sequencing of the gene Cytochrome oxidase subunit I of different mosquito vectors from Thrissur District, Kerala, India." At 12th National Conference on Vector-Borne and Zoonotic Diseases Identification to Management held on 26th and 27th November 2019 at Zoological Survey of India, New Alipore, Kolkata.
- National workshop on "Intellectual Property Rights" on 15<sup>th</sup> March 2018 at St. Joseph's College Irinjalakuda.
- Training on 'Molecular Biology and Bioinformatic tools for Advanced Life Science Research' from February 20th to March 5th, 2018, at College of Veterinary and Animal Sciences, Mannuthy, Thrissur.

PLATES

#### Plate 1: Mosquito species collected from selected study sites of <u>Thrissur District</u>



### <u>Plate 2: Plants collected for larvicidal activity screening against</u> <u>Ae. aegypti larvae</u>







Figure 2.1.2 10.473N,76.212E



Figure 2.1.3 10.464N,76.242E



Figure 2.1.4 10.554N,76.173E



Figure 2.1.5 10.543N.76.144E



Figure 2.1.6 10.459N.76.252E



Figure 2.1.7 10.473N,76.212E



Figure 2.1.8 10.467N,76.224E







Figure 2.1.10 10.543N,76.145E



Figure 2.1.11 10.464N.76.212E



Figure 2.1.12 10.552N,76.182E



Figure 2.1.13 10.505N,76.246E



Figure 2.1.14 10.556N,76.178E



Figure 2.1.15 10.532N.76.139E

### <u>Plate 2: Plants collected for larvicidal activity screening against</u> <u>Ae. aegypti larvae</u>



Figure 2.1.16 10.557N,76.177E



Figure 2.1.17 10.467N,76.224E



Figure 2.1.18 10.532N,76.139E



Figure 2.1.19 10.463N,76.227E



Figure 2.1.20 10.464N,76.242E



Figure 2.1.21 10.467N.76.224E



Figure 2.1.22 10.556N,76.178E



Figure 2.1.23 10.477N,76.214E



Figure 2.1.24 10.552N.76.182E



Figure 2.1.27 10.544N,76.184E



Figure 2.1.25 10.467N.76.224E

Figure 2.1.28 10.464N.76.242E



Figure 2.1.29 10.479N,76.215E



Figure 2.1.26 10.473N,76.212E

Figure 2.1.30 10.552N,76.182E



**Plate 3: Instruments Used for Phyto-extraction** 

## Plate 4: Separation techniques used for CB1 compound isolation (Figure 2.3 and figure 2.4)



Figure 2.3



Figure 2.4

**Plate 5: Mosquito Colony Maintenance and Susceptibility Assays** 



## Plate 6: Antimicrobial Activity of CB1



# Plate 7: Specimen Collection of Croton bonplandianus Baill.





Plate 8: Quantitative Assay of Detoxifying Enzymes of Aedes aegypti



